Levi-Civita connections in noncommutative geometry

Sugato Mukhopadhyay



Indian Statistical Institute

September 2021

INDIAN STATISTICAL INSTITUTE

DOCTORAL THESIS

Levi-Civita connections in noncommutative geometry

Author: Sugato Mukhopadhyay Supervisor: Jyotishman Bhowmick

A thesis submitted to the Indian Statistical Institute in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (in Mathematics)

Theoretical Statistics & Mathematics Unit Indian Statistical Institute, Kolkata

September 2021

Acknowledgements

This thesis is accompanied by the great debt I owe to an N-number of people without whom it would not have taken shape.

I would like to begin by thanking my supervisor Jyotishman Bhowmick, for inculcating my interest in noncommutative mathematics and for helping maintain it through frequent bouts of inner conflict over the last few years. Jyotishman da's guidance and patience with me went above and beyond any reasonable expectation a student could have from their advisor. This would be an appropriate time to express my contrition to him for having been difficult to wrangle into the bullpen that was the 5th floor RS office.

I wish to thank Debashish Goswami for his mentorship, for allowing me to audit his course *Introduction to NCG* and for many valuable suggestions. I wish to thank Shamindra Kumar Ghosh for insightful discussions which helped resolve some sticky issues, particularly in [17].

I would like to express my gratitude to the referees of [16], [18] and [17] for several useful comments and for suggesting future directions of work. In particular, I am very grateful to the anonymous referee of [18] for clarifying several concepts and indicating me towards literature which improved my understanding of monoidal categories and deformations.

Thanks are in order to Aritra for his tex support. Suvrajit, I would like to thank for allowing me frequent consultations with his mind palace-like catalogue of literature. I also need to thank both of them for their ntributions to our llaborative works in cohumour.

My pillars in personal life, Abhishek, Basu and Sohini, deserve special mention here.

My thanks to the janitorial staff on campus, for helping maintain a workable environment, and to the administrative staff for teaching me the patience to navigate through bureaucracy.

Shout out to Alexandra Elbakyan, Donald Knuth and Jimmy Wales, without whom no dissertation is complete.

Finally, I would like to thank my mother for providing a steady foundation in my life through the many tumults and uncertainties.

Sugato Mukhopadhyay

Contents

Acknowledgements					
Contents					
0	Intr	Introduction			
1	Pre	liminaries	7		
	1.1	Algebras and Modules	7		
		1.1.1 C^* -algebras and Hilbert C^* -modules	15		
	1.2	Hopf algebras and covariant bimodules	20		
	1.3	Noncommutative differential calculus	26		
		1.3.1 Spectral triples	27		
		1.3.2 Bicovariant differential calculi	32		
	1.4	Connections in classical and noncommutative geometry	36		
		1.4.1 Levi-Civita connections in Riemannian geometry	36		
		1.4.2 Connections on a noncommutative differential calculus	41		
2	Levi-Civita connections on tame spectral triples				
-	2.1	Centered Bimodules	44		
	2.2	Quasi-tame spectral triples	52		
	2.3	Pseudo-Riemannian metrics on quasi-tame spectral triples	54		
		2.3.1 The canonical Riemannian (bilinear) metric for a spectral triple	59		
	2.4	Tame spectral triples and metric compatibility of connections	62		
		2.4.1 Tame spectral triples	62		
		2.4.2 A remark on the isomorphism of the map $u^{\mathcal{E}}$	64		
		2.4.3 The metric compatibility of a connection on $\Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$	66		
	2.5	Existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections for tame spectral triples \ldots	70		
3	Exa	imples of Tame Spectral Triples	79		
3	3.1	Levi-Civita connection for fuzzy 3-spheres	80		
	3.2	Levi-Civita connection for quantum Heisenberg manifold	85		
	3.3	Levi-Civita connection for Connes-Landi deformed spectral triples	89		
		3.3.1 Some results on the fixed point algebra	91		
		3.3.2 Some generalities on Rieffel-deformation	97		
		3.3.3 The canonical Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E}_{θ}	104		
		3.3.4 Existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections			

4	Cov	variant connections on bicovariant differential calculi	113
	4.1	Bicovariant bimodules and Yetter-Drinfeld modules	114
		4.1.1 A characterisation of left covariant maps and some consequences	120
	4.2	The diagonalisability of $_0\sigma$	123
		4.2.1 The idempotent P_{sym} and its properties $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	127
	4.3	Pseudo-Riemannian metrics on bicovariant bimodules	130
		4.3.1 The $g^{(2)}$ -adjoint of a left-covariant map	138
	4.4	Bicovariant connections and metric compatibility	141
		4.4.1 A canonical bicovariant torsionless connection	142
		4.4.2 Metric Compatibility of a bicovariant connection	
		4.4.3 Covariance properties of the map $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla)$	147
	4.5	Existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections	150
		4.5.1 Some preparatory results	154
		4.5.2 Right-covariance of the unique left-covariant connection $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	
		4.5.3 Sufficient conditions for the isomorphism of $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$	161
5	Lev	vi-Civita connections on cocycle deformation of Hopf algebras	165
	5.1	Cocycle deformation of bicovariant bimodules	166
	5.2	Cocycle deformation of pseudo-Riemannian metrics	171
	5.3	Cocycle deformation of bicovariant differential calculi	176
	5.4	Existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections	179
6	Lev	vi-Civita connection on $SU_q(2)$	185
	6.1	The $4D_{\pm}$ calculi on $SU_q(2)$ and the braiding map	185
	6.2	A bicovariant torsionless connection	189
	6.3	Existence of a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection	192
B	iblio	graphy	205

Chapter 0

Introduction

A fundamental result of Riemannian geometry states that if (M, g) is a Riemannian manifold, then there exists a unique connection ∇ on the space of one-forms $\Omega^1(M)$ of M which is torsionless and compatible with g. The connection ∇ is called the Levi-Civita connection for the pair (M, g). The goal of this thesis is to study analogues of this theorem in the context of noncommutative geometry. The noncommutative geometry of a unital (possibly noncommutative) algebra \mathcal{A} is dictated by the choice of a differential calculus on \mathcal{A} . Thus, given a differential calculus on \mathcal{A} , the task of making sense of the question of existence of a Levi-Civita connection includes the following steps: Firstly, one needs to define a notion of pseudo-Riemannian metrics on a differential calculus. Second, one needs to make sense of the torsion of connections and that of the compatibility of a connection with a pseudo-Riemannian metric. Then, we need to verify whether there indeed exists any connection on the space of one-forms of the differential calculus which is both torsionless and compatible with the given pseudo-Riemannian metric. Finally, there is the question of uniqueness of such a connection. As we will shortly discuss, there are already a number of articles available in literature which have addressed the question of existence of Levi-Civita connections on some particular noncommutative manifolds. In many of these articles, the technique to prove the existence of Levi-Civita connections is example specific. Moreover, the definitions of metric as well as the metric compatibility conditions vary from example to example. There are also some works (see [22], as well as Appendix B of [51]) where the existence or uniqueness of a Levi-Civita connection fails.

Our goal in this thesis is to derive some sufficient conditions on the differential calculus which will guarantee the existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections for some class of noncommutative manifolds. We have focussed our attention to a class of differential calculi constructed via spectral triples and a class of bicovariant differential calculi on Hopf algebras. The notion of spectral triples was introduced by Connes ([25]). A spectral triple on an algebra \mathcal{A} is the data $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ where \mathcal{A} is a *-subalgebra of the bounded linear operators on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} and D is a (typically unbounded) self-adjoint operator on \mathcal{H} satisfying some conditions. Starting from a spectral triple, there is a canonical construction of the space of forms. Other than Connes' seminal text [25], some of the books which provide introductory as well as extensive overview of spectral triple-based noncommutative geometry are [28], [64], [60] and [89]. On the other hand, bicovariant differential calculi are a class of differential calculi on Hopf algebras and were introduced by Woronowicz ([93]). For generalities on Hopf algebras and bicovariant differential calculi, we refer to [1], [23], [71], [78] and references therein.

Now we explain the set-up under which we will work. If $(\Omega^{\bullet}(\mathcal{A}), d)$ is a differential calculus on an algebra \mathcal{A} , our connections will be maps $\nabla : \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying a Leibniz rule. Thus, unlike the articles [83], [3], [4], [5] and [80], we will not be working with covariant derivatives on the level of vector fields of a differential calculus. Our pseudo-Riemannian metric are right \mathcal{A} -linear maps $g : \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{A}$ satisfying a symmetry condition and a nondegeneracy condition. Since in most occasions, we will not be using the *-structure on the algebra and the space of forms, we do not assume g to be sesquilinear or positive definite. In the case of spectral triples (Chapters 2 and 3), we will in addition assume g to be left \mathcal{A} -linear while in the case of bicovariant differential calculi, we concentrate on those pseudo-Riemannian metric which are left-invariant with respect to the coaction of the Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} . For making sense of the symmetry in g, we need a braiding-like operator $\sigma : \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{A})$. For spectral triples, we postulate the existence of this map σ while for bicovariant differential calculi, σ is the canonical braiding map discovered by Woronowicz.

In order to formulate the metric-compatibility conditions, we need some assumptions. For spectral triples, these are conditions which appear in the definition of tame spectral triples. Moreover, our proof of existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections works for pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metrics, i.e. those which are both left and right \mathcal{A} -linear. In the case of bicovariant differential calculi, we assume that the braiding map σ as discussed above is diagonalisable in a certain sense. Moreover, we restrict our attention to left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metrics.

Let us mention a few relevant topics and questions which have appeared in literature but

which will not be addressed in this thesis. Firstly, in the last decade, there has been a lot of research around the scalar curvature coming from the asymptotic expansion of a Laplacetype operator associated to a spectral triple. This approach was pioneered by the landmark paper of Connes and Tretkoff ([30]) which proves a noncommutative analogue of the Gauss-Bonnet theorem. We refer to the papers [38], [39], [29], [65], [67] and references therein for the subsequent developments around this topic. For a different treatment of curvature on Hilbert modules, we refer to [77]. For computation of curvature of a noncommutative manifold via the Levi-Civita connection, we refer to [70], [72], [73] and references therein. A comprehensive account of the work of Beggs, Majid and their collaborators in this regard can be found in [11].

Many interesting examples of differential calculi on *-algebras are equipped with *-structures in the sense of [9]. The *-compatibility of a connection was also studied in the same paper. For examples of *-compatible Levi-Civita connections, we refer to [9] and [19]. A weaker notion of metric compatibility called cotorsion free has been studied by Beggs, Majid and their collaborators (see [73]). In [46], spin geometry on quantum groups have been studied. Very recently, the author of [76] proved the existence of a torsion and cotorsion free connection for the Fubini-Study metric on quantum projective spaces. For existence of Chern connections on quantum complex manifolds, we refer to [10]. The article [44] deals with a notion of strong connections to introduce a definition of a global curvature form. The article [34] considers metric compatibility of pairs of left and right connections.

Let us give a brief overview of the contents of this thesis.

In Chapter 1, we collect some initial notions and results needed in later chapters, to make the text reasonably self-contained. In Sections 1.1 and 1.2, we recall the concepts of algebras, in particular C*-algebras and Hopf algebras, and modules and comodules over them. Section 1.3 will introduce the notion of noncommutative calculi on noncommutative spaces. This section contains two subsections. The first one is on spectral triples due to Connes ([25]) and the second on bicovariant differential calculi due to Woronowicz [93]. The contents of the rest of the thesis also fall under these two broad headings. Indeed, whereas Chapters 2 and 3 are devoted to spectral triples, Chapters 4, 5 and 6 are devoted to bicovariant differential calculi. In Section 1.4 of Chapter 1, we briefly discuss the Levi-Civita connection problem on classical (pseudo-)Riemannian geometry and some equivalent formulations. The section ends with some basic definitions regarding connections in noncommutative differential calculi. Chapter 2 deals with the existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections on the class of tame spectral triples as given in [15, 16]. The chapter begins with a brief discussion on centered bimodules over algebras, on which the space of one-forms will be modelled. In Section 2.2, a more general class called quasi-tame spectral triples is introduced. In Section 2.3 pseudo-Riemannian metrics are defined on quasi-tame spectral triples. Following [41], we introduce a canonical candidate for a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on a spectral triple and discuss some regularity conditions. From Section 2.4 onwards, we restrict our focus to the class of tame spectral triples. A definition of compatibility of connections on the space of one-forms on tame spectral triples with pseudo-Riemannian metrics is discussed. This, in particular, provides the definition of Levi-Civita connections on tame spectral triples. In Section 2.5, we prove that given a bilinear pseudo-Riemannian metric on a tame spectral triple.

Chapter 3 continues the discussion on tame spectral triples, and provides some concrete examples. In Section 3.1, the example of fuzzy 3-sphere as given in [41] is recalled and is shown to be a tame spectral triple. In Section 3.2, we discuss the spectral triple on the quantum Heisenberg manifold as defined in [22] and show that it is an example of a tame spectral triple. Spectral triples on Rieffel deformations ([82], [26]) of compact Riemannian manifolds were defined in [27]. In Section 3.3, we show that under some technical assumptions, these turn out to be tame spectral triples. In particular, the last section shows that our formulation of Levi-Civita connections is well-behaved with respect to Rieffel deformations of compact Riemannian manifolds.

In Chapter 4, we concentrate on the existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections on bicovariant differential calculi over Hopf algebras. We begin by collecting some preliminary material on bicovariant bimodules over Hopf algebras and their relationship with Yetter-Drinfeld modules. In Section 4.2, we discuss a mild constraint on Woronowicz's braiding map given in [93], for bicovariant bimodules. In Section 4.3, we define and discuss the notion of invariant pseudo-Riemannian metrics on bicovariant differential calculi. In Section 4.4, we define the compatibility of left-covariant connections with left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metrics as per [17]. In Section 4.5, we discuss a metric-independent sufficient condition for the existence of a unique left-covariant Levi-Civita connection compatible with a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. In this section, we also show that subject to the Hopf algebra being cosemisimple, the unique left-covariant connection is also right covariant.

Chapters 5 and 6 are devoted to providing examples of bicovariant differential calculi which satisfy the criterion of existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections as derived in Chapter 4. In Chapter 5, the concrete example is that of cocycle deformations, as given in [74], of differential calculi over Hopf algebras of regular functions on linear algebraic groups. On the way we discuss the cocycle deformation of bicovariant differential calculi and bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metrics on the differential calculi of (not necessarily commutative) Hopf algebras. We show that our formulation of bicovariant Levi-Civita connections is well-behaved with cocycle deformations, i.e., Levi-Civita connections associated to bicovariant differential calculi are in one-to-one correspondence with those on their cocycle deformations. This in particular proves the existence of a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for every bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on the Hopf algebra of regular functions of a linear algebraic group. Chapter 6 deals with the example of example of $4D_{\pm}$ calculi on the Hopf algebra $SU_q(2)$ as introduced in [93]. We recall results in [73] and [20] to show that the corresponding Woronowicz braiding maps satisfy the requisite assumptions made in Chapter 4. Regarding the metric-independent sufficient condition for the existence of a unique bi-covariant Levi-Civita connection, the complexity of the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi required us to use brute-force to verify this, rather than as part of any axiomatic framework.

Chapter 1

Preliminaries

In this chapter, we collect preparatory material for this thesis. In Sections 1.1 and 1.2, we recall the notions of algebras, modules and comodules. As examples of interest, we introduce various noncommutative spaces. In Section 1.3, we introduce noncommutative differential calculi on noncommutative spaces, which are one of the basic objects of study for our purpose. By way of examples, we give a couple of constructions of differential calculi. Section 1.4 is devoted to a brief discussion of the Levi-Civita connection problem in classical Riemannian geometry, and then to some initial notions for investigating the problem in the noncommutative set-up. Throughout this thesis, we will work over the field of complex numbers. Thus, unless mentioned

1.1 Algebras and Modules

otherwise, all vector spaces, algebras and modules will be over \mathbb{C} .

Definition 1.1.1. An algebra is a triple (\mathcal{A}, μ, u) with \mathcal{A} a vector space, $\mu : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ a linear map called the multiplication map and $u : \mathbb{C} \to \mathcal{A}$ a linear map called the unit, such that

$$\mu(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mu) = \mu(\mu \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}), \qquad \mu(u \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id}) = \mu(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} u) = \mathrm{id}.$$

Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mu_{\mathcal{A}}, u_{\mathcal{A}})$ and $(\mathcal{B}, \mu_{\mathcal{B}}, u_{\mathcal{B}})$ be two algebras. A linear map $T : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ is called an algebra map if $T \circ \mu_{\mathcal{A}} = \mu_{\mathcal{B}} \circ (T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T)$ and $T \circ u_{\mathcal{A}} = u_{\mathcal{B}}$. We will for the most part replace $\mu(a \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b)$ with the usual ab to imply multiplication of elements a and b of an algebra. Next we introduce the definition of left and right modules over an algebra.

Definition 1.1.2. Given an algebra \mathcal{A} , a left \mathcal{A} -module is a pair (M, \triangleright) with a vector space Mand a linear map $\triangleright : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} M \to M$ such that

$$\triangleright(u \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) = \mathrm{id}, \qquad \triangleright(\mu \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) = \triangleright(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \triangleright).$$

Similarly, a right \mathcal{A} -module is a pair (M, \triangleleft) with a vector space M and a linear map \triangleleft : $M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A} \to M$ such that

$$\triangleleft(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} u) = \mathrm{id}, \qquad \triangleleft(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mu) = \triangleleft(\triangleleft\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}).$$

Lastly, an \mathcal{A} -bimodule is a triple $(M, \triangleright, \triangleleft)$ such that (M, \triangleright) is a left \mathcal{A} -module, (M, \triangleleft) is a right \mathcal{A} -module and

$$\triangleright(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\triangleleft)=\triangleleft(\triangleright\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathrm{id}).$$

From now on, we are going to dispense of the symbols \triangleleft and \triangleright whenever the implied algebra actions are unambiguous.

Definition 1.1.3. Given two left A-modules M and N, a linear map $T : M \to N$ is called a left A-linear map if for all a in A and m in M, T(am) = aT(m).

If M and N are two right A-modules, a linear map $T: M \to N$ is called a right A-linear map if T(ma) = T(m)a.

If M and N are A-bimodules, then a map $T : M \to N$ is called an A-bimodule map or A-bilinear map if it is both left and right A-linear.

The set of all right \mathcal{A} -linear maps from M to N will be denoted by $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M, N)$, the set of all left \mathcal{A} -linear maps from M to N will be denoted by $_{\mathcal{A}}\operatorname{Hom}(M, N)$ and the set of all \mathcal{A} -bilinear maps from M to N will be denoted by $_{\mathcal{A}}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M, N)$.

Definition 1.1.4. Given two \mathcal{A} -bimodules M and N, one can give an \mathcal{A} -bimodule structure on $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M, N)$. If T is a map in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M, N)$, the left and right module actions are defined respectively by

$$(aT)(m) = a(T(m))$$
 and $(Ta)(m) = T(am),$

for all a in \mathcal{A} and m in M.

Now we recall the notion of a right (respectively, left) \mathcal{A} -total set in a right (respectively, left) \mathcal{A} -module.

Definition 1.1.5. A subset S of a right A-module M is called right A-total in M if

$$M = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ sa : s \in S, a \in \mathcal{A} \}.$$

Similarly, a subset S of a left A-module M is called left A-total in M if $M = \text{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{as : s \in S, a \in A\}.$

Then we have the following lemma which will be used repeatedly in the thesis.

Lemma 1.1.6. Let S be a right A-total subset of a right A-module M. If T_1 and T_2 are two right A-linear maps from M to another right A-module N such that they agree on S, then they agree everywhere on M.

Proof. If m is an element of M, there exist elements s_i in S and a_i in \mathcal{A} such that $m = \sum_i s_i a_i$. Then,

$$T_1(m) = \sum_i T_1(s_i)a_i = \sum_i T_2(s_i)a_i = T_2(m).$$

We record the following lemma for future use.

Lemma 1.1.7. Let M be an A-bimodule and $h: M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M \to \mathcal{A}$ be a right A-linear map such that the map

$$V_h: M \to M^* := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M, \mathcal{A}), \ V_h(m)(m') = h(m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m')$$

for all m, m' in M is a right A-linear isomorphism.

Then for all T in $_{\mathcal{A}}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M, M)$, there exists a unique element T^* in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M, M)$ such that for all m, m' in M,

$$h(T^*(m) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m') = h(m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} T(m')).$$

Proof. Suppose m is an element in M. We define an element z(m) in M by the equation

$$V_h(z(m))(m') = h(m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} T(m'))$$
 for all m' in M .

The above definition is well-defined since $V_h : M \to M^*$ is an isomorphism. Clearly, the element z(m) is the unique choice for $T^*(m)$.

For proving that the map $m \mapsto T^*(m) := z(m)$ is right \mathcal{A} -linear, we compute

$$V_h(T^*(ma))(m') = V_h(ma)(T(m')) = h(ma \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} T(m'))$$

= $h(m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} aT(m')) = h(m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} T(am'))$ (since T is left \mathcal{A} -linear)
= $V_h(T^*(m))(am') = V_h(T^*(m)a)(m').$

Since V_h is an isomorphism, we have $T^*(ma) = T^*(m)a$.

The following well-known fact is known to experts (see [55]), but we provide a proof for the sake of completeness.

Proposition 1.1.8. Let M and N be A-bimodules which are finitely generated and projective as right A-modules. Then for elements m_i in M, n in N and ϕ_i in $N^* := \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(N, \mathcal{A})$, the map

$$\zeta_{M,N}: M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N^* \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(N,M), \ \zeta_{M,N}(\sum_i m_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \phi_i)(f) = \sum_i m_i \phi_i(n)$$

defines an isomorphism of A-bimodules.

Proof. Since M is finitely generated projective, there exists an integer d and an idempotent P in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{A}^d, \mathcal{A}^d)$ such that $M = P(\mathcal{A}^d)$. Let $\{a_1, a_2, ..., a_d\}$ be a basis of \mathcal{A}^d so that M is generated by $\{P(a_i)\}_i$. If T be an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(N, M)$, then there exists elements ϕ_j in N^* such that

$$T(n) = \sum_{j} P(a_j)\phi_j(n)$$
, for all n .

Clearly, $T = \zeta_{M,N}(\sum_{j} P(a_j) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \phi_j)$, proving that $\zeta_{M,N}$ is onto. For proving that $\zeta_{M,N}$ is oneto-one, we observe that it can be easily verified that the map $\zeta_{M,N}$ is a restriction of $\zeta_{\mathcal{A}^d,N}$ and therefore also one-to-one. This completes the proof.

We will be using the notions of left and right duals in certain monoidal categories and so we recall the relevant definitions and results here.

Definition 1.1.9. ([37]) Suppose $(\mathcal{C}, \otimes, 1)$ is a (strict) monoidal category. An object X in C is said to have a left dual if there exists an object \widetilde{X} in C and morphisms

$$\operatorname{ev}_X: \widetilde{X} \otimes X \to 1$$
 and $\operatorname{coev}_X: 1 \to X \otimes \widetilde{X}$

such that the following two equations hold:

$$(\mathrm{id}_X \otimes \mathrm{ev}_X)(\mathrm{coev}_X \otimes \mathrm{id}_X) = \mathrm{id}_X, \ (\mathrm{ev}_X \otimes \mathrm{id}_{\widetilde{X}})(\mathrm{id}_{\widetilde{X}} \otimes \mathrm{coev}_X) = \mathrm{id}_{\widetilde{X}}.$$

X is said to have a right dual if there exists an object *X in C and morphisms

$$ev'_X: X \otimes {}^*X \to 1$$
 and $coev'_X: 1 \to {}^*X \otimes X$

such that

$$(\mathrm{ev}'_X \otimes \mathrm{id}_X)(\mathrm{id}_X \otimes \mathrm{coev}'_X) = \mathrm{id}_X$$
 and $(\mathrm{id}_{*X} \otimes \mathrm{ev}'_X)(\mathrm{coev}'_X \otimes \mathrm{id}_{*X}) = \mathrm{id}_{*X}.$

We collect some well-known facts about left duals in a monoidal category in the next proposition.

Proposition 1.1.10. (Subsection 2.10 of [37]) Suppose $(\mathcal{C}, \otimes, 1)$ is a monoidal category and X be an object in \mathcal{C} . We have the following:

(i) If X admits a left dual, then it is unique upto isomorphism. In fact, if (ev₁, coev₁, X) and (ev₂, coev₂, Y) are two left duals of the object X, then the morphism

$$(\operatorname{ev}_1 \otimes \operatorname{id}_Y)(\operatorname{id}_{\widetilde{X}} \otimes \operatorname{coev}_2) : X \to Y$$

is actually an isomorphism.

(ii) Now suppose D is another monoidal category and F a monoidal functor from C to D. If
 X is a left dual of the object X, then F(X) is a left dual of the object F(X) in D.

Proof. We refer to Proposition 2.10.5 and Exercise 2.10.6 of [37] for the proofs.

We recall that an object V in an abelian category C is said to be a direct sum of objects V_i , $i = 1, 2, \dots n$, if there exist morphisms α_i , $i = 1, 2, \dots n$, in Hom (V_i, V) and β_i , $i = 1, 2, \dots n$, in Hom (V, V_i) such that

$$\beta_i \alpha_i = 1_{V_i} \ \forall \ i = 1, 2, \cdots n, \quad \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i \beta_i = 1_V.$$
 (1.1.1)

The following result is well-known to the experts. Nevertheless, we prove it for the sake of completeness.

Proposition 1.1.11. If V and W are two objects in a semisimple monoidal category C, then

 $\dim(\operatorname{Hom}(V, W)) = \dim(\operatorname{Hom}(W, V)).$

Proof. We consider the decomposition $V \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} (Z_i)^{\bigoplus k_i}$ and $W \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} (Z_i)^{\bigoplus l_i}$ into mutually non-isomorphic simple objects Z_i , where some of the k_i 's and l_i 's could be zero. Thus, there exist morphisms $\alpha_{i,s}$, $s = 1, 2, \dots, k_i$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, in $\operatorname{Hom}(Z_i, V)$ and $\beta_{i,s}$, $s = 1, 2, \dots, k_i$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, in $\operatorname{Hom}(V, Z_i)$ such that

$$\beta_{i,s}\alpha_{i,s} = 1_{Z_{i,s}} \text{ and } \sum_{i,s} \alpha_{i,s}\beta_{i,s} = 1_V.$$

$$(1.1.2)$$

Similarly, from the decomposition $W \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} (Z_i)^{\oplus l_i}$, we have morphisms $\sigma_{i,t}$, $t = 1, 2, \dots, l_i$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, in $\operatorname{Hom}(Z_i, W)$ and morphisms $\mu_{i,t}$, $t = 1, 2, \dots, l_i$, $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, in $\operatorname{Hom}(W, Z_i)$.

The morphism $\beta_{i,s}\alpha_{i,t}$ belongs to $\text{Hom}(Z_{i,t}, Z_{i,s})$ and so by Schur's Lemma, $\beta_{i,s}\alpha_{i,t} = c_{s,t}^i$ for some scalars $c_{s,t}^i$. Let c_i denote the matrix whose (s,t)-th element is $c_{s,t}^i$. We claim that the matrix c_i is the identity matrix. Indeed,

$$\begin{aligned} (c_i^2)_{(s,t)} &= \sum_k c_{s,k}^i c_{k,t}^i \\ &= \beta_{i,s} (\sum_k \alpha_{i,k} \beta_{i,k}) \alpha_{i,t} \\ &= \beta_{i,s} (\sum_{j,k} \alpha_{j,k} \beta_{j,k}) \alpha_{i,t} \\ &\quad (\text{as Schur's Lemma implies } \beta_{i,s} \alpha_{j,k} \in \operatorname{Hom}(Z_j, Z_i) \text{ equals 0 if } i \neq j) \\ &= \beta_{i,s} \alpha_{i,t} \text{ (by (1.1.2))} \\ &= c_{s,t}^i. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, (1.1.2) implies that $c_{s,s}^i = 1$ for all s.

Thus, c_i is an idempotent matrix such that its trace is equal to n. Hence, c_i is equal to the identity matrix. This proves our claim.

We note that for all $i, t, j, s, \mu_{i,t} f \alpha_{j,s}$ is in Hom (Z_j, Z_i) and since Z_i, Z_j are simple objects, Schur's Lemma implies that

$$\mu_{i,t} f \alpha_{j,s} = \delta_{ij} \lambda_{t,s}^i \mathbf{1}_{Z_i} \text{ for some scalar } \lambda_{t,s}^i.$$
(1.1.3)

Now suppose f is an element in Hom(V, W). Then we can write

$$f = 1_W f 1_V$$

= $\sum_{i,t,j,s} \sigma_{i,t} \mu_{i,t} f \alpha_{j,s} \beta_{j,s}$
= $\sum_{i,t,j,s} \sigma_{i,t} \delta_{ij} \lambda_{t,s}^i 1_{Z_i} \beta_{j,s} \text{ (by (1.1.3))}$
= $\sum_{i,s,t} \lambda_{t,s}^i \sigma_{i,t} \beta_{i,s}.$

Thus, any element f in $\operatorname{Hom}(V, W)$ is a linear combination of elements in the set $S = \{\sigma_{i,t}\beta_{i,s} : i = 1, \dots, s = 1, \dots, k_i, t = 1, \dots, l_i\}$. If we can prove that S is a linearly independent set, then it follows that $\dim(\operatorname{Hom}(V, W)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\{k : k_i \neq 0\}| \cdot |\{l : l_i \neq 0\}|$.

Similarly, dim(Hom(W, V)) = $\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\{l : l_i \neq 0\}| \cdot |\{k : k_i \neq 0\}|$. Hence, the proof is complete once we can deduce that S is a linearly independent set.

To that end, let $d_{t,s}^i$ be scalars so that

$$\sum_{i,t,s} d^{i}_{t,s} \sigma_{i,t} \beta_{i,s} = 0.$$
(1.1.4)

We fix indices i_0, s_0, t_0 . Then we have

$$\mu_{i_0,t_0}(\sum_{i,t,s} d^i_{t,s}\sigma_{i,t}\beta_{i,s})\alpha_{i_0,s_0} = 0.$$

However,

$$\begin{aligned} \mu_{i_0,t_0}(\sum_{i,t,s} d^i_{t,s} \sigma_{i,t} \beta_{i,s}) \alpha_{i_0,s_0} &= \sum_{i,t,s} d^i_{t,s} \mu_{i_0,t_0} \sigma_{i,t} \beta_{i,s} \alpha_{i_0,s_0} \\ &= \sum_{t,s} d^{i_0}_{t,s} \mu_{i_0,t_0} \sigma_{i_0,t} \beta_{i_0,s} \alpha_{i_0,s_0} \text{ (as } \beta_{i,s} \alpha_{i_0,s_0} \in \operatorname{Hom}(Z_{i_0}, Z_i)) \\ &= \sum_{t,s} d^{i_0}_{t,s} \mu_{i_0,t_0} \sigma_{i_0,t} c^{i_0}_{s,s_0} \\ &= \sum_t d^{i_0}_{t,s_0} \mu_{i_0,t_0} \sigma_{i_0,t} \end{aligned}$$

since c_{i_0} is the identity matrix. Due to similar reasons, $\sum_t d_{t,s_0}^{i_0} \mu_{i_0,t_0} \sigma_{i_0,t} = d_{t_0,s_0}^{i_0}$.

Therefore, (1.1.4) reduces to the equation $d_{t_0,s_0}^{i_0} = 0$. Since i_0, s_0, t_0 are arbitrary, this proves that S is a linearly independent set completing the proof of the proposition.

For more details on monoidal categories and duality therein, we refer to the books [37] and [59].

We will be using the notions of duality in monoidal categories for the category of \mathcal{A} -bimodules in this section and categories of covariant bimodules (see Section 1.2) later.

Definition 1.1.12. We will denote the category of all \mathcal{A} -bimodules by the symbol $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$. Thus, the objects of $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$ are \mathcal{A} -bimodules. If \mathcal{F} and \mathcal{G} are objects of $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$, then a morphism from \mathcal{F} to \mathcal{G} is nothing but an \mathcal{A} -bimodule map from \mathcal{F} to \mathcal{G} .

The category $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is a monoidal category, i.e., if \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} are objects of $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$, then the balanced tensor product $\mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{G}$ is an object in $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$. The following proposition gives a necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of a left dual in the monoidal category $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$.

Proposition 1.1.13. (Exercise 2.10.16 of [37]) Suppose M is an object in $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$. Then M has a left dual if and only if M is finitely generated and projective as a right \mathcal{A} -module.

If \mathcal{E} is an \mathcal{A} -bimodule, we will continue to denote $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$ by the symbol \mathcal{E}^* . It is wellknown (see, for example, [7]) that \mathcal{E} is finitely generated and projective as a right \mathcal{A} -module if and only if there exists a natural number n and elements $e_1, \dots e_n$ in \mathcal{E} and $e_1^*, \dots e_n^*$ in $\mathcal{E}^* = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$ such that for all e in \mathcal{E} and for all ϕ in \mathcal{E}^* , the following equations hold:

$$e = \sum_i e_i e_i^*(e), \ \phi = \sum_i \phi(e_i) e_i^*.$$

The pair $\{e_i, e_i^*\}$ is called a pair of dual bases for \mathcal{E} .

If \mathcal{E} is an \mathcal{A} -bimodule, then from Definition 1.1.4, we know that $\mathcal{E}^* = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$ is also an \mathcal{A} -bimodule. The following proposition holds.

Proposition 1.1.14. ([7]) If \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{F} are \mathcal{A} -bimodules such that they are finitely generated and projective as right \mathcal{A} -modules, then the following statements hold:

- (i) The left dual $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$ of \mathcal{E} (in the category $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$) is isomorphic to $\mathcal{E}^* = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$.
- (ii) The left dual of the object $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{F}$ (in the category $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$) is isomorphic to $\mathcal{F}^* \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}^*$. In particular, $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{F})^* \cong \mathcal{F}^* \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}^*$ as right \mathcal{A} -modules.

Proof. Since both the assertions have been proved in [7], we provide the sketch of the proof. We will let $\{e_i, e_i^* : i = 1, \dots n\}$ and $\{f_j, f_j^* : j = 1, 2, \dots m\}$ denote pairs of dual bases for \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{F} respectively.

For the first assertion, consider the \mathcal{A} -bimodule maps

$$\operatorname{ev}_{\mathcal{E}}: \mathcal{E}^* \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}, \ \phi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e \mapsto \phi(e), \ \operatorname{coev}_{\mathcal{E}}: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}^*, \ \operatorname{coev}_{\mathcal{E}}(a) = a \sum_i e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i^*.$$

Then it can be easily checked that

$$(\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathrm{ev}_{\mathcal{E}})(\mathrm{coev}_{\mathcal{E}}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}})=\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}},\ (\mathrm{ev}_{\mathcal{E}}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}^*})(\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}^*}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathrm{coev}_{\mathcal{E}})=\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}^*}.$$

Since the left dual of \mathcal{E} is unique up to isomorphism, this proves that $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$ is isomorphic to \mathcal{E}^* .

Now, for the second assertion, the evaluation and the coevaluation maps can be defined as:

$$\operatorname{ev}_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{F}}: (\mathcal{F}^*\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}^*) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{F}) \to \mathcal{A}; \ (\psi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \phi) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) \mapsto \psi(\phi(e)f),$$

$$\operatorname{coev}_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{F}}:\mathcal{A}\to(\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{F})\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{F}^*\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}^*);\ \operatorname{coev}_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{F}}(a)=a\sum_{i,j}(e_i\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}f_j)\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}(f_j^*\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}e_i^*).$$

Thus, $\widetilde{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{F}}$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{F}^* \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}^*$. However, by the first assertion, $\widetilde{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{F}}$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{F})^*$ and so $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{F})^*$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{F}^* \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}^*$.

1.1.1 C*-algebras and Hilbert C*-modules

In this subsection, we briefly recall the notion of C^* -algebras. The discussion that follows illustrates why C^* -algebras are good analogues for classical topological spaces.

Definition 1.1.15. Let \mathcal{A} be an algebra over \mathbb{C} . A norm $\|\cdot\|$ on \mathcal{A} is said to be submultiplicative *if*

$$\|ab\| \le \|a\| \|b\|$$

for all a, b in \mathcal{A} . If $\|\cdot\|$ is a submultiplicative norm on an algebra \mathcal{A} , then the pair $(\mathcal{A}, \|\cdot\|)$ is called a normed algebra. If the algebra is unital and $\|1\| = 1$ then \mathcal{A} is a unital normed algebra. A complete normed algebra is called a Banach algebra. Unital Banach algebras are defined in the obvious way.

Definition 1.1.16. A Banach *-algebra is a triplet $(\mathcal{A}, \|\cdot\|, *)$ where $(\mathcal{A}, \|\cdot\|)$ is a Banach algebra and $*: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ is an involution such that for all a, b in \mathcal{A} and for all λ in \mathbb{C} ,

$$(\lambda a + b)^* = \overline{\lambda}a^* + b^*, ||a^*|| = ||a||.$$

A C^* -algebra is a Banach *-algebra such that the "C*-identity" holds:

$$||a^*a|| = ||a||^2$$

for all a in A

The Gelfand-Naimark theorem states that any unital commutative C^* -algebra is isometrically isomorphic to C(X) for some compact Hausdorff space X. On the other hand, any C^* -algebra is isometrically isomorphic to a norm closed *-subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ for some Hilbert space \mathcal{H} .

Definition 1.1.17. Given a C^{*}-algebra \mathcal{A} , a representation (\mathcal{H}, π) on it consists of a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} and a *-homomorphism $\pi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. The representation is called faithful if π is one-to-one.

Let us give some examples of some noncommutative C^* -algebras that we are going to use in this thesis.

Example 1.1.18. The noncommutative 2-torus $C(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$, defined for θ in [0,1] is the universal C^* -algebra generated by two unitary elements U and V satisfying the relation $UV = e^{2\pi i \theta} V U$. The C^* -algebra $C(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$ has a representation $(L^2(S^1), \pi)$, with π defined on the generators U and V by

$$\pi(U)(f)(z) = f(e^{2\pi i\theta}z), \quad \pi(V)(f)(z) = zf(z),$$

where f is an elements in $L^2(S^1)$ and z is in S^1 .

Now we come to the examples of reduced and twisted group C^* -algebras.

Example 1.1.19. Suppose Γ is a discrete group and for g in Γ , let λ be the left-regular representation of Γ on $l^2(\Gamma)$. Thus, $\lambda_g : l^2(\Gamma) \to l^2(\Gamma)$ will denote the operator defined by

$$\lambda_g \xi(h) = \xi(g^{-1}h)$$
 for all ξ in $l^2(\Gamma)$ and h in Γ .

The reduced reduced C^* -algebra of the group Γ , denoted by $C^*_r(\Gamma)$ is defined to be the C^* subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(l^2(\Gamma))$ generated by $\{\lambda_q : q \in \Gamma\}$.

A slight variation of the above example produces twisted group C^* -algebras associated to cocycles. In this thesis, we will only need the θ -twisted reduced group C^* -algebra for $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}^n$.

Example 1.1.20. Consider the group \mathbb{Z}^n . We will denote an element (m_1, \dots, m_n) by the symbol \underline{m} . Fix an $n \times n$ real skew-symmetric matrix θ .

For \underline{n} in \mathbb{Z}^n , we define a bounded operator $\lambda_{\underline{n}}^{\theta}$ on $l^2(\mathbb{Z}^n)$ by the formula

$$\lambda_n^{\theta}\xi(\underline{m}) = e^{-\pi i \langle \underline{m}, \theta \underline{n} \rangle} \xi(\underline{m} - \underline{n}).$$

The θ -twisted reduced C^* -algebra of the group \mathbb{Z}^n , denoted by $C^*_r(\mathbb{Z}^n, \theta)$ is defined to be the C^* -subalgebra of $\mathcal{B}(l^2(\Gamma)$ generated by $\{\lambda^{\theta}_{\underline{n}} : \underline{n} \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$.

For n = 2, this construction gives us back the noncommutative 2-torus defined above. So, in general, this C^* -algebra is called the noncommutative n-torus and denoted by $C(\mathbb{T}^n_{\theta})$

The following recipe produces interesting examples of noncommutative C^* -algebras from commutative ones.

Example 1.1.21. (Rieffel deformation, [82]) We will continue to use the notations introduced in Example 1.1.20. Suppose the group \mathbb{T}^n has a strongly continuous action α on a unital C^* algebra \mathcal{A} . The spectral subspaces are parametrized by the dual group \mathbb{Z}^n and are defined by

$$\mathcal{A}_n := \{ a \in \mathcal{A} : \alpha_g(a) = \chi_n(g)a \},\$$

where $\chi_{\underline{m}}(g_1, \cdots, g_n) = g_1^{m_1} \cdots g_n^{m_n}$. Consider the set

$$\mathcal{A}_{\theta}^{\text{alg}} = \text{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ a \otimes \lambda_n^{\theta} : a \in \mathcal{A}_n, \}$$

Then $\mathcal{A}_{\theta}^{\mathrm{alg}}$ is a *-closed subalgebra of $\mathcal{A} \otimes C(\mathbb{T}_{\theta}^n)$.

The norm-closure of $\mathcal{A}_{\theta}^{\text{alg}}$ in $\mathcal{A} \otimes C(\mathbb{T}_{\theta}^n)$ is a unital C^* -algebra called the Rieffel deformation of \mathcal{A} under the action α and denoted by \mathcal{A}_{θ} .

Rieffel deformation for actions of the groups \mathbb{R}^n and \mathbb{T}^n were introduced by Rieffel in [82]. Our reference is the paper [95]. For the generalization of this construction to the case of actions of locally compact abelian groups, we refer to [58].

Before we can define what is called a GNS triple on C^* -algebra, we need the following definition.

Definition 1.1.22. An element x in a C^{*}-algebra \mathcal{A} is said to be positive if there exists some y in \mathcal{A} such that $x = y^*y$. The set of positive elements on \mathcal{A} is denoted by \mathcal{A}_+ A linear functional $\phi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ is said to be positive if $\phi(x) \ge 0$ for all x in \mathcal{A}_+ . A positive linear functional ϕ that satisfies $\phi(1) = 1$ is called a state.

We have the following:

Definition 1.1.23. (G.N.S construction) Given a C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} equipped with a state ϕ , one can construct a Gelfand-Naimark-Segal (GNS) triple $(L^2(\mathcal{A}, \phi), \pi_{\phi}, \xi_{\phi})$, where $L^2(\mathcal{A}, \phi)$ is the Hilbert space completion of \mathcal{A} with respect to the semi-inner product $\langle \langle a, b \rangle \rangle = \phi(a^*b)$ on \mathcal{A} , $\pi_{\phi} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(L^2(\mathcal{A}, \phi))$ is a *-representation and ξ_{ϕ} is a cyclic vector in $L^2(\mathcal{A}, \phi)$, i.e., the set Span $\{\pi_{\phi}(x)\xi_{\phi} : x \in \mathcal{A}\}$ is dense in $L^2(\mathcal{A}, \phi)$. This GNS triple satisfies the relation

$$\phi(x) = \langle \xi_{\phi}, \pi_{\phi}(x)\xi_{\phi} \rangle.$$

For a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , the weak operator topology (WOT) is a locally convex topology on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ given by a family of seminorms

$$\mathcal{F}_1 := \{ p_{\xi,\eta} : \xi, \eta \in \mathcal{H} \}$$
 where $p_{\xi,\eta}(X) = |\langle x\xi, \eta \rangle|.$

This places us in a position to define von Neumann algebras.

Definition 1.1.24. A unital *-subalgebra \mathcal{A} of the space of bounded operators $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ of a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} which is closed under WOT is said to be a von Neumann algebra.

We need to recall the following two notions before we can give the statement of von Neumann's Double Commutant Theorem. Firstly, the strong operator topology (SOT) on the space of bounded operator $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ of a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} is given by a family of seminorms

$$\mathcal{F}_2 := \{ p_{\xi} : \xi \in \mathcal{H} \} \text{ where } p_{\xi}(x) = ||x\xi||.$$

Also, for any subset \mathcal{B} of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, the commutant \mathcal{B}' is defined by

$$\mathcal{B}' := \{ x \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) : xb = bx \ \forall b \in B \}.$$

Moreover, we use the symbol B'' to denote the set (B')'. Then we can state the following:

Theorem 1.1.25. (von Neumann) Given a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} and a unital *-subalgebra \mathcal{A} of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, the closures of \mathcal{A} under WOT and SOT are equal, and they are further equal to the double commutant \mathcal{A}'' of \mathcal{A} .

Note that, as a consequence of the above theorem, a C^* -algebra which is equal to its double commutant is a von Neumann algebra.

Definition 1.1.26. A linear functional ϕ on a von Neumann algebra \mathcal{A} is said to be normal if whenever a net of positive elements x_{α} in \mathcal{A} increases to an element x, $\phi(x_{\alpha})$ goes to $\phi(x)$.

For more details on C^* and von Neumann algebras, we refer to the books [31,88].

Now we come to the definition and examples of Hilbert C^* -modules.

Definition 1.1.27. Let \mathcal{A} be a C^* -algebra with norm $\|\cdot\|$. A pre-Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module is a right \mathcal{A} -module M together with a map $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : M \times M \to \mathcal{A}$ which is linear in the second variable and satisfies the following conditions:

- (i) $\langle x, ya \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle a;$
- (*ii*) $\langle x, y \rangle^* = \langle y, x \rangle;$
- (iii) $\langle x, x \rangle \ge 0;$
- (iv) $x \neq 0$ implies $\langle x, x \rangle \neq 0$;

for all x, y in M and a in A.

A pre-Hilbert module $(M, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$ is called a Hilbert C^{*}-module (or simply, a Hilbert module) if M is complete under the norm defined by $||x|| := ||\langle x, x \rangle||^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

We have the following analogue of Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for Hilbert modules:

Lemma 1.1.28. Let M be a Hilbert A-module. Then for all x, y in M, the following inequality holds: $||\langle x, y \rangle|| \le ||x|| ||y||$.

A Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module M is said to be countably generated if there exists a set $S = \{x_n : n \in \mathbb{N}, x_n \in M\}$ such that the set $\{x_n a : x_n \in S, a \in \mathcal{A}\}$ is dense in M.

Given a C^* -algebra \mathcal{A} , let $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}}$ denote the set of all \mathcal{A} -valued sequences $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $\sum_n \|a_n^* a_n\| < \infty$. Then the \mathcal{A} -valued inner product

$$\langle a,b\rangle = \sum_n a_n^* b_n$$

turns $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}}$ into a Hilbert module. We have the following theorem by Kasparov.

Theorem 1.1.29. (Kasparov's stabilization theorem) A countably generated Hilbert \mathcal{A} -module E is isomorphic to a complemented Hilbert submodule of $\mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}}$. Moreover,

$$E \cong E \oplus \mathcal{H}_{\mathcal{A}}.$$

For more details on Hilbert C^* -modules, we refer to the book [63].

1.2 Hopf algebras and covariant bimodules

In this section, we introduce the notion of Hopf algebras. We start by recalling the definitions of coalgebras and bialgebras.

A coalgebra over \mathbb{C} is a triple $(\mathcal{C}, \Delta, \epsilon)$ with \mathcal{C} a vector space, Δ a linear map called the comultiplication map and $\epsilon : \mathcal{C} \to \mathbb{C}$ a linear map called the counit, such that

$$(\Delta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})\Delta = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \Delta)\Delta, \qquad (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \epsilon)\Delta = (\epsilon \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\Delta = \mathrm{id}$$

Here, we have identified $\mathcal{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}$ and $\mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{C}$ with \mathcal{C} .

Sweedler notation

Let $(\mathcal{C}, \Delta, \epsilon)$ be a coalgebra. Let c be in C with $\Delta(c) = \sum_i c_{1i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c_{2i}$, where c_{ji} are in \mathcal{C} . We indicate such an expression by the form

$$\Delta(c) = c_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c_{(2)},$$

suppressing the summation \sum and the index *i*. Thus coassociativity of Δ yields

$$c_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (c_{(2)})_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (c_{(2)})_{(2)} = (c_{(1)})_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (c_{(1)})_{(2)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c_{(2)}.$$

So we write $(\Delta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})\Delta(c) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \Delta)\Delta(c)$ in the form

$$c_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c_{(2)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c_{(3)}.$$

Using the coassociativity on the higher order tensor products, we can similarly define, without ambiguity, a map $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}^{\otimes(n)}$:

$$c\mapsto c_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\cdots\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}c_{(n)}.$$

Definition 1.2.1. Let $(\mathcal{C}, \Delta_{\mathcal{C}}, \epsilon_{\mathcal{C}})$ and $(\mathcal{D}, \Delta_{\mathcal{D}}, \epsilon_{D})$ be coalgebras. A linear map $T : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$ is called a coalgebra map if $(T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T) \Delta_{\mathcal{C}} = \Delta_{\mathcal{D}} T$ and $\epsilon_{\mathcal{D}} T = \epsilon_{\mathcal{C}}$. In Sweedler notation, the first equation can be written as

$$T(c)_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T(c)_{(2)} = T(c_{(1)}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T(c_{(2)}).$$

Definition 1.2.2. Given a coalgebra C, a left C-comodule is a pair (N, Δ_N) where N is a vector space N and $\Delta_N : N \to C \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} N$ is a \mathbb{C} -linear map such that

$$(\epsilon \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \Delta_N = \mathrm{id}, \qquad (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \Delta_N) \Delta_N = (\Delta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \Delta_N.$$

Similarly, a right C-module is a pair $(N, N\Delta)$ with a vector space N and a linear map $N\Delta$: $N \to N \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{C}$ such that

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \epsilon)_N \Delta = \mathrm{id}, \qquad (_N \Delta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_N \Delta = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \Delta)_N \Delta.$$

Lastly, a C-bicomodule is a triple $(N, \Delta_N, N\Delta)$ such that (N, Δ_N) is a left C-comodule, $(N, N\Delta)$ is a right C-comodule and

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}N} \Delta) \Delta_N = (\Delta_N \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_N \Delta$$

Sweedler notation

The Sweedler notation for coalgebras can be extended to the setting of comodules. For n in N, we write

$$\Delta_N(n) = n_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n_{(0)}, \qquad {}_N \Delta(n) = n_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n_{(1)}.$$

Note that the index (0) indicates the comodule tensorand and non-zero indices indicate the coalgebra tensorand.

Let \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{D} be coalgebras. We define $\Delta_{\mathcal{C}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{D}}: \mathcal{C}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{D} \to (\mathcal{C}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{D})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{C}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{D})$ by

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{C}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{D}} = (\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathrm{flip}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathrm{id})(\Delta_{\mathcal{C}}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\Delta_{\mathcal{D}}),$$

where flip: $\mathcal{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{D} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{C}$ is the permutation of the two factors. Then $(\mathcal{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{D}, \Delta_{\mathcal{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{D}})$ is a coalgebra called the tensor product of \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{D} . Explicitly,

$$\Delta(c \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d) = c_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c_{(2)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d_{(2)} \quad \text{and} \quad \epsilon(c \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d) = \epsilon(c)\epsilon(d).$$

Now suppose that (\mathcal{A}, m, u) is an algebra and $(\mathcal{A}, \Delta, \epsilon)$ is a coalgebra. Thus $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}$ is an algebra as well as a coalgebra. One has the following proposition.

Proposition 1.2.3. The following are equivalent:

- (i) m and u are coalgebra maps;
- (ii) Δ and ϵ are algebra maps.

Definition 1.2.4. A pentuple $(\mathcal{A}, m, u, \Delta, \epsilon)$ satisfying any of the equivalent conditions of the above proposition is called a bialgebra.

Let us recall the convolution product. Let (\mathcal{C}, Δ) be a coalgebra and (\mathcal{A}, m) an algebra. We put an algebra structure on $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{A})$, called the convolution algebra as follows:

$$T_1 * T_2 = m(T_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_2) \Delta.$$

Explicitly, $(T_1 * T_2)(c) = T_1(c_{(1)})T_2(c_{(2)}).$

Now suppose $(\mathcal{A}, m, u, \Delta, \epsilon)$ is a bialgebra. We write $\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{C}}$ for the underlying coalgebra and for the algebra, again \mathcal{A} . Then $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{C}}, \mathcal{A})$ is an algebra under the convolution product. We note that the identity operator id : $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{C}}, \mathcal{A})$.

A convolution inverse S in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{A}^{\mathcal{C}}, \mathcal{A})$ of $\operatorname{id} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ is called an antipode of the bialgebra \mathcal{A} . Explicitly, $S(a_{(1)})a_{(2)} = a_{(1)}S(a_{(2)}) = \epsilon(a)1$ for all a in \mathcal{A} . Note that by definition, an antipode if exists, is unique.

Definition 1.2.5. A bialgebra with an antipode is called a Hopf algebra.

Definition 1.2.6. ([61]) A (left) 2-cocycle γ on a Hopf algebra (\mathcal{A}, Δ) is a \mathbb{C} -linear map γ : $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ such that it is convolution invertible, unital, i.e,

$$\gamma(a \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1) = \epsilon(a) = \gamma(1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a)$$

and for all a, b, c in \mathcal{A} ,

$$\gamma(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(1)}) \gamma(a_{(2)} b_{(2)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c) = \gamma(b_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c_{(1)}) \gamma(a \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(2)} c_{(2)}).$$
(1.2.1)

The convolution inverse $\overline{\gamma}$ of γ is a right 2-cocyle on the Hopf algebra (\mathcal{A}, Δ) , i.e. a \mathbb{C} -linear map from $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}$ to \mathbb{C} which is convolution invertible with convolution inverse γ , unital and satsifies, for all a, b, c in \mathcal{A} ,

$$\overline{\gamma}(a_{(1)}b_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c)\overline{\gamma}(a_{(2)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(2)}) = \overline{\gamma}(a\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(1)}c_{(1)})\overline{\gamma}(b_{(2)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} c_{(2)}).$$

Given a Hopf algebra (\mathcal{A}, Δ) and such a 2-cocycle γ as above, we have a new Hopf algebra $(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}, \Delta_{\gamma})$ as given by the following definition.

Definition 1.2.7. ([32]) If (\mathcal{A}, Δ) is a Hopf algebra and γ is a 2-cocycle as above, the cocycle deformed Hopf algebra is given by the pair $(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}, \Delta_{\gamma})$ where \mathcal{A}_{γ} is equal to \mathcal{A} as a vector space and the coproduct $\Delta_{\gamma} = \Delta$. The algebra structure $*_{\gamma}$ on \mathcal{A}_{γ} is defined by the following equation:

$$a *_{\gamma} b = \gamma(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(1)}) a_{(2)} b_{(2)} \overline{\gamma}(a_{(3)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(3)}).$$
(1.2.2)

Remark 1.2.8. The deformation of \mathcal{A}_{γ} by $\overline{\gamma}$ gives back \mathcal{A} , i.e. $(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma})_{\overline{\gamma}} \cong \mathcal{A}$.

As an example of Hopf algebras, we introduce the Hopf algebra $SU_q(2)$.

Definition 1.2.9. For $q \in [-1,1]\setminus 0$, $SU_q(2)$ is the *-algebra generated by the two elements α, γ , and their adjoints, satisfying the following relations:

$$\alpha^* \alpha + \gamma^* \gamma = 1, \quad \alpha \alpha^* + q^2 \gamma \gamma^* = 1,$$

 $\gamma^* \gamma = \gamma \gamma^*, \quad \alpha \gamma = q \gamma \alpha, \quad \alpha \gamma^* = q \gamma^* \alpha.$

The comultiplication map Δ is given on the generators by

$$\Delta(\alpha) = \alpha \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \alpha - q \gamma^* \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \gamma, \quad \Delta(\gamma) = \gamma \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \alpha + \alpha^* \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \gamma$$

For more details on Hopf algebras, we refer to the books [1, 23, 59, 61, 78, 87]. In this thesis, we will only deal with the algebraic aspects of Hopf algebras. For the analytic aspects, we refer to [62, 68, 75, 90, 91, 94].

Now we recall the notion of covariant bimodules over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} . Covariant bimodules have been studied (under the name Hopf-bimodules) by many algebraists including Abe ([1]) and Sweedler ([87]). They were introduced independently by Woronowicz ([93]) for studying differential calculi over Hopf algebras.

Definition 1.2.10. Suppose M is an A-bimodule such that (M, Δ_M) is a left A-comodule. Then (M, Δ_M) is called a left-covariant bimodule if for all a in A and m in M, the following equations hold:

$$\Delta_M(am) = \Delta(a)\Delta_M(m), \qquad \Delta_M(ma) = \Delta_M(m)\Delta(a).$$

Similarly, if ${}_{M}\Delta$ is a right comodule coaction on M, then $(M, {}_{M}\Delta)$ is called a right covariant bimodule if for any a in \mathcal{A} and m in M,

$${}_{M}\Delta(am) = \Delta(a)_{M}\Delta(m), \qquad {}_{M}\Delta(ma) = {}_{M}\Delta(m)\Delta(a).$$

Finally, let M be a bimodule over \mathcal{A} and $\Delta_M : M \to \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} M$ and $_M\Delta : M \to M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}$ be \mathbb{C} -linear maps. Then we say that $(M, \Delta_M, _M\Delta)$ is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule if the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i) (M, Δ_M) is left-covariant bimodule,
- (ii) $(M, {}_{M}\Delta)$ is a right-covariant bimodule,
- (*iii*) $(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}M} \Delta) \Delta_M = (\Delta_M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_M \Delta.$

Note that, by definition, a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule is in particular an \mathcal{A} -bicomodule.

The vector space of left (respectively, right) invariant elements of a left (respectively, right) covariant bimodules will play a crucial role in Chapter 4, and we introduce notations for them here.

Definition 1.2.11. Let (M, Δ_M) be a left-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} . The subspace of leftinvariant elements of M is defined to be the vector space

$$_{0}M := \{ m \in M : \Delta_{M}(m) = 1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m \}.$$

Similarly, if $(M, {}_M\Delta)$ is a right-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} , the subspace of right-invariant elements of M is the vector space

$$M_0 := \{ m \in M : {}_M \Delta(m) = m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1 \}.$$

Let us note the immediate consequences of the above definitions.

Lemma 1.2.12. (Theorem 2.4 of [93]) Suppose M is a bicovariant A-bimodule. Then

$$_{M}\Delta(_{0}M) \subseteq {}_{0}M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A}, \qquad \Delta_{M}(M_{0}) \subseteq \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}M_{0}.$$
 (1.2.3)

Explicitly, if $\{m_i\}_i$ is a (finite) basis of $_0M$, then there exist elements $\{a_{ji}\}_{ij}$ in \mathcal{A} such that

$${}_{M}\Delta(m_{i}) = \sum_{j} m_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{ji}.$$
(1.2.4)

Proof. This is a simple consequence of the fact that ${}_{M}\Delta$ intertwines with Δ_{M} .

Let $(M, \Delta_M, {}_M\Delta)$ and $(N, \Delta_N, {}_N\Delta)$ be bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules. Then $(M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N, \Delta_{M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N}, {}_{M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N}\Delta)$ forms a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule, called the tensor product of Mand N where the coactions $\Delta_{M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N} : M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N \to \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N$ and ${}_{M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N}\Delta : M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N \to$ $M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}$ are defined by

$$\Delta_{M\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}N}(m\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}n) = m_{(-1)}n_{(-1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}m_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}n_{(0)}$$
$$_{M\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}N}\Delta(m\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}n) = m_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}n_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}m_{(1)}n_{(1)}.$$

We recall now the definition of covariant maps between bimodules.

Definition 1.2.13. Let (M, Δ_M) and (N, Δ_N) be left-covariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules and T be a \mathbb{C} -linear map from M to N.

T is called left-covariant if for all m in M, n in N, a in A,

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T)(\Delta_M(m)) = \Delta_N(T(m)).$$

T is called a right-covariant map between right-covariant A-bimodules $(M, {}_{M}\Delta)$ and $(N, {}_{N}\Delta)$ if for all m in M, n in N, a in A,

$$(T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(_M \Delta(m)) = {}_N \Delta(T(m)).$$

Finally, a map which is both left and right covariant A-bilinear map will be called a bicovariant map.

1.3 Noncommutative differential calculus

In this section, we shall recall the notion of differential calculi on algebras. In Subsections 1.3.1 and 1.3.2, we shall give two examples of constructions of differential calculi, given by Connes and Woronowicz respectively. These will be used extensively in the thesis.

Definition 1.3.1. A differential calculus on an algebra \mathcal{A} is a triple $(\Omega(\mathcal{A}), \wedge, d)$, where

(i) $\Omega(\mathcal{A}) := \bigoplus_{k \ge 0} \Omega^k(\mathcal{A})$ is a graded \mathcal{A} -bimodule, i.e., each $\Omega^k(\mathcal{A})$ is an \mathcal{A} -bimodule, with $\Omega^0(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}$,

(*iii*) $\wedge : \Omega(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega(\mathcal{A})$ is a graded \mathcal{A} -bilinear map, *i.e.*, it restricts to \mathcal{A} -bilinear maps

$$\wedge|_{\Omega^{k}(\mathcal{A})\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\Omega^{l}(\mathcal{A})}:\Omega^{k}(\mathcal{A})\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\Omega^{l}(\mathcal{A})\to\Omega^{k+l}(\mathcal{A}),$$

(iii) $d: \Omega(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega(\mathcal{A})$ is a graded exterior derivative with degree one, i.e. d restricts to maps

$$d|_{\Omega^k}: \Omega^k(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega^{k+1}(\mathcal{A})$$

and for any ω, ω' in $\Omega(\mathcal{A})$,

$$d(\omega \wedge \omega') = d(\omega) \wedge \omega' + (-1)^{\deg \omega} \omega \wedge d(\omega'),$$

(*iv*) $\Omega^k(\mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \sum d(a_0) \wedge d(a_1) \wedge \dots d(a_{k-1}) a_k : a_l \in \mathcal{A} \}.$

The above definition is the noncommutative analogue of the following example:

Example 1.3.2. Let M be a smooth manifold of dimension n and \mathcal{A} be the algebra $C^{\infty}(M)$ of smooth functions on M. Let $\Omega^k(M)$ denote the \mathcal{A} -bimodule of k-forms on M and $\Omega(M) = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{n} \Omega^k(M)$. We have the de-Rham differential $d : \Omega^k(M) \to \Omega^{k+1}(M)$ and the classical wedge map $\wedge : \Omega^k(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^l(M) \to \Omega^{k+l}(M)$. The triplet $(\Omega(M), \wedge, d)$ is a differential calculus over the algebra \mathcal{A} . We will call this calculus the classical differential calculus on M.

Definition 1.3.3. A first order differential calculus on \mathcal{A} is a pair $(\Omega^1(\mathcal{A}), d)$ where $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$ is an \mathcal{A} -bimodule and $d: \mathcal{A} \to \Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$ is a derivation such that $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ d(a)b : a, b \in \mathcal{A} \}.$

1.3.1 Spectral triples

In this subsection, we recall the notion of spectral triples due to Connes ([25]) and the construction of a differential calculus out of it. Spectral triples will be the basic objects of study in Chapters 2 and 3. Our references for this subsection are [25], [64].

Definition 1.3.4. A spectral triple on a unital *-algebra \mathcal{A} is a triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ where \mathcal{H} is a separable Hilbert space and D is a (possibly unbounded) self-adjoint operator on \mathcal{H} such that the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i) there exists a faithful representation π of \mathcal{A} on \mathcal{H} ,
- (i) for all a in \mathcal{A} , the operator $[D, \pi(a)]$ has a bounded extension.

In addition, if the operator $(1 + D^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$ is compact, we say that the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is of compact type. A spectral triple of compact type is called finitely summable if there exists some p' > 0 such that $\operatorname{Tr}(|D|^{-p'}) < \infty$. The infimum p of all such admissible p' is called the dimension of the spectral triple and the spectral triple is called p-summable. Note that in the above definition, the functional Tr denotes the usual trace on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

All the examples of spectral triples in this thesis will be of compact type. It is clear from the definition that the algebra \mathcal{A} sits inside $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ as a *-closed subalgebra $\{\pi(a) : a \in \mathcal{A}\}$. However, in order to simplify notations, we will often omit the representation π . Thus, we will simply write [D, a]b to denote the bounded operator $[D, \pi(a)]\pi(b)$.

There is a canonical spectral triple of compact type associated to any compact Riemannian manifold. We explain this in the next example.

Example 1.3.5. Let (M, g) be a compact Riemannian manifold of dimension m and $\Omega^k(M)$ be the space of smooth k-forms on M. The space of all differential forms $\Omega(M) = \bigoplus_{k=0}^m \Omega^k(M)$ can be made into a pre-Hilbert space via the pre-inner product given by

$$\langle \langle \omega, \eta \rangle \rangle = \int_M \star(\omega) \wedge \eta d \mathrm{vol},$$

where \star denotes the Hodge \star -map and dvol denotes the volume form. Let \mathcal{H} denote the Hilbert space completion of $\Omega(M)$. The $C^{\infty}(M)$ left-module structure on $\Omega^{k}(M)$ extends to define a representation π of $C^{\infty}(M)$ on \mathcal{H} .

If d denotes the de-Rham differential and d^* its adjoint, then the Hodge-Dirac operator $d+d^*$ is a self-adjoint (densely defined) operator on \mathcal{H} . The triplet ($C^{\infty}(M), \mathcal{H}, d+d^*$) forms a spectral triple of compact type which is m-summable.

Next we give an example of a compact spectral triple over a genuinely noncommutative algebra.

Example 1.3.6. Recall the example (Example 1.1.18) of the noncommutative 2-torus $C(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$ generated by two unitary elements U and V. Consider the dense *-algebra $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$ of $C(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$ defined as:

$$C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^{2}_{\theta}) := \{ \sum_{m,n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_{mn} U^{m} V^{n} : \sup_{m,n} |m^{k} n^{l} a_{mn}| < \infty \ \forall k, l \in \mathbb{N} \}$$

We define two derivations d_1 and d_2 on $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$ defined on the generators U and V by

$$d_1(U) = U, \quad d_1(V) = 0,$$

 $d_2(U) = 0, \quad d_2(V) = V.$

A faithful trace τ can be defined on $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$ by:

$$\tau(\sum_{m,n} a_{mn} U^m V^n) = a_{00}.$$

Define $\mathcal{H} := L^2(\tau) \oplus L^2(\tau)$ where $L^2(\tau)$ denotes the GNS Hilbert space of $C(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$ with respect to the state τ . The representation of $C(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$ on \mathcal{H} is given by the diagonal embedding $a \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix}$ into $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Finally, define

$$D := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & d_1 + id_2 \\ d_1 - id_2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then, $(C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta}), \mathcal{H}, D)$ gives a spectral triple of compact type on $C(\mathbb{T}^2_{\theta})$.

For examples of spectral triples on $SU_q(2)$, we refer to [21] and [35]. We refer to [33] for an examples of a spectral triple on the Podles' spheres $S_{q,c}^2$. For spectral triples on q-deformations of compact semisimple Lie groups, we refer to [79].

Now we spell out the construction of the first order differential calculus (Definition 1.3.3) arising out of a spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$.

Definition 1.3.7. The first order differential calculus on the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is the pair $(\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}), d_D)$, where

- (i) $d_D := \sqrt{-1}[D, \cdot] : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}),$
- (*ii*) $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}(d_D(a)b : a, b \in \mathcal{A}).$

Remark 1.3.8. By the above definition, $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ is a subset of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, and its \mathcal{A} -bimodule structure is inherited from $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

For the rest of this subsection, we are going to dispense of the notation d_D and denote the derivative by d.

The space of two forms

The definition of the space of the higher order forms on $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ requires a little more work. Even though $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ comes with a natural multiplication map, which let us for the moment denote by m_0 , this is not a good candidate for the \wedge map of $\Omega_D(\mathcal{A})$. This is because there can possibly be a finite set $a_{i_0}, a_{i_1}, \ldots, a_{i_k}$ such that $\sum a_{i_0}d(a_{i_1})\ldots d(a_{i_k}) = 0$ in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ (multiplication understood to be as between elements of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$), but $\sum d(a_{i_0})d(a_{i_1})\ldots d(a_{i_k}) \neq 0$. This would in turn mean that d is not a well-defined exterior derivative. Since for the purpose of this thesis, we require only one-forms and two-forms of a calculus, we need only define the \wedge and d maps onto the space of two-forms $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$. For this reason, we introduce the following definition.

Definition 1.3.9. We denote by $m_0 : \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ the natural multiplication on the space of one-forms as a subspace of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Moreover, we define \mathcal{J} , called the space of junk forms, to be the right \mathcal{A} -submodule of the range of m_0 , to be denoted by $\operatorname{Ran}(m_0)$, spanned by elements of the set $\{\sum_i d(a_i)d(b_i) : a_i, b_i \in \mathcal{A}, \sum_i a_i d(b_i) = 0\}.$

Lemma 1.3.10. The space of junk forms \mathcal{J} is closed under left and right \mathcal{A} -action. Thus, the quotient $\operatorname{Ran}(m_0)/\mathcal{J}$ is a well-defined \mathcal{A} -bimodule, and the composition of the quotient map with the multiplication map m_0 given by

$$\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \to \operatorname{Ran}(m_0) \to \operatorname{Ran}(m_0)/\mathcal{J}$$

is a well-defined A-bilinear map.

Proof. \mathcal{J} is by definition a right \mathcal{A} -submodule of $\operatorname{Ran}(m_0)$, so we have to verify that it is also closed under left \mathcal{A} -action. To this end, let $\sum_i a_i d(b_i) = 0$ be a finite sum, where a_i, b_i are in \mathcal{A} . For an arbitrary elements c in \mathcal{A} ,

$$c\sum_{i} d(a_{i})d(b_{i}) = \sum_{i} d(ca_{i})d(b_{i}) - d(c)\sum_{i} a_{i}d(b_{i}) = \sum_{I} d(ca_{i})d(b_{i}),$$

as $\sum_i a_i d(b_i) = 0.$

But since $\sum_i ca_i d(b_i) = 0$, we have that $\sum_i d(ca_i) d(b_i)$ is in \mathcal{J} , which implies that \mathcal{J} is closed under left \mathcal{A} -action.

Since we have proved that \mathcal{J} is an \mathcal{A} -sub-bimodule of $\operatorname{Ran}(m_0)$, the quotient $\operatorname{Ran}(m_0)/\mathcal{J}$ is a well-defined \mathcal{A} -bimodule and the quotient map is an \mathcal{A} -bilinear map. Since m_0 is the multiplication in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and \mathcal{A} is contained in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, m_0 is an \mathcal{A} -bilinear map, thus the composition of the quotient map and m_0 is also an \mathcal{A} -bilinear map. Thus we have our results.

Now we can satisfactorily make the following definition.

Definition 1.3.11. Given a spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$, we define the space of two-forms as $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}) := \operatorname{Ran}(m_0)/\mathcal{J}$ as in Lemma 1.3.10. The map $\wedge : \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ is defined as the composition of the quotient map and the map m_0 as in the same lemma.

For a compact Riemannian manifold M, consider the spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(M), \mathcal{H}, D)$ of Example 1.3.5. The operator

$$d: \mathcal{H}_0 := \overline{\Omega^0(M)} = L^2(M, d\text{vol}) \to \mathcal{H}_1 := \overline{\Omega^1(M)}, \ d = \sqrt{-1}[D, \cdot]$$

is a densely defined operator which is closable. The operator

$$\mathcal{L} := -d^*d : \mathcal{H}_0 \to \mathcal{H}_0$$

is a self-adjoint (unbounded) operator whose domain contains $C^{\infty}(M)$. The operator \mathcal{L} is called the Hodge-Laplacian and contains a lot of geometric information on the manifold.

In Chapter 2, we will need a noncommutative analogue of the Hodge Laplacian introduced by Goswami in [43]. So we record it here for later use. First we need to introduce an analogue of the volume form dvol for p-summable spectral triples. Here, and elsewhere, the domain of an unbounded operator will be denoted by Dom(T).

Definition 1.3.12. For a p-summable spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$, the Dixmier trace on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is given by the positive linear functional τ ,

$$\tau(X) = \operatorname{Lim}_{\omega} \frac{Tr(X|D|^{-p})}{Tr(|D|^{-p})},$$

where \lim_{ω} is as in Chapter 4 of [25].

For the spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(M), \mathcal{H}, D)$ of Example 1.3.5, the functional τ of the above definition gives back the volume form dvol. Then we have the following.

Proposition 1.3.13. (Lemma 3.1, Lemma 3.2 and Lemma 5.1 of [43]) Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ be a psummable spectral triple of compact type and τ be as in Definition 1.3.12. We assume that the formula $\langle \eta, \eta' \rangle = \tau(\eta^* \eta')$ is a semi-inner product on the vector space $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$. We will denote the Hilbert space completion of $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ under this semi-inner product by the symbol \mathcal{H}_D^1 . We further assume that for all X in the *-algebra generated by A and [D, A], the map

$$\mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}), \ t \mapsto e^{itD} X e^{-itD}$$

is differentiable at t = 0 in the norm topology of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

Consider the densely defined operator $d := \sqrt{-1}[D, \cdot] : L^2(\mathcal{A}, \tau) \to \mathcal{H}^1_D$. We have the following:

- (i) d is closable. If \mathcal{L} is defined to be the operator $-d^*d$, then $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \text{Dom}(\mathcal{L})$ and $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}'' \subseteq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.
- (ii) If moreover, $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, then
 - (i) For all x in A, we have

$$\mathcal{L}(x^*) = (\mathcal{L}(x))^*. \tag{1.3.1}$$

(ii) For all b, c in A, the following equation holds:

$$d^{*}(d(b)c) = -\frac{1}{2}(b\mathcal{L}(c) - \mathcal{L}(b)c - \mathcal{L}(bc)).$$
(1.3.2)

1.3.2 Bicovariant differential calculi

In Section 1.2, we had recalled the notions of Hopf algebras and covariant bimodules. In this subsection, we recall bicovariant differential calculi on Hopf algebras.

Definition 1.3.14. (Definitions 1.2, 1.3 of [93]) Let (\mathcal{E}, d) be a first order differential calculus on a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} .

We say that (\mathcal{E}, d) is left-covariant if for any a_k, b_k in $\mathcal{A}, k = 1, \ldots, K$,

$$(\sum_{k} a_k db_k = 0) \text{ implies that } (\sum_{k} \Delta(a_k) (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d) \Delta(b_k) = 0).$$

We say that (\mathcal{E}, d) is right-covariant if for any a_k, b_k in $\mathcal{A}, k = 1, \ldots, K$,

$$(\sum_{k} a_k db_k = 0)$$
 implies that $(\sum_{k} \Delta(a_k)(d \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})\Delta(b_k) = 0).$

We say (\mathcal{E}, d) is bicovariant if it is both left-covariant and right-covariant.

Bicovariant differential calculi on Hopf algebras have been studied by many mathematicians (including [20, 42, 45, 52, 53, 69, 92, 93] and references therein). Majid and Oeckl ([74]) proved that if (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus on a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} and γ is a 2-cocycle (in the sense of Definition 1.2.6), then (\mathcal{E}, d) can be twisted to a bicovariant differential calculus $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ over the twisted Hopf algebra \mathcal{A}_{γ} (as in Definition 1.2.7). This particular example will be studied in Chapter 5. The bicovariant $4D_{\pm}$ calculi on the Hopf algebra $SU_q(2)$ will be studied in Chapter 6. For more details on bicovariant differential calculi and their classifications, we refer to the books [61], [71] and references therein. For examples of covariant differential calculi on quantum homogeneous spaces, we refer to [47–50] and references therein.

Woronowicz ([93]) proved that a bicovariant differential calculus is automatically endowed with a left as well as a right comodule coaction.

Proposition 1.3.15. (Propositions 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4 of [93]) Let (\mathcal{E}, d) be a bicovariant first order differential calculus on \mathcal{A} . Then there exists linear mappings

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}: \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{E}, \quad {}_{\mathcal{E}} \Delta: \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}$$

such that

(i) $(\mathcal{E}, \Delta_{\mathcal{E}}, \mathcal{E}\Delta)$ is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule, i.e. $(\mathcal{E}, \Delta_{\mathcal{E}})$ is a left \mathcal{A} -comodule, $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}\Delta)$ is a right \mathcal{A} -comodule and the following equations hold for all e in \mathcal{E} and a in \mathcal{A} :

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(ae) = \Delta(a)\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(e), \quad \Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(ea) = \Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(e)\Delta(a) \tag{1.3.3}$$

$$\varepsilon \Delta(ae) = \Delta(a)\varepsilon \Delta(e), \quad \varepsilon \Delta(ea) = \varepsilon \Delta(e)\Delta(a) \tag{1.3.4}$$

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{E} \Delta) \Delta_{\mathcal{E}} = (\Delta_{\mathcal{E}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_{\mathcal{E}} \Delta \tag{1.3.5}$$

(ii) d is bicovariant, i.e.

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{E}} \circ d = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d) \Delta \quad {}_{\mathcal{E}} \Delta \circ d = (d \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \Delta. \tag{1.3.6}$$

We note the following consequence of Proposition 1.3.15.

Lemma 1.3.16. For any $a \in A$, the following equations holds:

(i)
$$a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d(a_{(2)}) = (da)_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (da)_{(0)}$$

(*ii*) $d(a_{(1)}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)} = (da)_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (da)_{(1)}$

 $(iii) \ a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d(a_{(2)}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(3)} = (da)_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (da)_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (da)_{(1)}$

Proof. Part (i) and part (ii) follow from (1.3.6). For Part (iii), we have

$$\begin{aligned} a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d(a_{(2)}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(3)} &= (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \Delta) \Delta(a) \\ \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}\mathcal{E}} \Delta) (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d) \Delta(a) \ (\mathrm{by}(1.3.6)) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}\mathcal{E}} \Delta) \Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(da) \ (\mathrm{by}(1.3.6)) \\ \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}\mathcal{E}} \Delta) ((da)_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (da)_{(0)}) = (da)_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}\mathcal{E}} \Delta((da)_{(0)}) \\ \\ &= (da)_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (da)_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (da)_{(1)}. \end{aligned}$$

This proves the lemma.

The space of two-forms

Following Woronowicz ([93]), let us define the space of two forms associated to a bicovariant different calculus. For this we need to recall the following fundamental result concerning bicovariant bimodules.

Proposition 1.3.17. (Proposition 3.1 of [93]) Given two bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{F} , there exists a unique bimodule homomorphism $\sigma : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ such that $\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega$ for any left-invariant element ω in \mathcal{E} and right-invariant element η in \mathcal{F} . In particular, taking $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{E}$, there exists a unique bimodule homomorphism

$$\sigma: \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$$
 such that

$$\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega \tag{1.3.7}$$

for any left-invariant element ω and right-invariant element η in \mathcal{E} . σ is invertible and is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to itself, i.e

$$(\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma) \Delta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} = \Delta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} \circ \sigma, \qquad (\sigma \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}})_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} \Delta = \varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} \Delta \circ \sigma. \tag{1.3.8}$$

Moreover, σ satisfies the following braid equation on $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$:

$$(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\sigma)(\sigma\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathrm{id})(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\sigma) = (\sigma\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathrm{id})(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\sigma)(\sigma\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathrm{id})$$

Then, the space of two-forms is defined as follows:

Definition 1.3.18. Let (\mathcal{E}, d) be a bicovariant first order differential calculus and σ be the map as in Proposition 1.3.17. We define

$$\Omega^{2}(\mathcal{A}) := (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) / \mathrm{Ker}(\sigma - 1).$$

The symbol \wedge will denote the quotient map

$$\wedge: \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A}).$$

Finally, we will denote $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge)$ by the symbol $\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Thus,

$$\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) = \operatorname{Ker}(\sigma - 1) = \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}$$
(1.3.9)

From now on, we will use the notation $\rho \wedge \rho' := \wedge (\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \rho')$, for elements ρ, ρ' in \mathcal{E} .

Proposition 1.3.19. The subspace $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E} := \text{Ker}(\wedge)$ is a bicovariant sub-bimodule of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Moreover, the space $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ is a bicovariant bimodule, and the quotient map \wedge is a bicovariant bimodule map.

Proof. Since the map σ is a bicovariant bimodule map, $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E} = \text{Ker}(\sigma - 1)$ is a subbimodule of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ invariant under the left and right coactions of \mathcal{A} . The quotient $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}) = (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})/\text{Ker}(\sigma - 1)$ is the cokernel of the inclusion map $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Hence, $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule, and the quotient map \wedge is a bicovariant bimodule map. \Box

The other order forms are defined similarly. We refer to [93] for the details. In particular, we have $\Omega^0(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}$ and $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{E}$. Then \wedge extends to a map

$$\wedge: \Omega^k(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^l(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega^{k+l}(\mathcal{A}).$$

Collecting all the notations and results, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 1.3.20. ([93]) Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a first order bicovariant differential calculus on \mathcal{A} and $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ is the space of two-forms. The left and right comodule coactions $\Delta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}$ and $\varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}\Delta$ of \mathcal{A} on $\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}$ descend to comodule coactions of \mathcal{A} on $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ as $\operatorname{Ker}(\sigma-1)$ is left and

right-invariant. This makes $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule. The same is true for $\Omega^k(\mathcal{A})$ for all $k \geq 0$.

Moreover, the map d extends uniquely to a bicovariant map from $\bigoplus_{k\geq 0}\Omega^k(\mathcal{A})$ to itself and satisfies $d^2 = 0$ and

$$d(\theta \wedge \theta') = d\theta \wedge \theta' + (-1)^k \theta \wedge d\theta'$$

if θ is in $\Omega^k(\mathcal{A})$.

Our definition of two-forms is in general different than that considered in [51].

Remark 1.3.21. Suppose \mathcal{A} is a q-deformation of a classical compact semisimple Lie group and \mathcal{E} be a bicovariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} . Then typically, the (q-dependent) eigenvalues of σ consist of real numbers other than ± 1 . Let I be the set of eigenvalues of σ which tend (in limit) to 1 as q tends to 1.

The authors of [20] define

$$\Omega^{2}(\mathcal{A}) := \frac{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}{\prod_{\lambda \in I} (\sigma - \lambda_{-})}$$

It is this definition of $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ which was taken in [51]. Thus, the definition of two-forms considered in this chapter are different than that in [51] unless the only eigenvalues of σ are ± 1 .

1.4 Connections in classical and noncommutative geometry

Connections on noncommutative differential calculi are the main focus of study in this thesis. The rest of the thesis will then be devoted to giving a coherent definition of Levi-Civita connections on some classes of noncommutative differential calculi, and investigating their existence and uniqueness.

1.4.1 Levi-Civita connections in Riemannian geometry

Throughout this subsection, M will denote a smooth manifold and \mathcal{A} will stand for the unital algebra $C^{\infty}(M)$ of smooth functions on a smooth manifold M. The symbols $\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})$ and $\Omega^k(M)$ will denote the Lie algebra of smooth vector fields and the set of all smooth k-forms on Mrespectively. In particular, $\Omega^1(M) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A}), \mathcal{A})$. Since \mathcal{A} is commutative, the right \mathcal{A} modules $\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})$ and $\Omega^k(M)$ are \mathcal{A} -bimodules in a natural way. Vector fields on M are in one to one correspondence with derivations of the algebra $\mathcal{A} = C^{\infty}(M)$. This correspondence maps X in $\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})$ to the map $\delta_X : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ defined by

$$\delta_X(a) = da(X).$$

Since δ_X is a derivation, it satisfies the identity

$$\delta_X(ab) = \delta_X(a)b + a\delta_X(b)$$

for all a, b in \mathcal{A} .

We have an \mathcal{A} -bilinear map

$$\wedge: \Omega^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(M) \to \Omega^2(M), \ \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \mapsto \omega \wedge \eta.$$

The space of k-forms $\Omega^k(M)$ are spanned (as right \mathcal{A} -modules) by elements of the form $da_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge da_k$ where a_1, \cdots, a_k are elements in \mathcal{A} . The next proposition collects some well-known facts about the spaces of one and two-forms on a manifold. We will see that any tame differential calculi on a (possibly) noncommutative algebra (Chapter 2) and certain bicovariant differential calculi on a Hopf algebra (Chapter 4) satisfy some of these properties.

Proposition 1.4.1. The following short-exact sequence of right A-modules splits:

$$0 \to \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \to \Omega^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(M) \to \Omega^2(M) \to 0.$$

We have

$$\Omega^{1}(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^{1}(M) = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$$
(1.4.1)

where \mathcal{F} is isomorphic to $\Omega^2(M)$ as right \mathcal{A} -modules. Concretely, we have

$$\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) = \{ \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega : \omega, \eta \in \Omega^{1}(M) \}, \ \mathcal{F} = \{ \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta - \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega : \omega, \eta \in \Omega^{1}(M) \}.$$

Let $P_{\text{sym}} : \Omega^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(M) \to \Omega^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(M)$ be the idempotent with range $\text{Ker}(\wedge)$ and kernel equal to \mathcal{F} . Then the map P_{sym} is \mathcal{A} -bilinear and given by the formula:

$$P_{\rm sym}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \frac{1}{2} (\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)$$

for all ω, η in $\Omega^1(M)$.

Definition 1.4.2. A connection on a manifold M is a \mathbb{C} -linear map $\nabla : \Omega^1(M) \to \Omega^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(M)$ such that

$$\nabla(\omega a) = \nabla(\omega)a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da$$

for all ω in $\Omega^1(M)$ and for all a in \mathcal{A} .

A covariant derivative on M is a map

$$\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A}) \times \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A}), (X, Y) \mapsto \nabla_Y X$$

such that for all a in \mathcal{A} and for all X, Y, X', Y' in $\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})$, the following equations hold:

$$\nabla_Y(X+X') = \nabla_Y X + \nabla_Y X', \ \nabla_{Y+Y'}(X) = \nabla_Y X + \nabla_{Y'} X,$$
$$\nabla_{Ya} X = (\nabla_Y X)a, \ \nabla_Y (Xa) = (\nabla_Y X)a + X\delta_Y(a).$$

The notions of connections and covariant derivatives are equivalent. Indeed, given a connection ∇ on $\Omega^1(M)$, a covariant derivative on the level of vector fields is uniquely defined by the following equation for all ω in $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$:

$$\omega(\nabla_Y X) = \delta_Y(\omega(X)) - (\nabla(\omega))(X \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} Y).$$
(1.4.2)

Conversely, given a covariant derivative, a connection ∇ can be recovered from (1.4.2).

Now we recall the notion of torsionless-ness of a connection.

Definition 1.4.3. A connection ∇ on M is called torsionless if the covariant derivative defined by (1.4.2) satisfies the following equation for all X, Y in $\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})$:

$$\nabla_X Y - \nabla_Y X - [X, Y] = 0.$$

Let us state the definition of a pseudo-Riemannian metric on a manifold. In this section, the symbol flip : $\Omega^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(M) \to \Omega^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(M)$ will denote the flip map, i.e, flip $(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega$.

Definition 1.4.4. A pseudo-Riemannian metric on a manifold M is a right A-linear map

 $g: \Omega^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(M) \to \mathcal{A}$ such that

(i) $g \circ flip = g$,

(ii) the map

$$V_q: \Omega^1(M) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega^1(M), \mathcal{A}), \ V_q(\omega)(\eta) = g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)$$

is an isomorphism of right A-modules.

Remark 1.4.5. Since $\mathcal{A} = C^{\infty}(M)$ is commutative and $a\omega = \omega a$ for all a in \mathcal{A} and ω in $\Omega^{1}(M)$, a pseudo-Riemannian metric g is automatically left \mathcal{A} -linear. Thus, g is \mathcal{A} -bilinear. The same is true for the map V_{g} .

Throughout this thesis, we will not postulate the condition of positive definiteness in the definition of a metric. The next proposition shows that pseudo-Riemannian metrics as in Definition 1.4.4 are in one to one correspondence with the usual notion of pseudo Riemannian metrics on the level of vector fields.

Proposition 1.4.6. Let $\widetilde{\text{flip}} : \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})$ denote the flip map on the level of vector fields and g be a pseudo-Riemannian metric on M as in Definition 1.4.4. Then

$$\widetilde{g}: \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{A}, \ \widetilde{g}(X \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} Y) = g(V_{q}^{-1}(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{q}^{-1}(Y))$$

coincides with the usual notion of a smooth pseudo-Riemannian metric in differential geometry, i.e., $\widetilde{g} \circ \widetilde{\text{flip}} = \widetilde{g}$ and on a co-ordinate neighborhood (U, x) of M, the matrix $((\widetilde{g}_{ij}))_{ij} = ((\widetilde{g}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i})))_{ij}$ is an invertible matrix with entries in $C^{\infty}(U)$.

Proof. We begin by observing that as g maps $\Omega^1(M) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(M)$ to \mathcal{A} , the range of \tilde{g} also lies in \mathcal{A} . If X, Y belong to $\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})$, we have

$$\widetilde{g}(\widetilde{\mathrm{flip}}(X \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} Y)) = \widetilde{g}(Y \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} X) = g(V_g^{-1}(Y) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g^{-1}(X)) = g(\mathrm{flip}(V_g^{-1}(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g^{-1}(Y))) \\ = g(V_g^{-1}(X) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g^{-1}(Y)) = \widetilde{g}(X \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} Y).$$

Next, if (U, x) is a co-ordinate of M, then by an usual partition of unity argument, we can extend the local vector fields $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$ smoothly to the whole of M. Then since $\tilde{g}(\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})) \subseteq \mathcal{A}, \tilde{g}_{ij} \in \mathcal{A}$ and in particular, the map $U \to \mathbb{C}, \ m \mapsto \tilde{g}_{ij}(m)$ belongs to $C^{\infty}(U)$. Finally, we need to check the invertibility of the matrix (\tilde{g}_{ij}) . We view the local vector fields $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$ as elements of Hom_{\mathcal{A}}($\Omega^1(M), \mathcal{A}$). Since g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric, the condition (ii) of Definition 1.4.4 implies that the matrix $((g_{ij}))_{ij}$ is invertible, where $g_{ij} = g(dx_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} dx_j)$. Denote the inverse of the matrix by the notation $((g^{ij}))_{ij}$. Then the following computation shows that the matrix $g^t = (((g_{ij}))_{ij})^t$ is the inverse to the matrix $((\tilde{g}_{ij}))_{ij}$ and in particular, $((\tilde{g}_{ij}))_{ij}$ is an invertible matrix.

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j} \widetilde{g}_{ij}(g^{t})_{jk} &= \sum_{j} \widetilde{g}_{ij}g_{kj} = \sum_{j} \widetilde{g}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g_{kj} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}) \\ &= \widetilde{g}(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{g}(dx_{k})) \text{ (since } V_{g}(dx_{k}) = \sum_{j} g_{kj} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}}) \\ &= \widetilde{g}(\sum_{l} g^{il} V_{g}(dx_{l}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{g}(dx_{k})) \text{ (since } \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}} = \sum_{l} g^{il} V_{g}(dx_{l})) \\ &= \sum_{l} g^{il} g_{lk} \text{ (by the definition of } \widetilde{g}) \\ &= \delta_{ik}. \end{split}$$

The following definition is regarding the compatibility of a connection with respect to a pseudo-Riemannian metric in terms of the associated covariant derivative.

Definition 1.4.7. Suppose g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric on a manifold M. A connection ∇ on M is said to be compatible with g if

$$\delta_Y(\widetilde{g}(Z \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} X)) = \widetilde{g}(\nabla_Y Z \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} X) + \widetilde{g}(\nabla_Y X \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} Z)$$

for all X, Y, Z in $\mathfrak{X}(\mathcal{A})$.

Now we state some equivalent criteria for a connection to be torsionless and compatibility with a pseudo-Riemannian metric. These criteria are well-known but since we were unable to find a reference which states these criteria exactly as we need them, let us refer to Proposition 5.1 and Proposition 5.4 of [14] for the proofs. **Proposition 1.4.8.** A connection ∇ on a manifold M is torsionless if and only if

$$\wedge \circ \nabla(\omega) = -d\omega$$
 for all ω in $\Omega^1(M)$.

If g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric on M, then a connection ∇ is compatible with g if and only if

$$(g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})[\mathrm{flip}_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) + (\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nabla(\eta))] = d(g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta))$$

for all ω, η in $\Omega^1(M)$.

If g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric on a manifold M and ∇ is a connection on M which is torsionless and compatible with g, then ∇ is called a Levi-Civita connection. The fundamental theorem of differential geometry states that such a connection exists uniquely.

Theorem 1.4.9. (Levi-Civita's theorem) If g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric on a manifold M, there exists a unique connection on M which is torsionless and compatible with g.

The goal of this thesis is to prove this theorem for some bimodules over a (possibly) noncommutative algebra.

1.4.2 Connections on a noncommutative differential calculus

In Subsection 1.4.1, we discussed connections on the module of one-forms of manifolds (Definition 1.4.2), and their torsion (Proposition 1.4.8). This motivates the following definitions.

Definition 1.4.10. Given a first order differential calculus $(\Omega^1(\mathcal{A}), d)$ on an algebra \mathcal{A} , a (right) connection ∇ on the space of one-forms $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$ is a \mathbb{C} -linear map $\nabla : \Omega^1(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$ such that, for any ω in $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$ and a in \mathcal{A} ,

$$\nabla(\omega a) = \nabla(\omega)a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} d(a).$$

Definition 1.4.11. Given a differential calculus $(\Omega(\mathcal{A}), \wedge, d)$ on an algebra \mathcal{A} , the torsion T_{∇} of a connection ∇ is a right \mathcal{A} -linear map $T_{\nabla} : \wedge \circ \nabla + d : \Omega^1(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$. A connection ∇ is said to be torsionless if $T_{\nabla} = 0$.

Remark 1.4.12. There are articles in literature which work with left connections (for example [41], [51]). A left connection is a \mathbb{C} -linear map $\nabla : \Omega^1(\mathcal{A}) \to \Omega^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$ such that

 $\nabla(a\omega) = a\nabla(\omega) + d(a) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega$. In this case, the torsion is defined to be the map $\wedge \circ \nabla - d$. In this thesis, we will only work with right connections.

Chapter 2

Levi-Civita connections on tame spectral triples

In this chapter, we deal with the question of existence of Levi-Civita connections for a class of spectral triples which we call tame spectral triples. As explained before, the formulation of the question of existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connection for a bimodule \mathcal{E} over a (possibly) noncommutative algebra \mathcal{A} needs two ingredients: firstly, an analogue of the flip map and a metric compatibility condition. We start with a class of spectral triples called quasitame spectral triples (see Section 2.2) with the bimodule of one-forms \mathcal{E} which postulates a decomposition of the \mathcal{A} -bimodule $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ analogous to Proposition 1.4.1. This gives rise to a canonical \mathcal{A} -bilinear map $\sigma : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ (satisfying $\sigma^2 = id$) which plays the role of the flip map in this chapter. As a bonus, we also demonstrate that if \mathcal{E} is the bimodule of one-forms on a quasi-tame spectral triple, then \mathcal{E} always admits a torsionless connection. In Section 2.3 we define and study the notion of pseudo-Riemannian metrics on a quasi-tame spectral triple. This solves the first problem.

Next, in order to formulate the metric-compatibility condition, we will work with a smaller class of spectral triples which are the tame spectral triples introduced in Section 2.4. In the same section, we also introduce the notion of compatibility of connections associated to tame spectral triple with pseudo-Riemannian metrics. In Theorem 2.5.1, we prove that if g is a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on the space of one-forms of a tame spectral triple, then there exists a unique connection on the space of one-forms of the spectral triple which is torsionless and

compatible with g. Examples of tame spectral triples will be given in the next chapter. At the end of this chapter, we have compared our approach with some of the existing works in the literature.

All algebras discussed here will be unital and all spectral triples will be of compact type. The contents of this chapter are from [16].

2.1 Centered Bimodules

As mentioned above, the existence and uniqueness theorem for Levi-Civita connections that we are going to prove works for tame spectral triples. We will soon see (Remark 2.4.2) that the space of one-forms of a tame spectral triple is a centered bimodule. In this section, we recall the definition of centered bimodules and discuss some of their properties which will be useful for us.

Definition 2.1.1. The center of a bimodule \mathcal{E} over an algebra \mathcal{A} is defined to be the set

$$\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) = \{ e \in \mathcal{E} : ea = ae \ \forall \ a \ \in \mathcal{A} \}.$$

The bimodule \mathcal{E} is called centered if $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in \mathcal{E} , i.e., the right \mathcal{A} -linear span of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is equal to \mathcal{E} .

From the above definition, it is easy to see that $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is a $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ -bimodule. Indeed, if e is an element of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, a belongs to $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ and b belongs to \mathcal{A} , then

$$b(ea) = eba = (ea)b.$$

Remark 2.1.2. In [36], a related notion called central bimodules is defined. An \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} is called central if every element e in \mathcal{E} commutes with every element of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$.

If \mathcal{E} is a centered module in the sense of Definition 2.1.1, then it is also central. Indeed, if e is an element of the centered bimodule \mathcal{E} , then there exists some elements e_i in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a_i in \mathcal{A} , for a finite number i, such that $e = \sum_i e_i a_i$. Then, for an arbitrary element a' in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$,

$$ea' = \sum_{i} e_i a_i a' = a' \sum_{i} e_i a_i = a'e.$$

The converse however, does not hold in general as the notion of centered bimodules is more stringent.

The following example motivates our interest in centered bimodules.

Example 2.1.3. If $\mathcal{A} = C^{\infty}(M)$ for some compact manifold M, and $\Gamma(E)$ is the \mathcal{A} -bimodule of sections of some smooth vector bundle E on M, then since \mathcal{A} is commutative, the right \mathcal{A} -action on \mathcal{E} can be defined to be the left \mathcal{A} -action and so $\Gamma(E)$ is centered. In particular, the \mathcal{A} -bimodule $\Omega^k(M)$ of k-forms on M is centered.

The following is an example of a centered bimodule over a noncommutative algebra.

Example 2.1.4. Suppose \mathcal{A} is a (possibly) noncommutative unital algebra. Then $\mathcal{E} := \mathcal{A} \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{A}$, i.e. the direct sum of finitely many copies of \mathcal{A} , is a centered \mathcal{A} -bimodule. The center $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is given by $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$. It is easy to see that $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in \mathcal{E} .

As an immediate corollary to the definition of centered bimodules, we have the following lemma:

Lemma 2.1.5. Suppose \mathcal{E} is a centered bimodule over \mathcal{A} . Then the following statements hold:

- (i) $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is also left \mathcal{A} -total in \mathcal{E} .
- (*ii*) The set $\{\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta : \omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\}$ is both left and right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$.
- (iii) If X is an element of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$, there exist ω_i in \mathcal{E} , η_i in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a_i in \mathcal{A} such that

$$X = \sum_{i} \omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_i a_i.$$

(iv) If in addition, \mathcal{E} is a free right \mathcal{A} -module with a basis $\{e_1, e_2, \cdots, e_n\} \subseteq \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, then any element X in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ can be written as a unique linear combination $\sum_{ij} e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j a_{ij}$ for some elements a_{ij} in \mathcal{A} .

Proof. Let e be an element of \mathcal{E} . Since $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in \mathcal{E} , there exist $\omega_i \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a_i in \mathcal{A} such that $e = \sum_i \omega_i a_i$. But since ω_i belongs to $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, we have $\omega_i a_i = a_i \omega_i$ for all i. Thus,

$$e = \sum_{i} a_i \omega_i,$$

proving that $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is left \mathcal{A} -total in \mathcal{E} .

Now we prove part (ii). Let e and f belong to \mathcal{E} . It is enough to prove that $e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f$ belongs to the complex linear span of the set $\{\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a : \omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}), a \in \mathcal{A}\}$. Indeed, if there exist $\omega_i, \eta_i \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a_i in \mathcal{A} such that

$$e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f = \sum_{i} \omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_{i} a_{i}, \qquad (2.1.1)$$

then

$$e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f = \sum_{i} \omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} a_{i} \eta_{i} = \sum_{i} \omega_{i} a_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_{i} = \sum_{i} a_{i} \omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_{i}$$

proving that $\{\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta : \omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\}$ is left \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$.

The fact that $e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f$ is of the form (2.1.1) is also easily proved. Since $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in \mathcal{E} , there exist ω_k, η_l in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a_k, b_l in \mathcal{A} such that

$$e = \sum_{k} \omega_k a_k, f = \sum_{l} \eta_l b_l$$

and so

$$e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f = (\sum_{k} \omega_{k} a_{k}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\sum_{l} \eta_{l} b_{l}) = \sum_{k,l} \omega_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} a_{k} \eta_{l} b_{l}$$
$$= \sum_{k,l} \omega_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_{l} a_{k} b_{l}.$$

This finishes the proof of part (ii).

The third assertion directly follows from the second.

Finally, we prove the last assertion. By part (iii), $X = \sum_k \omega_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_k a_k$ where ω_k are in \mathcal{E} , η_k are in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a_k are in \mathcal{A} . Since \mathcal{E} is a free right \mathcal{A} -module with a basis $\{e_1, \dots, e_n\}$, there exist elements c_{ik}, d_{jk} in \mathcal{A} such that

$$\omega_k = \sum_i e_i c_{ik}, \ \eta_l = \sum_j e_j d_{jl}.$$

Hence,

$$X = \sum_{k} (\sum_{i} e_{i}c_{ik}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\sum_{j} e_{j}d_{jk})a_{k} = \sum_{i,j,k} e_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} c_{ik}e_{j}d_{jk}a_{k}$$
$$= \sum_{i,j,k} e_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{j}c_{ik}d_{jk}a_{k} = \sum_{i,j} e_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{j}(\sum_{k} c_{ik}d_{jk}a_{k})$$

where we have used the fact that $ae_i = e_i a$ for all i since e_i belongs to $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. Finally, uniqueness of the expression follows from the fact that $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is a free right \mathcal{A} -module with a basis $\{e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j\}_{ij}$.

We will use the lemma above repeatedly in the chapter, sometimes, without mentioning. For the purposes of this chapter, we will be dealing with a specific class of centered bimodules. The next proposition is motivated towards the same.

Proposition 2.1.6. Suppose \mathcal{E} is an \mathcal{A} -bimodule such that the map $u^{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$ given by

$$u^{\mathcal{E}}\left(\sum_{i} e_{i}' \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} a_{i}\right) = \sum_{i} e_{i}' a_{i}$$

is an isomorphism of vector spaces. Then we have the following isomorphism of A-bimodules:

$$\mathcal{E} \cong \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \cong \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A}.$$

The \mathcal{A} -bimodule structure of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A}$ is given by

$$b(e \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} a)c = e \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} bac,$$

where e is in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, a, b, c are in \mathcal{A} . The \mathcal{A} -bimodule structure of $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is similarly given. In particular, the set $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in \mathcal{E} , i.e, \mathcal{E} is centered.

Proof. Since $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism, any element e can be written as $\sum_{i} e_{i}a_{i}$, where e_{i} are in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a_{i} in \mathcal{A} . Let us make a small observation at this point. We claim that if b is in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$, be = eb for all e in \mathcal{E} . Let $e = \sum_{i} e_{i}a_{i}$ as above. Then $be = b \sum_{i} e_{i}a_{i} = \sum_{i} e_{i}ba_{i} = \sum_{i} e_{i}a_{i}b = eb$ as e_{i} are in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and b is in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$. This proves the claim. It is clear from the definitions that the map $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ is left $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ -linear and right \mathcal{A} -linear. Let us define a left \mathcal{A} -linear, right $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ -linear

map $v^{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathcal{E}$ by

$$v^{\mathcal{E}}\left(\sum_{i} a_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} e_{i}'\right) = \sum_{i} a_{i}e_{i}'.$$

Consider the map $p: \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \times \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ given by $(e, a) \mapsto (a \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} e)$. Using the claim made above, it is clear that p(ea', a) = p(e, a'a), so that we get a well-defined map

$$\overline{p}: \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}), \text{ given by } (e \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} a) \mapsto (a \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} e).$$

It is in fact an isomorphism, with the inverse map, say q, given by

$$q(a \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} e) = (e \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} a).$$

Observe that $v^{\mathcal{E}} = u^{\mathcal{E}} \circ q$, hence $v^{\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism as well. Thus, the map $v^{\mathcal{E}}$ is also a vector space isomorphism as well.

Next, we endow $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A}$ with an \mathcal{A} -bimodule structure defined by

$$b(e \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} a)c = e \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} bac$$

where e is in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, a, b, c are in \mathcal{A} . Then it is easy to see that $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ defines an \mathcal{A} -bimodule isomorphism. The other isomorphism follows by using the map $v^{\mathcal{E}}$.

The following theorem is crucial for this chapter.

Theorem 2.1.7. (Theorem 6.10 of [85]) Let \mathcal{E} be an \mathcal{A} -bimodule which is centered. Then there exists a unique \mathcal{A} -bimodule isomorphism $\sigma^{\text{can}} : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ such that

$$\sigma^{\mathrm{can}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega$$

for all ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. Moreover, $(\sigma^{\operatorname{can}})^2 = \operatorname{id}$ so that $P_{\operatorname{sym}}^{\operatorname{can}} := \frac{1}{2}(1 + \sigma^{\operatorname{can}}) : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is an \mathcal{A} -bilinear idempotent map.

Proof. We only need to remark that the equation $(\sigma^{\operatorname{can}})^2 = \operatorname{id}$ is derived in the proof of Theorem 6.10 of [85]. Indeed, since \mathcal{E} is centered, $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} fa : e, f \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}), a \in \mathcal{A} \}$, by part

(iii) of Lemma 2.1.5, it is enough to observe that

$$(\sigma^{\operatorname{can}})^2(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} fa) = \sigma^{\operatorname{can}}(\sigma^{\operatorname{can}}(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} fa)) = \sigma^{\operatorname{can}}(f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} ea) = e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} fa.$$

Let us make the following observation:

Lemma 2.1.8. For a centered \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} , we have $\sigma^{\operatorname{can}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e) = e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega$ and $\sigma^{\operatorname{can}}(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) = \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e$ for all ω in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and e in \mathcal{E} .

Proof. Since \mathcal{E} is centered and σ is right \mathcal{A} -linear, it is enough to prove the lemma for elements e of the form ηb where η is in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and b is in \mathcal{A} .

We compute $\sigma^{\operatorname{can}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta b) = \sigma^{\operatorname{can}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)b = (\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)b = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega b = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} b\omega = \eta b \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega = e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega.$

The other equality follows similarly.

We will end this subsection with Lemma 2.1.10. But before that, we want to state and prove Proposition 2.1.9 whose proof is basically a reformulation of the proof of the existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections for pseudo-Riemannian manifolds.

Let V be a complex vector space and flip denotes the map from $V \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V \to V \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V$ defined on simple tensors by the formula $\operatorname{flip}(v \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} w) = w \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v$. We will use the maps $\operatorname{flip}_{12} :=$ $\operatorname{flip} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{id}_V$, $\operatorname{flip}_{23} := \operatorname{id}_V \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{flip}$ and $\operatorname{flip}_{13} := \operatorname{flip}_{12} \operatorname{flip}_{23} \operatorname{flip}_{12}$.

Then the map $P^{\mathbb{C}} := \frac{\operatorname{flip}+1}{2}$ is an idempotent. We will denote $\operatorname{Ran}(P^{\mathbb{C}})$ by $V \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} V$. We will need the maps $P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}} := P^{\mathbb{C}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{id}_{V}$ and $P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}} := \operatorname{id}_{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} P^{\mathbb{C}}$. Thus, for elements v_1, v_2, v_3 in V,

$$P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}(v_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v_3) = \frac{1}{2}(v_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v_2 + v_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v_1) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v_3$$

and $P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}}(v_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v_3) = v_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \frac{1}{2}(v_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v_3 + v_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} v_2).$

Proposition 2.1.9. If V is a vector space, then each of the following maps is an isomorphism of vector spaces.

$$P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}|_{\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}})}:\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}})=V\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(V\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}V)\to\operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}})=(V\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}V)\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V$$

$$P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}}|_{\operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}})} : \operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}) = (V \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} V) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V \to \operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}}) = V \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (V \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} V)$$

Proof. We prove the statement about the first of the two maps since the proof for the other map is similar. Let us begin by proving that the first map is one-to-one. Let X be in $\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}})$ such that $P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}(X) = 0$. That is, $\operatorname{flip}_{23}(X) = X$ and $\operatorname{flip}_{12}(X) = -X$. Now, it is easy to verify the following braid relations:

$$flip_{12}flip_{23}flip_{12} = flip_{23}flip_{12}flip_{23}.$$
 (2.1.2)

But we have $\operatorname{flip}_{12}\operatorname{flip}_{23}\operatorname{flip}_{12}(X) = -\operatorname{flip}_{12}\operatorname{flip}_{23}(X) = -\operatorname{flip}_{12}(X) = X$. On the other hand,

$$flip_{23}flip_{12}flip_{23}(X) = flip_{23}flip_{12}(X) = -flip_{23}(X) = -X.$$

This implies, X = -X, i.e. X = 0. Thus, the map $P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}|_{\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}})}$ is injective.

Now we come to surjectivity. If V is finite dimensional, surjectivity follows since $\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}})$ and $\operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}})$ are of the same dimension and $P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}|_{\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}})}$ is injective. In the general case, given any ξ in $(V \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} V) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V$ such that $\operatorname{flip}_{23}(\xi) = \xi$, there exists a natural number n and linearly independent elements $e_1, e_2, ..., e_n$ of V such that ξ belongs to $(K \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} K) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} K$, where $K := \operatorname{span}\{e_1, e_2, ..., e_n\}$. If $P_{K,12}^{\mathbb{C}}$ denotes the map $P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}|_{K \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} K \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} K}$, then by the surjectivity of $P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}|_{\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}})}$ for finite dimensional vector spaces, there exists η in $K \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (K \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} K)$ such that $P_{K,12}^{\mathbb{C}}(\eta) = \xi$. Since ξ is arbitrary, the proof of surjectivity is complete. \Box

Lemma 2.1.10. Let \mathcal{E} be a centered \mathcal{A} -bimodule and $\sigma^{\operatorname{can}} : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ be as in Theorem 2.1.7. Define $P_{ij}^{\operatorname{can}} := \frac{1}{2}(1 + \sigma_{ij}^{\operatorname{can}}) : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$, (i, j) = (12), (13), (23). Then the following maps are bimodule isomorphisms:

 $P_{12}^{can}|_{\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{can})}:\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{can})\to\operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{can}), \quad P_{23}^{can}|_{\operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{can})}:\operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{can})\to\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{can}).$

Proof. We begin by noting that since $\sigma^{\operatorname{can}}$ is a bimodule map, the maps $\sigma_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}, \sigma_{23}^{\operatorname{can}}, \sigma_{13}^{\operatorname{can}} : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ defined as $\sigma^{\operatorname{can}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{E}}$, $\operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma^{\operatorname{can}}, \sigma_{12}^{\operatorname{can}} \sigma_{23}^{\operatorname{can}} \sigma_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}$ respectively are well defined bimodule morphisms. The proof of injectivity follows by a verbatim adaptation of the arguments of Proposition 2.1.9, as the braid relations (2.1.2) do hold for the maps $\sigma_{ij}^{\operatorname{can}}$ as well.

For surjectivity, we also use Proposition 2.1.9. Consider the vector space $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. By Proposition 2.1.9, taking $V = \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, we have that

$$P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})) = P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})).$$
(2.1.3)

Let $q : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ be the canonical quotient map. Let us also define a map $\widetilde{P^{\mathrm{can}}} : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ given by

$$\widetilde{P^{\mathrm{can}}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta) = \frac{1}{2}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \omega).$$

To see that this map is well defined it is enough to note that $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is a centered $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ -bimodule with $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})) = \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. Hence, by Theorem 2.1.7, there exists a well defined $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ -bilinear idempotent map $\widetilde{P^{\text{can}}} = (P^{\text{can}}_{\text{sym}})_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})} : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. It is easy to check that for all ω, η, ξ in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$,

$$qP_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \xi) = \widetilde{P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}} q(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \xi), \qquad (2.1.4)$$

$$qP_{12}^{\mathbb{C}}P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \xi) = \widetilde{P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}} \widetilde{P_{23}^{\operatorname{can}}} q(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \xi), \qquad (2.1.5)$$

where $\widetilde{P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}} = \widetilde{P^{\operatorname{can}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})}$ and $P_{23}^{\operatorname{can}} = \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \widetilde{P^{\operatorname{can}}}$. This implies that

$$\widetilde{P_{12}^{can}} \widetilde{P_{23}^{can}} (\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})) = \widetilde{P_{12}^{can}} \widetilde{P_{23}^{can}} q(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}))$$

$$= q P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}} P_{23}^{\mathbb{C}} (\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})) \text{ (by (2.1.5))}$$

$$= q P_{12}^{\mathbb{C}} (\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})) \text{ (by (2.1.3))}$$

$$= \widetilde{P_{12}^{can}} q(\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})) \text{ (by (2.1.4))} = \widetilde{P_{12}^{can}} (\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}))$$

Now, let us define the map

$$\mu: \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$$

given by $\mu(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} a) = \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi a$. Since $\{\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi : \omega, \eta, \xi \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$, μ is an onto map. Moreover, by simple computation, it follows that $P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}} \circ \mu = \mu \circ (\widetilde{P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{A}})$ and $P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}} P_{23}^{\operatorname{can}} \circ \mu = \mu \circ (\widetilde{P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{A}})$. Since $\operatorname{Ran}(\widetilde{P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}}\widetilde{P_{23}^{\operatorname{can}}}) = \operatorname{Ran}(\widetilde{P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}})$, we can thus compute

$$\operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}P_{23}^{\operatorname{can}}) = \operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}P_{23}^{\operatorname{can}} \circ \mu) \text{ (since } \mu \text{ is onto)}$$
$$= \operatorname{Ran}(\mu \circ (\widetilde{P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}} \widetilde{P_{23}^{\operatorname{can}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(A)} \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{A}})) = \operatorname{Ran}(\mu \circ (\widetilde{P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(A)} \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{A}}))$$
$$= \operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}} \circ \mu) = \operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{\operatorname{can}}) \text{ (since } \mu \text{ is onto)}.$$

Thus, we have that $P_{12}^{can}|_{\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{can})}$: $\operatorname{Ran}(P_{23}^{can}) \to \operatorname{Ran}(P_{12}^{can})$ is an onto map. The surjectivity of the other map follows in a similar way.

2.2 Quasi-tame spectral triples

Recall that in Subsection 1.3.1 we defined Connes' space of forms for a spectral triple and in Subsection 1.4.2, the notion of torsionless connections on the space of one-forms. In this section, we define a certain class of spectral triples which we call quasi-tame spectral triples and prove that the bimodule of one-forms $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ of any quasi-tame spectral triple admits a canonical torsionless connection. Moreover, in the next subsection, we will use the canonical \mathcal{A} -bilinear map σ of a quasi-tame spectral triple (see Definition 2.2.1) to define the notion of a pseudo-Riemannian metric.

From Proposition 1.4.1, we know that if M is a manifold with $\Omega^1(M)$ as the space of oneforms, we have the following decomposition of $C^{\infty}(M)$ -bimodules:

$$\Omega^1(M) \otimes_{C^{\infty}(M)} \Omega^1(M) = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}.$$

Here, $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge)$ is the space of all symmetric two-tensors and \mathcal{F} is the space of all anti-symmetric 2-tensors which is isomorphic to $\Omega^2(M)$. This motivates the following definition.

Definition 2.2.1. We say that a spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is quasi-tame if the following conditions hold:

- (i) The bimodule $\Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$ is finitely generated and projective as a right \mathcal{A} -module.
- (ii) There exists a right A-module F such that the following equality holds as right A-modules:

$$\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}.$$
(2.2.1)

(iii) The idempotent $P_{sym} \in Hom_{\mathcal{A}}(\Omega^{1}_{D}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^{1}_{D}(\mathcal{A}), \Omega^{1}_{D}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^{1}_{D}(\mathcal{A}))$ mapping onto $Ker(\wedge)$ and with kernel \mathcal{F} is an \mathcal{A} -bimodule map.

Then we will denote $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge)$ by the symbol $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$. Moreover, σ will denote the map $2P_{\operatorname{sym}} - 1$.

The following lemma collects some consequences of the above definition.

Lemma 2.2.2. Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ be a quasi-tame spectral triple. Then we have the following

- (i) $\Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}) \otimes^{\mathrm{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}) := \mathrm{Ker}(\wedge) \ and \ \mathrm{Ran}(\wedge) \ are \ \mathcal{A}\text{-bimodules}.$
- (ii) σ is an A-bimodule map.
- (iii) $P_{\text{sym}}^2 = P_{\text{sym}}$ and $\sigma^2 = \text{id}$.

Proof. By Lemma 1.3.10 and Definition 1.3.11, the map \wedge is \mathcal{A} -bilinear, hence Ker(\wedge) and Ran(\wedge) are \mathcal{A} -bimodules. This gives us the first claim. The second claim, i.e the \mathcal{A} -bilinearity of σ follows from the \mathcal{A} -bilinearity of P_{sym} . The third claim follows from the fact that P_{sym} is an idempotent.

Let us recall (Definition 1.4.11) that a connection ∇ on $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ is said to be torsionless if $T_{\nabla} = \wedge \circ \nabla + d = 0$. We have the following result as a consequence of the assumptions made in Definition 2.2.1.

Theorem 2.2.3. If $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a quasi-tame spectral triple, there exists a torsionless connection on $\Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$.

Proof. We have a sub-bimodule $\mathcal{F} = \operatorname{Ran}(1 - P_{\operatorname{sym}})$ of $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ and a bimodule isomorphism, say Q, from \mathcal{F} to $\operatorname{Ran}(\wedge) = \Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$, satisfying

$$Q((1 - P_{\text{sym}})(\beta)) = \wedge(\beta) \text{ for all } \beta \in \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}).$$
(2.2.2)

Moreover, as $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ is finitely generated and projective, we can find a free rank n right \mathcal{A} module $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^n$ containing $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ as a complemented right submodule. Let p be an idempotent
in $M_n(\mathcal{A}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^n, \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^n)$ such that $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) = p(\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^n)$. Let $e_i, i = 1, \ldots n$, be the

standard basis of \mathbb{C}^n (viewed as $1_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^n$, where $1_{\mathcal{A}}$ is the identity element in \mathcal{A}) and define $\tilde{\nabla}_0 : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^n \to \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$ by

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_0(e_i a) := -Q^{-1}(d(p(e_i)))a + p(e_i) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da, \quad i = 1, \dots, n, a \in \mathcal{A}.$$
(2.2.3)

Then
$$\nabla_0 = \nabla_0|_{\Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})}$$
 (2.2.4)

defines a connection on $\Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$.

Since $\operatorname{Ran}(P_{\operatorname{sym}}) = \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge)$, we observe that

$$\wedge \circ P_{\text{sym}} = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\wedge \circ Q^{-1}(\wedge(\beta)) = \wedge \circ Q^{-1}(Q(1 - P_{\text{sym}})\beta) = \wedge((1 - P_{\text{sym}})\beta) = \wedge(\beta) \ \forall \ \beta \in \ \Omega^{1}_{D}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^{1}_{D}(\mathcal{A})$$

by using (2.2.2).

Thus, $\wedge \circ Q^{-1}$: Ran $(\wedge) \to$ Ran (\wedge) is the identity map. Since $d(p(e_i)a)$ belongs to the image of the map \wedge , we can write

$$\wedge \circ \nabla_0(p(e_i)a) = -\wedge (Q^{-1}(d(p(e_i))a)) + p(e_i) \wedge da \text{ (by (2.2.3))}$$
$$= -d(p(e_i))a + p(e_i) \wedge da$$
$$= -d(p(e_i)a).$$

Therefore, ∇_0 is a torsionless connection on $\Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$.

2.3 Pseudo-Riemannian metrics on quasi-tame spectral triples

In this section, we want to introduce a noncommutative analogue of pseudo-Riemannian metrics. Recall that in Definition 1.4.4, we had defined pseudo-Riemannian metrics on manifolds. In the classical case there is no difference between right module maps or bimodule maps, as the left and right $C^{\infty}(M)$ -actions on the module of forms coincide. This is no longer true in the noncommutative framework. In fact, as we will see, requiring a pseudo-metric to be a bimodule

map restricts the choice of metrics. It is reasonable to require one-sided (right/left) \mathcal{A} -linearity only. For this reason, we give the following definition:

Definition 2.3.1. Let $\mathcal{E} := \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ be the \mathcal{A} -bimodule of one-forms of a quasi-tame spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ and σ be the \mathcal{A} -bilinear map of Definition 2.2.1. A pseudo-Riemannian metric g on \mathcal{E} is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$ such that

- (i) g is symmetric, i.e. $g \circ \sigma = g$,
- (ii) g is non-degenerate, i.e, the right \mathcal{A} -linear map $V_g : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}^*$ defined by $V_g(\omega)(\eta) = g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)$ is an isomorphism of right \mathcal{A} modules.

We will say that a pseudo-Riemannian metric g is a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric if g is an \mathcal{A} -bimodule map. It is called a Riemannian metric if for all $\omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots, \omega_n$ in \mathcal{E} , the matrix $((g(\omega_i^* \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j)))_{i,j}$ is a positive element of $M_n(\mathcal{A})$ for all n.

As an immediate consequence of the definition, we have the following important proposition.

Proposition 2.3.2. Suppose g is a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on the space of oneforms $\mathcal{E} := \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$ of a quasi-tame spectral triple. Then

$$g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$$
 if both ω and η belong to $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. (2.3.1)

In particular, if \mathcal{E} is a free right \mathcal{A} -module of rank n admitting a central basis $\{\omega_i\}_i \subseteq \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, then the components of the metric $g_{ij} := g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j)$ belong to $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$.

Proof. The proof is a trivial consequence of the fact that g is an \mathcal{A} -bimodule map. Indeed, since ω, η are in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$,

$$g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)a = g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) = g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} a\eta) = g(\omega a \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = ag(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta).$$

We record a remark at this point as clarification to the above result.

Remark 2.3.3. If \mathcal{A} is noncommutative, the metric need not take values in the center on the whole of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. For example, if ω, η is in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a in \mathcal{A} , then $g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a)$ typically does not belong to $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ unless a is in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$.

Moreover, our definition of nondegeneracy of g is stronger than the definition given by most authors who require only the injectivity of V_g . However, in the classical situation, i.e., when $\mathcal{A} = C^{\infty}(M)$, these two definitions are equivalent as V_g is a bundle map from T^*M to $(T^*M)^* \cong TM$ in that case and the fibers are finite dimensional.

To compare our definition of a pseudo-Riemannian metric with that of [41], [83] and [6], let us consider the case when \mathcal{E} is free (of rank n) as a right \mathcal{A} -module, i.e, \mathcal{E} is isomorphic to $\mathbb{C}^n \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}$ as a right \mathcal{A} -module. Let $e_i, i = 1, ..., n$ be the standard basis of \mathbb{C}^n . A pseudo-Riemannian metric in our sense is determined by an invertible element $A := ((g_{ij}))_{ij}$ of $M_n(\mathcal{A})$, where

$$g_{ij} = g((e_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1))$$
 and $g((e_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b)) = g_{ij}ab$

for all a, b in \mathcal{A} . On the other hand, a pseudo-metric in the sense of [6] will be given by the sesquilinear pairing

$$\langle \langle e_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a, e_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b \rangle \rangle = a^* g_{ij} b.$$

Thus, there is a one-to-one correspondence between these two notions of pseudo-metric at least for the case when \mathcal{E} is free as a right \mathcal{A} module. In fact, they do agree in a sense on the basis elements. But their extensions are quite different as maps.

Throughout this section, we will assume that $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a quasi-tame spectral triple, so that we can freely use the notation σ introduced in Definition 2.2.1 and the results in Lemma 2.2.2.

Definition 2.3.4. Suppose g is a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E} . We define

$$g^{(2)}: (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) \to \mathcal{A}, by$$

$$g^{(2)}((e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f')) = g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g(f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e')f')$$

We spell out the relationship between $g^{(2)}$ and the inner product on the internal tensor product of Hilbert modules. Suppose $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a spectral triple, \mathcal{E} the bimodule of oneforms. We will need to make explicit use of the *-structure on \mathcal{A} and $\mathcal{E} := \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ inherited from $B(\mathcal{H})$. Let us recall the conjugate bimodule $\overline{\mathcal{E}}$ (see [55], [9] and references therein) which is equal to \mathcal{E} as a set but with the \mathcal{A} -bimodule structures defined by the following equations:

$$a\overline{e} = \overline{ea^*}, \ \overline{e}a = \overline{a^*e}.$$

Here, \overline{e} is an element of \mathcal{E} viewed in $\overline{\mathcal{E}}$.

We have a well-defined map $S: \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$, defined by

$$S(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = \overline{f} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \overline{e}.$$

Now suppose g is a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E} . Then the following map makes \mathcal{E} into a right \mathcal{A} -pre-Hilbert module:

$$\langle \langle e, f \rangle \rangle_g = g(\overline{e} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f).$$

On the right hand side of this equation, we have used the obvious identification between \mathcal{E} and $\overline{\mathcal{E}}$.

Consequently, the \mathcal{A} -valued inner product on the internal tensor product $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is given by

$$\langle \langle e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f, e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f' \rangle \rangle_{q^{(2)}} = \langle \langle f, \langle \langle e, e' \rangle \rangle_g f' \rangle \rangle_g.$$

We refer to [55] for the details.

We claim that $\langle \langle e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f, e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f' \rangle \rangle_{g^{(2)}} = g^{(2)}(S(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f')).$ Indeed,

$$\langle \langle e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f, e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f' \rangle \rangle_{g^{(2)}} = \langle \langle f, g(\overline{e} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e') f' \rangle \rangle_{g}$$

$$= g(\overline{f} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g(\overline{e} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e') f') = g^{(2)}((\overline{f} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \overline{e}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f'))$$

$$= g^{(2)}(S(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f')).$$

We end this subsection by showing that the map $g^{(2)}$ is nondegenerate in a suitable sense.

Proposition 2.3.5. Suppose \mathcal{E} is the bimodule of one-forms of a quasi-tame spectral triple. We assume that \mathcal{E} is centered as an \mathcal{A} -bimodule and also that \mathcal{E} is finitely generated and projective as a right \mathcal{A} -module. Let g be a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E} . Then the map $V_{g^{(2)}}$: $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$ defined by

$$V_{q^{(2)}}(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f)(e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f') = g^{(2)}((e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f'))$$

is an isomorphism of right A-modules. Moreover, the maps $g^{(2)}$ and $V_{g^{(2)}}$ are both left A-bilinear.

Proof. Throughout the proof, we will repeatedly use Lemma 2.1.5.

Let us start by proving that the map $V_{g^{(2)}}$ is onto. Since \mathcal{E} is a finitely generated projective module over \mathcal{A} , we can use the isomorphism of $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$ with $\mathcal{E}^* \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}^*$ (Proposition 1.1.14). Thus, it is enough to show that $V_g(e) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(f)$ belongs to the range of $V_{g^{(2)}}$ for arbitrary elements e, f of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. Indeed, if x_{ij} in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is such that $V_{g^{(2)}}(x_{ij}) = V_g(e_i) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(f_j)$ for some elements e_i, f_j in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, then for elements a_i, b_j in \mathcal{A} and $\omega = \sum e_i a_i, \eta = \sum f_j b_j$, we have

$$V_{g}(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{g}(\eta) = \sum_{i,j} V_{g}(e_{i})a_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{g}(f_{j})b_{j} = \sum_{i,j} V_{g}(e_{i}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{g}(a_{i}f_{j})b_{j}$$
$$= \sum_{i,j} V_{g}(e_{i}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{g}(f_{j})a_{i}b_{j} = \sum_{i,j} V_{g^{(2)}}(x_{ij})a_{i}b_{j} = \sum_{i,j} V_{g^{(2)}}(x_{ij}a_{i}b_{j}),$$

where we have used the fact that V_g is \mathcal{A} -bilinear as g is a bilinear pseudo-Riemannian metric. Now, for e, f in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and ω, η in \mathcal{E} , we compute

$$V_{g^{(2)}}(f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = g^{(2)}((f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)) = g(f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)\eta)$$
$$= g(g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)g(f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = (V_g(e) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(f))(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta).$$

Hence, we have $V_g(e) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(f) = V_{q^{(2)}}(f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e).$

For proving that $V_{g^{(2)}}$ is one-to-one, let us suppose that for $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, there exist ω_i, η_i in \mathcal{E} such that for all ω', η' in \mathcal{E} ,

$$g^{(2)}((\sum_{i}\omega_{i}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta_{i})\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}(\omega'\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta'))=0.$$

Then by the definition of $g^{(2)}$, we see that

$$V_g(\sum_i \omega_i g(\eta_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega')) = 0.$$

By nondegeneracy of g, we conclude that

$$\sum_{i} \omega_{i} g(\eta_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') = 0$$

Thus, if $\zeta_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}$ is the map introduced in Proposition 1.1.8, then we have:

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}(\sum_{i}\omega_{i}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta_{i})(\omega')=0 \text{ for all } \omega'\in\mathcal{E},$$

implying that $\sum_i \omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_i = 0.$

The left \mathcal{A} -linearity of $V_{g^{(2)}}$ comes from the left \mathcal{A} -linearity of g. The right \mathcal{A} -linearity of $V_{g^{(2)}}$ comes from the fact that $g^{(2)}$ is a well-defined map on $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$.

2.3.1 The canonical Riemannian (bilinear) metric for a spectral triple

Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ be a *p*-summable spectral triple (Definition 1.3.4) of compact type. Before we end this section, we want to derive some sufficient regularity conditions for obtaining a canonical bilinear form (candidate of a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric) on the module $\mathcal{E} := \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ of one-forms.

Consider the positive linear functional τ on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ given by

$$\tau(X) = \operatorname{Lim}_{\omega} \frac{\operatorname{Tr}(X |D|^{-p})}{\operatorname{Tr}(|D|^{-p})},$$

where $\operatorname{Lim}_{\omega}$ is as in Chapter 4 of [25]. We will denote the *-subalgebra generated by \mathcal{A} and $[D, \mathcal{A}]$ in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ by \mathcal{S}_0 . We will assume that τ is a faithful normal trace on the von Neumann algebra generated by \mathcal{S}_0 .

Let us recall from [41] the construction of an \mathcal{A}'' -valued inner product $\langle \langle \cdot , \cdot \rangle \rangle$ on $\mathcal{E} = \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ defined by the following equation:

$$\tau(\langle\langle \omega,\eta\rangle\rangle a) = \tau(\omega^*\eta a) \ \forall \ a \ \in \mathcal{A}'' \text{ and } \omega,\eta\in\mathcal{E}\subseteq\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}).$$

Here, ω^* denotes the usual adjoint of ω in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

As seen in Theorem 2.9 of [41], it can be proved that $\langle \langle \omega, \eta \rangle \rangle$ takes values in $\mathcal{A}'' \subseteq L^2(\mathcal{A}'', \tau)$.

Now define a natural \mathcal{A}'' -valued bilinear form g as follows:

Lemma 2.3.6. Let $g : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}''$ be given by

$$g(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta) = \langle \langle \omega^*, \eta \rangle \rangle.$$

Then for all ω, η in \mathcal{E} and a in \mathcal{A} , we have:

$$g(\omega a \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta) = g(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a \eta), \ g(a \omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta) = ag(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta), \ g(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta a) = g(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta)a$$

Proof. The proof of the above statements are straightforward consequences of the properties of an inner product and the fact that $(Xa)^* = a^*X^*$ for all a, X in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$.

Thus, g descends to an \mathcal{A} -bilinear, \mathcal{A}'' -valued map, to be denoted by g again. The restriction of g to $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ is the candidate of a Riemannian bilinear metric in our sense, provided $g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)$ is in \mathcal{A} for all ω, η in $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$.

Let us recall the definition of a quasi-tame spectral triple as well as the notation σ from Definition 2.2.1. Then we have the following definition:

Definition 2.3.7. Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ be a quasi-tame spectral triple. Suppose the \mathcal{A} -bilinear map g as in Lemma 2.3.6 is \mathcal{A} -valued, $V_g : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}^*$ is nondegenerate and $g \circ \sigma = g$, i.e., it gives a bilinear metric. Then we call g a canonical Riemannian bilinear metric for the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$.

When $A = C^{\infty}(M)$ for a compact Riemannian manifold M, then this construction recovers the usual Riemannian metric (see page 128-129 of [41] and Subsection 2.1.3 of [40]). However, in the general noncommutative set-up, one usually needs additional regularity assumptions to ensure that g takes values in \mathcal{A} (as opposed to \mathcal{A}''). This is the content of the next proposition for which we will make use of the noncommutative Laplacian introduced in Proposition 1.3.13 and its properties.

Proposition 2.3.8. Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ be a p-summable spectral triple and τ is faithful on the von-Neumann algebra generated by S_0 . Let \mathcal{H}_D^1 be the Hilbert space of one-forms and $\mathcal{L} = -d^*d$ as in Proposition 1.3.13.

Suppose that for all X in the *-algebra generated by A and [D, A], the map

$$\mathbb{R} \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$$
 defined by $t \mapsto e^{itD} X e^{-itD}$

is differentiable at t = 0 in the norm topology of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. If we moreover assume that $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, then

$$g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \in \mathcal{A} \text{ for all } \omega, \eta \in \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}).$$

Proof. In this proof, we will denote the domain of the unbounded operator T by Dom(T). We begin by noting that since τ is faithful on the von-Neumann algebra generated by S_0 , the vector

space $\Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$ can be equipped with a semi-inner product defined by the equation:

$$\langle \eta, \eta' \rangle = \tau(\eta^* \eta')$$

Moreover, as $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, all the hypotheses of Proposition 1.3.13 are satisfied.

We claim that

$$g(da \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} db) = -\frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{L}(b^*a^*) - \mathcal{L}(b^*)a^* - b^*\mathcal{L}(a^*)) \ \forall \ a, b \in \mathcal{A}$$

where $d(a) = \sqrt{-1}[D, a]$ as in Subsection 1.3.1.

Indeed, for all c in \mathcal{A} , by using the self-adjointness of \mathcal{L} , $\mathcal{L}(x^*) = (\mathcal{L}(x))^*$ (Lemma 3.2, [43] and Lemma 5.1 of [43]), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(\langle \langle (da)^*, db \rangle \rangle c) &= \tau(\langle \langle (da)^*, db.c \rangle \rangle) \\ &= \langle d(a^*), db.c \rangle \text{ (as } (da)^* = d(a^*)) \\ &= \langle a^*, d^*(db.c) \rangle \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \langle a^*, (b\mathcal{L}(c) - \mathcal{L}(b)c - \mathcal{L}(bc)) \rangle \text{ (by } (1.3.2)) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{L}(b^*a^*) - \mathcal{L}(b^*)a^* - b^*\mathcal{L}(a^*), c \rangle \text{ (as } \mathcal{L} \text{ is self-adjoint and by } (1.3.1)) \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \tau(\langle \langle \mathcal{L}(b^*a^*) - \mathcal{L}(b^*)a^* - b^*\mathcal{L}(a^*), c \rangle \rangle). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, by the normality and faithfulness of τ on \mathcal{A}'' , we conclude that

$$g(da \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} db) = \langle \langle (da)^*, db \rangle \rangle = \langle \langle da^*, db \rangle \rangle = -(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{L}(b^*a^*) - \mathcal{L}(b^*)a^* - b^*\mathcal{L}(a^*)).$$

This proves the claim. Since $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, the proof of the proposition is complete.

Remark 2.3.9. Our \mathcal{H}_D^1 and d are the same as the bimodule and derivation respectively constructed by Cipriani and Sauvagoet ([24]) from the Dirichlet form

$$(a,b) \mapsto -\langle \mathcal{L}(a), b \rangle, \ a, b \in \text{Dom}((-\mathcal{L})^{\frac{1}{2}}).$$

It also follows from the definition of inner product that the map V_g is one-to-one. However, the invertibility of V_g , which is the nondegeneracy in our sense, has to be verified case by case.

2.4 Tame spectral triples and metric compatibility of connections

In this section we finally define the notion of 'tame spectral triples', the class of spectral triples for which our main result, Theorem 2.5.1 holds. In Subsection 1.4.1, we had recalled the notion of metric-compatibility of connections in pseudo-Riemannian geometry. We use the tameness of the differential calculus to define a suitable notion of metric-compatibility of connections. In Subsection 2.4.1, we define and study tame spectral triples. We observe that the bimodule of one-forms of a tame spectral triple is a centered bimodule in the sense of Section 2.1. In Subsection 2.4.2, we prove a technical result which will be used in the next chapter. Subsection 2.4.3 is devoted mainly to defining compatibility of a connection on the space of one-forms of a tame spectral triple with a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric. In that subsection, we also show why our definition is compatible with the usual notion in the classical case.

2.4.1 Tame spectral triples

Let us recall the maps P_{sym} and σ from Definition 2.2.1 and the map σ^{can} from Theorem 2.1.7. **Definition 2.4.1.** Suppose $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a spectral triple such that the following conditions hold:

- (i) $\mathcal{E} := \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$ is a finitely generated projective right \mathcal{A} -module,
- (ii) The map $u^{\mathcal{E}}: \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$ defined by

$$u^{\mathcal{E}}(\sum_{i} e'_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} a_{i}) = \sum_{i} e'_{i} a_{i}$$

is an isomorphism of vector spaces,

- (iii) Suppose that there exists a right \mathcal{A} -module \mathcal{F} such that $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$ as right \mathcal{A} -modules,
- (iv) $\sigma = \sigma^{\operatorname{can}}$.

Then, we say that $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a tame spectral triple.

Here, the existence of the map σ follows from the decomposition $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \text{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$ as in Definition 2.2.1. Moreover, the map σ^{can} is as in Theorem 2.1.7.

Remark 2.4.2. By virtue of Proposition 2.1.6, the condition (ii) of Definition 2.4.1 implies that the bimodule \mathcal{E} of one-forms of a tame spectral triple is centered. So the statement $\sigma = \sigma^{\text{can}}$ makes sense. Secondly, we are allowed to use all the results of Subsection 2.1 on centered bimodules for tame spectral triples.

It is worthwhile to explain the significance of the equality $\sigma = \sigma^{\text{can}}$. This is what we record in the following two propositions:

Proposition 2.4.3. If $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a tame spectral triple and g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric on $\mathcal{E} = \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$, then we have

$$g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = g(\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)$$

if either ω or η belongs to $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$.

Proof. Let ω be in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and η be in \mathcal{E} . As $\sigma = \sigma^{\text{can}}$, Lemma 2.1.8 implies that

$$g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = g \circ \sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = g(\sigma^{\operatorname{can}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)) = g(\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega).$$

The next proposition should be compared with the classical results in Proposition 1.4.1.

Proposition 2.4.4. Suppose $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a tame spectral triple

(i) Let $\mathcal{E} = \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$. Then the decomposition $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$ on simple tensors is explicitly given by

$$\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a = \frac{1}{2} (\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega a) + \frac{1}{2} (\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a - \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega a),$$

for all ω , η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and for all a in \mathcal{A} .

(ii) If \mathcal{E} is a free right \mathcal{A} -module with a central basis $\{e_1, e_2, ..., e_n\}$ and g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} , then the components $g_{ij} = g(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j)$ of g are symmetric in i and j.

Proof. The second assertion of Lemma 2.1.5 implies that any element of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is a \mathbb{C} -linear sum of elements of the form $\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a$, where ω , η are in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and for a in \mathcal{A} . Since $\sigma = \sigma^{\operatorname{can}}$,

$$P_{\rm sym}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \sigma^{\rm can})(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) = \frac{1}{2}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega a)$$

and
$$(1 - P_{\text{sym}})(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \sigma^{\text{can}})(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) = \frac{1}{2}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a - \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega a)$$

Since P_{sym} is an idempotent, this implies that $\frac{1}{2}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega a)$ is in $\text{Ran}(P_{\text{sym}}) = \text{Ker}(\wedge)$ and $\frac{1}{2}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a - \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega a)$ is in $\text{Ker}(P_{\text{sym}}) = \mathcal{F}$.

Now we prove the second assertion. Since g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric, and $\sigma = \sigma^{can}$, we have

$$g_{ij} = g(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j) = g \circ \sigma(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j) = g(e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i) = g_{ji}.$$

This finished the proof.

Let us make the following observation at this point:

Lemma 2.4.5. Suppose that $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a tame spectral triple. Then P_{sym} is an \mathcal{A} -bimodule map. In particular, a tame spectral triple is a quasi-tame spectral triple.

Proof. Since equation (2.2.1) is satisfied, P_{sym} is a right \mathcal{A} -linear map by definition. But as $\sigma = \sigma^{\text{can}}$ and σ^{can} is \mathcal{A} bilinear by Theorem 2.1.7, σ is \mathcal{A} bilinear. Therefore $P_{\text{sym}} = \frac{1+\sigma}{2}$ is also \mathcal{A} bilinear.

2.4.2 A remark on the isomorphism of the map $u^{\mathcal{E}}$

In this subsection, we derive a sufficient condition which ensures the isomorphism of the map $u^{\mathcal{E}}$. The following result will be crucially used in Section 3.3, where we prove the existence of the Levi-Civita connection on a class of Connes-Landi isospectral deformations of classical spectral triples.

Proposition 2.4.6. Suppose $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a spectral triple. Suppose that there exists a unital subalgebra \mathcal{A}' of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ and an \mathcal{A}' -submodule \mathcal{E}' of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ such that \mathcal{E}' is projective and finitely generated as a right \mathcal{A}' -module. If the map

$$u_{\mathcal{E}'}^{\mathcal{E}}: \mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E},$$

defined by

$$u_{\mathcal{E}'}^{\mathcal{E}}\left(\sum_{i}e_{i}'\otimes_{\mathcal{A}'}a_{i}
ight)=\sum_{i}e_{i}'a_{i}$$

is an isomorphism of vector spaces, then $u^{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} A \to \mathcal{E}$ is an isomorphism. Moreover, if $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is a finitely generated projective module over $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$, then $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism if and only if there exists \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{A}' such that $u^{\mathcal{E}}_{\mathcal{E}'}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. If $u_{\mathcal{E}'}^{\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism, we claim that $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \cong \mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$. If our claim is true, then we have

$$\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A} \cong \mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A} \cong \mathcal{E},$$

so that $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism. Thus, it is enough to prove our claim.

By a verbatim adaptation of the proof of Proposition 2.1.6, we have that $\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A} \cong \mathcal{E}$ as bimodules where the bimodule structure of $\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}$ is defined by $b_1(e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} a)b_2 = e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} b_1 a b_2$. Since \mathcal{E} is a centered \mathcal{A} -bimodule, this implies that $\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}$ is also a centered \mathcal{A} -bimodule and $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}) \cong \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. Since $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}$, we have that $\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}$. Now, let $\sum_i e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} a_i$ be an arbitrary element of $\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$. For any element b in \mathcal{A} , since a_i are all in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$, we have that $b(\sum_i e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} a_i) = \sum_i e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} ba_i = \sum_i e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} a_i b = (\sum_i e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} a_i)b$. Thus, we have that $\sum_i e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} a_i$ is in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A})$ and that $\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}) \cong \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$.

For the reverse inclusion, we use the fact that \mathcal{E}' is finitely generated and projective as a right \mathcal{A}' -module. Thus, there exists a free \mathcal{A}' -module \mathcal{G} and an idempotent P on \mathcal{G} such that $P(\mathcal{G}) = \mathcal{E}'$. Let m_1, m_2, \dots, m_n be a basis of \mathcal{G} . Therefore,

$$\mathcal{E} \cong \mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A} = P(\mathcal{G}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A} = (P \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}})(\mathcal{G} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}).$$

Clearly, $P \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is an idempotent on $\mathcal{G} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}$ and thus for all y in $\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{G} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}$, we have

$$(P \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}})(y) = y. \tag{2.4.1}$$

On the other hand, $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A})$ is also a submodule of $\mathcal{G} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}$ and if x is an element of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}) \cong \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, there exist unique elements a_i in \mathcal{A} such that $x = \sum_i m_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} a_i$. Since xb = bx for all b in \mathcal{A} , we see that a_i in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ for all i. Hence,

$$(P \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}})(x) = \sum_{i} (P \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}})(m_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} a_i) = \sum_{i} P(m_i) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} a_i \in \mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}).$$

But by (2.4.1), $(P \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}})(x) = x$ so that x is in $\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$. Since x is an arbitrary element of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A}) \cong \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, this completes the proof. \Box

2.4.3 The metric compatibility of a connection on $\Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A})$

In this subsection, we formulate a notion of metric compatibility of a connection on the space of one-forms of a tame spectral triple. Recall that in Proposition 1.4.8, we had given an equivalent definition for the compatibility of a connection with a pseudo-Riemannian metric on a manifold. The definition of metric compatibility (Definition 2.4.11) in this section is motivated by that equivalent formulation. However, since our algebra \mathcal{A} is in general not commutative, and the left and right-actions of \mathcal{A} on $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ do not coincide, we require some preparation.

Throughout the rest of this section, we will work with tame spectral triples and continue to denote $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ by the symbol \mathcal{E} . By Lemma 2.4.5, we are allowed to use all results concerning a quasi-tame spectral triple proved before and also the \mathcal{A} -bilinearity of the map P_{sym} . Moreover, g will denote any pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric (not necessarily the canonical one) on the bimodule \mathcal{E} of one-forms.

Definition 2.4.7. Let ∇ be a connection on \mathcal{E} . Then we define $\Pi_g^0(\nabla) : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathcal{E}$ by the map given by

$$\Pi_a^0(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta) = (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})\sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \nabla(\eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega).$$

Then, we have the following:

Lemma 2.4.8. $\Pi_g^0(\nabla)$ descends to a map from $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ to \mathcal{E} , to be denoted by the same notation. Moreover, for all a' in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ and ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$

$$\Pi_g^0(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta a') = \Pi_g^0(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta)a' + g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)da'.$$
(2.4.2)

Proof. We write $\nabla(\eta) = \sum_i \eta_i^{(1)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_i^{(2)}$, where $\eta_i^{(1)}, \eta_i^{(2)}$ are in \mathcal{E} and the sum has finitely many terms. Since ω, η are in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, Lemma 2.1.8 implies that

$$\sigma_{23}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da' \text{ and } \sigma_{23}(\nabla(\eta)a' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) = \sum_{i} \eta_{i}^{(1)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_{i}^{(2)}a'.$$

Using these equations and the Leibniz rule for the connection ∇ , we get

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{g}^{0}(\nabla)(\omega a' \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta) \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega)a' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \nabla(\eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega a') \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a') + g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)da' + \sum_{i} g(\eta_{i}^{(1)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)\eta_{i}^{(2)}a' \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a') + g(\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)da' + \sum_{i} g(\eta_{i}^{(1)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)\eta_{i}^{(2)}a' \text{ (by Proposition 2.4.3)} \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a' + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega + \nabla(\eta)a' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a' + \nabla(\eta a') \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) \\ &= \Pi_{g}^{0}(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta a') \\ &= \Pi_{g}^{0}(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a'\eta). \end{split}$$

This proves the first assertion. To prove the second assertion we make the following computation: for a' in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ and ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, we have:

$$\begin{split} \Pi_{g}^{(0)}(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta a') &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id}) \sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a' + \nabla(\eta a') \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id}) \sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a' + \nabla(\eta) a' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) \\ &\qquad (\operatorname{since} \nabla \text{ is a connection}) \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id}) \sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \nabla(\eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) a' + (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da') \\ &\qquad (\operatorname{using Lemma } 2.1.8) \\ &= \Pi_{g}^{0}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta) a' + g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) da', \end{split}$$

where we have used Proposition 2.4.3.

For the next definition, recall that $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ is left $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ -linear so that the map $\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})} \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} u^{\mathcal{E}}$ is well-defined.

Definition 2.4.9. We define a map from $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A}$ to $\to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ by the formula:

$$u^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}} := (u^{\mathcal{E}}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}}) \circ (\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})}\otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} u^{\mathcal{E}}).$$

We note that $u^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism since $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ is so.

For all ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a in \mathcal{A} , define $\Pi_g(\nabla) : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ by

$$\Pi_g(\nabla) \circ u^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} a) = \Pi_g^0(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta)a + g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)da$$

Therefore, for ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a in \mathcal{A} , we have

$$\Pi_g(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) = \Pi_g^0(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta)a + g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)da.$$
(2.4.3)

Proposition 2.4.10. Let $dg : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ be the map defined by

$$dg(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = d(g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f)).$$

The map $\Pi_g(\nabla)$ defined in Definition 2.4.9 is a well defined map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to \mathcal{E} . Moreover, $\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ is right \mathcal{A} -linear.

Proof. Since the map $u^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism, it is enough to check that the map

$$\Pi_g(\nabla) \circ u^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$$

is well defined. For ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, a in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$, b in \mathcal{A} , the equalities

$$\Pi_{g}(\nabla) \circ u^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}(\omega a \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b) = \Pi_{g}(\nabla) \circ u^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a \eta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b) \text{ and}$$
$$\Pi_{g}(\nabla) \circ u^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta a \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b) = \Pi_{g}(\nabla) \circ u^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a b)$$

follow from Lemma 2.4.8 and Equation (2.4.2) respectively.

Lemma 2.1.5 implies that $\{\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta : \omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Therefore, for proving the right \mathcal{A} -linearity of the map $\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg$ it is sufficient to evaluate it on $\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta ab$,

where $\omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}), a, b \in \mathcal{A}$, since $u^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism.

$$\begin{aligned} (\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta ab) = &\Pi_g^0(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta)ab + g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)d(ab) \\ &- d(g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta ab)) \text{ (by (2.4.3))} \\ = &\Pi_g^0(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta)ab + g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)(da.b + a.db) \\ &- d(g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a))b - g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a)db \\ = &(\Pi_g^0(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta)a + g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)d(a) - dg(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a))b \\ = &(\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a)b \end{aligned}$$

by another application of (2.4.3).

Now we are in a position to suitably define compatibility of a connection with a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric.

Definition 2.4.11. Let $dg : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ be as defined in Proposition 2.4.10. We say that a connection ∇ on \mathcal{E} is compatible with a pseudo-Riemannian metric g if for all e, f in \mathcal{E} ,

$$\Pi_q(\nabla)(e\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = dg(e\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f).$$

Proposition 2.4.12. The above definition of metric compatibility coincides with that in the classical case.

Proof. Let (M, g) be a pseudo-Riemannian manifold and \mathcal{A} be the algebra $C^{\infty}(M)$ of smooth functions on M. Thus, in this case, we have $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}) = C^{\infty}(M)$, $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) = \Omega^{1}(M)$ and $\sigma = \text{flip.}$

By Proposition 1.4.8, a connection ∇ on $\Omega^1(M)$ is compatible in the classical sense with g if and only if for all ω, η in \mathcal{E} ,

$$(g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})[\mathrm{flip}_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) + (\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nabla(\eta))] = dg(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta).$$

As $\sigma = \text{flip}$ and $g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = g(f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e)$ for all e, f in \mathcal{E} , it can be easily checked that

$$(g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})[\mathrm{flip}_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) + (\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nabla(\eta))] = (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\sigma_{23}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \nabla(\eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) = \Pi_g(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta).$$

Thus, our definition of metric compatibility coincides with that in the classical case.

2.5 Existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections for tame spectral triples

The goal of this section is to prove the following theorem:

Theorem 2.5.1. Suppose $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a tame spectral triple and \mathcal{E} is the space of one-forms on it. If g is any pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E} , then there exists a unique connection on \mathcal{E} which is torsionless and compatible with g (in the sense of Definition 2.4.11). In particular, this applies to the candidate of a Riemannian bilinear map in Definition 2.3.7.

The theorem will be proved in two steps. In the first step, we construct a right \mathcal{A} -linear map $\Phi_g : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$ (see Definition 2.5.3) and prove that (Theorem 2.5.5) the isomorphism of Φ_g is a sufficient condition for the existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections for tame spectral triples. Then we show that for tame spectral triples, Φ_g is indeed an isomorphism.

Since we will be working with tame spectral triples, the isomorphism of the map $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ implies that \mathcal{E} is centered. Therefore, we will freely use the fact that \mathcal{E} is centered throughout this section, sometimes without mentioning.

We collect some results in a preparatory lemma.

- **Lemma 2.5.2.** (i) The map $\Pi_g(\nabla) dg \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$ is determined by its restriction on $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}$ for any connection ∇ and can be viewed as an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$
 - (ii) For any two torsionless connections ∇_1 and ∇_2 , $\nabla_1 \nabla_2 \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$

Proof. By the definition of $\Pi_g^0(\nabla)$ and the equality $g \circ \sigma = g$, it follows that $\Pi_g^0(\nabla) \circ \sigma = \Pi_g^0(\nabla)$ on $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. Now for $\omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and $a \in \mathcal{A}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg) \circ \sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) &= (\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg)(\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)a) = (\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg) \circ \sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)a \\ &= (\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)a = (\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a), \end{aligned}$$

since $\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg$ is right \mathcal{A} -linear by Proposition 2.4.10. Therefore, $\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg = (\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg) \circ \sigma$ on the whole of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Since $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E} = \text{Ran}(P_{\text{sym}}) = \text{Ran}(\frac{1+\sigma}{2})$, this proves (i). Now we prove (ii). If ∇_1 and ∇_2 are two torsionless connections, $\wedge \circ \nabla_1 = -d = \wedge \circ \nabla_2$. Therefore, $\operatorname{Ran}(\nabla_1 - \nabla_2) \subseteq \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) = \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}$. Moreover $(\nabla_1 - \nabla_2)(\omega a) = \nabla_1(\omega)a - \nabla_2(\omega)a$ for ω in \mathcal{E} and for a in \mathcal{A} . Hence, $\nabla_1 - \nabla_2 \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E})$.

Definition 2.5.3. We define a map

$$\Phi_g : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}) \text{ by}$$
$$\Phi_{\mathfrak{a}}(L) = (\mathfrak{a} \otimes \mathfrak{a} \operatorname{id}) \sigma_{\mathfrak{M}}(L \otimes \mathfrak{a} \operatorname{id})(1 + \sigma)$$

$$\Phi_g(L) = (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\sigma_{23}(L \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})(1+\sigma)$$

Proposition 2.5.4. Φ_g is a right *A*-linear map.

Proof. Let ω, η be in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, and a, b in \mathcal{A} and L in Hom_{\mathcal{A}}($\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E}$). Then by using Proposition 2.4.3, the \mathcal{A} -bilinearity of σ (Lemma 2.4.5) and the equality $\sigma = \sigma^{\text{can}}$, we obtain

$$\Phi_g(La)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta b) = (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})\sigma_{23}(La \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(1+\sigma)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta b)$$

$$= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})\sigma_{23}(La \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta b + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega b)$$

$$= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})\sigma_{23}(L(a\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta b + L(a\eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega b)$$

$$= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})\sigma_{23}(L \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(a\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta b + a\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega b)$$

$$= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})\sigma_{23}(L \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(1+\sigma)(a(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta b))$$

$$= (\Phi_g(L)a)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta b).$$

Hence we have that $\Phi_g(La) = \Phi_g(L)a$.

Now we are in a position to prove the following result which gives a sufficient condition for the existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections.

Theorem 2.5.5. If $\Phi_g : \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$ is an isomorphism of right \mathcal{A} -modules, then there exists a unique connection on \mathcal{E} which is torsionless and compatible with g.

Proof. We recall the torsionless connection ∇_0 constructed in Lemma 2.2.3. By (i) of Lemma 2.5.2, $dg - \Pi_g(\nabla_0) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$. Since Φ_g is an isomorphism from $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$ to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$ there exists a unique element $\Phi_g^{-1}(dg - \Pi_g(\nabla_0)) \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$. Define the \mathbb{C} -linear map

$$\nabla := \nabla_0 + \Phi_q^{-1} (dg - \Pi_g(\nabla_0)).$$

We claim that ∇ is a torsionless connection on \mathcal{E} which is compatible with g. Indeed, if ω is in \mathcal{E} and a in \mathcal{A} , we have

$$\nabla(\omega a) = \nabla_0(\omega)a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da + \Phi_g^{-1}(dg - \Pi_g(\nabla_0))(\omega)a$$
$$= \nabla(\omega)a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da.$$

so that ∇ is a connection. That ∇ is a torsionless connection is verified from the following:

$$\wedge \circ \nabla = \wedge \circ \nabla_0 + \wedge \circ \Phi_g^{-1}(dg - \Pi_g(\nabla_0))$$
$$= \wedge \circ \nabla_0 \text{ (since } \operatorname{Ran}(\Phi_g^{-1})(dg - \Pi_g(\nabla_0) \subseteq \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge))$$
$$= -d.$$

By virtue of (ii) of Lemma 2.5.2, this in particular implies that $\nabla - \nabla_0$ in Hom_{\mathcal{A}}($\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$) so that $\Phi_g(\nabla - \nabla_0)$ is well-defined. Moreover, for ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ and a in \mathcal{A} , we have

$$(\Pi_{g}(\nabla) - \Pi_{g}(\nabla_{0}))(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a)$$

$$=\Pi_{g}^{0}(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta)a - \Pi_{g}^{0}(\nabla_{0})(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \eta)a \text{ (by (2.4.3))}$$

$$=(g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\sigma_{23}\Big((\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \nabla(\eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) - (\nabla_{0}(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \nabla_{0}(\eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)\Big)a$$

$$=(g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})\sigma_{23}((\nabla - \nabla_{0}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})(1 + \sigma)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a)$$

$$=\Phi_{g}(\nabla - \nabla_{0})(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a).$$

Therefore, $\Phi_g(\nabla - \nabla_0) = \Pi_g(\nabla) - \Pi_g(\nabla_0)$. Since $\Phi_g(\nabla - \nabla_0) = dg - \Pi_g(\nabla_0)$ by the definition of ∇ , we have $\Pi_g(\nabla) = dg$. Therefore, ∇ is compatible with g.

To show uniqueness, suppose ∇' is another torsionless connection compatible with the metric g. Then exactly as above, $\nabla - \nabla' \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$ and

$$\Phi_g(\nabla - \nabla') = \Pi_g(\nabla) - \Pi_g(\nabla') = dg - dg = 0,$$

where we have used the fact that ∇ and ∇' are compatible with g. Hence, $\nabla = \nabla'$, as Φ_g is an isomorphism.

The rest of this section will be devoted to proving that for tame spectral triples, Φ_g is indeed an isomorphism, which will then prove Theorem 2.5.1. We will make use of the isomorphism

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}:\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}^*\to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E})$$

as introduced in Proposition 1.1.8.

Lemma 2.5.6. Let g be a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E} and L be an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$ such that $\zeta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}}^{-1}(L) = \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega)$ for some ξ, η, ω in \mathcal{E} .

(i) Then for all e in \mathcal{E} , we have

$$L(e) = \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e).$$

(ii) Let us define then an element L' in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$ by the equation

$$\zeta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(L') = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega).$$

If L in Hom_{\mathcal{A}}($\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$) and ξ, η, ω are in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, then L = L' as elements of Hom_{\mathcal{A}}($\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$). Moreover,

$$\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega).$$

(*iii*) The set { $\zeta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega) : \xi, \eta, \omega \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ } is right \mathcal{A} -total in Hom_{\mathcal{A}}($\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$).

Proof. Throughout the proof, we will repeatedly use Lemma 2.1.8 and the equation $\sigma = \sigma^{\text{can}}$. Let *e* denote an element of \mathcal{E} . By the definition of $\zeta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}$, it follows that

$$L(e) = \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta V_g(\omega)(e) = \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e).$$

Now we prove part (ii). By part (i), we have

$$P_{\rm sym}(L(e)) = \frac{1}{2} (\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi) g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e).$$

Since L(e) is in $\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$, we have $P_{\text{sym}}L(e) = L(e)$. Therefore, $\frac{1}{2}(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi)g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e) = \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e)$ which implies that $\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e)$. This proves that

L(e) = L'(e). Hence,

$$\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega) = \zeta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}}^{-1}(L) = \zeta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}}^{-1}(L') = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega).$$

Finally, for part (iii), we note that since g is bilinear, the set $S = \{\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega) : \xi, \eta, \omega \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}^*$ and therefore $\zeta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}}(S)$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$.

Now we are going to make an use of Lemma 1.1.7. In the notation of Lemma 1.1.7, we define $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$, $h = g^{(2)}$ and $T = P_{\text{sym}}$. Since P_{sym} is \mathcal{A} -bilinear (Lemma 2.4.5) and Proposition 2.3.5 implies that $V_{g^{(2)}} : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$ is an isomorphism, Lemma 1.1.7 implies that the adjoint P_{sym}^* of P_{sym} exists.

Lemma 2.5.7. For all ω, η in \mathcal{E} , $V_{g^{(2)}}\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = V_{g^{(2)}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)\sigma$. In particular, $P_{\text{sym}} = P_{\text{sym}}^*$ in the notation of Lemma 1.1.7.

Proof. As $V_{g^{(2)}}$ is right \mathcal{A} -linear by Proposition 2.3.5, $\sigma = 2P_{\text{sym}} - 1$ is \mathcal{A} -bilinear and $\{\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta : \omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ (Lemma 2.1.5), it is enough to prove that for all $\omega, \eta, \omega', \eta'$ in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$,

$$V_{g^{(2)}}(\sigma(\omega\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta))(\omega'\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta')=V_{g^{(2)}}(\omega\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta)\sigma(\omega'\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta').$$

But this follows from the following computation:

$$\begin{split} V_{g^{(2)}}(\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta))(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta') &= g^{(2)}((\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta')) \\ &= g(\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta')g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') \\ &= g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega')g(\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta') \text{ (by Proposition 2.3.2)} \\ &= V_{g^{(2)}}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)\sigma(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta'). \end{split}$$

This finishes the proof.

Lemma 2.5.8. Let L be in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$ be such that $\zeta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}}^{-1}(L) = \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega)$ for some ξ, η, ω in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. Then

$$\Phi_g(L) = \zeta_{\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}(\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{g^{(2)}}(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi)).$$
(2.5.1)

Proof. The set $\{\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta : \omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ by Lemma 2.1.5 and the map $\Phi_g(L)$ is right \mathcal{A} -linear. Therefore, it is enough to prove that for all ω', η' in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$,

$$\Phi_g(L)(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta') = \eta V_{q^{(2)}}(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi)(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta').$$

By using part (i) of Lemma 2.5.6, we compute

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{g}(L)(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta') &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id}) \sigma_{23}(L(\omega') \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta' + L(\eta') \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id}) \sigma_{23}(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta' + \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta') \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') + \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta')) \\ &= g(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta') \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') + g(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') \eta g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta') \\ &= \eta g(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta') g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') + \eta g(g(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta') \text{ (since } g \text{ is bilinear)} \\ &= \eta V_{g^{(2)}}(\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi)(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta'). \end{split}$$

We have assumed that our pseudo-Riemannian metric g is bilinear and so in particular, left \mathcal{A} -linear. This implies that the map V_g (and hence V_g^{-1}) is left \mathcal{A} -linear. Hence, the map id $\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g^{-1}$ in the following proposition makes sense.

Proposition 2.5.9. Let L be in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$. Then

$$\frac{1}{2}\Phi_g(L) = \zeta_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{g^{(2)}})(P_{\mathrm{sym}})_{23}(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g^{-1})\zeta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(L).$$
(2.5.2)

Proof. Let L be in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E})$ be such that $\zeta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}}^{-1}(L) = \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega)$ for some ξ, η, ω in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. Then by part 2. of Lemma 2.5.6, we have $\xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \xi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g(\omega)$. Therefore,

$$\begin{split} &\zeta_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}V_{g^{(2)}})(P_{\mathrm{sym}})_{23}(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}V_{g}^{-1})\zeta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(L)) \\ &= &\zeta_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}V_{g^{(2)}})(P_{\mathrm{sym}})_{23}(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}V_{g}^{-1})(\xi\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}V_{g}(\omega))) \\ &= &\zeta_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}V_{g^{(2)}})(P_{\mathrm{sym}})_{23}(\eta\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\xi\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\omega)) \\ &= &\frac{1}{2}\zeta_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}(\eta\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}V_{g^{(2)}}(\xi\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\omega+\omega\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\xi)) \text{ (since } \xi,\omega \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})) \\ &= &\frac{1}{2}\Phi_{g}(L) \text{ (by Lemma 2.5.8).} \end{split}$$

Thus, we have proved (2.5.2) for all L of the above form. But since the maps $\zeta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}$, $\Phi_g, V_{g^{(2)}}$ and P_{sym} are all right \mathcal{A} -linear, we can conclude that (2.5.2) holds for all L in $\text{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}\otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E})$ by appealing to part (iii) of Lemma 2.5.6.

Lemma 2.5.10. $V_{q^{(2)}}$ is an isomorphism from $\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ onto $(\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$.

Proof. Let us start by claiming that $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E})^*$ can be identified with the bimodule $\{\phi \in (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^* : \phi \circ (1 - P_{\text{sym}}) = 0\}$. Indeed, if ψ is in $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E})^*$, then ψ can be uniquely extended to an element ϕ in $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$ by using the decomposition $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \text{Ran}(P_{\text{sym}}) \oplus \text{Ran}(1 - P_{\text{sym}})$. Clearly, $\psi = \phi \circ P_{\text{sym}}$. Conversely, if ϕ is in $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$ then $\phi \circ P_{\text{sym}}$ defines an element of $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E})^*$. This proves our claim.

Now we use our claim to prove that $V_{g^{(2)}}$ is one-to-one and onto as a map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E}$ to $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E})^*$. Let ϕ in $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$ be such that $\phi \circ (1 - P_{\text{sym}}) = 0$. Since $V_{g^{(2)}} : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$ is an isomorphism by Proposition 2.3.5, there exists ψ in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ such that $V_{g^{(2)}}(\psi) = \phi$. We claim that $P_{\text{sym}}\psi = \psi$. Indeed,

$$\begin{split} V_{g^{(2)}}(P_{\rm sym}\psi) &= V_{g^{(2)}}(\psi) \circ P_{\rm sym} = \phi \circ P_{\rm sym} \text{ (since, by Lemma 2.5.7 } P_{\rm sym}^* = P_{\rm sym}) \\ &= \phi \circ P_{\rm sym} + \phi \circ (1 - P_{\rm sym}) = \phi \\ &= V_{g^{(2)}}(\psi). \end{split}$$

By using Proposition 2.3.5, we conclude that $P_{\text{sym}}\psi = \psi$. This proves that $V_{g^{(2)}}$ maps onto $(\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$.

To prove that $V_{g^{(2)}}$ is one-to-one as a map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to $(\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})^*$, let ψ in $\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\text{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ be such that $V_{g^{(2)}}(\psi) \circ P_{\text{sym}} = 0$. Therefore, by Lemma 2.5.7, we have

$$V_{g^{(2)}}(\psi) = V_{g^{(2)}}P_{\rm sym}(\psi) = V_{g^{(2)}}(\psi) \circ P_{\rm sym} = 0, \tag{2.5.3}$$

so that by Proposition 2.3.5, we have $\psi = 0$.

Finally, we give a proof of our main theorem for this chapter using the results just proved.

Proof of Theorem 2.5.1. We need to prove that the map Φ_g is an isomorphism from $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$ to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E})$. By Lemma 2.1.10, the map

$$(P_{\mathrm{sym}})_{23}: (\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\mathrm{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\mathrm{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$$

is an isomorphism of right \mathcal{A} modules. Since $(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g^{-1})\zeta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}^{-1}$ is an isomorphism from $\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathrm{sym}} \mathcal{E})$ to $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathrm{sym}} \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ and $V_{g^{(2)}}$ is an isomorphism from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathrm{sym}} \mathcal{E}$ to $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathrm{sym}} \mathcal{E})^*$ by Lemma 2.5.10, we see that $\zeta_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_{g^{(2)}})(P_{\mathrm{sym}})_{23}(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g^{-1})\zeta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E},\mathcal{E}}^{-1}$ is an isomorphism from $\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathrm{sym}} \mathcal{E})$ to $\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}((\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathrm{sym}} \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$. Finally, the equation (2.5.2) implies that Φ_g is an isomorphism.

We end this chapter by comparing some of the related results in the literature. We will need the terminology of tame differential calculus whose definition is a verbatim adaptation of the definition of tame spectral triples in the context of differential calculi. Thus, a differential calculus is called tame if the bimodule of one-forms of the differential calculus satisfies conditions (i)-(iv) of Definition 2.4.1. For a precise definition of a tame differential calculus, we refer to Definition 2.2 of [14]. We continue to have an \mathcal{A} -bilinear map $\sigma : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ as in Definition 2.2.1.

In [15] and [14], Theorem 2.5.1 was proved for an arbitrary tame differential calculus by adapting the classical Koszul-formula proof of existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections. Indeed, Proposition 5.6 of [14] deduces a Koszul-formula for the Levi-Civita connection.

Now, we discuss the relevance of bimodule connections for tame spectral triples.

Definition 2.5.11. Suppose \mathcal{E} be the bimodule of one-forms of a differential calculus and σ' : $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ be a bimodule map. A right connection ∇_1 on \mathcal{E} is said to be a bimodule connection for the pair (\mathcal{E}, σ') if for all a in \mathcal{A} and for all e in \mathcal{E} , the following equation holds:

$$\nabla_1(ae) = a\nabla_1(e) + \sigma'(da \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e).$$

The following theorem was proved in [15].

Theorem 2.5.12. (Theorem 7.3, [15]) If g is a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on a tame differential calculus (\mathcal{E}, d) , then the unique Levi-Civita connection for (\mathcal{E}, g) is a bimodule connection for the pair (\mathcal{E}, σ) .

Now we come to the issue of existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections for pseudo-Riemannian metrics which are not necessarily \mathcal{A} -bilinear. Let us make the following definition:

Definition 2.5.13. A pseudo-Riemannian metric (not necessarily \mathcal{A} -bilinear) g on a tame spectral triple is called strongly σ -compatible if for all e, f, e', f' in \mathcal{E} ,

$$g^{(2)}(\sigma(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f')) = g^{(2)}((e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma(e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f')).$$

Our Lemma 2.5.7 implies that any pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric on a tame spectral triple is automatically strongly σ -compatible.

The main result of [13] states that if g is a strongly σ -compatible pseudo-Riemannian metric on any tame differential calculus (\mathcal{E} , d) (see Definition 2.2 of [14]), then there exists a unique Levi-Civita connection for the triplet (\mathcal{E} , d, g).

Since tame spectral triples are examples of tame differential calculus, the two results mentioned above also hold for tame spectral triples.

Chapter 3

Examples of Tame Spectral Triples

This chapter illustrates examples of tame spectral triples. By Theorem 2.5.1 these admit a unique torsionless connection compatible with a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric.

In Section 3.1, we discuss the example of the fuzzy 3-spheres. The question of existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections on fuzzy 3-spheres was addressed in [41], albeit with a different formulation of metric compatibility. We will see (Proposition 3.1.4) that the candidate of a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric proposed in Lemma 2.3.6 is actually a Riemannian bilinear metric. Let us denote this by q. The authors of [41] proved that a family of Levi-Civita connections in the sense of that paper exist for the triple (\mathcal{E}, d, g) . However, if in addition, one demands the Levi-Civita connection to be real, then there exists a unique connection. In Theorem 3.1.5, we show that the spectral triple in [41] are tame. Thus, by Theorem 2.5.1, for each pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric, there exists a unique Levi-Civita connection. In particular, if we take the Riemannian bilinear metric q as above, then the Levi-Civita connection from Theorem 2.5.1 coincides with the unique real Levi-Civita connection obtained in [41]. In [15], a spectral triple is defined on the fuzzy 3-spheres which is a truncated version of the spectral triple discussed here and in [41]. That spectral triple was also shown to be a tame spectral triple (Theorem 8.5 of [15]). In particular, after obtaining the unique Levi-Civita connection, that article also computes the Ricci and scalar curvatures associated to the spectral triple. We will not be addressing the issue of curvature in this thesis.

In Section 3.2, we discuss the example of the quantum Heisenberg manifolds introduced in [81]. In [22], a family of spectral triples and the corresponding space of forms were studied. However, it turned out that with a particular choice of a metric and the definition of the metric

compatibility of the connection in the sense of [41], there exists no connection on the space of one-forms which is both torsionless and compatible with the metric. In Theorem 3.2.6, we show that the spectral triples of [22] are tame spectral triples, and hence each pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric admits a unique Levi-Civita connection. We would like to mention that in [56] and [57] compatible connections for Hermitian metrics and Yang-Mills theory on the quantum Heisenberg manifolds have been studied.

In Section 3.3, we discuss the example of Connes Dubois-Violette Rieffel deformations $C^{\infty}(M)_{\theta}$ ([26, 82]) of a compact Riemannian manifold M and a spectral triples on it given in [27]. In Theorem 3.3.1, we show that this spectral triple is a tame spectral triple under some technical assumptions, thus admitting a unique Levi-Civita connection (as per our formulation) for each pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric. In Corollary 3.3.38, we show that this unique Levi-Civita connection is the θ -deformation of the classical Levi-Civita connection on a compact Riemannian manifold. This also demonstrates that our formulation of Levi-Civita connections.

We would like to mention that in the recent paper [54], a spectral triple on the Cuntz algebra with three generators was given. In Theorem 3.4 of the same paper, it was shown that this spectral triple is a tame spectral triple, and thus admits a unique Levi-Civita connection for each pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric.

The contents of this chapter are from [16]. As in the previous chapter, if $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a spectral triple, we will often denote the space of one-forms $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ of this spectral triple by the symbol \mathcal{E} .

3.1 Levi-Civita connection for fuzzy 3-spheres

We start by giving a brief description of the spectral triple on the fuzzy 3-sphere. Let G denote the compact Lie group SU(2) and V_j , $j \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{N}_0$, denote the (2j + 1) dimensional irreducible representation of SU(2). Let k be a positive integer and $\mathcal{H}_0 := \bigoplus_{j=0,\frac{1}{2},\dots,\frac{k}{2}} V_j^* \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_j$ and $\mathcal{A} := \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}_0)$. Let W be the carrier vector space of the irreducible representation of the Clifford algebra generated by the vector space $T_e G$ with respect to the Killing form on G as defined by equations (3.4) and (3.5) of [41]. There exists a spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$, where $\mathcal{H} := \mathcal{H}_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} W$, called the "fuzzy" or non-commutative 3-sphere. We refer to [41] for the details.

In what follows, we will denote the elements $1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \psi_i$ in the center of $\mathcal{E} := \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ as in [41] by

the symbol e_i , so that

$$e_j \wedge e_k = -e_k \wedge e_j$$

and $\{e_i \wedge e_j : i \leq j\}$ is linearly independent. Let $\mathcal{E} := \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$. One has the following result.

Theorem 3.1.1. (Equation (3.19) and Theorem 3.2 of [41]) The space of forms for the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ has the following description:

- (i) The module \mathcal{E} is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{e_i a_i : i = 1, 2, 3\}$ and thus is a free right \mathcal{A} module of rank three.
- (ii) The bimodule $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ of two-forms is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{e_i \wedge e_j a_{ij} : a_{ij} = -a_{ji}\}$ is a free right \mathcal{A} module of rank three.

Moreover, it was also proven in [41] that the space of three-forms is a free rank one module and all the higher forms are zero. The bimodule structure for $\mathcal{E} := \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ (and similarly, for the higher forms) is given by

$$a(b \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \psi_i)c = abc \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \psi_i = e_i abc.$$

We note that this implies that \mathcal{E} is centered. In fact, $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is a complex linear span of $\{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$. We also note that we can identify $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ with $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j a : i, j = 1, 2, 3\}$.

Lemma 3.1.2. The space $Ker(\wedge)$ is generated (as a right \mathcal{A} module) by the set

$$\{e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i, e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j + e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i : i, j = 1, 2, 3, i \neq j\}.$$

Proof. Throughout this proof, we will be using the fact that the elements e_i are in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. Let $\omega = \sum_j e_j a_j, \eta = \sum_k e_k b_k$ be elements of \mathcal{E} . If ϵ_{ijk} denotes the Levi-Civita tensor, i.e,

$$\epsilon_{ijk} = \begin{cases} 0, \text{ if any two indices are repeated} \\ 1, \text{ if } (ijk) \text{ is an even permutation} \\ -1, \text{ if } (ijk) \text{ is an odd permutation,} \end{cases}$$

then by equation (3.29) of [41], we have

$$\begin{split} \omega \wedge \eta &= \sum_{ijk} (\epsilon_{ijk})^2 e_j a_j \wedge e_k b_k = \sum_{ijk} (\epsilon_{ijk})^2 e_j \wedge e_k a_j b_k \\ &= \sum_{jk=2,3} (\epsilon_{1jk})^2 e_j \wedge e_k a_j b_k + \sum_{jk=1,3} (\epsilon_{2jk})^2 e_j \wedge e_k a_j b_k + \sum_{jk=1,2} (\epsilon_{3jk})^2 e_j \wedge e_k a_j b_k \\ &= \sum_{j \neq k} e_j \wedge e_k (a_j b_k - a_k b_j). \end{split}$$

Therefore, we have

$$e_i \wedge e_i = 0 = e_i \wedge e_j + e_j \wedge e_i.$$

Hence, $\{e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i, e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j + e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i : 1 \le i \le j \le 3\} \subseteq \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge).$

Conversely, if a_{ij} in \mathcal{A} is such that $\wedge (\sum_{i,j} e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j a_{ij}) = 0$, then by the above computation, we can conclude that $\sum_{i < j} e_i \wedge e_j (a_{ij} - a_{ji}) = 0$. Since $\{e_i \wedge e_j : i < j\}$ is linearly independent, we have $a_{ij} = a_{ji}$. Therefore,

$$\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \subseteq \operatorname{Span}_{\mathcal{A}} \{ e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i, e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j + e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i : i, j = 1, 2, 3 \}.$$

This finishes the proof.

Proposition 3.1.3. Let \mathcal{F} denote the right \mathcal{A} -linear span of the set $\{e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j - e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i : 1 \leq i < j \leq 3\}$. Then, the bimodule $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ admits a decomposition $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \text{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$ as right \mathcal{A} -modules. Moreover, the map $\sigma = 2P_{\text{sym}} - 1$ is equal to the map σ^{can} as in Theorem 2.1.7, *i.e.* for all ω , η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, and a in \mathcal{A} ,

$$\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega a.$$

Proof. From the description of Ker(\wedge) in Lemma 3.1.2 and the isomorphism $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}) \cong \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{e_i \wedge e_j a_{ij} : a_{ij} = -a_{ji}\}$ ((ii) of Theorem 3.1.1), it is clear that we have a right \mathcal{A} -linear splitting: $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$ where $\mathcal{F} = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j a_{ij} : a_{ij} = -a_{ji}\}$ is satisfied. Moreover, it is easy to verify that for all ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, the map

$$\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta \mapsto \frac{1}{2} (\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)$$

extends to a bilinear idempotent map on $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ with range equal to Ker(\wedge) and kernel equal to \mathcal{F} . Thus, for all ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, we have

$$P_{\rm sym}(\omega\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta)=\frac{1}{2}(\omega\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta+\eta\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\omega),$$

where P_{sym} is as in Definition 2.2.1. Therefore, $\sigma = 2P_{\text{sym}} - 1 = \sigma^{\text{can}}$.

The following result concerns the canonical Riemannian bilinear metric of spectral triples discussed in Lemma 2.3.6.

Proposition 3.1.4. The bilinear form g constructed in Lemma 2.3.6, given by $g(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j) = \delta_{ij} 1_{\mathcal{A}}$ in the case of the fuzzy 3-spheres, is a Riemannian bilinear metric.

Proof. From equation (3.49) of [41], we see that $g: \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}$ is defined by

$$g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \sum_{i=1,2,3} a_i b_i,$$

where $\omega = \sum_{i=1,2,3} e_i a_i, \ \eta = \sum_{i=1,2,3} e_i b_i.$

We need to check the conditions of Definition 2.3.7. From the definition of g, it is clear that g is an \mathcal{A} -valued map. Next, we check that the map V_g is nondegenerate. Let ω in \mathcal{E} be such that $V_g(\omega)(\eta) = 0$ for all η in \mathcal{E} . In particular, $g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j) = 0$ for all j = 1, 2, 3. If $\omega = \sum_{i=1,2,3} e_i a_i$, we conclude that $a_i = 0$ for all i. Therefore, $\omega = 0$, proving that V_g is one-to-one.

Now we prove that V_g is onto. Suppose $\omega \in \mathcal{E}$ is of the form $\sum_i e_i a_i$. Then we define ϕ_{ω} in \mathcal{E}^* by

$$\phi_{\omega}(e_i b) = a_i b_i$$

It is clear that any ϕ in \mathcal{E}^* is of the form ϕ_{ω} for some ω in \mathcal{E} . Since $V_g(\sum_{i=1,2,3} e_i \omega_i) = \phi_{\omega}, V_g$ is onto.

Now we prove that g satisfies the equation $g \circ \sigma = g$. We have

$$g \circ \sigma(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j) = g(e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i) = \delta_{ij} 1_{\mathcal{A}} = g(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j).$$

Since $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) = \text{Span}\{e_i : i = 1, 2, 3\}$ and $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \text{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} = \{\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta : \omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})\}$ by Lemma 2.1.5, $g \circ \sigma(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f)$ for all e, f in \mathcal{E} .

Finally, we have first of the two main results of this section.

Theorem 3.1.5. The spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a tame spectral triple. Hence, for each pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric g on $\mathcal{E} := \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$, there exists a unique torsionless connection which is compatible with g.

Proof. We need to show that the spectral triple satisfies the hypotheses of Definition 2.4.1. By virtue of Theorem 3.1.1 and Proposition 3.1.3, we are left to verify that $u^{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$ is an isomorphism. But this is clear, since $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathbb{C}.1$ and $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is the \mathbb{C} -linear span of e_1, e_2, e_3 . Therefore, by Theorem 2.5.1, for each pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric g on \mathcal{E} there exists a unique torsionless connection which is compatible with g.

The authors of [41] investigated the existence of torsionless and unitary connections on \mathcal{E} . While the definition of torsion of a connection discussed in their paper is the same as that in ours, the definitions of "metric compatibility" of a connection are different, since the paper [41] views a Riemannian metric as a sesquilinear form as opposed to a bilinear form as in this thesis. In Proposition 3.7 of [41], it is proven that there exists a nontrivial family of torsionless connections which are also unitary. However, once the additional condition of the connection to be real is imposed, then Corollary 3.8 of [41] proves that such a connection is unique. We have the following result:

Theorem 3.1.6. Consider the Riemannian bilinear metric g of Proposition 3.1.4. Then the Levi-Civita connection of Theorem 3.1.5 for the triple (\mathcal{E}, d, g) coincides with the unique real unitary torsionless connection in Corollary 3.8 of [41].

Proof. We take basis elements e_i in \mathcal{E} and use the fact that e_i are elements of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$. We denote by Γ_{jk}^i the Christoffel symbols given by $\nabla(e_i) = \sum_{jk} e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_k \Gamma_{jk}^i$. Then, we explicitly compute the metric compatibility criterion for the fuzzy 3-sphere by our definition:

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= d(\delta_{ij}) = d(g(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j)) \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(\operatorname{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma)(\nabla(e_i) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j + \nabla(e_j) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i) \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(\operatorname{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma)(\sum_{k,l} e_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_l \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j \Gamma^i_{kl} + \sum_{k,l} e_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_l \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i \Gamma^j_{kl}) \\ &= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(\sum_{k,l} e_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_l \Gamma^i_{kl} + \sum_{k,l} e_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_l \Gamma^j_{kl}) \\ &= \sum_l e_l(\Gamma^i_{jl} + \Gamma^j_{il}), \text{ for all } l \text{ and for all } i \neq j. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, the metric compatibility criterion gives us that $\Gamma_{jl}^i = -\Gamma_{il}^j$. In [41], combining the necessary and sufficient condition for a connection to be unitary (Equation (3.51) of [41]) and to be a real connection, i.e. the connection coefficients must be anti-Hermitian, we get that the connection coefficients must satisfy $\Gamma_{jk}^i = -\Gamma_{ik}^j$. We see that this is the same condition that we arrive at for a metric compatible connection in our sense.

The torsionless criterion gives us that for all basis elements e_i in \mathcal{E} ,

$$0 = (\wedge \circ \nabla + d)(e_i) = \sum_{jk} e_j \wedge e_k \Gamma^i_{jk} - \sqrt{-1} \sum_{jk} \epsilon^{ijk} e_j \wedge e_k,$$

where we obtain the expression for $d(e_i)$ from Equation (3.31) of [41]. From Proposition 6.6 and Proposition 3.7 of [41], we know that this is equivalent to the criterion $\Gamma_{jk}^i - \Gamma_{kj}^i = \sqrt{-1}\epsilon^{ijk}$. We see that the solution $\Gamma_{jk}^i = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2}\epsilon^{ijk}$ satisfies both the metric compatibility as well as the torsionless criteria. Hence these are the Christoffel symbols of our unique Levi-Civita connection.

Hence, the unique real unitary torsionless connection in Corollary 3.8 of [41] and the unique Levi-Civita connection for the fuzzy 3-sphere obtained by Theorem 3.1.5 coincide.

3.2 Levi-Civita connection for quantum Heisenberg manifold

In this section, we consider the spectral triple on the quantum Heisenberg manifold as defined and studied in [22]. The definition of the Dirac operator and the space of one-forms require the Pauli spin matrices denoted by $\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3$ in [22]. In particular, the σ_i 's satisfy the following relations:

$$\sigma_j^2 = 1, \ \sigma_j \sigma_k = -\sigma_k \sigma_j, \ \sigma_1 \sigma_2 = \sqrt{-1}\sigma_3, \ \sigma_2 \sigma_3 = \sqrt{-1}\sigma_1, \ \sigma_1 \sigma_3 = \sqrt{-1}\sigma_2.$$
(3.2.1)

Moreover, we are going to work with right connections instead of left connections as had been done in [22].

The description of the algebra of quantum Heisenberg manifold in [81] is as follows.

Definition 3.2.1. For any positive integer c, let S^c denote the space of infinitely differentiable functions $\Phi : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ that satisfy the following two conditions:

- (i) $\Phi(x+k,y,p) = e^{2\pi i c k p y} \Phi(x,y,p)$ for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$,
- (ii) for every partial differential operator $\tilde{X} = \frac{\partial^{m+n}}{\partial x^m \partial y^n}$ on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T}$ and every polynomial p on \mathbb{Z} , the function $P(p)(\tilde{X}\Phi)(x, y, p)$ is bounded on $K \times \mathbb{Z}$ for any compact set K of $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T}$.

For each $\hbar, \mu, \nu \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\mu^2 + \nu^2 \neq 0$, let $\mathcal{A}^{\infty}_{\hbar}$ denote the space S^c equipped with product and involution defined, respectively, by

$$\begin{split} (\Phi * \Psi)(x, y, p) &= \sum_{q} \Phi(x - \hbar(q - p)\mu, y - \hbar(q - p)\nu, q) \Psi(x - \hbar q\mu, y - \hbar q, \nu, p - q), \\ \Phi^*(x, y, p) &= \Phi(x, y, -p). \end{split}$$

Let π be the representation of $\mathcal{A}^{\infty}_{\hbar}$ on $L^{2}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{Z})$ given by

$$(\pi(\Phi)\xi)(x,y,p) = \sum_{q} \Phi(x - \hbar(q - 2p)\mu, y - \hbar(q - 2p)\nu, q)\xi(x,y,p-q)$$

Then π gives a faithful representation of the *-algebra $\mathcal{A}^{\infty}_{\hbar}$. The norm closure of $\pi(\mathcal{A}^{\infty}_{\hbar})$, denoted by $\mathcal{A}^{c,\hbar}_{\mu,\nu}$ is called the quantum Heisenberg manifold.

For the rest of this section, we will denote the *-algebra $\mathcal{A}_{\hbar}^{\infty}$ by \mathcal{A} . The algebra \mathcal{A} admits an action of the Heisenberg group. The symbol τ will denote a certain state on \mathcal{A} invariant under the action of the Heisenberg group. Let X_1, X_2, X_3 denote the canonical basis of the Lie algebra of the Heisenberg group so that we have associated self-adjoint operators d_{X_i} on $L^2(\mathcal{A}, \tau)$ in the natural way. Then the triple $(\mathcal{A}, L^2(\mathcal{A}, \tau) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^2, D)$ defines a spectral triple on \mathcal{A} where \mathcal{A} is represented on $L^2(\mathcal{A}, \tau) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^2$ diagonally and the Dirac operator D is defined as

$$D = \sum_j d_{X_j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma_j,$$

where σ_j , j = 1, 2, 3 are the self-adjoint Pauli spin matrices satisfying (3.2.1).

Let us denote the operator $1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma_i$ by the symbol e_i . Then, the following lemma is a direct consequence of the proof of Proposition 9 of [22].

Lemma 3.2.2. For all a in A,

$$d(a) = \sum_{j=1}^{3} e_j \partial_j(a),$$

where
$$\partial_1(a) = \frac{\partial a}{\partial x}$$
, $\partial_2(a) = -2\pi\sqrt{-1}cpxa + \frac{\partial a}{\partial y}$, $\partial_3(a) = -2\pi\sqrt{-1}cp\alpha a$

for some α greater than 1. The derivations $\partial_1, \partial_2, \partial_3$ satisfy the following relation:

$$[\partial_1, \partial_3] = [\partial_2, \partial_3] = 0, \ [\partial_1, \partial_2] = \partial_3. \tag{3.2.2}$$

The space of one-forms and two-forms for the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, L^2(\mathcal{A}, \tau) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^2, D)$ are as follows:

Proposition 3.2.3. For i = 1, 2, 3, let e_i denote the element $1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma_i$. The module of one-forms $\mathcal{E} := \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ is a free module generated by e_1, e_2, e_3 . Moreover, e_1, e_2, e_3 are central elements. As a subset of $B(L^2(\mathcal{A}, \tau) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^2)$, \mathcal{E} can be described as follows:

$$\mathcal{E} = \{\sum_i a_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma_i : a_i \in \mathcal{A}\} = \{\sum_i a_i e_i : a_i \in \mathcal{A}\}.$$

The set of junk forms (see Subsection 1.3.1) is equal to $\{a \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1 : a \in \mathcal{A}\}$, and therefore is isomorphic to \mathcal{A} . Finally, the space of two forms $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{A} \oplus \mathcal{A} \oplus \mathcal{A}$. Explicitly,

$$\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}) = \{a_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma_1 \sigma_2 + a_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma_2 \sigma_3 + a_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma_1 \sigma_3 : a_1, a_2, a_3 \in \mathcal{A}\} \subseteq B(L^2(\mathcal{A}, \tau) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^2).$$

Proof. The space of one-forms is described in Proposition 21 of [22]. The fact that e_1, e_2, e_3 are central can be easily seen from the definition of the representation of \mathcal{A} on $L^2(\mathcal{A}, \tau) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^2$. The statement about the two forms follow from Proposition 22 of the same paper.

Proposition 3.2.4. The bilinear form g constructed in Lemma 2.3.6 satisfies the conditions of Definition 2.3.7, i.e., it is the canonical Riemannian bilinear metric for the spectral triple.

Proof. We need to check the conditions of Definition 2.3.7. This essentially follows from the results of [22]. We will use Proposition 3.2.3 to identify \mathcal{E} with $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^3$, the bimodule structure being defined as:

$$a(e_ib)c = e_iabc.$$

We will let τ denote the functional on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ as in Subsection 2.3.1. Let $\psi : \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{C}$ be the faithful normal tracial state on \mathcal{A}'' as in Section 2 of [22] (denoted by τ in [22]). By Proposition 14 of [22],

$$au(X) = (\frac{1}{2}\psi \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Tr})(X) \text{ for all } X \in \mathcal{E}.$$

since ψ is faithful on \mathcal{A}'' , we can conclude that τ is faithful on the *-algebra generated by \mathcal{A} and $\{[D, a] : a \in \mathcal{A}\}$. Moreover, by identifying $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{E} = \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^3$ via $a \mapsto a \otimes I_2$, $\tau(a) = \psi(a)$ for all a in \mathcal{A} .

If $\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{3} e_i a_i$ and $\eta = \sum_{i=1}^{3} e_i b_i$ are two one-forms, then

$$\frac{1}{2}(I \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{Tr})(\omega \eta) = \sum_{i=1}^{3} a_i b_i.$$

Therefore, for all c in \mathcal{A} , the formula $g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \langle \langle \omega^*, \eta \rangle \rangle$ (Lemma 2.3.6) implies that

$$\tau(g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)c) = \tau(\langle \langle \omega^*, \eta \rangle \rangle c) = \tau(\omega \eta c)$$

= $(\frac{1}{2}\psi \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Tr})(\omega \eta c) = \sum_{i} \psi(a_i b_i c) = \tau((\sum_{i=1}^{3} a_i b_i)c)$

Therefore, $g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \sum_{i=1}^{3} a_i b_i$ is in \mathcal{A} . The nondegeneracy of the map V_g follows just as in Proposition 3.1.4.

Proposition 3.2.5. Let \mathcal{F} denote the right \mathcal{A} -linear span of the set $\{e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j - e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i : 1 \leq i < j \leq 3\}$. Then, the bimodule $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ admits a decomposition $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \text{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$ as right \mathcal{A} -modules. Moreover, the map $\sigma = 2P_{\text{sym}} - 1$ is equal to the map σ^{can} as in Theorem 2.1.7, *i.e.* for all e, f in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, and a in \mathcal{A} ,

$$\sigma(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} fa) = f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} ea.$$

Proof. We will use the fact that e_i are central elements throughout the proof. Moreover, let \wedge, m_0, \mathcal{J} , be as in Subsection 1.3.1 while P_{sym} will be as in Definition 2.2.1. By the description of \mathcal{J} and that of $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ in Proposition 3.2.3, it is easy to see that $\text{Ker}(\wedge)$ is spanned by $\{e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j + e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i : 1 \leq i \leq j \leq 3\}$ as a right \mathcal{A} -module and $\mathcal{F} = \text{Span}_{\mathcal{A}} \{e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j - e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i : 1 \leq i < j \leq 3\}$. Clearly, $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \text{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$ as right \mathcal{A} modules.

Since $e_1, e_2, e_3 \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$, it can be easily checked that $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism. In particular, \mathcal{E} is centered. Moreover, by the description of Ker(\wedge) as above, we have

$$P_{\text{sym}}(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j - e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i) = 0, \ P_{\text{sym}}(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j + e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i) = e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j + e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i$$

and thus
$$2P_{\text{sym}}(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j) = e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j + e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i$$
.

Therefore,
$$\sigma(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j) = (2P_{\text{sym}} - 1)(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j) = e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i$$

Therefore, $\sigma = \sigma^{\text{can}}$.

Finally, we have the main result of this section.

Theorem 3.2.6. The spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, L^2(\mathcal{A}, \tau) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^2, D)$ is a tame spectral triple. Hence, for any pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric g on \mathcal{E} , there exists a unique Levi-Civita connection on the module \mathcal{E} compatible with g.

Proof. In Proposition 3.2.3 and Proposition 3.2.5, we have verified that the conditions of Definition 2.4.1, so the spectral triple is a tame spectral triple. By Theorem 2.5.1, we have the second part of our result. \Box

3.3 Levi-Civita connection for Connes-Landi deformed spectral triples

Suppose M is a compact Riemannian manifold such that the maximal torus of the isometry group of M has rank greater than or equal to 2. Then the action of the maximal torus on $C^{\infty}(M)$ allows us to define a deformed algebra $C^{\infty}(M)_{\theta}$ ([82], [26]). Moreover, the torus equivariant spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(M), \mathcal{H}, d+d^*)$ on M (as in Example 1.3.5) can be deformed to a new spectral triple on $C^{\infty}(M)_{\theta}([27])$.

The goal of this section is to prove the following theorem:

Theorem 3.3.1. Suppose M is a compact Riemannian manifold equipped with a free isometric action of \mathbb{T}^n . Let $\mathcal{E} := \Omega^1(M)$ denote the space of one-forms of the spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(M), \mathcal{H}, d+$ $d^*)$ discussed in Example 1.3.5. Then the deformed spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(M)_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, d + d^*)$ as in Theorem 3.3.25 is a tame spectral triple and the metric g deforms to a Riemannian metric g_{θ} on the bimodule of one-forms \mathcal{E}_{θ} of the spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(M)_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, d + d^*)$. Hence, there exists a unique Levi-Civita connection on \mathcal{E}_{θ} for g_{θ} .

In the first subsection, we prove some preparatory results on the fixed point algebra under the action of a compact abelian Lie group. In Subsection 3.3.2 we prove some results on generalities of Rieffel deformations. In Subsection 3.3.3 we prove that there exists a Riemannian bilinear

metric on \mathcal{E}_{θ} and that it is the deformation of the canonical metric on \mathcal{E} . In Subsection 3.3.4, we prove that under our assumptions, the deformed module of one-forms on the Rieffel deformed manifold satisfies the conditions of Definition 2.4.1.

Now we recall the concepts of spectral subspaces and spectral subalgebras (or spectral submodules) for actions of the group \mathbb{T}^n on algebras and modules.

Definition 3.3.2. Suppose β is an action of \mathbb{T}^n on a module \mathcal{G} (or an algebra \mathcal{D}). Then the spectral subspace corresponding to a character $\underline{m} \equiv (m_1, ..., m_n)$ in $\widehat{\mathbb{T}^n} \cong \mathbb{Z}^n$, denoted by $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{m}}$ (respectively $\mathcal{D}_{\underline{m}}$), consists of all ξ such that $\beta_t(\xi) = \chi_{\underline{m}}(t)\xi$ for all $t = (t_1, ..., t_n)$ in \mathbb{T}^n , where $\chi_{\underline{m}}(t) := t_1^{m_1} \dots t_n^{m_n}$.

It is easily seen that $\mathcal{D}_{\underline{m}}\mathcal{D}_{\underline{n}} \subseteq \mathcal{D}_{\underline{m}+\underline{n}}$.

Suppose that \mathcal{G} is a \mathcal{D} -bimodule. Moreover, let us assume that both \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} are equipped with actions of \mathbb{T}^n in such a way that \mathcal{G} becomes a \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant \mathcal{D} -bimodule. This means that for all e in \mathcal{G} and for all a, b in \mathcal{D} , we have:

$$\beta_t(aeb) = \alpha_t(a)\beta_t(e)\alpha_t(b).$$

In this case, we have

$$\mathcal{G}_{\underline{m}}\mathcal{D}_{\underline{n}} \subseteq \mathcal{G}_{\underline{m}+\underline{n}} \text{ and } \mathcal{D}_{\underline{n}}\mathcal{G}_{\underline{m}} \subseteq \mathcal{G}_{\underline{m}+\underline{n}}.$$
 (3.3.1)

The subspace $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \mathcal{D}_{\underline{m}} : \underline{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n \}$ comprises the so-called 'spectral subalgebra' for the action. Similarly, $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ \mathcal{G}_{\underline{m}} : \underline{m} \in \mathbb{Z}^n \}$ is called the spectral submodule of the action.

Let G be a group. Let us recall that a spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is called G-equivariant if there exists a unitary representation β of G on \mathcal{H} such that $\beta_g D = D\beta_g$. Moreover, we recall the following well known fact (see [26] for the details).

Proposition 3.3.3. Suppose that M is a compact Riemannian manifold with an isometric action of the n-torus \mathbb{T}^n on M. Consider the spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(M), \mathcal{H}, D)$ of Example 1.3.5, i.e, \mathcal{H} is the Hilbert space of all forms, d is the de-Rham differential on \mathcal{H} and $D = d + d^*$. The \mathbb{T}^n action on smooth forms extends to a unitary representation β on \mathcal{H} and the spectral triple is equivariant w.r.t this representation of \mathbb{T}^n . In particular, if α denotes the action of \mathbb{T}^n on $C^{\infty}(M)$ and $\delta(\cdot) = \sqrt{-1}[D, \cdot]$, then for all t in \mathbb{T}^n and for all f, g in $C^{\infty}(M)$,

$$\beta_t(f\delta(g)) = \alpha_t(f)\beta_t(\delta(g)) = \alpha_t(f)\delta(\alpha_t(g)).$$

In this set-up, it is easy to see the following result:

Lemma 3.3.4. If \mathcal{D} is a subalgebra of $C^{\infty}(M)$ kept invariant by the action of a compact group G acting by isometries on M and $\Omega^{1}(\mathcal{D}) := \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ fdg : f, g \in \mathcal{D} \}$, then the map $\wedge : \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{D}) \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{D}) \to \Omega^{2}(\mathcal{D})$ is G-equivariant.

As an immediate corollary, we have

Corollary 3.3.5. With the notations of Lemma 3.3.4, we have a decomposition

$$\Omega^1(\mathcal{D}) \otimes_D \Omega^1(\mathcal{D}) = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{G},$$

where $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ e \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} f + f \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} e : e, f \in \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{D}) \}$ and $\mathcal{G} = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ e \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} f - f \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} e : e, f \in \Omega^{1}(\mathcal{D}) \}.$

Moreover, $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge)$ and \mathcal{G} are also kept invariant by G.

Proof. The decomposition $\Omega^1(\mathcal{D}) \otimes_D \Omega^1(\mathcal{D}) = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{G}$ follows exactly as in the classical case.

The *G*-invariance of $\text{Ker}(\wedge)$ follows from the *G*-equivariance of \wedge . Moreover, we have $\mathcal{G} = \text{Ker}(1 - \text{flip})$. Since flip is *G*-equivariant, \mathcal{G} is *G*-invariant.

3.3.1 Some results on the fixed point algebra

Let us consider a compact Riemannian manifold M with the \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant spectral triple $(C^{\infty}(M), \mathcal{H}, d+d^*)$ as in Proposition 3.3.3. Throughout this section, we will follow the notations introduced in the following definition.

Definition 3.3.6. Let $\mathcal{E} := \Omega^1(M)$ and $\mathcal{A} := C^{\infty}(M)$. \mathcal{F} will denote the \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant spectral submodule of \mathcal{E} . The symbol $\mathcal{F}_{\underline{k}}$ will denote the \underline{k} -th spectral subspace of \mathcal{F} . Thus, $\mathcal{F} =$ $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{\mathcal{F}_{\underline{k}}: \underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$. Similarly, we define \mathcal{C} to be the spectral subalgebra $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{k}}: \underline{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$ of \mathcal{A} where $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{k}}$ is the \underline{k} -th spectral subspace of \mathcal{C} . In particular, $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}$ denote the \mathbb{T}^n -invariant spectral subalgebra and the \mathbb{T}^n -invariant spectral submodule respectively.

Remark 3.3.7. It is clear from the definition of spectral subspaces of algebras and modules that if $\mathcal{A}_{\underline{k}}$ and $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{k}}$ denote the spectral subspaces of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{E} respectively, then $\mathcal{A}_{\underline{k}} = \mathcal{C}_{\underline{k}}$ and $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{k}} = \mathcal{F}_{\underline{k}}$. We will from now on use this fact, often without mentioning. **Remark 3.3.8.** Since the representation β as in Proposition 3.3.3 commutes with $d + d^*$, it is easy to see that $\beta_t(\mathcal{F}) \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ for all t in \mathbb{T}^n . Moreover, it is easy to see that the space of one-forms for the spectral triple $(\mathcal{C}, \mathcal{H}, d + d^*)$ is precisely \mathcal{F} .

Recall that one of the conditions of Definition 2.4.1 requires the map

$$u^{\mathcal{E}}: \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$$

to be an isomorphism for the underlying spectral triple to be a tame one. In the example of Connes-Landi deformed spectral triples of compact Riemannian manifolds, it proves difficult to show this directly. In Subsection 2.4.2, we discussed an auxiliary map

$$u_{\mathcal{E}'}^{\mathcal{E}}: \mathcal{E}' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}'} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E},$$

where \mathcal{A}' is a unital subalgebra of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$ and \mathcal{E}' is an \mathcal{A}' -submodule of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$.

In particular, Proposition 2.4.6 shows that if $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E})$ is a finitely generated projective module over $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A})$, then $u^{\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism if and only if $u_{\mathcal{E}'}^{\mathcal{E}}$ is one. We will employ that proposition in this section to obtain our desired result. The aim of this subsection is to prove that if the action of \mathbb{T}^n on M is free, then the spectral subalgebra $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}$ and the spectral submodule $\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}$ satisfy the hypotheses of Proposition 2.4.6.

Lemma 3.3.9. Suppose that the \mathbb{T}^n action on M is free. Then $\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}$ is a finitely generated projective right module over $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}$.

Proof. For a module \mathcal{G} equipped with an action of \mathbb{T}^n , let us denote the \mathbb{T}^n -invariant submodule of \mathcal{G} by the symbol $\mathcal{G}^{\mathbb{T}^n}$. Since the \mathbb{T}^n -action on M is free, M/\mathbb{T}^n is a smooth compact manifold and M is a principal \mathbb{T}^n -bundle over M/\mathbb{T}^n . Let π denote the projection map from M onto M/\mathbb{T}^n . Given any point in M, we can find a \mathbb{T}^n -invariant open neighborhood U which is \mathbb{T}^n equivariantly diffeomorphic with $U/\mathbb{T}^n \times \mathbb{T}^n$. Moreover, we can choose U in such a way that U/\mathbb{T}^n is the domain of a local coordinate chart for the manifold M/\mathbb{T}^n . Thus, without loss in generality, we can assume that $U = \pi^{-1}(V)$, where V is the domain of some local chart for M/\mathbb{T}^n .

This gives the following isomorphism:

$$\Omega^{1}(U)^{\mathbb{T}^{n}} \cong \Omega^{1}(U/\mathbb{T}^{n}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \Omega^{1}(\mathbb{T}^{n})^{\mathbb{T}^{n}} \cong \Omega^{1}(U/\mathbb{T}^{n}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathfrak{L},$$

 \mathfrak{L} being the complexified Lie algebra of \mathbb{T}^n which is nothing but \mathbb{C}^n . As U/\mathbb{T}^n is the domain of a local coordinate chart, the module of one-forms is a free $C^{\infty}(U/\mathbb{T}^n)$ module, say $C^{\infty}(U/\mathbb{T}^n) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^k$, hence $\Omega^1(U)^{\mathbb{T}^n}$ is isomorphic with $C^{\infty}(U/\mathbb{T}^n) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{C}^{n+k}$, i.e. $\Omega^1(U/\mathbb{T}^n)$ is free. By covering M with finitely many such neighbourhoods, one proves that $\Omega^1(M)^{\mathbb{T}^n}$ is finitely generated projective over $C^{\infty}(M/\mathbb{T}^n)$.

We observe that $C_{\underline{0}}$ is a unital subalgebra of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{C}) = \mathcal{C}$ and $\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}$ is a $C_{\underline{0}}$ -submodule of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{F}) = \mathcal{F}$. So we can make use of the notation

$$u_{\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{F}}:\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}\otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}}\mathcal{C}\to\mathcal{F}$$

introduced in Subsection 2.4.2.

Lemma 3.3.10. If for each \underline{m} in \mathbb{Z}^n , we can find a_1, \ldots, a_k in $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}}$ and b_1, \ldots, b_k in $\mathcal{C}_{-\underline{m}}$ (k depends on \underline{m}) such that $\sum_i b_i a_i = 1$, then the map $u_{\mathcal{F}_0}^{\mathcal{F}}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. We need to prove that under the above assumption, the map $u_{\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{F}}$ has a right \mathcal{C} -linear inverse. However, since $u_{\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{F}}$ is right \mathcal{C} -linear to start with, it suffices to prove that $u_{\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{F}}$ defines an isomorphism of vector spaces. Hence, it is sufficient to prove that for all \underline{m} , the restriction $p_{\underline{m}}^{\mathcal{F}}$ of $u_{\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{F}}$ to $\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}}$ is a vector space isomorphism onto its image $\mathcal{F}_{\underline{m}}$.

To this end, consider the map

$$q_{\underline{m}}^{\mathcal{F}}: \mathcal{F}_{\underline{m}} \to \mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}} \text{ defined by } q_{\underline{m}}^{\mathcal{F}}(e) := \sum_{i} eb_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}} a_{i}.$$

Then $p_{\underline{m}}^{\mathcal{F}} \circ q_{\underline{m}}^{\mathcal{F}} = \mathrm{id}.$

On the other hand, as ab_i is in $C_{\underline{0}}$ if a is in $C_{\underline{m}}$, we have

$$q_{\underline{m}}^{\mathcal{F}} \circ p_{\underline{m}}^{\mathcal{F}}(e \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}} a) = \sum_{i} eab_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}} a_{i} = e \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}} \sum_{i} ab_{i}a_{i} = e \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}} a.$$

This finishes the proof of the lemma.

Now we shall identify $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}}$ with the bimodule of sections of a certain vector bundle over M/\mathbb{T}^n . **Lemma 3.3.11.** Let M be a smooth compact Riemannian manifold equipped with a smooth and free right action of a compact connected abelian Lie group K. Let $M \times_{\chi_{-\underline{m}}} \mathbb{C} \to M/K$ denote the associated vector bundle (of $M \to M/K$) corresponding to the character $\chi_{-\underline{m}}$.

Then the elements in $C_{\underline{m}} = \{f \in \mathcal{A} : f(x,t) = \chi_{\underline{m}}(t)f(x)\}$ is in one to one correspondence with the set of all smooth sections of the vector bundle $M \times_{\chi_{-\underline{m}}} \mathbb{C} \to M/K$.

Proof. The elements of the total space of the associated vector bundle $M \times_{\chi_{-\underline{m}}} \mathbb{C}$ are given by the equivalence class $[y, \lambda]$ of (y, λ) in $M \times \mathbb{C}$ such that $(y, \lambda) \sim (y.t, \chi_{-\underline{m}}(t^{-1})\lambda)$ for all $t \in K$. Now, for f in $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}}$, we can define a section of the above vector bundle s_f by

$$s_f([x]) = [x, f(x)],$$

where [x] denotes the class of the point x in M/K. We need to show that this is well defined. But for any t in K,

$$s_f([x.t]) = [x.t, f(x.t)] = [x.t, \chi_{\underline{m}}(t)f(x)] = [x.t, \chi_{-\underline{m}}(t^{-1})f(x)] = [x, f(x)].$$

This proves that s_f is well defined.

Conversely, given a section s of the above vector bundle we can define a function f_s on M by $f_s(x) = \lambda_x$ where $\lambda_x \in \mathbb{C}$ is such that $s([x]) = [x, \lambda_x]$. Clearly, λ_x is uniquely determined, because the K action is free. Moreover,

$$[x,\lambda_x] = s([x]) = s([x.t]) = [x.t,\lambda_{x.t}] = [x.t,\chi_{-\underline{m}}(t^{-1})\chi_{-\underline{m}}(t)\lambda_{x.t}] = [x,\chi_{-\underline{m}}(t)\lambda_{x.t}].$$

Therefore, $\lambda_x = \chi_{-\underline{m}}(t)\lambda_{x.t}$, i.e., $\lambda_{x.t} = \chi_{\underline{m}}(t)\lambda_x$.

Thus, f_s belongs to $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}}$.

Finally, it is easy to verify that the maps $f \mapsto s_f$ and $s \mapsto f_s$ are inverses of one another, completing the proof.

The following lemma is well-known. However, we give a proof for it since we could not find any appropriate references.

Lemma 3.3.12. For a complex smooth Hermitian vector bundle over a compact manifold M, there are finitely many smooth sections s_i 's such that $\sum_i \langle \langle s_i, s_i \rangle \rangle = 1$ where $\langle \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle \rangle$ denotes the $C^{\infty}(M)$ -valued inner product coming from the Hermitian structure.

Proof. Corresponding to a finite open cover $\{U_i, i = 1, ..., l\}$ choose finitely many smooth sections γ_i which are non zero on U_i . Then choosing a smooth partition of unity $\psi_i, i = 1, ..., l$,

we can construct $t_i = \psi_i \gamma_i$'s so that $t = \sum_i \langle \langle t_i, t_i \rangle \rangle$ is nowhere zero. The sections $s_i = \frac{t_i}{t^{\frac{1}{2}}}$ satisfy the conditions of the lemma.

This gives us the following:

Lemma 3.3.13. Suppose M is a compact Riemannian manifold equipped with a free and isometric action of \mathbb{T}^n . Then the map $u_{\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{F}$ is an isomorphism.

Moreover, the map $u_{\mathcal{E}_0}^{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A}_{\underline{m}} \to \mathcal{E}_{\underline{m}}$ is one-to-one.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we can assume M to be connected. In general, if M has k connected components M_1, M_2, \dots, M_k , the module \mathcal{F} decomposes as $\mathcal{F}_1 \oplus \dots \mathcal{F}_k$, where \mathcal{F}_i is the linear span of spectral subspaces of $\Omega^1(M_i)$, and it is suffices to prove that for all i, $u_{\mathcal{F}_0}^{\mathcal{F}}$ is an isomorphism from $(\mathcal{F}_i)_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{(\mathcal{C}_i)_0} \mathcal{C}_i$ onto \mathcal{F}_i .

Since the action of \mathbb{T}^n on M is free, $M \to M/\mathbb{T}^n$ is a principal \mathbb{T}^n -bundle. Consider the associated vector bundle $M \times_{\chi_{-\underline{m}}} \mathbb{C} \to M/K$ as in Lemma 3.3.11. Then Lemma 3.3.12 gives us finitely many smooth sections $\{s_i\}_i$ of this vector bundle such that $\sum_i \langle \langle s_i, s_i \rangle \rangle = 1$. From Lemma 3.3.11, for each i, we have an element f_{s_i} (belonging to $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}}$) corresponding to the section s_i .

The relation $\sum \langle \langle s_i, s_i \rangle \rangle = 1$ implies that

$$\sum_{i} \overline{f_{s_i}} f_{s_i} = 1.$$

Since f_{s_i} belongs to $C_{\underline{m}}$, the function $\overline{f_{s_i}}$ belongs to $C_{-\underline{m}}$. Thus, we can apply Lemma 3.3.10 to deduce the first assertion of the theorem.

Now we prove the second assertion. The fact that $u_{\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{F}$ is an isomorphism implies that for all \underline{m} , the restriction

$$u_{\mathcal{F}_0}^{\mathcal{F}}:\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}\otimes_{\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}}}\mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}}\to\mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}}$$

is a one-to-one map. Since $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} = \mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\underline{m}} = \mathcal{C}_{\underline{m}}$, this means that $u_{\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A}_{\underline{m}} \to \mathcal{E}_{\underline{m}}$ is a one-to-one map.

Next we prove that with the hypothesis of Lemma 3.3.13, the map $u_{\mathcal{E}_0}^{\mathcal{E}}$ is also an isomorphism.

Lemma 3.3.14. The map $u_{\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{E}}: \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. Let us start by proving that the map is one-to-one. Let $e'_i \in \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}$ and $f_i \in \mathcal{A}$ be elements such that

$$u_{\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{E}}(\sum_{i}e_{i}^{\prime}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}}f_{i})=0, ext{ i.e, } \sum_{i}e_{i}^{\prime}f_{i}=0.$$

Then each spectral projection $\mathcal{P}_{\underline{m}}(\sum_{i} e'_{i}f_{i}) = 0$ i.e., $\sum_{i} e'_{i}\mathcal{P}_{\underline{m}}(f_{i}) = 0$. So for all \underline{m} , we obtain

$$u_{\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{E}}(\sum_{i} e_{i}^{\prime} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{P}_{\underline{m}}(f_{i})) = 0.$$

But from Lemma 3.3.13, we know that the map $u_{\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A}_{\underline{m}} \to \mathcal{E}_{\underline{m}}$ is one-to-one. Hence, for all \underline{m} ,

$$\sum_{i} e_i' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{P}_{\underline{m}}(f_i) = 0$$

which implies that

$$\sum_{i} e'_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} f_{i} = \lim_{N} (\sum_{i,|m| \leq N} e'_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{P}_{\underline{m}}(f_{i})) = 0,$$

where lim denotes the limit in the Frechet topology. Therefore, the map is one-to-one.

Now we show that the map is onto. Since the map $u_{\mathcal{E}_0}^{\mathcal{E}}$ is right \mathcal{A} -linear, it suffices to check that for all f in \mathcal{A} , df has a pre-image in $\mathcal{E}_0 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_0} \mathcal{A}$. Consider the principal $T = \mathbb{T}^n$ bundle $\pi : M \to M/T$. Since M/T is compact, we can take a finite atlas (U_i, ϕ_i) on it such that the bundle $\pi^{-1}(U_i) \to U_i$ is T-equivariantly diffeomorphic with the canonical bundle $U_i \times T \to U_i$. Let $\{\psi_i\}_i$ be a partition of unity on M subordinate to (U_i, ϕ_i) . Then $f = \sum_i f \psi_i$ and df = $\sum_i d(f\psi_i)$. Thus in particular we can assume that f is supported in $\pi^{-1}(U_i)$ or equivalently in $U \times T$.

Let $\{dx_i\}$ be a basis for differential forms along the direction of U i.e. the horizontal direction of the bundle $U \times T \to U$ and $\{\omega_j\}$ be a basis of right invariant 1-forms in the vertical direction corresponding to the basis $\{\chi_j\}$ of right invariant vector fields along the direction of T. Then

$$df = \sum_{i} dx_{i} \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{i}}(f) + \sum_{j} \omega_{j} \cdot \chi_{j}(f).$$

The right action of T on $U \times T$ acts trivially in the direction of U, hence dx_i is in $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}$. Since ω_j is invariant under the action induced by the right action of T on $U \times T$, so ω_j is in $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}$. Hence

3.3.2 Some generalities on Rieffel-deformation

 $u_{\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{E}}$ is an onto map. This completes the proof.

Our main reference for Rieffel deformation of a C^* -algebra endowed with a strongly continuous action by \mathbb{T}^n is [82]. However, we will also need to use equivalent descriptions of this deformation given in [26], [27], [66] and [67].

We begin with the definitions of \mathbb{T}^n smooth modules and \mathbb{T}^n smooth algebras from [67] for which we recall that the action α of a locally compact group G on a Fréchet space V is said to be strongly continuous if the map

$$G \to V, g \mapsto \alpha_q(v)$$

is continuous for all v in V.

Definition 3.3.15. A Fréchet space V, whose topology is defined by a family of semi-norms is said to be a \mathbb{T}^n smooth module if V admits a strongly continuous \mathbb{T}^n action $\alpha_t : V \to V$ such that the function $t \mapsto \alpha_t(v)$ belongs to $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^n, V)$ for all v in V.

An algebra \mathcal{D} is said to be a \mathbb{T}^n smooth algebra if it is a \mathbb{T}^n smooth module and the multiplication map $m: \mathcal{D} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{D}$ is \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant and jointly continuous.

A \mathcal{D} -bimodule \mathcal{G} is said to be a \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{D} -bimodule if it is a \mathbb{T}^n smooth module such that the left and right \mathcal{D} -module structures are \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant and are jointly continuous.

The following is our motivating example of \mathbb{T}^n smooth modules and algebras for this section.

Example 3.3.16. Let M be a Riemannian manifold equipped with a smooth action of \mathbb{T}^n . Then the natural action of \mathbb{T}^n on $C^{\infty}(M)$ makes the latter a \mathbb{T}^n smooth algebra. Moreover, the space of one-forms $\Omega^1(M)$ which is a $C^{\infty}(M)$ -bimodule admits an induced smooth action of \mathbb{T}^n and forms a \mathbb{T}^n smooth $C^{\infty}(M)$ -bimodule.

We next define the deformation of a \mathbb{T}^n smooth algebra \mathcal{D} . We refer to [67] for details.

Definition 3.3.17 (Definition 2.4 of [67]). Let \mathcal{D} be a \mathbb{T}^n smooth algebra as in Definition 3.3.15. For a skew symmetric $n \times n$ matrix θ , consider the bicharacter χ_{θ} defined by

$$\chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l}) = e^{\pi i \langle \underline{k},\theta \underline{l} \rangle}, \ \underline{k},\underline{l} \in \mathbb{Z}^n,$$

where the pairing $\langle ., . \rangle$ is the usual inner product in \mathbb{R}^n . The deformation of \mathcal{D} is the algebra \mathcal{D}_{θ} whose underlying vector space is equal to \mathcal{D} while the multiplication \times_{θ} is deformed as follows:

$$a \times_{\theta} b = \sum_{\underline{k}, \underline{l} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k}, \underline{l}) a_{\underline{k}} b_{\underline{l}}, \ \forall \ a, b \in \mathcal{D},$$
(3.3.2)

where $a = \sum_{\underline{k}} a_{\underline{k}}, \ b = \sum_{\underline{l}} b_{\underline{k}}$ are the isotypical decompositions.

The bicharacter χ_{θ} satisfies the following cocycle identity:

$$\chi_{\theta}(\underline{m},\underline{k})\chi_{\theta}(\underline{m}+\underline{k},\underline{l}) = \chi_{\theta}(\underline{m},\underline{k}+\underline{l})\chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l}).$$
(3.3.3)

Remark 3.3.18. By Proposition 2.2 of [67], the isotypical decompositions converge absolutely to the element.

 \mathcal{D}_{θ} turns out to be a \mathbb{T}^n smooth algebra and the deformed product is associative.

One can similarly deform \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{D} -bimodules (see Definition 3.3.15) as follows:

Definition 3.3.19. Let \mathcal{G} be a \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{D} -bimodule. Then the deformed bimodule \mathcal{G}_{θ} is a \mathcal{D}_{θ} -bimodule whose underlying vector space is equal to \mathcal{G} while the deformed left and right module actions are as follows:

$$e \times_{\theta} a = \sum_{\underline{k}, \underline{l} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k}, \underline{l}) e_{\underline{k}} a_{\underline{l}}, \ a \times_{\theta} e = \sum_{\underline{k}, \underline{l} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k}, \underline{l}) a_{\underline{k}} e_{\underline{l}} \ \forall \ e \in \mathcal{G}, \ \forall \ a \in \mathcal{D},$$
(3.3.4)

where $e = \sum_{\underline{k}} e_{\underline{k}}$ and $a = \sum_{\underline{l}} a_{\underline{l}}$ are the isotypical decompositions.

If \mathcal{G} is a \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{D} -bimodule, the equations (3.3.2) and (3.3.4) imply that

$$a \times_{\theta} b = ab, \ a \times_{\theta} e \times_{\theta} b = aeb \text{ for all } e \in \mathcal{G}_0 \text{ and } a, b \in \mathcal{D}_0.$$
 (3.3.5)

Remark 3.3.20. Using the fact that \mathcal{G}_{θ} is isomorphic as a vector space to \mathcal{G} , for e in \mathcal{G} , we will denote its image under this isomorphism in \mathcal{G}_{θ} by e_{θ} from now on.

As in the case of deformed algebras, \mathcal{G}_{θ} turns out to be a \mathbb{T}^n smooth bimodule. In fact, if β is the \mathbb{T}^n -action on the \mathbb{T}^n -smooth bimodule \mathcal{G} , then we have a deformed \mathbb{T}^n -action β^{θ} on \mathcal{G}_{θ} defined by the following formula:

$$\beta_t^{\theta}(e_{\theta}) = \sum_{\underline{k}} \chi_{\underline{k}}(t) e_{\underline{k}} \ \forall \ t \in \mathbb{T}^n.$$
(3.3.6)

Thus, if \mathcal{D} and \mathcal{G} are as above, the spectral subspaces $\mathcal{D}_{\underline{k}}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{\underline{k}}$ make sense. In fact, by virtue of (3.3.5), we have the following remark:

Remark 3.3.21. $(\mathcal{D}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}}$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{D}_{\underline{0}}$ as algebras. Moreover, $(\mathcal{G}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}} \cong \mathcal{G}_{\underline{0}}$ as $\mathcal{D}_{\underline{0}}$ -bimodules. We also note that by (3.3.4), when the right and left \mathcal{D} -module actions of \mathcal{G} are symmetric, $(\mathcal{G}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}} \subseteq \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{G}_{\theta})$ and in particular $(\mathcal{D}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}} \subseteq \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{D}_{\theta})$.

We have the following easy consequence of the definitions above:

Lemma 3.3.22. Let \mathcal{D} be a \mathbb{T}^n smooth algebra and $\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2$ be \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{D} -bimodules, in the sense discussed above. Let $L : \mathcal{G}_1 \to \mathcal{G}_2$ be a \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant continuous \mathcal{D} -bimodule map. Then the underlying vector space map L from \mathcal{G}_1 to \mathcal{G}_2 becomes a \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant continuous \mathcal{D}_{θ} -bimodule map, denoted by

$$L_{\theta}: (\mathcal{G}_1)_{\theta} \to (\mathcal{G}_2)_{\theta}$$

defined by the equation

$$L_{\theta}(e_{\theta}) = (L(e))_{\theta} \ \forall \ e \in \mathcal{G}_1$$
(3.3.7)

If L is a \mathcal{D} -bimodule isomorphism, then L_{θ} will be a \mathcal{D}_{θ} -bimodule isomorphism. If \mathcal{G}_1 and \mathcal{G}_2 are algebras in particular, then L_{θ} is an algebra homomorphism.

Now suppose that $\operatorname{Ker}(L)$ is complemented as a \mathcal{D} -bimodule in \mathcal{G}_1 , i.e, there exists a \mathcal{D} -bimodule $\mathcal{M} \subseteq \mathcal{G}_1$ such that $\mathcal{G}_1 \cong \operatorname{Ker}(L) \oplus \mathcal{M}$. Then

- (i) $\operatorname{Ker}(L)$ is invariant under the action of \mathbb{T}^n .
- (ii) $\mathcal{M} \cong \operatorname{Ran}(L)$.
- (iii) If \mathcal{M} is \mathbb{T}^n -invariant, then $(\mathcal{G}_1)_{\theta} \cong \operatorname{Ker}(L_{\theta}) \oplus \mathcal{M}_{\theta}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{\theta} \cong \operatorname{Ran}(L_{\theta})$.
- (iv) If $\mathcal{G}_2 = \mathcal{G}_1$ and L is an idempotent, then L_{θ} is also idempotent.

Proof. By 3.3.7, L_{θ} is equal to L as a vector space map, hence the \mathbb{T}^n -equivariance of L implies the IT^n -equivariance of L_{θ} . To check that L_{θ} is a \mathcal{D}_{θ} -bimodule map, we first note that since \mathcal{L}_{θ} is \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant, for all e_{θ} in $((\mathcal{G}_1)_{\theta})_{\underline{k}}$, $L_{\theta}(e_{\theta})$ is in $((\mathcal{G}_2)_{\theta})_{\underline{k}}$. Then, for e_{θ} in $(\mathcal{G}_1)_{\theta}$ and a_{θ} in \mathcal{D}_{θ} , we compute the following:

$$\begin{split} L_{\theta}(e_{\theta} \times_{\theta} a_{\theta}) &= L_{\theta}((\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi(\underline{k},\underline{l})e_{\underline{k}}a_{\underline{l}})_{\theta}) = (L(\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi(\underline{k},\underline{l})e_{\underline{k}}a_{\underline{l}}))_{\theta} \\ &= (\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi(\underline{k},\underline{l})L(e_{\underline{k}})a_{\underline{l}})_{\theta} = (L(e))_{\theta} \times_{\theta} a_{\theta} = L_{\theta}(e_{\theta}) \times_{\theta} a_{\theta}. \end{split}$$

This proves that L_{θ} is a right \mathcal{D}_{θ} -module map. That L_{θ} is a left \mathcal{D}_{θ} -module map can be proved similarly. Since L and L_{θ} are equal as vector space maps, if L is an isomorphism, then L_{θ} is also a \mathcal{D}_{θ} -bimodule isomorphism. Similarly, if L happens to be an algebra homomorphism, then L_{θ} is also an algebra homomorphism.

Suppose e is an elements in Ker(L). Since L is \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant, $L(e) = \sum_{\underline{k}} L(e_{\underline{k}}) = 0$. Projecting onto $(\mathcal{G}_2)_{\underline{l}}$, we see that $L(e_{\underline{l}}) = 0$ for all \underline{l} . Suppose β is the \mathbb{T}^n action on G_1 . Then, $L(\beta_t(e)) = \sum_{\underline{k}} \chi_{\underline{k}}(t) L(e_{\underline{k}}) = 0$. Hence, $\beta_t(e)$ is also in Ker(L) and Ker(L) is invariant under the action of \mathbb{T}^n . This proves assertion (i). Since $\mathcal{G}_1 \cong \text{Ker}(L) \oplus \mathcal{M}$, $\text{Ran}(L) \cong (\text{Ker}(L) \oplus \mathcal{M})/\text{Ker}(L) \cong \mathcal{M}$ which gives us assertion (ii).

Since L and L_{θ} are equal as vector space maps and $\operatorname{Ker}(L)$ is \mathbb{T}^{n} -equivariant, $\operatorname{Ker}(L)$ can be deformed and $\operatorname{Ker}(L) = (\operatorname{Ker}(L))_{\theta} = \operatorname{Ker}(L_{\theta})$. By assertion (ii), \mathcal{M} is a \mathbb{T}^{n} -invariant \mathcal{D} bimodule, hence \mathcal{M} can also be deformed. Therefore, $(\mathcal{G}_{1})_{\theta} \cong (\operatorname{Ker}(L) \oplus \mathcal{M})_{\theta} \cong (\operatorname{Ker}(L))_{\theta} \oplus \mathcal{M}_{\theta} \cong \operatorname{Ker}(L_{\theta}) \oplus \mathcal{M}_{\theta}$. The proof of the fact that $\mathcal{M}_{\theta} \cong \operatorname{Ran}(L_{\theta})$ follows along the lines of the proof of assertion (ii). Hence, assertion (iii) is proved.

Assertion (iv) again follows from the fact that L and L_{θ} are equal as vector space maps. \Box

The following lemma will also be of use to us.

Lemma 3.3.23. Let \mathcal{D} be an algebra equipped with \mathbb{T}^n -action and $\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2$ be equivariant \mathcal{D} bimodules. Then $(\mathcal{G}_1)_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\theta}} (\mathcal{G}_2)_{\theta} \cong (\mathcal{G}_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{G}_2)_{\theta}$ as \mathcal{D}_{θ} -bimodules, with the canonical isomorphism given by

$$e_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\theta}} f_{\theta} \mapsto \left(\sum_{\underline{k}, \underline{l} \in \mathbb{Z}^n} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k}, \underline{l}) e_{\underline{k}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} f_{\underline{l}}\right)_{\theta}, \tag{3.3.8}$$

where $e = \sum_{\underline{k}} e_{\underline{k}}$ and $f = \sum_{\underline{l}} f_{\underline{l}}$ are isospectral deformations of elements in \mathcal{G}_1 and \mathcal{G}_2 respectively.

Proof. Using the notation adopted in Remark 3.3.20, define a map from $(\mathcal{G}_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} \mathcal{G}_2)_{\theta}$ to $(\mathcal{G}_1)_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\theta}}$ $(\mathcal{G}_2)_{\theta}$ given by

$$(e \otimes_{\mathcal{D}} f)_{\theta} \mapsto \sum_{\underline{k}, \underline{l}} \chi_{-\theta}(\underline{k}, \underline{l})(e_{\theta})_{\underline{k}} \otimes_{\mathcal{D}_{\theta}} (f_{\theta})_{\underline{l}}.$$

It can be easily checked that this map is an inverse of the map defined in (3.3.8) and that the map defined in (3.3.8) is a \mathcal{D}_{θ} -bimodule map.

Now we recall the Connes-Landi deformation ([27]) of a spectral triple and its associated space of forms. We will work in the set-up of Proposition 3.3.3. In particular, $\mathcal{A} = C^{\infty}(M)$ and $\mathcal{E} = \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ where $D = d + d^*$. As we recalled in Example 3.3.16, \mathcal{A} is a \mathbb{T}^n smooth algebra and \mathcal{E} is a \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{A} -bimodule. Hence by Definition 3.3.17 and Definition 3.3.19, \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{E} can be deformed to the algebra \mathcal{A}_{θ} and the \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodule \mathcal{E}_{θ} respectively. In fact, the following lemma shows that the space of two-forms $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ can also be deformed.

Lemma 3.3.24. In the set-up of Proposition 3.3.3 and with $\mathcal{A} = C^{\infty}(M)$ and $D = d + d^*$, the bimodules of one-form $\mathcal{E} := \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ and two-forms $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ can be deformed into \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodules \mathcal{E}_{θ} and $(\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$ respectively.

Proof. The lemma easily follows by verifying that $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ and $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ are \mathbb{T}^n -smooth bimodules. The case of $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ follows from Example 3.3.16.

Now we come to the case of $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$. By Lemma 3.3.4, the quotient map $\wedge : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ is a \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map, and the \mathbb{T}^n action on $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ descends from the diagonal \mathbb{T}^n action $\beta \times \beta$ on $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Moreover, the \mathcal{A} -bimodule structure of $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ also descends from that of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Hence, $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ is a \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{A} -bimodule. Then by Definition 3.3.19, $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A})$ deforms to a \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodule $(\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$.

Moreover, we have the following:

Theorem 3.3.25. With the algebra structure of \mathcal{A}_{θ} as in (3.3.2), $(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, d + d^*)$ defines a spectral triple.

If $\delta : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$ denotes the map which sends a to $[d + d^*, a]$, then we have a deformed map δ_{θ} from \mathcal{A}_{θ} to \mathcal{E}_{θ} . Moreover, $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ and $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ are canonically isomorphic as \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodules with \mathcal{E}_{θ} and $(\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$ respectively.

Proof. For the proof that $(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, d + d^*)$ is a spectral triple, we refer to [26].

Since the map $\delta : \mathcal{A} \to \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A})$ given by $a \mapsto [d + d^*, a]$ is a \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant map, it can be deformed to the map δ_{θ} , which gives us the second assertion.

The isomorphism of $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ and $(\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$ is an easy consequence of Proposition 2.12 of [67]. Indeed, this result implies that the map $\pi_{\theta} : \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}) \to (\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$ defined by

$$\pi_{\theta}(\omega_{\theta})(f) = \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})(\omega_{\theta})_{\underline{k}}(f_{\underline{l}})$$

defines an isomorphism from $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_\theta)$ to $(\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}))_\theta$. Here, we have viewed ω_θ in $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_\theta)$ as an operator acting on \mathcal{H} . Then it can be easily checked that

$$\pi_{\theta}(a_{\theta} \times_{\theta} \delta_{\theta}(b_{\theta})) = \sum_{\underline{k}, \underline{l}} (\chi_{\theta}(\underline{k}, \underline{l}) a_{\underline{k}} \delta(b_{\underline{l}}))_{\theta},$$

for all a, b in \mathcal{A} . To prove the isomorphism of $\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}_\theta)$ and $(\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}))_\theta$ requires some work. We start by adopting some notations.

The maps $(m_0)_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)} : \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ and $(m_0)_{(\mathcal{A}_\theta,\mathcal{H},D)} : \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}_\theta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_\theta} \Omega^1_D(\mathcal{A}_\theta) \to (\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}))_{\theta}$ will denote the appropriate multiplication maps.

The spaces $\mathcal{J}_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)}$ and $\mathcal{J}_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}$ will denote the junk-forms associated to the respective spectral triples.

The maps $q_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)}$: Ran $((m_0)_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)}) \to \text{Ran}((m_0)_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)})/\mathcal{J}_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)}$ and $q_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}$: Ran $((m_0)_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}) \to \text{Ran}((m_0)_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)})/\mathcal{J}_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}$ will denote the respective quotient maps.

Finally, $\wedge_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)} = q_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)} \circ (m_0)_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)}$ and $\wedge_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)} = q_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)} \circ (m_0)_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}$ denotes the wedge maps associated to each spectral triple. By abuse of notation we will often use \wedge in both cases, when the context is unambiguous. Then we look at the composition of maps

$$\Omega_{D}^{1}(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \Omega_{D}^{1}(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}) \xrightarrow{\pi_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \pi_{\theta}} (\Omega_{D}^{1}(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} (\Omega_{D}^{1}(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$$

$$\downarrow^{T} \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\cong}$$

$$(\Omega_{D}^{2}(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta} \xleftarrow{(\wedge_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)})_{\theta}} (\Omega_{D}^{1}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \Omega_{D}^{1}(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$$

where the second map is the isomorphism as in Lemma 3.3.23. We denote this composition of maps by T. Explicitly, for ω_{θ} and η_{θ} in $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$, we have that

$$T(\omega_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta_{\theta}) = (\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})(\omega)_{\underline{k}} \wedge (\eta)_{\underline{l}})_{\theta}.$$

We claim that $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}) \subseteq \operatorname{Ker}(T)$. If our claim is true, then we have a map $\widetilde{T} : \Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}) \to (\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$. So, suppose that there exist $(\omega_i)_{\theta}, (\eta_i)_{\theta}$ in $\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ such that $\sum_i (\omega_i)_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} (\eta_i)_{\theta}$ is in $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)})$. Hence, $(m_0)_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}(\sum_i (\omega_i)_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} (\eta_i)_{\theta})$ is in $\operatorname{Ker}(q_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}) = \mathcal{J}_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}$. Since $(m_0)_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}(\sum_i (\omega_i)_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} (\eta_i)_{\theta})$ is in $\mathcal{J}_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}$, there exist elements a_j, b_j in \mathcal{A} such that

$$\sum_{j} (a_j)_{\theta} \times_{\theta} \delta_{\theta}((b_j)_{\theta}) = 0.$$
(3.3.9)

and

$$\sum_{j} (m_0)_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, D)} (\delta_{\theta}((a_j)_{\theta}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \delta_{\theta}((b_j)_{\theta})) = (m_0)_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, D)} (\sum_{i} (\omega_i)_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} (\eta_i)_{\theta})$$
(3.3.10)

Applying the isomorphism $\pi_{\theta} : \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}) \to (\Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$ on (3.3.9), we get

$$\sum_{j} \sum_{\underline{m},\underline{n}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{m},\underline{n})(a_{j})_{\underline{m}} \delta((b_{j})_{\underline{n}}) = 0.$$
(3.3.11)

This implies that

$$(m_0)_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)}(\sum_j \sum_{\underline{m},\underline{n}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{m},\underline{n}) \delta((a_j)_{\underline{m}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \delta((b_j)_{\underline{n}})) \in \mathcal{J}_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)} = \operatorname{Ker}(q_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)}).$$
(3.3.12)

The multiplication $(m_0)_{(\mathcal{A}_{\theta},\mathcal{H},D)}$ is the deformed multiplication \times_{θ} as given in (3.3.2). Hence (3.3.10) implies that

$$(m_0)_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)}(\sum_j \sum_{\underline{m},\underline{n}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{m},\underline{n}) \delta((a_j)_{\underline{m}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \delta((b_j)_{\underline{n}})) = (m_0)_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)}(\sum_i \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})(\omega_i)_{\underline{k}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\eta_i)_{\underline{l}})$$

$$(3.3.13)$$

Using all of the above, we compute

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i} \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})(\omega_{i})_{\underline{k}}) \wedge ((\eta_{i})_{\underline{l}} \\ &= \wedge_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)} \left(\sum_{i} \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})(\omega_{i})_{\underline{k}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\eta_{i})_{\underline{l}} \right) \\ &= q_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)} \circ (m_{0})_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)} \left(\sum_{i} \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})(\omega_{i})_{\underline{k}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\eta_{i})_{\underline{l}} \right) \\ &= q_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)} \circ (m_{0})_{(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{H},D)} \left(\sum_{j} \sum_{\underline{m},\underline{n}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{m},\underline{n}) \delta((a_{j})_{\underline{m}}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \delta((b_{j})_{\underline{n}}) \right) \text{ (applying (3.3.13))} \\ &= 0 \text{ (using (3.3.12)).} \end{split}$$

This proves that the map $\widetilde{T}: \Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}_\theta) \to (\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}))_\theta$ given by

$$\widetilde{T}(\omega_{\theta} \wedge \eta_{\theta}) = \left(\sum_{\underline{k}, \underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k}, \underline{l})(\omega)_{\underline{k}} \wedge (\eta)_{\underline{l}}\right)_{\theta}$$

is well defined. The inverse of \widetilde{T} is given by the map

$$(\omega \wedge \eta)_{\theta} \mapsto \sum_{\underline{k}, \underline{l}} \chi_{-\theta}(\underline{k}, \underline{l})(\omega_{\theta})_{\underline{k}} \wedge (\eta_{\theta})_{\underline{l}}.$$

The proof of the fact that this map is well defined is the same as before. It is easy to check that \widetilde{T} and this map are inverses of each other and that \widetilde{T} is an \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodule map.

Henceforth we will make the identifications $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \cong \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}), \ \Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}) \cong (\Omega_D^2(\mathcal{A}))_{\theta}$ without explicitly mentioning.

3.3.3 The canonical Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E}_{θ}

In this subsection, we prove that the prescription of Subsection 2.3.1 is indeed a Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E}_{θ} . We prove this in two steps. In the first step, we deform a Riemannian \mathcal{A} -bilinear metric g to an \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bilinear map g_{θ} and show that g_{θ} is a pseudo-Riemannian bilinear metric. In the second step, we show that the \mathcal{A} -bilinear map obtained from Lemma 2.3.6 (for the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, D)$) coincides with the deformation g_{θ} of g.

Let us recall the following definition:

Definition 3.3.26. Let \mathcal{G}_1 and \mathcal{G}_2 be two \mathcal{D} -bimodules admitting actions by \mathbb{T}^n and denoted by β_1 and β_2 respectively. Then $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$ admits a natural \mathbb{T}^n action γ defined by

$$(\gamma_t.T)(e) = (\beta_2)_t.(T((\beta_1)_t^{-1}(e))).$$

Here, t, T and e belong to \mathbb{T}^n , $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$ and \mathcal{G} respectively.

Lemma 3.3.27. In the set-up of Definition 3.3.26, assume furthermore that \mathcal{D} admits an action α of \mathbb{T}^n and β_1, β_2 are both α -equivariant. Then $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$ is an \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{D} -bimodule, i.e., for a in \mathcal{D} , ω in \mathcal{G}_1 and T in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$, we have

$$\gamma_t(Ta)(\omega) = (\gamma_t(T)\alpha_t(a))(\omega)$$
 and $\gamma_t(aT)(\omega) = \alpha_t(a)(\gamma_t(T)(\omega)).$

Proof. By using the right \mathcal{D} -module structure on $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$ from Definition 1.1.4, we compute

$$\gamma_t(Ta)(\omega) = (\beta_2)_t((Ta)((\beta_1)_t^{-1}(\omega))) = (\beta_2)_t T(a(\beta_1)_t^{-1}(\omega))$$
$$= (\beta_2)_t T((\beta_1)_{t^{-1}}(\alpha_t(a)\omega)) = \gamma_t(T)(\alpha_t(a)\omega)$$
$$= (\gamma_t(T)\alpha_t(a))(\omega).$$

The other equality follows similarly.

As a consequence of the fact that $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2)$ is an \mathbb{T}^n smooth \mathcal{D} -bimodule, we have the following remark.

Remark 3.3.28. If \mathcal{D} , \mathcal{G}_1 , \mathcal{G}_2 are as in Lemma 3.3.27, T an element in the <u>k</u>-th spectral subspace of Hom_{\mathcal{D}}($\mathcal{G}_1, \mathcal{G}_2$) and e belongs to $(\mathcal{G}_1)_l$, then T(e) belongs to $(\mathcal{G}_2)_{k+l}$.

Now we are in a position to prove the following proposition:

Proposition 3.3.29. Suppose M is a compact Riemannian manifold as in Proposition 3.3.3. If $\mathcal{A} = C^{\infty}(M)$ and \mathcal{E} is the bimodule of one-forms as before, then the \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E}^* admits a deformation $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta}$.

Moreover, there exists a \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodule isomorphism from $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta}$ to $(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^*$.

Proof. The bimodule \mathcal{E}^* is isomorphic to the cotangent bundle of M and hence the left and right \mathcal{A} -module structures are jointly continuous. Moreover, by Lemma 3.3.27, \mathcal{E}^* is a \mathbb{T}^n smooth module. Thus, the bimodule \mathcal{E}^* can be deformed.

Next, in order to prove the isomorphism, we define a map $T^{\mathcal{E}}_{\theta} : (\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta} \to (\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^*$ by

$$(T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\phi_{\theta}))(e_{\theta}) = \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})\phi_{\underline{k}}(e_{\underline{l}}),$$

where $\phi = \sum_{\underline{k}} \phi_{\underline{k}}$ and $e = \sum_{\underline{l}} e_{\underline{l}}$ are the isospectral decompositions in \mathcal{E}^* and \mathcal{E} respectively. In particular, if e belongs to $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{l}}$, then

$$(T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\phi_{\theta}))(e_{\theta}) = \sum_{\underline{k}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k}, \underline{l})\phi_{\underline{k}}(e).$$
(3.3.14)

Let $a = \sum_{\underline{l}} a_{\underline{l}}$ be the isospectral decomposition in \mathcal{A} . Then we have that

$$(T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\phi_{\theta}))(e_{\theta} \times_{\theta} a_{\theta}) = (T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\phi_{\theta}))((\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})e_{\underline{k}}a_{\underline{l}})_{\theta})$$

$$= \left(\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l},\underline{m}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{m},\underline{k}+\underline{l})\chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})\phi_{\underline{m}}(e_{\underline{k}}a_{\underline{l}})\right)_{\theta}$$
(since $e_{\underline{k}}a_{\underline{l}} \in \mathcal{E}_{\underline{k}+\underline{l}}$ by (3.3.1) and applying (3.3.14))
$$= \left(\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l},\underline{m}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{m},\underline{k})\chi_{\theta}(\underline{m}+\underline{k},\underline{l})\phi_{\underline{m}}(e_{\underline{k}}a_{\underline{l}})\right)_{\theta}$$
 (by virtue of (3.3.3))
$$= \left(\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{m}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{m},\underline{k})\phi_{\underline{m}}(e_{\underline{k}})\right)_{\theta} \times_{\theta} a_{\theta}$$
(since by Remark 3.3.28, $\phi_{\underline{m}}(e_{\underline{k}}) \in \mathcal{A}_{\underline{k}+\underline{l}}$)
$$= (T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\phi_{\theta}))(e_{\theta}) \times_{\theta} a_{\theta}.$$

Hence, $(T^{\mathcal{E}}_{\theta}(\phi_{\theta}))$ is in $(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^*$. That $T^{\mathcal{E}}_{\theta}$ is right \mathcal{A}_{θ} -linear can be seen from the following.

$$(T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\phi_{\theta} \times_{\theta} a_{\theta}))(e_{\theta}) = (T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})\phi_{\underline{k}}a_{\underline{l}})_{\theta})(e_{\theta})$$

$$= \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l},\underline{m}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})\chi_{\theta}(\underline{k}+\underline{l},\underline{m})\phi_{\underline{k}}a_{\underline{l}}(e_{\underline{m}}) \text{ (since by (3.3.1), } \phi_{\underline{k}}a_{\underline{l}} \in \mathcal{E}_{\underline{k}+\underline{l}}^{*})$$

$$= \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l},\underline{m}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l}+\underline{m})\chi_{\theta}(\underline{l},\underline{m})\phi_{\underline{k}}(a_{\underline{l}}e_{\underline{m}}) \text{ (by (3.3.3))}$$

$$= (T^{\mathcal{E}}(\phi_{\theta}))(a_{\theta} \times_{\theta} e_{\theta}) \text{ (since by (3.3.1), } a_{\theta} \times_{\theta} e_{\theta} \text{ is in } (\mathcal{E}_{\theta})_{\underline{l}+\underline{m}}).$$

Let γ denote the action of \mathbb{T}^n on $\mathcal{E}^* := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$ defined by Definition 3.3.26. The \mathbb{T}^n actions on \mathcal{E}_{θ} and $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta}$ will be denoted by β^{θ} and γ^{θ} respectively as in (3.3.6). Moreover, the \mathbb{T}^n action on $(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^* := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}, \mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ as obtained from Definition 3.3.26 will be denoted by γ' . We claim that the map $T^{\mathcal{E}}_{\theta}$ is equivariant w.r.t the \mathbb{T}^n actions on $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta}$ and $(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^*$, i.e,

$$T^{\mathcal{E}}_{\theta}(\gamma^{\theta}_t(\phi_{\theta})) = \gamma'_t(T^{\mathcal{E}}_{\theta}(\phi_{\theta})).$$
(3.3.15)

Indeed, using the fact that \mathbb{T}^n actions preserves spectral subspaces, we have:

$$T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\gamma_{t}^{\theta}(\phi_{\theta}))(e_{\theta}) = T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\sum_{\underline{k}}(\gamma_{t}(\phi_{\underline{k}}))_{\theta})(e_{\theta})$$
$$= (\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}}\chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})(\gamma_{t}(\phi_{\underline{k}}))(e_{\underline{l}}))_{\theta} = (\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}}\chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})\alpha_{t}(\phi_{\underline{k}}(\beta_{t^{-1}}(e_{\underline{l}}))))_{\theta}$$
$$= \alpha_{t}^{\theta}(\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}}\chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})\phi_{\underline{k}}(\beta_{t^{-1}}(e_{\underline{l}})))_{\theta} = \alpha_{t}^{\theta}(T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\phi_{\theta})(\beta_{t^{-1}}^{\theta}(e_{\theta})))$$
$$= (\gamma_{t}'(T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}(\phi_{\theta})))(e_{\theta}).$$

This proves (3.3.15).

Thus, we have a well defined equivariant morphism

$$T_{-\theta}^{\mathcal{E}_{\theta}}: ((\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^*)_{-\theta} \to ((\mathcal{E}_{\theta})_{-\theta})^* \cong \mathcal{E}^*,$$

and subsequently, a morphism

$$(T_{-\theta}^{\mathcal{E}_{\theta}})_{\theta} : (\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^* \cong (((\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta})_{-\theta})_{\theta} \to (\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta}.$$

Finally, it is easy to check that the maps $T^{\mathcal{E}}_{\theta}$ and $(T^{\mathcal{E}}_{-\theta})_{\theta}$ are inverses of one another. This finishes the proof.

Recall that the action of \mathbb{T}^n on $C^{\infty}(M)$ and $\Omega^1(M) \cong \mathcal{E}$ are given by α and β respectively. Since \mathbb{T}^n acts on M by isometries, the Riemannian metric g is equivariant under the \mathbb{T}^n action i.e, for all ω, η in \mathcal{E} , we have

$$g(\beta_t(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \beta_t(\eta)) = \alpha_t(g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)).$$
(3.3.16)

Let γ denote the \mathbb{T}^n -action on $\mathcal{E}^* = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$. Then by the \mathbb{T}^n -equivariance of g, it is easy to see that V_g is a \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant map from \mathcal{E} to \mathcal{E}^* . Indeed,

$$(\gamma_t V_g(e))(f) = \alpha_t (V_g(e)(\beta_t^{-1}(f)))$$
$$= \alpha_t (g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \beta_t^{-1}(f))) = g(\beta_t(e) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \beta_t \beta_t^{-1}(f)) \text{ (by } (3.3.16))$$
$$= V_g(\beta_t(e))(f).$$

Hence, the map V_g is equivariant. Thus, by virtue of Lemma 3.3.22, we have a \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodule isomorphism $(V_g)_{\theta}$ from \mathcal{E}_{θ} to $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta}$.

Now we come to the deformation of the map g which is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$. The bimodule $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is equipped with the natural diagonal action $\beta \times \beta$ of \mathbb{T}^n . Therefore, by Definition 3.3.26, we have an action of \mathbb{T}^n on $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$. Since by (3.3.16) g is \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant, by Lemma 3.3.22 we have a deformed map g_{θ} in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}}((\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\theta}, \mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ by yet another application of Lemma 3.3.22. However, by Lemma 3.3.23, $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\theta} \cong \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$. Thus, we have a map in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}, \mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ to be denoted again by g_{θ} which is the candidate for the Riemannian metric on $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} = \Omega_D^1(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$.

Our next result connects $(V_g)_{\theta}$ with $V_{g_{\theta}}$.

Proposition 3.3.30. If $T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}} : (\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta} \to (\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^*$ is the isomorphism appearing in the proof of *Proposition 3.3.29.* Then

$$T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}} \circ (V_g)_{\theta} = V_{g_{\theta}} \tag{3.3.17}$$

and hence the map $V_{g_{\theta}}: \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \to (\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^*$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. Since the map V_g is \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant, by Lemma 3.3.22 it can be deformed, and the map $(V_g)_{\theta}$ is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}, (\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta})$. Moreover, the \mathbb{T}^n -equivariance of V_g implies that $(V_g(e))_{\underline{k}} = V_g(e_{\underline{k}})$ for all e in \mathcal{E} . Using the notation adopted in Remark 3.3.20, by Proposition 3.3.29, for all e_{θ}, f_{θ} in \mathcal{E}_{θ} ,

$$(T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}} \circ (V_g)_{\theta}(e_{\theta}))(f_{\theta}) = T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}((V_g(e))_{\theta})(f_{\theta})$$

$$= \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})(V_g(e))_{\underline{k}}f_{\underline{l}} = \sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})g(e_{\underline{k}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f_{\underline{l}}) \text{ (as } (V_g(e))_{\underline{k}} = V_g(e_{\underline{k}}))$$

$$= g(\sum_{\underline{k},\underline{l}} \chi_{\theta}(\underline{k},\underline{l})e_{\underline{k}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f_{\underline{l}}) = g_{\theta}(e_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} f_{\theta}) \text{ (by Lemma 3.3.23 and Proposition 3.3.29)}$$

$$= V_{g_{\theta}}(e_{\theta})(f_{\theta}).$$

Moreover, since V_g is an isomorphism from \mathcal{E} to \mathcal{E}^* , Lemma 3.3.22 implies that $(V_g)_{\theta}$ is an isomorphism from \mathcal{E}_{θ} to $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta}$. As $T_{\theta}^{\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism from $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\theta}$ to $(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})^*$, the isomorphism of $V_{g_{\theta}}$ follows from (3.3.17).

Proposition 3.3.31. g_{θ} is a Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E}_{θ} .

Proof. Clearly, σ (= $2P_{\text{sym}} - 1$) is \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant, and as $g \circ \sigma = g$, we have $g_\theta \circ \sigma_\theta = g_\theta$ too, i.e. g_θ is symmetric. It is also clear that g_θ is a bilinear map. Finally, by Proposition 3.3.30, V_{g_θ} is nondegenerate.

Proposition 3.3.32. Let $g'_{\theta} : \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \to \mathcal{A}''_{\theta}$ be the \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bilinear map from Lemma 2.3.6. Then $g'_{\theta} = g_{\theta}$ and hence g'_{θ} is a Riemannian bilinear metric on \mathcal{E}_{θ} .

Proof. Let $\omega = [D, a_1]a_2$ and $\eta = [D, b_1]b_2$ be elements in \mathcal{E} to be viewed as elements of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. Let us denote the images of ω and η in \mathcal{E}_{θ} by ω_{θ} and η_{θ} respectively. Similarly, the representation of \mathcal{A}_{θ} in $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ will be denoted by π_{θ} . Finally, recall from Subsection 2.3.1 that τ denotes the state $\operatorname{Lim}_{\omega} \frac{\operatorname{Tr}(X|D|^{-p})}{\operatorname{Tr}(|D|^{-p})}$ on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ for the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ and so τ_{θ} will denote the state on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ for the deformed spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, D)$. Then, if p is the dimension of the manifold M, we compute

$$\tau_{\theta}(\omega_{\theta}\eta_{\theta} \times_{\theta}a_{\theta}) = \operatorname{Lim}_{\omega} \frac{\operatorname{Tr}([D, \pi_{\theta}(a_{1})]\pi_{\theta}(a_{2})[D, \pi_{\theta}(b_{1})]\pi_{\theta}(b_{2})\pi_{\theta}(a)|D|^{-p})}{\operatorname{Tr}(|D|^{-p})}$$

$$= \operatorname{Lim}_{\omega} \frac{\operatorname{Tr}([D, a_{1}]a_{2}[D, b_{1}]b_{2}a|D|^{-p})}{\operatorname{Tr}(|D|^{-p})} \text{ (by Proposition 4.4.2 of [12])}$$

$$= \tau(\omega\eta a)$$

$$= \tau(g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)a)$$

$$= \tau_{\theta}(g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta)_{\theta}\pi_{\theta}(a)) \text{ (by Proposition 4.4.2 of [12])}$$

$$= \tau_{\theta}(g_{\theta}(\omega_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta_{\theta}) \times_{\theta}a_{\theta})$$

This proves that the bilinear form of Lemma 2.3.6 for the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is equal to g_{θ} and hence it satisfies all the conditions of Definition 2.3.7.

3.3.4 Existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections

We will continue to use the notations introduced in Definition 3.3.6. The goal of this subsection is to apply the results deduced in the last two subsections for proving Theorem 3.3.1.

Lemma 3.3.33. \mathcal{E}_{θ} is a finitely generated projective right module over \mathcal{A}_{θ} .

Proof. By Lemma 3.3.9, $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}$ is a finitely generated projective right $\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}$ module. Then $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A}$ is a finitely generated projective right \mathcal{A} module. Since the isomorphism $u_{\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$ as

given by Lemma 3.3.14 is \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant,

$$\mathcal{E}_{ heta} \cong (\mathcal{E}_{\overline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_0} \mathcal{A})_{ heta} \cong (\mathcal{E}_{\overline{0}})_{ heta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_0} \mathcal{A}_{ heta} \cong \mathcal{E}_{\overline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_0} \mathcal{A}_{ heta}$$

is finitely generated as a right \mathcal{A}_{θ} module. Here, we have used the facts that $(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}} \cong \mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}$ and $(\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}})_{\theta} \cong \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}$ as right $\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}$ modules since $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}$ is the fixed point submodule for the action of \mathbb{T}^{n} .

The projectivity of $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \cong \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A}_{\theta}$ follows easily from the fact that $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}$ is finitely generated and projective as a right $\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}$ module.

Lemma 3.3.34. The map $u_{\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{E}_{\theta}} = (u_{\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}}}^{\mathcal{E}})_{\theta} : \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A}_{\theta} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ is an isomorphism. Moreover, the map $u^{\mathcal{E}_{\theta}} : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})} \mathcal{A}_{\theta} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. By Lemma 3.3.14, the \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant map $u_{\mathcal{E}_0}^{\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$ is an isomorphism. Hence, by Lemma 3.3.22 and Lemma 3.3.23 the map $(u_{\mathcal{E}_0}^{\mathcal{E}})_{\theta} : \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}} \mathcal{A}_{\theta} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ is an isomorphism.

For the second assertion, we note that by Lemma 3.3.9, $\mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}} = \mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} = (\mathcal{E}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}}$ is finitely generated projective over $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}} = \mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}} = (\mathcal{A}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}}$. But by Remark 3.3.7, $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} = \mathcal{F}_{\underline{0}}$ and $\mathcal{C}_{\underline{0}} = \mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}}$ while by Remark 3.3.21, $\mathcal{E}_{\underline{0}} = (\mathcal{E}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}}$ and $\mathcal{A}_{\underline{0}} = (\mathcal{A}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}}$. Hence, $(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}}$ is finitely generated and projective as a right $(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})_{0}$ module.

By Remark 3.3.21, $(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}} \subseteq \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ and $(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}} \subseteq \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})$. Therefore, by Proposition 2.4.6, we conclude that the map $u^{\mathcal{E}_{\theta}} : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})} \mathcal{A}_{\theta} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ is an isomorphism. \Box

Lemma 3.3.35. The bimodule $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ admits a decomposition $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta} = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge_{\theta}) \oplus \mathcal{M}_{\theta}$ of right \mathcal{A}_{θ} modules, where $\mathcal{M}_{\theta} \cong \Omega^{2}(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ is satisfied.

Proof. This follows by applying Lemma 3.3.22, Lemma 3.3.23 and Corollary 3.3.5 applied to the \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant map \wedge .

Lemma 3.3.36. The map $\sigma : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ deforms to a map $\sigma_{\theta} : \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$. Moreover,

$$\sigma_{\theta}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \omega$$

for all ω, η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})$.

Proof. The map σ is a \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant map and so by Lemma 3.3.22 can be deformed to a map from $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\theta}$ to \mathcal{A}_{θ} . Using the isomorphism from $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\theta}$ to $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ as in Lemma 3.3.23, we can view σ_{θ} as a map from $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ to $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$. Let us observe that by Lemma 3.3.34, the map $u^{\mathcal{E}_{\theta}}$ is an isomorphism, hence \mathcal{E}_{θ} is a centered \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodule. Thus, by Theorem 2.1.7, there indeed exists a unique \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodule map from $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ to itself which maps $\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta$ to $\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \omega$ for all ω and η in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})$. We need to show that this map is equal to σ_{θ} . For this, let us take e_{θ}, f_{θ} in $(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}}$. Then, using Lemma 3.3.22, we get that

$$\sigma_{\theta}(e_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} f_{\theta}) = \sigma_{\theta}((\chi_{\theta}(\underline{0},\underline{0})e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f)_{\theta}) \text{ (by Lemma 3.3.23)}$$
$$=(\sigma(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f))_{\theta} = (f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e)_{\theta} \text{ (since } \sigma \text{ is the classical flip map)}$$
$$=f_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{\theta}.$$

Now, by Lemma 3.3.34, $(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}}$ is right \mathcal{A}_{θ} -total in \mathcal{E}_{θ} and hence $\{e_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} f_{\theta} : e_{\theta}, f_{\theta} \in (\mathcal{E}_{\theta})_{\underline{0}}\}$ is right \mathcal{A}_{θ} -total in $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$. Thus, by Lemma 1.1.6 the map σ_{θ} is equal to the unique \mathcal{A}_{θ} -bimodule map on $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ as in Theorem 2.1.7.

Collecting the above results, we get the following:

Proof of Theorem 3.3.1. We start by recalling that we have already proved (Lemma 3.3.33) that \mathcal{E}_{θ} is a finitely generated projective right module over \mathcal{A}_{θ} . By Lemma 3.3.34, the map $u^{\mathcal{E}_{\theta}} : \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta}) \otimes_{\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})} \mathcal{A}_{\theta} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ is an isomorphism.

Next, $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge_{\theta})$ is complemented in $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ by Lemma 3.3.35.

Lastly, the equality $\sigma_{\theta}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \omega$ for all $\omega, \eta \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})$ follows from Lemma 3.3.36.

Thus we have shown that the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}_{\theta}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is a tame spectral triple. Moreover, Proposition 3.3.32 asserts that g_{θ} is a Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E}_{θ} . By Theorem 2.5.1, the space of one-forms \mathcal{E}_{θ} admits a unique Levi-Civita connection for the Riemannian bilinear metric g. This completes the proof.

Remark 3.3.37. Let \mathcal{F} be the spectral submodule of \mathcal{E} as in Definition 3.3.6. Then for the deformed spectral submodule \mathcal{F}_{θ} of \mathcal{E}_{θ} , analogues of the results Lemma 3.3.33, Lemma 3.3.34, Lemma 3.3.35 and Lemma 3.3.36 are proved the same way. Hence the analogous result of Theorem 3.3.1 also holds for the deformed submodule.

Corollary 3.3.38. Under the assumptions of Theorem 3.3.1, the Levi-Civita connection ∇ on the bimodule \mathcal{E} deforms to the Levi-Civita connection ∇_{θ} on the bimodule \mathcal{E}_{θ} .

Proof. Since the spectral triple $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{H}, D)$ is \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant, it can be easily checked that the maps $d : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$ and $d : \mathcal{E} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ are \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant. It is easy to see that the map $\mathcal{A}_{\theta} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ given by $a_{\theta} \mapsto [D, \pi_{\theta}(a_{\theta})]$ is nothing but the deformation of the map $d : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$. By Lemma 3.3.22, the maps $d_{\theta} : \mathcal{A}_{\theta} \to \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ and $d_{\theta} : \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \to \Omega^2_D(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ are \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant.

Since the map ∇ is the Levi-Civita connection, ∇ is \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant. Thus, we have a \mathbb{C} -linear map $\nabla_{\theta} : \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \to (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\theta} \cong \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$ and it can be easily checked that ∇_{θ} is a connection. By Lemma 3.3.4, $\wedge : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ is a \mathbb{T}^n -equivariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map. Hence, $\wedge_{\theta} :$ $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta} \to \Omega^2_D(\mathcal{A}_{\theta})$ is defined, and $\wedge_{\theta} \circ \nabla_{\theta} = (\wedge \circ \nabla)_{\theta} = -d_{\theta}$. Therefore, ∇_{θ} is a torsionless

connection.

Lastly we show that ∇_{θ} is compatible with the metric g_{θ} . We need to show that $\Pi_{g_{\theta}}(\nabla_{\theta}) = d_{\theta}g_{\theta}$. However, by Lemma 2.4.10, the map $\Pi_{g_{\theta}}(\nabla_{\theta}) - d_{\theta}g_{\theta}$ is right \mathcal{A}_{θ} -linear. Since $\{\omega_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta_{\theta} : \omega_{\theta}, \eta_{\theta} \in \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})\}$ is right \mathcal{A}_{θ} -total in $\mathcal{E}_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathcal{E}_{\theta}$, it is enough to show that for all $\omega_{\theta}, \eta_{\theta}$ in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})$, we have $(\Pi_{g_{\theta}}(\nabla_{\theta}) - d_{\theta}g_{\theta})(\omega_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta_{\theta}) = 0$ for all $\omega_{\theta}, \eta_{\theta}$ in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})$. Let $\omega_{\theta}, \eta_{\theta}$ in $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{E}_{\theta})$. Then,

$$(\Pi_{g_{\theta}}(\nabla_{\theta}))(\omega_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta_{\theta}) = (g_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}_{\theta}})(\sigma_{\theta})_{23}(\nabla_{\theta}(\omega_{\theta}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta_{\theta} + \nabla_{\theta}(\eta_{\theta}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \omega_{\theta})$$
$$= ((g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}}) \circ \sigma_{23})_{\theta}(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \nabla(\eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega)_{\theta}$$
$$= (((g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}}) \circ \sigma_{23})(\nabla(\omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta + \nabla(\eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega))_{\theta}$$
$$= (\Pi_{g}(\nabla)(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta))_{\theta}$$
$$= (-dg(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta))_{\theta}$$
$$= -d_{\theta}g_{\theta}(\omega_{\theta} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\theta}} \eta_{\theta}).$$

Therefore, ∇_{θ} is compatible with the metric g_{θ} .

Since the Levi-Civita connection of Theorem 3.3.1 is unique, this completes the proof of the Corollary. $\hfill \Box$

Chapter 4

Covariant connections on bicovariant differential calculi

In this chapter, we study the problem of Levi-Civita connections on bicovariant differential calculi over Hopf algebras. As explained in Section 1.4 and as seen in Chapter 2, the formulation of the question of existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connection for a differential calculus over a (possibly) noncommutative algebra \mathcal{A} needs two ingredients: an analogue of the flip map and a metric compatibility condition. Let us recall that by virtue of Proposition 1.3.15, we know that if (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus on a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} , then \mathcal{E} is in fact a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule. Hence, Proposition 1.3.17 establishes the existence of a unique bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map $\sigma : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ satisfying some properties. This map σ will play the role of the flip map. In order to make sense of the metric-compatibility condition, we restrict our attention to left-covariant connections and left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metrics. In Proposition 4.5.3, we prove a sufficient condition for the existence of a unique left-covariant Levi-Civita connection for any bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on a bicovariant differential calculus satisfying a mild condition. In Theorem 4.5.8, we prove that if the Hopf-algebra is cosemisimple, then the left-covariant Levi-Civita connection obtained in Proposition 4.5.3 is actually bicovariant. Our assumptions for these theorems are satisfied for cocycle deformations of bicovariant differential calculi over algebraic groups as well as the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi on $SU_q(2)$. These examples will be discussed in the next two chapters. For alternative approaches to the proof of existence of Levi-Civita connections on some quantum groups and their homogeneous spaces, we refer to [2], [7] and [76].

We will discuss bicovariant bimodules and associated notions in Section 4.1. In Section 4.2, we will impose a mild condition on the braiding map σ as in Proposition 1.3.17 which will lead to a decomposition of the bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ analogous to Proposition 1.4.1. In Section 4.3, we will define and study the notion of invariant pseudo-Riemannian metrics on bicovariant differential calculi. In Section 4.4, as a direct consequence of the assumptions on the braiding map σ , Theorem 4.4.4 will give us the construction of a canonical torsionless connection on \mathcal{E} . In the same section, we also introduce the notion of compatibility of left-covariant connections on \mathcal{E} with left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metrics. A comparison with existing notions of metric compatibility in literature will also be given.

In Section 4.5, we will discuss a metric-independent sufficient condition for the existence of a unique left-covariant connection on the space of one-forms of a Hopf algebra, which is torsionless and compatible with a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. For the Hopf algebras of classical Lie groups, Levi-Civita connections compatible with a bi-invariant metric are automatically bicovariant. As an analogous result, in this section we will also show that if the Hopf algebra is cosemisimple, the unique left-covariant connection is also right-covariant. The contents of Section 4.3 are from [18] and that of the rest of this chapter are from [17].

Throughout this chapter, \mathcal{A} will stand for a Hopf algebra. Moreover, the bicovariant differential calculus over \mathcal{A} will always be assumed to be finite in the sense of Definition 4.1.3.

4.1 Bicovariant bimodules and Yetter-Drinfeld modules

We begin by recalling the definitions of certain categories which we will deal with in this chapter for which we will need the definitions and notations developed in Section 1.2 and Subsection 1.3.2.

Definition 4.1.1. The category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}$ of left comodules over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} consists of objects (V, Δ_V) which are left \mathcal{A} -comodules as in Definition 1.2.2, and morphisms $T : V_1 \to V_2$ which are \mathbb{C} -linear maps satisfying

$$\Delta_{V_2} \circ T = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T) \circ \Delta_{V_1}.$$

The category $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}$ of right comodules over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} consists of objects $(V, V\Delta)$ which are right \mathcal{A} -comodules as in Definition 1.2.2, and morphisms $T: V_1 \to V_2$ which are \mathbb{C} -linear maps satisfying

$$V_2 \Delta \circ T = (T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \circ_{V_1} \Delta$$

The category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$ of left covariant bimodules over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} consists of objects (M, Δ_M) which are left covariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules as in Definition 1.2.10, and for all m in M and a in \mathcal{A} , satisfy

$$\Delta_M(am) = \Delta(a)\Delta_M(m), \quad \Delta_M(ma) = \Delta_M(m)\Delta(a).$$

Morphisms in this category are \mathbb{C} -linear maps $T: M_1 \to M_2$ satisfying

$$\Delta_{M_2} \circ T = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T) \circ \Delta_{M_1},$$

The category $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ of right covariant bimodules over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} consists of objects $(M, _{M}\Delta)$ which are right covariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules as in Definition 1.2.10, and for all m in M and a in \mathcal{A} , satisfy

$$_M\Delta(am) = \Delta(a)_M\Delta(m), \quad _M\Delta(ma) = {}_M\Delta(m)\Delta(a).$$

Morphisms in the category are \mathbb{C} -linear maps $T: M_1 \to M_2$ satisfying

$$_{M_2}\Delta \circ T = (T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \circ {}_{M_1}\Delta,$$

The category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ of bicovariant right modules over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} consists of objects $(M, \Delta_M, {}_{M}\Delta)$ which are \mathcal{A} -bicomodules as in Definition 1.2.2 as well as right \mathcal{A} -modules, satisfying for all m in M and a in \mathcal{A}

$$\Delta_M(ma) = \Delta_M(m)\Delta(a), \quad {}_M\Delta(ma) = {}_M\Delta(m)\Delta(a),$$

Morphisms in this category are \mathbb{C} -linear maps $T: M_1 \to M_2$ satisfying

$$\Delta_{M_2} \circ T = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T) \circ \Delta_{M_1}, \quad {}_{M_2} \Delta \circ T = (T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \circ {}_{M_1} \Delta.$$

The category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ of bicovariant bimodules over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} consists of objects $(M, \Delta_M, {}_{\mathcal{M}}\Delta)$ which are bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules as in Definition 1.2.10, and for all m in

M and a in \mathcal{A} satisfy

$$\Delta_M(am) = \Delta(a)\Delta_M(m), \qquad \qquad M\Delta(am) = \Delta(a)_M\Delta(m),$$
$$\Delta_M(ma) = \Delta_M(m)\Delta(a), \qquad \qquad M\Delta(ma) = M\Delta(m)\Delta(a).$$

Morphisms in this category are \mathbb{C} -linear maps $T: M_1 \to M_2$ satisfying

$$\Delta_{M_2} \circ T = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T) \circ \Delta_{M_1}, \quad {}_{M_2} \Delta \circ T = (T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \circ {}_{M_1} \Delta$$

We refer to [78] for more details.

Thus, comparing with Definition 1.2.10 and Definition 1.2.13 with Definition 4.1.1, we have the following:

Proposition 4.1.2. Suppose M is an A-bimodule.

- (i) A left \mathcal{A} -comodule (M, Δ_M) is a left-covariant bimodule if and only if it is an object of the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$. A left-covariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map between two left-covariant bimodules over \mathcal{A} is nothing but a morphism of the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$.
- (ii) A right \mathcal{A} -comodule $(M, {}_{M}\Delta)$ is a right-covariant bimodule if and only if it is an object of the category ${}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$. A right-covariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map between two right-covariant bimodules over \mathcal{A} is nothing but a morphism of the category ${}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$.
- (iii) A bicomodule $(M, \Delta_M, {}_M\Delta)$ is a bicovariant bimodule if and only if it is an object of the category ${}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}$. A bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map between two bicovariant bimodules is nothing but a morphism in the category ${}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}$.

We will be using the notations introduced in Definition 1.2.11. Thus, for a left \mathcal{A} -comodule M, the symbol $_0M$ will denote the set of all left-invariant elements in M. Similarly, if M is right \mathcal{A} -comodule, then M_0 will denote the set of all right-invariant elements in M.

Definition 4.1.3. We will say that a bicovariant bimodule $(M, \Delta_M, {}_M\Delta)$ is finite if ${}_0M$ is a finite dimensional vector space.

Remark 4.1.4. Throughout this thesis, we will work only with bicovariant bimodules which are finite. Thus, if M is a bicovariant bimodule under consideration in this thesis, the vector space $_{0}M$ is finite dimensional.

We also need the following notation.

Definition 4.1.5. Let M and N be left-covariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules. The set of all right \mathcal{A} -linear left covariant maps from M to N will be denoted by the symbol ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M, N)$.

The category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}$ has a natural monoidal structure. Indeed, if (M, Δ_M) and (N, Δ_N) are left-covariant bimodules over \mathcal{A} , then we have a left coaction $\Delta_{M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N}$ of \mathcal{A} on $M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N$ defined by the following formula:

$$\Delta_{M\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}N}(m\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}n) = m_{(-1)}n_{(-1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}m_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}n_{(0)}.$$
(4.1.1)

Here we have made use of the Sweedler notation introduced in Subsection 1.2. This makes $M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N$ into a left covariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule. Similarly, ${}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ also has a natural monoidal structure. In particular, the category ${}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ is monoidal. Moreover, we have the following:

Theorem 4.1.6. ([93], Theorem 6.3 of [84]) For any two objects M, N in the category ${}^{A}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{A}_{\mathcal{A}}$, the unique bicovariant bimodule morphism $\sigma : M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N \to N \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} M$ satisfying $\sigma(m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} n) = n \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} m$ whenever m is in ${}_{0}M$ and n is in N_{0} (as in Proposition 1.3.17) is a braiding. Along with the monoidal structure $\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}$ as defined in (4.1.1), this makes $({}^{A}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{A}_{\mathcal{A}}, \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}, \sigma)$ into a braided monoidal category.

The fundamental theorem of Hopf modules (Theorem 1.9.4 of [78]) states that if M is a left-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} , then M is free as a left (as well as a right) \mathcal{A} -module This was reproved by Woronowicz in [93]. The following statement rephrases the same in our notational formalism:

Proposition 4.1.7 (Theorem 2.1 and Theorem 2.3 of [93]). Let (M, Δ_M) be a left-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} . Then the following multiplication maps are isomorphisms:

$$\widetilde{u}^M : {}_0 M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A} \to M, \qquad \widetilde{v}^M : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} M \to M.$$

$$(4.1.2)$$

Similarly, if $(M, {}_{M}\Delta)$ is a right-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} , then the multiplication maps

$$M_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A} \to M, \qquad \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} M_0 \to M,$$
 (4.1.3)

are also isomorphisms.

Then, the following is an immediate corollary.

Corollary 4.1.8. Let (M, Δ_M) and (N, Δ_N) be left-covariant bimodules over \mathcal{A} and $\{m_i\}_i$ and $\{n_j\}_j$ be vector space bases of $_0M$ and $_0N$ respectively. Then each element of $M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N$ can be written as $\sum_{ij} a_{ij}m_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} n_j$ and $\sum_{ij} m_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} n_j b_{ij}$, where a_{ij} and b_{ij} are uniquely determined. A similar result holds for right-covariant bimodules $(M, M\Delta)$ and $(N, N\Delta)$ over \mathcal{A} . Finally, if (M, Δ_M) is a left-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} with basis $\{m_i\}_i$ of $_0M$, and $(N, N\Delta)$ is a right-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} with basis $\{m_i\}_i$ of $_0M$, and $(N, N\Delta)$ is a right-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} with basis $\{m_i\}_i$ of $_0M$, and $(N, N\Delta)$ is a right-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} with basis $\{m_i\}_i$ of $M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N$ can be written uniquely as $\sum_{ij} a_{ij}m_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} n_j$ as well as $\sum_{ij} m_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} n_j b_{ij}$.

Proof. The proof of this result is an adaptation of Lemma 3.2 of [93] and we omit it. \Box

Now we recall the notion of right Yetter-Drinfeld modules and Schauenburg's result which showed that the category of bicovariant bimodules is braided monoidally equivalent to the category of right Yetter-Drinfeld modules.

Definition 4.1.9. (Definition 4.1 of [84]) Suppose that \mathcal{A} is a Hopf algebra. A right Yetter-Drinfeld module over \mathcal{A} is a triplet (M, \leftarrow, δ) where (M, \leftarrow) is a right \mathcal{A} -module, (M, δ) is a right \mathcal{A} -comodule such that for all a in \mathcal{A} and for all m in M, the following compatibility condition holds:

$$m_{(0)} \leftarrow a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(1)} a_{(2)} = (m \leftarrow a_{(2)})_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(1)} (m \leftarrow a_{(2)})_{(1)}.$$

We will let $\mathcal{YD}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ denote the category of all right Yetter-Drinfeld modules. Here, the morphisms between two objects M and N in $\mathcal{YD}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ are \mathbb{C} -linear maps $T: M \to N$ which are right \mathcal{A} -linear and right \mathcal{A} -comodule maps.

Theorem 4.1.10. ([84]) Suppose \mathcal{A} is a Hopf algebra with a bijective antipode. Then the category $\mathcal{YD}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ has a braided monoidal structure. Indeed, if M and N are objects of $\mathcal{YD}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$, the following right \mathcal{A} -module and right \mathcal{A} -comodule structure makes $M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} N$ an object of $\mathcal{YD}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$:

 $(m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n)a = ma_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} na_{(2)}, \quad {}_{M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} N} \Delta(m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n) = m_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(1)} n_{(1)}.$

The braiding $\sigma_{\mathcal{YD}}$ is given by:

$$\sigma_{\mathcal{YD}}: M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} N \to N \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} M, \quad \sigma_{\mathcal{YD}}(m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n) = n_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m \leftharpoonup n_{(1)}.$$

The bijectivity of the antipode is needed only to guarantee that $\sigma_{\mathcal{YD}}$ is a braiding on $\mathcal{YD}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}$. In general, it is only a pre-braiding. Now we are in a position to state Schauenburg's results:

Theorem 4.1.11. (Theorem 5.7 of [84]) The following statements hold:

- (i) The functor ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}, \ M \mapsto {}_{0}M$ defines a monoidal equivalence of categories. The inverse functor is given by $V \mapsto \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V$.
- (ii) The functor $_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}} \to _{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}, \ M \mapsto M_0$ defines a monoidal equivalence of categories. The inverse functor is given by $V \mapsto V \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}$.
- (iii) The functor ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}} \to {}^{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}, \ M \mapsto M_0$ defines an equivalence of categories.
- (iv) Suppose \mathcal{A} is a Hopf algebra with a bijective antipode and consider the braided monoidal categories $({}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}, \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}, \sigma)$ and $(\mathcal{YD}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}, \otimes, \sigma_{\mathcal{YD}})$ as in Theorem 4.1.6 and Theorem 4.1.10 respectively. The functor

$$({}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}, \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}, \sigma) \to (\mathcal{YD}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}, \otimes, \sigma_{\mathcal{YD}}), \ M \to {}_{0}M$$

defines a braided monoidal equivalence of categories.

For more details on Yetter-Drinfeld modules, we refer to [96] and [84].

Proposition 4.1.12. (Theorem 5.7 of [84]) Let (M, Δ_M) and (N, Δ_N) be left-covariant bimodules over \mathcal{A} . Following Definition 1.2.11, we denote the left-invariant elements (with respect to the coaction $\Delta_{M\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}N}$) of $M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N$ by $_0(M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N)$. Similarly, the right-invariant elements of $M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N$ (with respect to the coaction $_{M\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}N}\Delta$) will be denoted by $(M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N)_0$. Then we have that

$${}_{0}(M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N) = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} n : m \in {}_{0}M, n \in {}_{0}N \}.$$

$$(4.1.4)$$

Similarly, if $(M, {}_{M}\Delta)$ and $(N, {}_{N}\Delta)$ are right-covariant bimodules over \mathcal{A} , then we have that

$$(M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N)_0 = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{ m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} n : m \in M_0, n \in N_0 \}.$$

Thus, $_0(M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N) = _0M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} N$ and $(M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N)_0 = M_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} N_0$.

Proof. This follows directly from the first two monoidal equivalences in Theorem 4.1.11. \Box

Remark 4.1.13. In the light of Proposition 4.1.12, we are allowed to use the notations $_0M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} N$ and $_0(M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N)$ interchangeably.

4.1.1 A characterisation of left covariant maps and some consequences

In this subsection, we collect some results on left covariant maps which we will exploit throughout the chapter. For the rest of this subsection, we will use the notations introduced in Proposition 4.1.7 freely.

Proposition 4.1.14. Let (M, Δ_M) and (N, Δ_N) be left-covariant bimodules over \mathcal{A} and T be a left-covariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map from M to N. Then $T(_0M) \subseteq _0N$. Moreover, there exists a unique \mathbb{C} -linear map $_0T$ in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_0M, _0N)$ such that

$$(\widetilde{u}^N)^{-1} \circ T = ({}_0T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{id})(\widetilde{u}^M)^{-1}.$$
(4.1.5)

In particular, a left covariant right A-linear map T from M to N is determined by its action on $_0M$.

Proof. Let $\{m_i\}_i$ be a vector space basis for $_0M$ and $\{n_j\}_j$ be a vector space basis for $_0N$. Since T is a left-covariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map from M to N, we have that

$$\Delta_N(T(m_i)) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T) \Delta_M(m_i) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T)(1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_i) = 1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (T(m_i)).$$

Therefore, $T(m_i)$ is in $_0N$. This proves the first assertion.

Define $_0T$ to be the restriction of T on $_0M$. Let $m = \tilde{u}^M(\sum_i m_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_i)$, where \tilde{u}^M is as defined in Proposition 4.1.7. Then

$$({}_{0}T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\widetilde{u}^{M})^{-1}(m) = \sum_{i} {}_{0}T(m_{i}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{i} = (\widetilde{u}^{N})^{-1} \circ T(\sum_{i} m_{i}a_{i}) = (\widetilde{u}^{N})^{-1} \circ T(m)$$

and thus (4.1.5) follows. The uniqueness follows from the fact that the equation (4.1.5) implies that ${}_{0}T(m_{i}) = T(m_{i})$ for all *i*.

Corollary 4.1.15. Let (M, Δ_M) be a left-covariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} and T be a left-covariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map from M to \mathcal{A} . Then there exists a unique \mathbb{C} -linear map $_0T$ in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_0M, \mathbb{C})$ such that

$$T = ({}_0T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\widetilde{u}^M)^{-1}.$$

Proof. The proof follows by taking $(N, \Delta_N) = (\mathcal{A}, \Delta)$ in Proposition 4.1.14.

Proposition 4.1.16. Let (M, Δ_M) and (N, Δ_N) be left-covariant bimodules over \mathcal{A} . Then ^{\mathcal{A}}Hom_{\mathcal{A}}(M, N) is isomorphic to Hom_{\mathbb{C}} $(_0M, _0N)$ as complex vector spaces. Moreover a leftcovariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map T from M to N is invertible if and only if $_0T$ is invertible. More generally, λ is an eigenvalue of T if and only if λ is an eigenvalue of $_0T$.

Proof. Let us recall (Definition 4.1.5) that ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\text{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M, N)$ denotes the set of all right \mathcal{A} -linear left-covariant maps from M to N. We define a map

$${}^{\mathcal{A}}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M,N) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}M,{}_{0}N); \ T \mapsto {}_{0}T$$

as in Proposition 4.1.14. As T is left-covariant, by Proposition 4.1.14, $T(_0M) \subseteq _0N$. Since T is determined by its action on $_0(M)$, this map is one-to-one. Given an element $_0T$ in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_0M,_0N)$, the map $\tilde{u}^N(_0T\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\operatorname{id}_{\mathcal{A}})(\tilde{u}^M)^{-1}$ defines an element, say T, in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M,N)$ which can be easily checked to be left-covariant and whose image under the above map is $_0T$. Thus, the map is a bijection.

The equation (4.1.5) implies that T is invertible if and only if $_0T$ is invertible. Finally, λ is an eigenvalue of $_0T$ if and only if $_0(T - \lambda .1) = _0T - \lambda .1$ is not invertible and $_0(T - \lambda .1)$ is not invertible if and only if $T - \lambda .1$ is not invertible by the above argument. Hence, λ is an eigenvalue of T if and only if it is an eigenvalue of $_0T$.

Proposition 4.1.17. Let (M, Δ_M) and (N, Δ_N) be left-covariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules. Then a right \mathcal{A} -linear map $T: M \to N$ is left-covariant if and only if $T(_0M) \subseteq _0N$.

In particular, if $S : M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N \to M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N$ is a right \mathcal{A} -linear map, then Proposition 4.1.12 implies that S is left-covariant if and only if $S(_0M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} N) \subseteq _0M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} N$.

Proof. If the map T is left-covariant, then by Proposition 4.1.14, $T(_0M) \subseteq _0N$. Conversely, suppose T is a right \mathcal{A} -linear map and $T(_0M) \subseteq _0N$. Let $\{m_i\}_i$ be a vector space basis of $_0M$ and $\sum_i m_i a_i$ be an element of M. Then we have that

$$\Delta_N(T(\sum_i m_i a_i)) = \sum_i \Delta_N(T(m_i)a_i) = \sum_i \Delta_N(T(m_i))\Delta(a_i)$$
$$= \sum_i (1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T(m_i))(a_{i(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{i(2)}) = \sum_i (a_{i(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T(m_i)a_{i(2)})$$
$$= (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T)(\sum_i a_{i(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_i a_{i(2)}) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T)(\Delta_M(\sum_i m_i a_i)).$$

Hence T is a left-covariant map.

Remark 4.1.18. Analogues of Proposition 4.1.14, Corollary 4.1.15, Proposition 4.1.16 and Proposition 4.1.17 also hold for right-covariant right \mathcal{A} -linear maps from $(M, _{M}\Delta)$ to $(N, _{N}\Delta)$.

We end this subsection by proving two results related to bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -linear maps. We need to recall (Lemma 1.2.12) that if M is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule, then $_0M$ is a right \mathcal{A} -comodule.

Proposition 4.1.19. Let $(M, \Delta_M, {}_M\Delta)$ and $(N, \Delta_N, {}_N\Delta)$ be bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules and T be a left-covariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map from M to N. If the map ${}_0T = T|_{0M} : {}_0M \to {}_0N$ as in Proposition 4.1.14 is right-covariant, i.e, ${}_N\Delta \circ {}_0T = ({}_0T\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathrm{id})_M\Delta$, then the map T is also right-covariant.

Proof. Let m be an element of $_0M$ and a an element of \mathcal{A} . Then by right \mathcal{A} -linearity of T and right-covariance of $_0T$, we get

$${}_{N}\Delta(T(ma)) = {}_{N}\Delta(T(m)a) = {}_{N}\Delta(T(m))\Delta(a)$$

$$= {}_{N}\Delta({}_{0}T(m))\Delta(a) = ({}_{0}T\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})({}_{M}\Delta(m))\Delta(a)$$

$$= (({}_{0}T\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(m_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(1)}))(a_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)})$$

$$= ({}_{0}T)(m_{(0)})a_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(1)}a_{(2)} = T(m_{(0)}a_{(1)})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(1)}a_{(2)}$$

$$= (T\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})((m_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(1)})(a_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)})) = (T\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_{M}\Delta(ma).$$

Since $_0M$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in M, this proves that T is a right covariant map.

Before stating the next result, let us note that if M and N are bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules and $\{m_i\}_i$ and $\{n_j\}_j$ are vector space bases for $_0M$ and $_0N$ respectively, then by Lemma 1.2.12, we get

$$_{0M}\Delta(m_i) = \sum_k m_k \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{ki} \text{ and } _{0N}\Delta(n_j) = \sum_l n_l \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{lj},$$

for some elements $\{a_{ki}\}_{ki}$ and $\{b_{lj}\}_{lj}$ in \mathcal{A} .

Lemma 4.1.20. If an element T of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}M, _{0}N)$ is such that for all m, $T(m_{i}) = \sum_{j} n_{j}T_{j}^{i}$ for some elements T_{j}^{i} in \mathbb{C} , then T is a right-covariant map from $_{0}M$ to $_{0}N$ if and only if

$$\sum_{il} n_l \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{lj} T_j^i = \sum_{jk} n_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_j^k a_{ki}.$$
(4.1.6)

Proof. If T is a right-covariant complex linear map from $_0M$ to $_0N$, then $_{0N}\Delta \circ T = (T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_{0M}\Delta$. Now:

$${}_{0N}\Delta(T(m_i)) = {}_{0N}\Delta(\sum_j n_j T_j^i) = \sum_l n_l \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sum_i b_{lj} T_j^i.$$
(4.1.7)

On the other hand,

$$(T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_{0M} \Delta(m_i) = (T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) (\sum_k m_k \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{ki}) = \sum_j n_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sum_k T_j^k a_{ki}$$
(4.1.8)

Comparing equations (4.1.7) and (4.1.8), we get that T is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_{0}M, _{0}N)$ if and only if (4.1.6) holds.

4.2 The diagonalisability of $_0\sigma$

Recall that in Subsection 1.3.2, we defined bicovariant differential calculi and the space of oneforms and two-forms for Hopf algebras. The aim of this section is to prove a noncommutative analogue of the decomposition (1.4.1) under a mild assumption (Theorem 4.2.5) on the bicovariant differential calculi of a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} . This decomposition will help us to construct a canonical bicovariant torsionless connection on a bicovariant differential calculus (see Theorem 4.4.4). The Woronowicz braiding map σ (see Proposition 1.3.17) will play the role of the classical flip map. By Proposition 1.3.15, the space of one-forms of a bicovariant differential calculus over \mathcal{A} is a bicovariant bimodule. Hence all the results on bicovariant bimodules derived in Section 4.1 can be applied. In the sequel, the symbol \mathcal{E} will always stand for the bimodule of one-forms of a bicovariant differential calculus (\mathcal{E}, d).

Let (\mathcal{E}, d) be a bicovariant differential calculus on a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} . Proposition 4.1.7 guarantees the isomorphism of the multiplication map

$$\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}: ({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A} = {}_{0}(\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}$$
(4.2.1)

Moreover, by Proposition 1.3.17, we have a canonical bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map σ from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Then Proposition 4.1.14 and Proposition 4.1.12 imply that there exists a unique map

$${}_{0}\sigma: {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} = {}_{0}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) \to {}_{0}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) = {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$$
(4.2.2)

such that

$$(\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}})^{-1}\sigma = ({}_{0}\sigma \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}})^{-1}.$$
(4.2.3)

For the rest of this chapter, we will make the assumption that the map $_0\sigma: {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ is diagonalisable. This assumption holds for a large class of Hopf algebras as indicated in the next proposition.

Proposition 4.2.1. Let \mathcal{E} be the space of one-forms of a first order differential calculus over a Hopf algebra and $_{0}\sigma: _{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} \to _{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ be the map as in (4.2.2). Then

- (i) For the classical bicovariant differential calculus on a Lie group, the map $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable.
- (ii) Let (E, d) be the bicovariant differential calculus on the algebra A of regular functions on a linear algebraic group G such that the category of finite dimensional representations of G is semisimple. Suppose A_γ is the cocycle deformation of A with respect to a 2-cocycle γ (see Definition 1.2.7). Then we have a canonical bicovariant differential calculus (E_γ, d_γ) on A_γ obtained by deforming the usual bicovariant differential calculus on A (see Proposition 5.3.1). Let σ_γ be the braiding map of Proposition 1.3.17 applied to the calculus (E_γ, d_γ). Then ₀(σ_γ): ₀(E_γ ⊗_{A_γ} E_γ) → ₀(E_γ ⊗_{A_γ} E_γ) is diagonalisable.
- (iii) The assumption holds for the bicovariant differential calculi on $SL_q(N)$, $O_q(N)$, $Sp_q(N)$ studied in [51]. More generally, if the map σ satisfies a Hecke-type relation $\Pi_i(\sigma - \lambda_i) = 0$ for distinct scalars λ_i , then $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable.

Proof. Suppose the map σ satisfies a relation $\Pi_i(\sigma - \lambda_i) = 0$ for distinct scalars λ_i . Since ${}_0\sigma({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}) \subseteq {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$, we have the equality $\Pi_i({}_0\sigma - \lambda_i) = 0$ as maps from ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to itself. Therefore, the minimal polynomial of the map ${}_0\sigma$ is a product of distinct linear factors and so ${}_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable. Since the bicovariant differential calculi on $SL_q(N)$, $O_q(N)$ and $Sp_q(N)$ studied in [51] satisfy Hecke-type relations as above, this completes the proof of part (iii). The classical case follows similarly, since here $\sigma(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e$ for all e, f in \mathcal{E} , so that $\sigma^2 - 1 = 0$ and therefore, the above reasoning applies. Finally, cocycle deformations of bicovariant differential calculi are dealt with in Chapter 5 and we refer to Theorem 5.3.1 for the proof of part (ii). \Box

The sub-bimodule

$$\mathcal{E} \otimes^{\mathrm{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} := \mathrm{Ker}(\wedge) = \mathrm{Ker}(\sigma - 1)$$

was introduced in (1.3.9). This bimodule is going to play an important role in this chapter. Moreover, let us introduce the following notations.

Definition 4.2.2. Suppose the map $_{0}\sigma$ is diagonalisable. The eigenspace decomposition of $_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ will be denoted by $_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Lambda} V_{\lambda}$, where Λ is the set of distinct eigenvalues of $_{0}\sigma$ and V_{λ} is the eigenspace of $_{0}\sigma$ corresponding to the eigenvalue λ . Thus, V_{1} will denote the eigenspace of $_{0}\sigma$ for the eigenvalue $\lambda = 1$.

Moreover, we define ${}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$ to be the set of all left-invariant elements of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} {}^{\mathrm{sym}}\mathcal{E}$, i.e,

$${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E} := \left\{ \sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k} \in \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} : \Delta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (\sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k}) = 1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k}, \sum_{k} \rho_{k} \wedge \nu_{k} = 0 \right\}$$

We also define $_{0}\mathcal{F} := \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Lambda \setminus \{1\}} V_{\lambda}$.

The assumption that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable is enough to prove Theorem 4.2.5 As a first step to prove that theorem, we make the following observation:

Lemma 4.2.3. Let $_0\sigma$ be the map in (4.2.2). Then we have

We have
$${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E} = \text{Ker}({}_{0}\sigma - 1).$$

Proof. The result follows by a simple computation. Indeed,

$${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E}$$

$$= \{\sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k} \in \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} : \Delta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (\sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k}) = 1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k}, \sum_{k} \rho_{k} \wedge \nu_{k} = 0 \}$$

$$= \{\sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k} \in \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} : \Delta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (\sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k})$$

$$= 1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k}, (\sigma - 1) (\sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k}) = 0 \}$$

$$(\text{since Ker}(\wedge) = \text{Ker}(\sigma - 1) \text{ by } (1.3.9))$$

$$= \{\sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{k} \in {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0\mathcal{E} : ({}_{0}\sigma - 1) (\sum_{k} \rho_{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nu_{k}) = 0 \}$$

$$(\text{ as } {}_{0}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) = {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0\mathcal{E} \text{ by Proposition } 4.1.12)$$

$$= \text{Ker}({}_{0}\sigma - 1).$$

Remark 4.2.4. Let $_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ and $_{0}\mathcal{F}$ be as in Definition 4.2.2. We have already noted that $_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E} = V_{1}$, where V_{λ} is as in Definition 4.2.2. Further note that since $_{0}\sigma$ is diagonalisable,

we have the following decomposition:

$${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E} = {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \oplus {}_{0}\mathcal{F}.$$

$$(4.2.4)$$

In the sequel, $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ will denote the space of two-forms as defined in Definition 1.3.18.

Theorem 4.2.5. Suppose that the map $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable. Let $\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}$ be the isomorphism of (4.2.1). We define $\mathcal{F} := \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}(_0\mathcal{F}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A})$, where $_0\mathcal{F}$ is as in Definition 4.2.2. Then $\wedge|_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{F} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ defines an isomorphism of right \mathcal{A} -modules. Moreover,

$$\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}=\mathrm{Ker}(\wedge)\oplus\mathcal{F}=\mathcal{E}\otimes^{\mathrm{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}\oplus\mathcal{F}.$$

Proof. The proof easily follows by a computation and the following observation:

$${}_{0}(\mathcal{E}\otimes^{\mathrm{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}) = {}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E} \text{ and so } \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{E}\otimes^{\mathrm{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}.$$
(4.2.5)

The equation $_{0}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E}) = {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ follows directly from the definitions of ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ and $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E} = \text{Ker}(\wedge)$. Then the second equation of (4.2.5) follows from Proposition 4.1.7, since by Proposition 1.3.19, $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E}$ is a bicovariant bimodule.

Now we can compute:

$$\begin{split} & \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}})^{-1} (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) \\ & = \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} ((_{0} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}^{0}} \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}) = \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (((_{0} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_{0} \mathcal{E}) \oplus_{0} \mathcal{F}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}) \ (\operatorname{by}(4.2.4)) \\ & = \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (((_{0} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_{0} \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}) \oplus (_{0} \mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A})) = \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E} \oplus \mathcal{F} \\ & (\operatorname{by} \ (4.2.5) \ \text{and the definition of} \ \mathcal{F}) \\ & = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F} \ (\operatorname{by the definition of} \ \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}). \end{split}$$

Finally, since $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$, we have that

$$\mathcal{F} \cong (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) / \mathrm{Ker}(\wedge) = (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) / \mathrm{Ker}(\sigma - 1) = \Omega^2(\mathcal{A}),$$

by (1.3.9) and the definition of $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ as in Definition 1.3.18. Hence, $\wedge|_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{F} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ is an isomorphism of right \mathcal{A} -modules.

4.2.1 The idempotent P_{sym} and its properties

In this subsection, we study the idempotent element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$ with range $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}$ and kernel \mathcal{F} .

Definition 4.2.6. We will denote by $_0(P_{sym})$ the idempotent element in $Hom_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})$ with range $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{sym}{}_0\mathcal{E}$ and kernel $_0\mathcal{F}$. By Proposition 4.1.16, $_0(P_{sym})$ extends to a right \mathcal{A} -linear left-covariant map from $\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}$ to $\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}$. We are going to denote the extension by the symbol P_{sym} . More concretely,

$$P_{\text{sym}} := \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}({}_{0}(P_{\text{sym}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \text{id})(\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}})^{-1}.$$

Proposition 4.2.7. The map P_{sym} is the idempotent map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to itself, with range onto $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{sym} \mathcal{E}$ and with kernel \mathcal{F} . In fact, P_{sym} is also a left \mathcal{A} -linear and bicovariant map. Thus P_{sym} is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to itself.

Proof. By Definition 4.2.6, P_{sym} is a left-covariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to itself. Since $_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ is an idempotent, $P_{\text{sym}} = \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (_0(P_{\text{sym}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{id}) (\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}})^{-1}$ is also idempotent. We have that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Ran}(P_{\operatorname{sym}}) &= \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}({}_{0}(P_{\operatorname{sym}})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\operatorname{id})(\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}})^{-1}(\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}) \\ &= \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}({}_{0}(P_{\operatorname{sym}})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\operatorname{id})(({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A}) = \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}(({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A}) \\ (\text{by the definition of } {}_{0}(P_{\operatorname{sym}})) \\ &= \mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}}\mathcal{E} (\text{by } (4.2.5)). \end{aligned}$$

Now we prove that $\operatorname{Ker}(P_{\operatorname{sym}}) = \mathcal{F}$. We note that P_{sym} is an idempotent from the complex vector space $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to itself with range $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}$ and kernel containing the subspace $\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}({}_{0}\mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}) =$ \mathcal{F} . Since $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E} \oplus \mathcal{F}$ (Theorem 4.2.5), this proves that $\operatorname{Ker}(P_{\operatorname{sym}}) = \mathcal{F}$.

Finally, we prove that P_{sym} is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map. this follows from the observation that $_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ is a polynomial in $_0\sigma$. Indeed, in the notation of Definition 4.2.2, $_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ is the idempotent with range V_1 and kernel $\bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Lambda \setminus \{1\}} V_{\lambda}$ and so

$$_{0}(P_{\text{sym}}) = \Pi_{\lambda \in \Lambda \setminus \{1\}} \frac{_{0}\sigma - \lambda}{1 - \lambda}.$$
(4.2.6)

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} P_{\text{sym}} &= \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}} \big(_{0}(P_{\text{sym}})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \text{id} \big) (\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}})^{-1} \\ &= \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}} \Big(\big(\Pi_{\lambda \in \Lambda \setminus \{1\}} \frac{1}{1-\lambda} (_{0}\sigma - \lambda) \big) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \text{id} \Big) (\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}})^{-1} \\ &= \Pi_{\lambda \in \Lambda \setminus \{1\}} \Big(\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}} \big((\frac{1}{1-\lambda} (_{0}\sigma - \lambda)) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \text{id} \big) (\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}})^{-1} \Big) = \Pi_{\lambda \in \Lambda \setminus \{1\}} \big(\frac{1}{1-\lambda} (\sigma - \lambda) \big) \end{split}$$

by (4.2.3). Hence,

$$P_{\text{sym}} = \Pi_{\lambda \in \Lambda \setminus \{1\}} \left(\frac{1}{1 - \lambda} (\sigma - \lambda) \right).$$
(4.2.7)

Now σ is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to itself and so P_{sym} , being a composition of bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule maps from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is itself a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$.

In the classical case, we have $\Lambda = \pm 1$ and so in this case, we recover the formula $P_{\text{sym}} = \frac{1}{2}(1+\sigma)$ from (4.2.7). Let us collect two facts in the following remark which will be used later. **Remark 4.2.8.** Since P_{sym} is a bicovarant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map, the right \mathcal{A} -module $\mathcal{F} = \text{Ran}(1-P_{\text{sym}})$ is actually a bicovariant sub-bimodule of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$.

Definition 4.2.9. Let \mathcal{F} be the sub-bimodule of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ as in Theorem 4.2.5. By Theorem 4.2.5, we have a right \mathcal{A} -linear isomorphism $\wedge|_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{F} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ which we will denote by Q.

The following result is a corollary to Proposition 4.2.7.

Corollary 4.2.10. If (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant first order differential calculus, then $d\omega$ is in $_0(\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}))$ for all ω in $_0\mathcal{E} = _0(\Omega^1(\mathcal{A}))$. Moreover, Q is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map.

Proof. From Proposition 1.3.20, we know that $d : \mathcal{E} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ is bicovariant. Therefore, if ω is in $_0\mathcal{E}$, we have

$$\Delta_{\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})}(d\omega) = (\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{A}} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d) \Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(\omega) = 1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d\omega.$$

For the second statement, we note that by Remark 4.2.8, \mathcal{F} a bicovariant sub-bimodule of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. By Proposition 1.3.19, the quotient map \wedge is a bicovariant bimodule map. Hence, the restriction $Q := \wedge|_{\mathcal{F}}$ is also a bicovariant bimodule map from \mathcal{F} to $\operatorname{Ran}(Q) = \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$. In particular, this implies that

$$Q^{-1}({}_0(\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}))) \subseteq {}_0\mathcal{F} \text{ (Proposition 4.1.17)}.$$

$$(4.2.8)$$

We end this section with one more lemma which will be needed in the proofs of Lemma 4.2.11 and Theorem 4.5.9. In what follows, the set of all linear functionals on a finite dimensional complex vector space W will be denoted by the symbol W^* .

Lemma 4.2.11. The following maps, defined in Proposition 1.1.8, are vector space isomorphisms:

$$\zeta_0 \mathcal{E}_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}^0} \mathcal{E},_0 \mathcal{E}} : ({}_0 \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0 \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} ({}_0 \mathcal{E})^* \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}} ({}_0 \mathcal{E}, {}_0 \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0 \mathcal{E}),$$

$$\zeta_0 \mathcal{E}_{,0} \mathcal{E}_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0} \mathcal{E} : {}_0 \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} ({}_0 \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}^{\operatorname{sym}} {}_0 \mathcal{E})^* \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}} ({}_0 \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}^{\operatorname{sym}} {}_0 \mathcal{E}, {}_0 \mathcal{E}).$$

Proof. By the definition of the map $\zeta_0 \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}^0} \mathcal{E}_{,0} \mathcal{E}$,

$$\zeta_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}}(({}_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0\mathcal{E}})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0\mathcal{E}})^{*})\subseteq\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0\mathcal{E}},{}_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0\mathcal{E}}).$$

Since $\zeta_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes\mathbb{C}0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism from $(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes\mathbb{C}0\mathcal{E})\otimes\mathbb{C}(_0\mathcal{E})^*$ onto $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E},_0\mathcal{E}\otimes\mathbb{C}0\mathcal{E})$ and

$$\dim(({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E})^{*})=\dim(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E},{}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})),$$

we have proved the first assertion.

Now we prove the second assertion. By the definition of $_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ (Definition 4.2.6),

$$_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ran}(_{0}(P_{\operatorname{sym}})) \oplus \operatorname{Ran}(1 - _{0}(P_{\operatorname{sym}}))$$

and hence an element ψ of $({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E})^* = (\mathrm{Ran}({}_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}})))^*$ extends to an element $\widetilde{\psi}$ of $({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})^*$ by the formula

$$\widetilde{\psi}(X) = \psi(_0(P_{\text{sym}})(X)) \ \forall X \in {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}.$$

More generally,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}, \mathbb{C}) = \{ \psi \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}, \mathbb{C}) : \psi((1 - {}_{0}(P_{\operatorname{sym}}))(X)) = 0 \ \forall X \in {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} \}.$$

$$(4.2.9)$$

This allows us to view $\psi \in ({}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E})^*$ as an element $\widetilde{\psi}$ in $({}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_0\mathcal{E})^*$ such that $\widetilde{\psi}((1 - {}_0(P_{\operatorname{sym}}))(X)) = 0.$

Thus, for e in ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}, \widetilde{\psi}$ as above and for all X in ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E}$, we have

$$(\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E}})(e\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\widetilde{\psi})((1-_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))(X)) = e\widetilde{\psi}((1-_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))(X)) = 0.$$

This implies that

$$\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}^0}\mathcal{E}}({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E})^*)\subseteq \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E},{}_0\mathcal{E}).$$

As $\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism from ${}_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})^{*}}$ onto $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}})$ and

$$\dim({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})^{*}) = \dim(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E},{}_{0}\mathcal{E})),$$

 $\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E}}$ maps ${}_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}}({}_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0\mathcal{E}})^{*}$ isomorphically onto $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0\mathcal{E}},{}_{0\mathcal{E}})$. This finishes the proof of the lemma.

4.3 Pseudo-Riemannian metrics on bicovariant bimodules

In this section, we study pseudo-Riemannian metrics on bicovariant differential calculi over Hopf algebras. After defining pseudo-Riemannian metrics, we recall the definitions of left and right invariance of a pseudo-Riemannian metrics from [51]. We prove that a pseudo-Riemannian metric is left (respectively, right) invariant if and only if it is left (respectively, right) covariant. We will see that the coefficients of a left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric with respect to a left-invariant basis of \mathcal{E} are scalars. We use this fact to clarify some properties of pseudo-Riemannian invariant metrics. We end the section by comparing our definition with those by Heckenberger and Schmüdgen ([51]) as well as by Beggs and Majid.

Definition 4.3.1. ([51]) Suppose \mathcal{E} is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} and $\sigma : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ be the map as in Proposition 1.3.17. A pseudo-Riemannian metric for the pair (\mathcal{E}, σ) is a right \mathcal{A} -linear map $g : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}$ such that the following conditions hold:

- (i) $g \circ \sigma = g$.
- (ii) If $g(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu) = 0$ for all ν in \mathcal{E} , then $\rho = 0$.

For other notions of metrics on covariant differential calculus, we refer to [11] and references therein.

Definition 4.3.2. ([51]) A pseudo-Riemannian metric g on a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} is said to be left-invariant if for all ρ, ν in \mathcal{E} ,

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \epsilon g)(\Delta_{(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})}(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu)) = g(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu).$$

Similarly, a pseudo-Riemannian metric g on a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} is said to be rightinvariant if for all ρ, ν in \mathcal{E} ,

$$(\epsilon g \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(_{(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})} \Delta(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu)) = g(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu).$$

Finally, a pseudo-Riemannian metric g on a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} is said to be bi-invariant if it is both left-invariant as well as right-invariant.

We observe that a pseudo-Riemannian metric is invariant if and only if it is covariant.

Proposition 4.3.3. Let g be a pseudo-Riemannian metric on the bicovariant bimodule \mathcal{E} . Then g is left-invariant if and only if $g : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}$ is a left-covariant map. Similarly, g is rightinvariant if and only if $g : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}$ is a right-covariant map.

Proof. Let g be a left-invariant metric on \mathcal{E} , and ρ , ν be elements of \mathcal{E} . Then the following computation shows that g is a left-covariant map.

$$\begin{split} \Delta(g(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu)) &= \Delta((\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \epsilon g)(\Delta_{(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})}(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu))) \\ &= \Delta((\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \epsilon g)(\rho_{(-1)}\nu_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \rho_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{(0)})) \\ &= \Delta(\rho_{(-1)}\nu_{(-1)})\epsilon(g(\rho_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{(0)})) \\ &= (\rho_{(-1)})_{(1)}(\nu_{(-1)})_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\rho_{(-1)})_{(2)}(\nu_{(-1)})_{(2)}\epsilon(g(\rho_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{(0)})) \\ &= (\rho_{(-1)})_{(1)}(\nu_{(-1)})_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} ((\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \epsilon g)((\rho_{(-1)})_{(2)}(\nu_{(-1)})_{(2)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \rho_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{(0)})) \\ &= \rho_{(-1)}\nu_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} ((\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \epsilon g)(\Delta_{(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})}(\rho_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{(0)}))) \end{split}$$

(where we have used coassociativity of comodule coactions)

$$= \rho_{(-1)}\nu_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g(\rho_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu_{(0)})$$
$$= (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(\Delta_{(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})}(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu)).$$

On the other hand, suppose $g: \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}$ is a left-covariant map. Then we have

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \epsilon g) \Delta_{(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})}(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \epsilon)(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g) \Delta_{(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})}(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu)$$
$$= (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \epsilon) \Delta(g(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu)) = g(\rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nu).$$

The proof of the right-covariant case is similar.

The following key result will be used throughout the article.

Lemma 4.3.4. ([51]) If g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric which is left-invariant on a leftcovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} , then $g(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2) \in \mathbb{C}.1$ for all ω_1, ω_2 in $_0\mathcal{E}$. Similarly, if g is a rightinvariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on a right-covariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule, then $g(\eta_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_2) \in \mathbb{C}.1$ for all η_1, η_2 in \mathcal{E}_0 .

Let us clarify some of the properties of a left-invariant and right-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metrics. To that end, we make the next definition which makes sense as we always work with finite bicovariant bimodules (see Definition 4.1.3). The notations used in the next definition will be used throughout the chapter.

Definition 4.3.5. Let \mathcal{E} and g be as above. For a fixed basis $\{\omega_1, \dots, \omega_n\}$ of $_0\mathcal{E}$, we define $g_{ij} = g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j)$. Moreover, we define $V_g : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}^* = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$ to be the map defined by the formula

$$V_q(e)(f) = g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f).$$

Proposition 4.3.6. Let g be a left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric for \mathcal{E} as in Definition 4.3.1. Then the following statements hold:

- (i) The map V_g is a one-to-one right \mathcal{A} -linear map from \mathcal{E} to \mathcal{E}^* .
- (ii) If $e \in \mathcal{E}$ is such that $g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = 0$ for all $f \in {}_{0}\mathcal{E}$, then e = 0. In particular, the map $V_{g}|_{0\mathcal{E}}$ is one-to-one and hence an isomorphism from ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ to $({}_{0}\mathcal{E})^{*}$.
- (iii) The matrix $((g_{ij}))_{ij}$ is invertible.
- (iv) Let g^{ij} denote the (i, j)-th entry of the inverse of the matrix $((g_{ij}))_{ij}$. Then g^{ij} is an element of $\mathbb{C}.1$ for all i, j.
- (v) If $g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = 0$ for all e in ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}$, then f = 0.

Proof. The right \mathcal{A} -linearity of V_g follows from the fact that g is a well-defined map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to \mathcal{A} . The condition (2) of Definition 4.3.1 forces V_g to be one-to-one. This proves (i).

For proving (ii), note that $V_g|_{0\mathcal{E}}$ is the restriction of a one-to-one map to a subspace. Hence, it is a one-to-one \mathbb{C} -linear map. Since g is left-invariant, by Lemma 4.3.4, for any e in $_0\mathcal{E}$, $V_g(e)(_0\mathcal{E})$ is contained in \mathbb{C} . Therefore, V_g maps $_0\mathcal{E}$ into $(_0\mathcal{E})^*$. Since, $_0\mathcal{E}$ and $(_0\mathcal{E})^*$ have the same finite dimension as vector spaces, $V_g|_0\mathcal{E}: _0\mathcal{E} \to (_0\mathcal{E})^*$ is an isomorphism. This proves (ii).

Now we prove (iii). Let $\{\omega_i\}_i$ be a basis of ${}_0\mathcal{E}$ and $\{\omega_i^*\}_i$ be a dual basis, i.e., $\omega_i^*(\omega_j) = \delta_{ij}$. Since $V_g|_{0\mathcal{E}}$ is a vector space isomorphism from ${}_0\mathcal{E}$ to $({}_0\mathcal{E})^*$ by part (ii), there exist complex numbers a_{ij} such that

$$(V_g)^{-1}(\omega_i^*) = \sum_j a_{ij}\omega_j$$

. This yields

$$\delta_{ik} = \omega_i^*(\omega_k) = g(\sum_j a_{ij}\omega_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_k) = \sum_j a_{ij}g_{jk}.$$

Therefore, $((a_{ij}))_{ij}$ is the left-inverse and hence the inverse of the matrix $((g_{ij}))_{ij}$. This proves (iii).

For proving (iv), we use the fact that g_{ij} is an element of $\mathbb{C}.1$ for all i, j. Since

$$\sum_{k} g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_k) g^{kj} = \delta_{ij} \cdot 1 = \sum_{k} g^{ik} g(\omega_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j) = \delta_{ij},$$

we have

$$\sum_{k} g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_k) \epsilon(g^{kj}) = \delta_{ij} = \sum_{k} \epsilon(g^{ik}) g(\omega_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j).$$

So, the matrix $((\epsilon(g^{ij})))_{ij}$ is also an inverse to the matrix $((g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j)))_{ij}$ and hence $g^{ij} = \epsilon(g^{ij})$ and g^{ij} is in $\mathbb{C}.1$.

Finally, we prove (v) using (iv). Suppose f be an element in \mathcal{E} such that $g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = 0$ for all e in $_{0}\mathcal{E}$. Let $f = \sum_{k} \omega_{k} a_{k}$ for some elements a_{k} in \mathcal{A} . Then for any fixed index i_{0} , we obtain

$$0 = g(\sum_{j} g^{i_0 j} \omega_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sum_{k} \omega_k a_k) = \sum_{k} \sum_{j} g^{i_0 j} g_{jk} a_k = \sum_{k} \delta_{i_0 k} a_k = a_{i_0} \cdot a_{i_$$

Hence, we have that f = 0. This finishes the proof.

We apply the results in Proposition 4.3.6 to exhibit a basis of the free right \mathcal{A} -module $V_g(\mathcal{E})$. This will be used in the next chapter to make Definition 5.2.1 which will be needed to prove Theorem 5.2.5.

Lemma 4.3.7. Suppose $\{\omega_i\}_i$ is a basis of ${}_0\mathcal{E}$ and $\{\omega_i^*\}_i$ be the dual basis as in the proof of Proposition 4.3.6. If g is a pseudo-Riemannian left-invariant metric on \mathcal{E} , then $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ is a free right \mathcal{A} -module with basis $\{\omega_i^*\}_i$.

Proof. We will use the notations $(g_{ij})_{ij}$ and g^{ij} from Proposition 4.3.6. Since V_g is a right \mathcal{A} -linear map, $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ is a right \mathcal{A} -module. Since

$$V_g(\omega_i) = \sum_j g_{ij} \omega_j^* \tag{4.3.1}$$

and the inverse matrix $(g^{ij})_{ij}$ has scalar entries (Proposition 4.3.6), we get

$$\omega_k^* = \sum_i g^{ki} V_g(\omega_i)$$

and so ω_k^* belongs to $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ for all k. By the right \mathcal{A} -linearity of the map V_g , we conclude that the set $\{\omega_i^*\}_i$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $V_g(\mathcal{E})$.

Finally, if a_i are elements in \mathcal{A} such that $\sum_k \omega_k^* a_k = 0$, then by (4.3.1), we have

$$0 = \sum_{i,k} g^{ki} V_g(\omega_i) a_k = V_g(\sum_i \omega_i(\sum_k g^{ki} a_k)).$$

As V_g is one-to-one and $\{\omega_i\}_i$ is a basis of the free module \mathcal{E} , we get

$$\sum_{k} g^{ki} a_k = 0 \ \forall \ i.$$

Multiplying by g_{ij} and summing over i yields $a_j = 0$. This proves that $\{\omega_i^*\}_i$ is a basis of $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ and finishes the proof.

Remark 4.3.8. Let us note that for all $e \in \mathcal{E}$, the following equation holds:

$$e = \sum_{i} \omega_i \omega_i^*(e_i). \tag{4.3.2}$$

For the next proposition, we will need the notion of a left dual of an object in a monoidal category as defined in Definition 1.1.9. We observe that if g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric **billinear** metric on a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} , then \mathcal{E} is self-dual.

Proposition 4.3.9. Suppose g is a pseudo-Riemannian \mathcal{A} -bilinear pseudo-Riemannian metric on a finite bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule. Let $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$ denote the left dual of the object \mathcal{E} in the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$. Then $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$ is isomorphic to \mathcal{E} as objects in the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ via the morphism V_g .

Proof. Let $\{\omega_i\}_i$ be a basis of ${}_0\mathcal{E}$. It is well-known that $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$ and \mathcal{E}^* are isomorphic objects in the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$. This follows by using the bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bilinear maps

$$\operatorname{ev}: \mathcal{E}^* \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}; \quad \phi \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e \mapsto \phi(e), \ \operatorname{coev}: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}^*; \quad 1 \mapsto \sum_i \omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_i^*$$

We define $\operatorname{ev}_g : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}$ and $\operatorname{coev}_g : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ by the following formulas:

$$\operatorname{ev}_g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f), \quad \operatorname{coev}_g(1) = \sum_i \omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g^{-1}(\omega_i^*)$$

Then since g is both left and right \mathcal{A} -linear, ev_g and coev_g are \mathcal{A} -bimodule maps. The bicovariance of g implies the bicovariance of ev_g while the bicovariance of $\operatorname{coev}_g = (\operatorname{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} V_g^{-1}) \circ \operatorname{coev}$ follows from the bicovariance of V_g and coev.

Since the left dual of an object is unique upto isomorphism, we need to check the following identities for all e in \mathcal{E} :

$$(\operatorname{ev}_g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(\operatorname{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{coev}_g)(e) = e, \ (\operatorname{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{ev}_g)(\operatorname{coev}_g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(e) = e.$$

But these follow by a simple computation using the fact that $_0\mathcal{E}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in \mathcal{E} and the identity (4.3.2).

From the above discussion, we have that \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{E}^* are two left duals of the object \mathcal{E} in the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$. Then by Proposition 1.1.10, we know that $(\mathrm{ev}_g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}^*})(\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{coev})$ is an isomorphism from \mathcal{E} to \mathcal{E}^* . But it can be easily checked that $(\mathrm{ev}_g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}^*})(\mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{E}} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{coev}) = V_g$. This completes the proof.

Now we state a result on bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric.

Proposition 4.3.10. Let g be a pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} and the symbols $\{\omega_i\}_i, \{g_{ij}\}_{ij}$ be as above. If

$$\mathcal{E}\Delta(\omega_i) = \sum_j \omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{ji} \tag{4.3.3}$$

(see (1.2.4)), then g is bi-invariant if and only if the elements g_{ij} are scalar and

$$g_{ij} = \sum_{kl} g_{kl} R_{ki} R_{lj}.$$
 (4.3.4)

Proof. Since g is left-invariant, the elements g_{ij} are in C.1. Moreover, the right-invariance of g implies that g is right-covariant (Proposition 4.3.3), i.e.

$$1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g_{ij} = \Delta(g_{ij}) = (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} \Delta(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j)$$
$$= (g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{id})(\sum_{kl} \omega_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_l \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{ki} R_{lj}) = 1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sum_{kl} g_{kl} R_{ki} R_{lj},$$

so that

$$g_{ij} = \sum_{kl} g_{kl} R_{ki} R_{lj}.$$
 (4.3.5)

Conversely, if $g_{ij} = g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j)$ are scalars and (4.3.4) is satisfied, then g is left-invariant and right-covariant. By Proposition 4.3.3, g is right-invariant.

Next we compare our definition of pseudo-Riemannian metrics with some of the other definitions available in the literature.

Proposition 4.3.6 shows that our notion of pseudo-Riemannian metric coincides with the right \mathcal{A} -linear version of a "symmetric metric" introduced in Definition 2.1 of [51] if we impose the condition of left-invariance.

Next, we compare our definition with the one used by Beggs and Majid in Proposition 4.2 of [70] (also see [11] and references therein). To that end, we briefly recall the construction of the two forms as in Subsection 1.3.2.

If \mathcal{E} is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule and σ be the map as in Proposition 1.3.17, Woronowicz defined the space of two forms as:

$$\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}) := (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) / \mathrm{Ker}(\sigma - 1).$$

The symbol \wedge will denote the quotient map

$$\wedge: \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A}).$$

Thus,

$$\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) = \operatorname{Ker}(\sigma - 1).$$

In Proposition 4.2 of [70], the authors define a metric on a bimodule \mathcal{E} over a (possibly) noncommutative algebra \mathcal{A} as an element h of $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ such that $\wedge(h) = 0$. We claim that metrics in the sense of Beggs and Majid are in one to one correspondence with elements g in Hom_{\mathcal{A}}($\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A}$) (not necessarily left-invariant) such that $g \circ \sigma = g$. Thus, modulo the nondegeneracy condition (ii) of Definition 4.3.1, our notion of pseudo-Riemannian metric matches with the definition of metric by Beggs and Majid.

Indeed, if g is in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$ as above and $\{\omega_i\}_i$, is a basis of ${}_0\mathcal{E}$, then the equation $g \circ \sigma = g$ implies that

$$g \circ \sigma(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j) = g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j).$$

Moreover, since σ is a bicovariant bimodule map, by Proposition 4.1.14, $\sigma(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})$ is contained in $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$. Hence, by Proposition 4.1.12 we know that

$$\sigma(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j) = \sum_{k,l} \sigma_{ij}^{kl} \omega_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_l$$

for some scalars σ_{ij}^{kl} . Therefore, we have

$$\sum_{k,l} \sigma_{ij}^{kl} g(\omega_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_l) = g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j).$$
(4.3.6)

We claim that the element $h = \sum_{i,j} g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j) \omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j$ satisfies $\wedge(h) = 0$. Indeed, by virtue of (1.3.9), it is enough to prove that $(\sigma - 1)(h) = 0$. But this directly follows from (4.3.6) using the left \mathcal{A} -linearity of σ .

This argument is reversible and hence starting from h in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ satisfying $\wedge(h) = 0$, we get an element g in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{A})$ such that for all i, j,

$$g \circ \sigma(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j) = g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j)$$

Since $\{\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j\}_{ij}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ (Corollary 4.1.8) and the maps g, σ are right \mathcal{A} -linear, we get that $g \circ \sigma = g$. This proves our claim. Let us note that since we did not assume g to be left invariant, the quantities $g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j)$ need not be scalars. However, the proof goes through since the elements σ_{kl}^{ij} are scalars.

4.3.1 The $g^{(2)}$ -adjoint of a left-covariant map

Suppose \mathcal{E} is a bicovariant bimodule and g a pseudo-Riemannian metric. Then following the lines of Definition 2.3.4, it is straightforward to define (Definition 4.3.11) a complex valued map $g^{(2)}$ on $_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$. The goal of this subsection is to show that any complex linear map from $_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to itself admits an adjoint with respect to $g^{(2)}$. Moreover, in Lemma 4.3.13 and Proposition 4.3.14, we show that the maps $_{0}\sigma$ and $_{0}(P_{\text{sym}})$ are actually self-adjoint. These results will be used in Lemma 4.5.4 and Theorem 4.5.9 for deriving a sufficient condition for the existence of a Levi-Civita connection.

Let \mathcal{E} be a bicovariant bimodule over \mathcal{A} and $\{\omega_i\}_i$ a basis of $_0\mathcal{E}$. Then the set $\{\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j\}_{ij}$ is a basis for the finite dimensional vector space $_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} _0\mathcal{E}$. Thus, we are allowed to make the following definition.

Definition 4.3.11. Suppose g is a left-covariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} . We define a map

$$g^{(2)}: ({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} ({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0\mathcal{E}) \to \mathbb{C}$$
 by the formula

 $g^{(2)}((\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4)) = g(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g(\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_3) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_4)$

for all $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3, \omega_4 \in {}_0\mathcal{E}$.

We also define a map $V_{q^{(2)}}: ({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}) \to ({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})^* := \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E},\mathbb{C})$ by the formula

$$V_{q^{(2)}}(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2)(\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4) = g^{(2)}((\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4)).$$

Since, by the second assertion of Lemma 4.3.4, $g(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2)$ belongs to \mathbb{C} , it is clear that the element $g^{(2)}((\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4))$ indeed belongs to \mathbb{C} .

Let us note that the maps $g^{(2)}$ and $V_{g^{(2)}}$ are both right \mathcal{A} -linear. The following nondegeneracy property is going to be crucial in the sequel. **Proposition 4.3.12.** Let Y be an element of ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$. If $g^{(2)}(X\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}Y) = 0$ for all X in ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$, then Y = 0. Similarly, if $g^{(2)}(Y\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}X) = 0$ for all X in ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$, then Y = 0. In particular, the map $V_{g^{(2)}}$ defined in Definition 4.3.11 is a vector space isomorphism from ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to $({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})^{*}$.

Proof. Let $\{\omega_i\}_i$ be a basis for ${}_0\mathcal{E}$ so that $\{\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j\}_{ij}$ is a basis for ${}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0\mathcal{E}$. By Proposition 4.3.6, the matrix whose i, j-th element is $g_{ij} = g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j)$ is invertible in $M_n(\mathbb{C})$. We will denote by g^{ij} the i, j-th entry of the inverse of the matrix $((g_{ij}))_{ij}$.

Suppose $\{b_{ij}\}_{ij}$ are complex numbers such that

$$Y = \sum_{ij} \omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j b_{ij}.$$

Let us fix the indices i_0, j_0 and define

$$X = \sum_{kl} g^{i_0 l} g^{j_0 k} \omega_k \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_l$$

Then we get

$$0 = g^{(2)}(X \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} Y) = g^{(2)}(\sum_{ijkl} g^{i_0l} g^{j_0k}(\omega_k \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_l) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j) b_{ij})$$
$$= \sum_{ijkl} g^{i_0l} g^{j_0k} g(\omega_k \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g_{li} \omega_j) b_{ij} = \sum_{ijkl} g^{i_0l} g_{li} g^{j_0k} g_{kj} b_{ij} = \sum_{ij} \delta_{i_0i} \delta_{j_0j} b_{ij} = b_{i_0j_0}$$

Hence, if $g^{(2)}(X \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} Y) = 0$ for all X, then Y = 0.

To prove the second statement, fix indices i_0, j_0 and define $X = \sum_{kl} g^{li_0} g^{kj_0} \omega_k \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_l$. Then, we compute the following.

$$g^{(2)}(Y \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} X) = g^{(2)} \left(\sum_{ijkl} (\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j b_{ij}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_k \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_l g^{li_0} g^{kj_0}) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{ijkl} g_{il} g^{li_0} g_{jk} g^{kj_0} b_{ij} = \sum_{ij} \delta_{i_0i} \delta_{j_0j} b_{ij} = b_{i_0j_0}$$

Hence, if $g^{(2)}(Y \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} X) = 0$ for all X, then Y = 0.

Before stating the next lemma, we note that the $g^{(2)}$ -adjoint of the maps $_0\sigma$ and $_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ make sense. Indeed, $_0\sigma$ and $_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ are linear maps from the complex vector space $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to itself. By virtue of Proposition 4.3.12, we can apply Lemma 1.1.7 to $h = g^{(2)}$ and $T = _0\sigma$ or $_0(P_{\text{sym}})$. Thus, $(_0\sigma)^*$ and $(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))^*$ exist.

Lemma 4.3.13. Let \mathcal{E} be a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule, σ the braiding map of Proposition 1.3.17 and g be a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} , then $(_0\sigma)^* = _0\sigma$.

Proof. We will actually prove a stronger statement. Since $g^{(2)}$ is a map from $({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} ({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E})$ to \mathbb{C} , it extends uniquely to a right \mathcal{A} -linear left-covariant map (to be denoted by $g^{(2)}$ again, by an abuse of notation) from $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$ to \mathcal{A} by Proposition 4.1.16. We will prove that for e, f, e', f' in \mathcal{E} ,

$$g^{(2)}(\sigma(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f')) = g^{(2)}((e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma(e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f')).$$
(4.3.7)

To this end, we claim that it is enough to prove that for all ω, ω' in ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ and η, η' in \mathcal{E}_{0} ,

$$g^{(2)}(\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta')) = g^{(2)}((\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta')).$$
(4.3.8)

Indeed, by Corollary 4.1.8, for every element a in \mathcal{A} , there exist elements x_i in $_0\mathcal{E}$, y_i in \mathcal{E}_0 and a_i in \mathcal{A} such that

$$a(\omega'\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\eta')=\sum_{i}x_{i}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}y_{i}a_{i}.$$

Hence, if (4.3.8) is true, the right \mathcal{A} -linearity of the map $g^{(2)}$ implies that

$$g^{(2)}(\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta' b)) = g^{(2)}(\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} a(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta'))b$$

$$= \sum_{i} g^{(2)}(\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (x_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} y_{i}))a_{i}b = \sum_{i} g^{(2)}((\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma(x_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} y_{i}))a_{i}b$$

$$= \sum_{i} g^{(2)}((\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma(x_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} y_{i}a_{i}))b = g^{(2)}((\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} a\sigma(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta'))b$$

$$= g^{(2)}((\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta a) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta' b)).$$

Here we have used the bilinearity of the map σ . Since ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}_{0}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ (by Corollary 4.1.8), this proves (4.3.7) provided we prove (4.3.8). This proves our claim.

Thus, we are left with proving (4.3.8) which follows from the following computation:

$$g^{(2)}(\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta')) = g^{(2)}((\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta'))$$
$$=g(\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta')g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega') = g^{(2)}((\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (\eta' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega'))$$
$$=g^{(2)}((\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sigma(\omega' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta')),$$

where we have used $\sigma(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega$ (see (1.3.7)) twice and the facts that $g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega')$ and $g(\eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta')$ take values in $\mathbb{C}.1$ (second assertion of Lemma 4.3.4). This completes the proof of the lemma.

Proposition 4.3.14. We have $(_0(P_{sym}))^* = _0(P_{sym})$. Moreover, if $V_{g^{(2)}} : _0 \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E} \to (_0 \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E})^*$ is the map defined in Definition 4.3.11, then

$$V_{g^{(2)}}(_{0}(P_{\text{sym}})(X))(Y) = V_{g^{(2)}}(X) \circ_{0}(P_{\text{sym}})(Y) \ \forall X, Y \in {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}.$$
(4.3.9)

In particular, $V_{q^{(2)}}$ is a vector space isomorphism from ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$ onto $({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E})^*$.

Proof. Since $(_0\sigma)^* = _0\sigma$ by Lemma 4.3.13 and $_0(P_{sym})$ is a polynomial in $_0\sigma$ by (4.2.6), we have $(_0(P_{sym}))^* = _0(P_{sym})$. Then (4.3.9) follows from the definition of $V_{g^{(2)}}$. Finally, for the last assertion, let us recall the identification

$$({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})^{*} = \{ \phi \in ({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})^{*} : \phi(X) = \phi({}_{0}(P_{\operatorname{sym}})(X)) \ \forall X \in {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} \}$$
(4.3.10)

from (4.2.9). Now, if X is in ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E} = \mathrm{Ran}({}_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))$, then for all Y in ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$, we have

$$V_{q^{(2)}}(X)(Y) = V_{q^{(2)}}(_{0}(P_{\text{sym}})(X))(Y) = V_{q^{(2)}}(X)(_{0}(P_{\text{sym}})(Y))$$

by (4.3.9). Therefore, $V_{g^{(2)}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})$ is a subspace of $(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})^*$ by (4.3.10). Now by Proposition 4.3.12, the map $V_{g^{(2)}}$ is one-to-one and so we reach our our desired conclusion by a dimension argument.

4.4 Bicovariant connections and metric compatibility

Recall that in Definition 1.4.10 and Definition 1.4.11, we had already defined connections on a first order differential calculus and their torsion. In this section, we define covariant connections on bicovariant differential calculi. As a consequence of the assumption of diagonalisability of $_{0}\sigma$ made in Section 4.2, in Subsection 4.4.1 we construct a canonical torsionless connection on a bicovariant differential calculus. In Subsection 4.4.2, we introduce the notion of compatibility of a left covariant connection with a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. In that section we also make a comparison of our notion of metric compatibility with that of [51] in a limited setting.

Definition 4.4.1. ([51]) Let (\mathcal{E}, d) be a bicovariant differential calculus on \mathcal{A} . A (right) connection on \mathcal{E} is a \mathbb{C} -linear map $\nabla : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ such that, for all a in \mathcal{A} and ρ in \mathcal{E} , the following equation holds:

$$\nabla(\rho a) = \nabla(\rho)a + \rho \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da.$$

The connection ∇ is said to be left (right) covariant if it is a left (right) covariant linear map from \mathcal{E} to $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. It is called a bicovariant connection if it is bicovariant as a linear map.

Lemma 4.4.2. ([51]) If ∇ is a left-covariant connection on a bicovariant differential calculus (\mathcal{E}, d) , then $\nabla(_0\mathcal{E}) \subseteq {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$.

Proof. This follows by combining Proposition 4.1.17 and Proposition 4.1.12.

Our notion of torsion T_{∇} (see Definition 1.4.11) of a connection is the same as that of [51], with the only difference being that they work with left connections.

The following result which will be needed in the proof of Proposition 4.5.3.

Lemma 4.4.3. If ∇_1 and ∇_2 are two left-covariant torsionless connections on a bicovariant differential calculus (\mathcal{E}, d) on \mathcal{A} , then $\nabla_1 - \nabla_2$ is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E})$.

Proof. If ∇_1 and ∇_2 are two torsionless connections, we have that $\wedge \circ \nabla_1 = -d = \wedge \circ \nabla_2$. Therefore,

$$\operatorname{Ran}(\nabla_1 - \nabla_2) \subseteq \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) = \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}.$$

Moreover, by Lemma 4.4.2, if ω is an element of $_0\mathcal{E}$, then $(\nabla_1 - \nabla_2)(\omega)$ is in $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$, i.e, $(\nabla_1 - \nabla_2)(\omega)$ is invariant under $\Delta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}$. Hence, by (4.2.5), $(\nabla_1 - \nabla_2)(\omega)$ is an element of $_0(\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathrm{sym}}\mathcal{E}) = {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$.

4.4.1 A canonical bicovariant torsionless connection

In this subsection, we prove, by construction, the existence of a bicovariant torsionless connection on any bicovariant differential calculus which satisfies the condition that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable. Indeed, we will be using the map $Q = \wedge|_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathcal{F} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ (Definition 4.2.9) which makes sense due to the splitting $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E}) \oplus \mathcal{F}$ (Theorem 4.2.5) which in turn follows from the assumption of diagonalisability of the map $_0\sigma$. Let us recall that Q is a bimodule isomorphism from \mathcal{F} to $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$. **Theorem 4.4.4.** Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus on \mathcal{A} such that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable. Then \mathcal{E} admits a bicovariant torsionless connection.

Proof. The proof of existence of a torsionless connection ∇_0 follows exactly along the lines of Theorem 2.2.3 of Chapter 2. The only difference here is that we need to define ∇_0 in such a way that it remains bicovariant.

We define $\widetilde{\nabla}_0 : {}_0\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ by

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_0(\omega) = Q^{-1}(-d(\omega)).$$

Indeed, by Corollary 4.2.10 and (4.2.8), $\widetilde{\nabla}_0(\omega)$ is an element of ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ for all ω in ${}_0\mathcal{E}$. Let $\{\omega_i\}_i$ be a vector space basis of ${}_0\mathcal{E}$. By the right \mathcal{A} -totality of ${}_0\mathcal{E}$ in \mathcal{E} , we extend $\widetilde{\nabla}_0$ to a map $\nabla_0: \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ by the formula

$$\nabla_0(\sum_i \omega_i a_i) = \sum_i \widetilde{\nabla}_0(\omega_i) a_i + \sum_i \omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da_i.$$

Since \mathcal{E} is a free module with basis $\{\omega_i\}_i$, the above formula is well-defined. It follows that for all ω in $_0\mathcal{E}$ and for all a in \mathcal{A} ,

$$\nabla_0(\omega a) = \widetilde{\nabla}_0(\omega)a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da.$$

Then, to verify that ∇_0 is a connection we compute the following for ω in $_0\mathcal{E}$ and a, b in \mathcal{A} .

$$\nabla_{0}(\omega ab) = \widetilde{\nabla}_{0}(\omega)ab + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} d(ab) = \widetilde{\nabla}(\omega)ab + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da.b + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} adb$$
$$= (\widetilde{\nabla}(\omega)a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da)b + \omega a \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} db = \nabla_{0}(\omega a)b + \omega a \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} db$$

Now we prove that ∇_0 is torsionless. Indeed, since by Definition 4.2.9, we have $\wedge \circ Q^{-1} = id_{\Omega^2(\mathcal{A})}$, we can deduce that

$$\wedge \circ \nabla_0(\omega a) = \wedge \circ (\widetilde{\nabla}_0(\omega)a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da) = \wedge \circ Q^{-1}(-d(\omega))a + \omega \wedge da$$
$$= -d(\omega)a + \omega \wedge da = -d(\omega a).$$

Before proceeding further, let us note that since ∇_0 coincides with $\widetilde{\nabla}_0$ on $_0\mathcal{E}$ and $\widetilde{\nabla}_0(\omega)$ belongs to $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ if ω is in $_0\mathcal{E}, \nabla_0(\omega)$ is in $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$. We will use this fact in the rest of the proof where ω and a will stand for arbitrary elements of $_0\mathcal{E}$ and \mathcal{A} respectively. To show that ∇_0 is left-covariant, we observe that since $\nabla_0(\omega)$ is in ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$, $\Delta_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}(\nabla_0(\omega)) = 1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\nabla_0(\omega)$. Using this, we get

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla_{0})(\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(\omega a)) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla_{0})(\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(\omega)\Delta(a))$$

= $(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla_{0})((1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega)(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)})) = a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla_{0}(\omega a_{(2)})$
= $a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\nabla_{0}(\omega)a_{(2)} + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da_{(2)}) = (1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla_{0}(\omega))(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)}) + a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da_{(2)}$
= $(1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla_{0}(\omega))(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)}) + (da)_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} (da)_{(0)} \text{ (by part (i) of Lemma 1.3.16)}$
= $\Delta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (\nabla_{0}(\omega))\Delta(a) + \Delta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da) = \Delta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (\nabla_{0}(\omega)a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da)$
= $\Delta_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (\nabla_{0}(\omega a)).$

Finally, we show that ∇_0 is also right-covariant. Let ω and a continue to denote elements of ${}_0\mathcal{E}$ and \mathcal{A} respectively. Since \mathcal{E} is a bicovariant bimodule, ${}_{\mathcal{E}}\Delta(\omega) = \omega_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{(1)}$ belongs to ${}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}$ by Lemma 1.2.12. Hence $\omega_{(0)}$ belongs to ${}_0\mathcal{E}$ and we are allowed to write

$$\nabla_0(\omega_{(0)}a_{(1)}) = Q^{-1}(-d(\omega_{(0)}))a_{(1)} + \omega_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d(a_{(1)}).$$

Thus, we obtain

This finishes the proof.

4.4.2 Metric Compatibility of a bicovariant connection

In this subsection, we define the notion of metric-compatibility of a left-covariant connection with a left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. We will need the map $_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ introduced in Definition 4.2.6. Our definition coincides with that in the classical case (Proposition 4.4.8) and also with that in [51] for cocycle deformations of classical Lie groups. The latter statement is derived in Chapter 5.

Definition 4.4.5. Let ∇ be a left-covariant connection on a bicovariant calculus (\mathcal{E}, d) and g a left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. Then we define

 $\widetilde{\Pi_q^0}(\nabla): {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E}$ by the following formula :

$$\widetilde{\Pi_g^0}(\nabla)(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j) = 2(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(\sigma \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\nabla \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}})(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j).$$
(4.4.1)

Next, for all ω_1, ω_2 in ${}_0\mathcal{E}$ and a in \mathcal{A} , we define $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ by

$$\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) \circ \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a) = \widetilde{\Pi_g}^0(\nabla)(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2)a + g(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2)da.$$

It is easy to see that $\widetilde{\Pi_g^0}(\nabla)$ indeed maps ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ inside ${}_0\mathcal{E}$. Indeed, let ω_1, ω_2 be elements of ${}_0\mathcal{E}$. Since ${}_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ is a map from ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to itself, ${}_0(P_{\text{sym}})(\omega_1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2)$ is in ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$. Then, by Lemma 4.4.2, $(\nabla\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\text{id})({}_0(P_{\text{sym}}))(\omega_1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2)$ is in ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$. Since σ is left-covariant and g is left-invariant, Proposition 4.1.17 and the second assertion of Lemma 4.3.4 imply that the element

 $(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(\sigma \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\nabla \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2)$ belongs to $_0\mathcal{E}$.

Finally, by Proposition 4.1.7 and the notation adopted in Proposition 4.1.12, the map $\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}$ from ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A}$ to $\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}$ is an isomorphism, hence $\widetilde{\Pi_{g}}(\nabla)$ is well-defined.

Remark 4.4.6. If ∇ is left-covariant and g is left-invariant, the above argument shows that

$$\widetilde{\Pi_g}(
abla)(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})\subseteq {}_0\mathcal{E}$$

and thus by Proposition 4.1.17, the map $\widetilde{\Pi_q}(\nabla)$ is left-covariant.

For the rest of the chapter, dg will denote the map

$$dg: \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}, \ dg(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = d(g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f)).$$

Now we define the notion of metric compatibility of a bicovariant connection.

Definition 4.4.7. Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a left-covariant differential calculus over \mathcal{A} and g is a left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. We say that a left-covariant connection ∇ on \mathcal{E} is compatible with g if, as maps from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to \mathcal{E} ,

$$\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) = dg.$$

We now show that our formulation of metric-compatibility of a connection coincides with that in the classical case of commutative Hopf algebras.

Proposition 4.4.8. The above definition of metric compatibility coincides with that in the classical case.

Proof. Let G be a linear algebraic group, \mathcal{A} be its (commutative) Hopf algebra of regular functions and g be a left-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on the classical space of forms. In this case, the canonical braiding map σ is equal to the flip map, i.e., for all e, f in $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$,

$$\sigma(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = \operatorname{flip}(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e.$$

Since $g \circ \sigma = g$, we have $g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = g(f \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e)$. Moreover, the map P_{sym} is equal to $\frac{1}{2}(1 + \sigma)$. Let us recall (Proposition 1.4.8) that a connection ∇ on $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$ is compatible with g if and only if

$$(g \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})[\mathrm{flip}_{23}(\nabla(e) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e') + e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \nabla(e')] = dg(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e'),$$

for all e, e' in $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$. The left hand side of the above equation can be written as

$$g_{13}\big(\nabla(e)\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e' + \nabla(e')\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e\big),$$

where $g_{13} = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g)(\mathrm{flip} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id}).$

Let $\{e_i\}_i$ be a basis of left-invariant one-forms of $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$. If e, e' belong to $\Omega^1(\mathcal{A})$, then there exist elements a_i, b_j in \mathcal{A} such that $e = \sum_i e_i a_i$ and $e' = \sum_j e_j b_j$. If ∇ is metric compatible in the sense of Definition 4.4.7, i.e, $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg = 0$, then using the Leibniz properties of ∇ and d

and the equation $g(e_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_j) = g(e_j \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_i)$, we get

$$\begin{split} g_{13}(\nabla(e) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e' + \nabla(e') \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e) \\ = & g_{13}(\nabla(\sum_{i} e_{i}a_{i}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sum_{j} e_{j}b_{j} + \nabla(\sum_{j} e_{j}b_{j}) \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sum_{i} e_{i}a_{i}) \\ = & (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g)(\mathrm{flip} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})(\nabla(\sum_{i} e_{i})a_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sum_{j} e_{j}b_{j} + \nabla(\sum_{j} e_{j})b_{j} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sum_{i} e_{i}a_{i}) \\ & + & (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} g)(\mathrm{flip} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathrm{id})(\sum_{i} e_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sum_{j} e_{j}b_{j} + \sum_{j} e_{j} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} db_{j} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \sum_{i} e_{i}a_{i})) \\ & = & \sum_{ij} \left((\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(\mathrm{flip} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\nabla \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(e_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} e_{j} + e_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} e_{i}))a_{i}b_{j} \\ & + & \sum_{ij} \left(da_{i}g(e_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{j})b_{j} + db_{j}g(e_{j} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{i})a_{i} \right) \\ & = & \sum_{ij} \left((\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(\mathrm{flip} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\nabla \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})((1 + \mathrm{flip})(e_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} e_{j})))a_{i}b_{j} + \sum_{ij} \left(g(e_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{j})d(a_{i}b_{j})\right) \\ & = & \sum_{ij} \left((\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(\mathrm{flip} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\nabla \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(1 + \mathrm{flip})(e_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} e_{j})) \right) \\ & = & \sum_{ij} \left((\mathrm{if}_{g}(\nabla)(e_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} e_{j})a_{i}b_{j} + g(e_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{j})d(a_{i}b_{j}) \right) \\ & = & \sum_{ij} \left((\mathrm{if}_{g}(\nabla)(\sum_{i} e_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{j}a_{i}b_{j}) = dg(\sum_{ij} e_{i} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{j}a_{i}b_{j}) = dg(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e'). \end{split}$$

This argument is reversible and thus, our definition of metric compatibility coincides with that in the classical case. $\hfill \Box$

It is also true that our definition of metric compatibility coincides with that of [51] for cocycle deformations of classical Lie groups. We state this result at the end of this section (Proposition 4.4.13) but the proof is postponed till Chapter 5.

4.4.3 Covariance properties of the map $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla)$

Let us now derive some covariance properties of the maps $\widetilde{\Pi_g^0}(\nabla)$ and $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg$ which will be used in Section 4.5.

Lemma 4.4.9. If ∇ is a bicovariant connection on \mathcal{E} and g is a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric, then $\widetilde{\Pi_g^0}(\nabla)$ is a right-covariant map.

Proof. The maps σ and $_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ are bicovariant (Proposition 4.2.7). Therefore, if ∇ is also right-covariant, and g is bi-invariant (and hence by the first assertion of Lemma 4.3.4 also bicovariant), then $\widetilde{\Pi_g^0}(\nabla)$ is a composition of right-covariant maps and therefore, right-covariant.

Proposition 4.4.10. If the connection ∇ is left-covariant and the pseudo-Riemannian metric g is left-invariant, then the map $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ is a left-covariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map. Moreover, if ∇ is bicovariant and the pseudo-Riemannian metric g is bi-invariant, then $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg$ is also a bicovariant map.

Proof. We start by proving that $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg$ is a right \mathcal{A} -linear. Since $\{\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega' : \omega, \omega' \in {}_0\mathcal{E}\}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$, it suffices to show that for all $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in {}_0\mathcal{E}$ and $a, b \in \mathcal{A}$, we have:

$$(\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg)((\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2 a)b) = \left((\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg)(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2 a)\right)b.$$

This follows from the following computation:

$$\begin{split} &(\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg)((\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2 a)b) \\ =& \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla)(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 ab + g(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2)d(ab) - dg(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2 ab) \\ =& \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla)(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2)ab + g(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2)(da.b + adb) - dg(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2 a)b - g(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2 a)db \\ =& (\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla)(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2)a + g(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2)d(a) - dg(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2 a))b \\ =& ((\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg)(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2 a))b. \end{split}$$

Now, we prove that $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg$ is a left-covariant map. Since g is left-invariant, for any ω_1, ω_2 in $_0\mathcal{E}, g(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2) \in \mathbb{C}$ by the second assertion of Lemma 4.3.4, and so $dg(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2) = 0$. Hence,

$$(\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg)(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2) = \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2),$$

which is in ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}$. Therefore, by Proposition 4.1.17, the map $\widetilde{\Pi_{g}}(\nabla) - dg$ is a left-covariant map. Finally, if ∇ is bicovariant and g is bi-invariant, then by Lemma 4.4.9, $\widetilde{\Pi_{g}^{0}}(\nabla)$ is a right-covariant map. Moreover, g and d are bicovariant (first assertion of Lemma 4.3.4 and Proposition 1.3.15). Hence $\widetilde{\Pi_{g}}(\nabla) - dg$ is also a bicovariant map.

Corollary 4.4.11. Suppose ∇ is a bicovariant connection and g is a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on (\mathcal{E}, d) . Then the map $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg$ is a right-covariant \mathbb{C} -linear map from $_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} _0\mathcal{E}$ to $_0\mathcal{E}$. *Proof.* Since ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \subseteq {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ and $g({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E}) \in \mathbb{C}.1$ (second assertion of Lemma 4.3.4), the map dg is equal to zero on ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E}$. Hence,

$$\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg = \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) = \widetilde{\Pi_g^0}(\nabla) \text{ on } {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathrm{sym}} {}_0\mathcal{E} \subseteq {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}_0\mathcal{E}.$$

However, as noted before, $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla)(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}) \subseteq {}_0\mathcal{E}$. The right-covariance follows from Proposition 4.4.10.

The following result is an immediate corollary of the proof of Proposition 4.4.10 and Definition 4.4.7.

Corollary 4.4.12. A connection ∇ on a bicovariant calculus (\mathcal{E}, d) is compatible with a biinvariant pseudo-Riemannian metric g if and only if $\widetilde{\Pi_a^0}(\nabla) = 0$ as a map on ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$.

Comparison with literature

Let us remark that in Lemma 3.4 of [51], Heckenberger and Schmüdgen prove an exact analogue of Corollary 4.4.12 for their formulation of metric compatibility.

We end this subsection by comparing our notion of metric-compatibility with that of Heckenberger and Schmüdgen ([51]). Before we state our result, let us recall that a left connection on \mathcal{E} is a \mathbb{C} -linear map $\nabla : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ such that $\nabla(ae) = a\nabla(e) + da \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e$. Similarly, a left \mathcal{A} -linear pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} is a left \mathcal{A} -linear map $g : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{A}$ such that $g \circ \sigma = g$ satisfying the condition that if $g(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} f) = 0$ for all e in \mathcal{E} , then f = 0.

Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus and g a left \mathcal{A} -linear bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} . The authors of [51] call a left connection ∇ on \mathcal{E} to be compatible with g if

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(\nabla \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) + (g \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma)(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla) = 0 \text{ on } {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}_{0}\mathcal{E}.$$

Therefore, we need to define the analogue of our compatibility for a bicovariant left connection ∇ with respect to a left \mathcal{A} -linear bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric g in order to compare our definition with that in [51]. To this end, we define a map

$${}_{L}\Pi^{0}_{q}(\nabla) := 2(g \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma)(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla)_{0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}}) : {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0\mathcal{E} \to {}_{0}\mathcal{E}.$$

Then as before, we define an extension $L \Pi_g(\nabla) : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ by

$$\widetilde{L\Pi_g}(\nabla)\widetilde{v}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}(a\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2) = \widetilde{a_L\Pi_g^0}(\nabla)(\omega_1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2) + (da)g(\omega_1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2),$$

where $\tilde{v}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}} : \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is the multiplication map which we know is an isomorphism from Proposition 4.1.7 and Corollary 4.1.8. We say that the bicovariant left connection ∇ is compatible with the left \mathcal{A} -linear bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric g if

$$\widetilde{_L\Pi_g}(\nabla) = dg. \tag{4.4.2}$$

It is easy to check that this definition coincides with the definition of metric-compatibility in the classical case, and the proof goes along the lines of Proposition 4.4.8. Then a result analogous to Corollary 4.4.12 can be derived to deduce that

$$\widetilde{L\Pi_g}(\nabla) = dg$$
 if and only if $\widetilde{L\Pi_g^0}(\nabla) = 0.$ (4.4.3)

The next result compares the above two definitions of metric-compatibility. However, since this result needs the definitions and some results on cocycle deformations, we have proved this at the end of Section 5.4.

Proposition 4.4.13. Let \mathcal{A} be the Hopf algebra of regular functions on a linear algebraic group, (\mathcal{E} , d) be the classical bicovariant differential calculus on \mathcal{A} and γ a normalised 2-cocycle on \mathcal{A} . Consider the bicovariant differential calculus ($\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}$) over the Hopf algebra \mathcal{A}_{γ} (see Proposition 5.3.1) and let g' be a left \mathcal{A} -linear bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E}_{γ} .

A bicovariant left connection ∇' on \mathcal{E}_{γ} is compatible with g' in the sense of (4.4.2) if and only if ∇ is compatible with g' in the sense of [51].

4.5 Existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections

In this section, we will derive some sufficient conditions for the existence of Levi-Civita connections for bicovariant differential calculus on quantum groups. As before, unless otherwise mentioned, (\mathcal{E}, d) will denote a bicovariant differential calculus on \mathcal{A} such that the restricted braiding map $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable, and g a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} . **Definition 4.5.1.** Let (\mathcal{E}, d) be a bicovariant differential calculus such that the map $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable and g a pseudo-Riemannian bi-invariant metric on \mathcal{E} . A left-covariant connection ∇ on \mathcal{E} is called a Levi-Civita connection for the triple (\mathcal{E}, d, g) if it is torsionless and compatible with g.

The strategy to derive our results are the same as in Chapter 2. However, since we are not working with a centered bimodule and the pseudo-Riemannian metric is only right \mathcal{A} -linear, the arguments become more delicate. Given a bicovariant differential calculus (\mathcal{E}, d) and a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric g, we start by defining a map

$$\widetilde{\Phi_g}: \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E})$$

and show (Proposition 4.5.3) that the isomorphism of $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ guarantees the existence of a unique left-covariant Levi-Civita connection for the triple (\mathcal{E}, d, g) .

However, since our metric is bi-invariant, it is to be expected that our Levi-Civita connection should be bicovariant. This is the second main result of this section (Theorem 4.5.8) which requires the Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} to be cosemisimple. We remark that the bicovariance of the Levi-Civita connection (with respect to a different metric-compatibility condition) for $SL_q(n)$, $Sp_q(n)$ and $O_q(n)$ were derived in [51].

Finally, our third result is Theorem 4.5.9 where we prove that the map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$: Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E}$) \to Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}$) is an isomorphism if and only if the map

$$(_{0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))_{23}:(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}\to {}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})$$

is an isomorphism. The proofs of Theorem 4.5.8 and Theorem 4.5.9 need some preparations which are made in Subsection 4.5.1.

The main steps involved in the proof are as follows:

Step 1: We prove that the isomorphism of

$$\widetilde{\Phi_g}: \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E})$$

guarantees the existence of a unique left-covariant Levi-Civita connection.

Step 2: We prove that the following diagram commutes:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E},{}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}) \xrightarrow{\zeta_{0}^{-1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}} ({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E})^{*} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g}^{-1}} ({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{$$

We note that by virute of Lemma 4.2.11 and Proposition 4.3.14, all the arrows in the diagram except possibly $(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))_{23} : (_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})$ have already been proved to be isomorphisms. Thus, the isomorphism of $(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))_{23}$ implies the isomorphism of $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ so that by **Step 1**, we have the existence of a unique left-covariant Levi-Civita connection.

For **Step 2** and the right-covariance of the Levi-Civita connection, we need to introduce an auxiliary map $\widetilde{\Psi_g}$ and obtain certain isomorphisms. This is done in Subsection 4.5.1. In Subsection 4.5.2, we prove that that this connection is actually right-covariant if \mathcal{A} is cosemisimple. Moreover, a metric-independent sufficient condition for the existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections is derived in Subsection 4.5.3.

Definition 4.5.2. The map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$: Hom_{\mathbb{C}}($_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$) \to Hom_{\mathbb{C}}($_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}$) is defined by the following formula:

$$\widetilde{\Phi_g}(L) = 2(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g) \sigma_{12}(L \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}}).$$

We start with the following proposition for which we will need a bicovariant torsionless connection whose existence was proved in Theorem 4.4.4.

Proposition 4.5.3. Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus such that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable, and g is a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. If the map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is a vector space isomorphism from $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})$ to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E})$, then there exists a unique left-covariant connection on \mathcal{E} which is torsionless and compatible with g.

Proof. Recall the torsionless bicovariant connection ∇_0 constructed in Theorem 4.4.4. Then Corollary 4.4.11 allows us to view $dg - \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla_0)$ as an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E})$. Since $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is an isomorphism, there exists a unique pre-image of the element $dg - \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla_0)$ under the map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$. Define the \mathbb{C} -linear map

$$\nabla_1 := \nabla_0 + \widetilde{\Phi_g}^{-1} (dg - \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla_0)) : {}_0\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}.$$

Then, by Proposition 4.4.3, $\nabla_1 - \nabla_0$ is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}) \subseteq \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_0\mathcal{E})$. By the proof of Proposition 4.1.16, $\nabla_1 - \nabla_0$ extends to an element L in ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E})$. Define a \mathbb{C} -linear map

$$\nabla = L + \nabla_0 : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}.$$

Since L and ∇_0 are both left-covariant maps, ∇ is a left-covariant map. Moreover, since ∇_0 is a connection and L is right \mathcal{A} -linear, it follows that ∇ is a also a connection, since

$$\nabla(ea) = L(ea) + \nabla_0(ea) = L(e)a + \nabla_0(e)a + e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da$$
$$= (L(e) + \nabla_0(e))a + e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da = \nabla(e)a + e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} da.$$

Now we prove that ∇ is torsionless. Since $(\nabla_1 - \nabla_0)$ is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E})$, $L(\omega)$ is in ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$ for all ω in ${}_0\mathcal{E}$. Since L is right \mathcal{A} -linear and the right \mathcal{A} -linear span of ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ran}({}_0(P_{\operatorname{sym}}))$ is equal to $\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}\mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ran}(P_{\operatorname{sym}})$ (see (4.2.5)), $L(\omega)$ is in $\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}\mathcal{E}$ for all ρ in \mathcal{E} . Hence, $\wedge \circ L(\rho) = 0$ for all ρ in \mathcal{E} . Therefore, for all ρ in \mathcal{E} , we have

$$\wedge \circ \nabla(\rho) = \wedge \circ (L + \nabla_0)(\rho) = \wedge \circ \nabla_0(\rho) = -d(\rho).$$

Therefore, ∇ is torsionless.

Now we prove that ∇ is compatible with g. The fact that ∇ is torsionless means in particular that $(\nabla - \nabla_0)(\omega)$ is in $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) = \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Thus, $\nabla - \nabla_0$ is in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E} \otimes^{\operatorname{sym}}_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})$ and so $\widetilde{\Phi}_g(\nabla - \nabla_0)$ is well-defined. From the definitions of $\widetilde{\Phi}_g$ and $\widetilde{\Pi}_g$, it is immediate that

$$\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla_0) = \widetilde{\Phi_g}(\nabla - \nabla_0)$$
(4.5.1)

as maps on $_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$.

By the definition of ∇ ,

$$\widetilde{\Phi}_g(\nabla - \nabla_0) = dg - \widetilde{\Pi}_g(\nabla_0) \text{ on }_0 \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E}.$$
(4.5.2)

Combining (4.5.1) and (4.5.2), we conclude that

$$\widetilde{\Pi}_g(\nabla) - \widetilde{\Pi}_g(\nabla_0) = dg - \widetilde{\Pi}_g(\nabla_0) \text{ on } {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E}.$$

Since $\widetilde{\Pi}_g(\nabla) - dg$ is right \mathcal{A} -linear by Proposition 4.4.10 and $\{\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2 : \omega_1, \omega_2 \in {}_0\mathcal{E}\}$ is right \mathcal{A} -total in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$,

$$\Pi_g(\nabla) - dg = 0 \text{ as maps on } \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}.$$

Hence, ∇ is compatible with g.

To show uniqueness, suppose ∇' is another torsionless left-covariant connection compatible with the metric g. Then, by Lemma 4.4.3, $\nabla - \nabla'$ is in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}_{0}}\mathcal{E})$ and

$$\widetilde{\Phi_g}(\nabla - \nabla') = \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla') = dg - dg = 0,$$

where we have used the fact that ∇ and ∇' are compatible with g. As $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is an isomorphism, $\nabla - \nabla' = 0$ as an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}, _{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})$. Since $\nabla - \nabla'$ is a right \mathcal{A} -linear map, $\nabla = \nabla'$ on \mathcal{E} .

Proposition 4.5.3 gives us a metric-dependent sufficient condition for the existence of a unique left-covariant Levi-Civita connection. Moreover, it also follows (by Theorem 4.5.8) that if \mathcal{A} is cosemisimple and (\mathcal{E}, d, g) satisfies the hypotheses of Proposition 4.5.3, then the left-covariant Levi-Civita connection is also bicovariant. However, we would like to have a metric independent sufficient condition. This is derived in Theorem 4.5.9. Before we prove either of these results, we will need some preparatory lemmas which are derived in the next subsection.

4.5.1 Some preparatory results

In order to derive the right-covariance of the Levi-Civita connection, we need to define an auxiliary map $\widetilde{\Psi_g}$: Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$) \rightarrow Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}$). In Proposition 4.5.6, we will prove that the map $\widetilde{\Psi_g}$ restricts to the map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$. The goal of this subsection is to prove Proposition 4.5.7 which states that $\widetilde{\Psi_g}$ preserves right-covariance.

We start with an elementary lemma for which we recall that for finite dimensional vector spaces V, W, $\zeta_{V,W}$ will be the isomorphism from $W \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V^*$ to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(V, W)$ as introduced in Proposition 1.1.8. Moreover, $V_{q^{(2)}}$ will be the map defined in Definition 4.3.11.

Lemma 4.5.4. For $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3 \in {}_0\mathcal{E}$, we have that

$$\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}}\left((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g^{(2)}})(\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{2}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3})\right)\circ_{0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}})$$

$$= \zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}}\left((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g^{(2)}})(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))(\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{2}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3})\right).$$

$$(4.5.3)$$

Proof. Let ω_4 , ω_5 be elements of $_0\mathcal{E}$. Then, by the definition of $\zeta_{_0\mathcal{E},_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}^0}\mathcal{E}}$,

$$\begin{split} &\zeta_{0}\varepsilon_{,0}\varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}}\left((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g^{(2)}})(\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{2}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3})\right)\circ_{0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}})(\omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{5})\\ &=&\zeta_{0}\varepsilon_{,0}\varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}}\left(\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g^{(2)}}(\omega_{2}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3})\right)\circ_{0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}})(\omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{5})\\ &=&\omega_{1}V_{g^{(2)}}(\omega_{2}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3})(_{0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}})(\omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{5}))\\ &=&\omega_{1}V_{g^{(2)}}((_{0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}})(\omega_{2}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3})))(\omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{5}) \text{ (by } 4.3.9)\\ &=&\zeta_{0}\varepsilon_{,0}\varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}}\left((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g^{(2)}})(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))(\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{2}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3})\right)(\omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{5})\end{split}$$

This proves the lemma.

Now we define the map $\widetilde{\Psi_g}$ and discuss its properties.

Definition 4.5.5. We define a map $\widetilde{\Psi_g}$: Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$) \to Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}$) by the following formula:

$$\Psi_g(L) = 2(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g) \circ (L \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}).$$

Lemma 4.5.6. If T is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})$, then we have that

$$\widetilde{\Psi_g}(T) = 2\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}^0}\mathcal{E}}((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g^{(2)}})(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (V_g)^{-1})(\zeta_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}^0}\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(T))).$$
(4.5.4)

Moreover, if T is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})$, then the following two equations hold:

$$\widetilde{\Psi_g}(T)|_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathrm{sym}} 0\mathcal{E}} = \widetilde{\Phi_g}(T), \qquad (4.5.5)$$

$$\widetilde{\Phi_g}(L) = 2\zeta_0 \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{\mathbb{C}_0} \varepsilon \left((\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g^{(2)}}) (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}_0} (P_{\mathrm{sym}})) (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (V_g)^{-1}) (\zeta_0^{-1} \varepsilon_{\mathbb{C}_0} \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{0} \varepsilon_{0}) \right).$$
(4.5.6)

Proof. Let $\{\omega_i\}_i$ be a vector space basis of ${}_0\mathcal{E}$. We will use the facts (Lemma 4.3.4 and Proposition 4.3.6) that the elements $g_{ij} = g(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j)$ are scalars and moreover, there exist scalars g^{ij} such that

$$\sum_{j} g^{ij} g_{jk} = \delta_{ik} \cdot 1 = \sum_{j} g_{ij} g^{jk} \cdot .$$
(4.5.7)

Suppose T is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})$. Then there exist scalars T_{ij}^{m} such that

$$T(\omega_m) = \sum_{ij} \omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j T_{ij}^m$$

for all *m*. Hence, by using the definition of $\zeta_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}}$ and (4.5.7), we get

$$\zeta_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(T) = \sum_{ijkl} \omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g(\omega_k) g^{lk} T_{ij}^l.$$
(4.5.8)

We claim that

$$\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\Psi_g}(T) = \zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes\mathbb{C}0\mathcal{E}} \Big((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g^{(2)}}) (\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g^{-1}) (\zeta_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes\mathbb{C}0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(T)) \Big).$$
(4.5.9)

Indeed, for all m, n, we have

$$\begin{split} &\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{\Psi_{g}}(T)(\omega_{m}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{n}) \\ = &(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}g)(T\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathrm{id})(\omega_{m}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{n}) \\ &= \sum_{ij}(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}g)(\omega_{i}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{j}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{n}T_{ij}^{m}) \\ &= \sum_{ij}\omega_{i}g(\omega_{j}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{n})T_{ij}^{m} \\ &= \sum_{ijkl}\omega_{i}g(\omega_{j}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}g^{lk}g(\omega_{k}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{m})T_{ij}^{l}\omega_{n}) \\ &= \sum_{ijkl}\omega_{i}g^{(2)}((\omega_{j}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{k}g^{lk}T_{ij}^{l})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(\omega_{m}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{n})) \\ &= \zeta_{0}\varepsilon_{,0}\varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0}\varepsilon\left(\sum_{ijkl}\omega_{i}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g^{(2)}}(\omega_{j}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{k}g^{lk}T_{ij}^{l})\right)(\omega_{m}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{n}) \\ &= \zeta_{0}\varepsilon_{,0}\varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0}\varepsilon\left((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g^{(2)}})(\sum_{ijkl}\omega_{i}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{j}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{k}g^{lk}T_{ij}^{l})\right)(\omega_{m}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{n}) \\ &= \zeta_{0}\varepsilon_{,0}\varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0}\varepsilon\left((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g^{(2)}})(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g}^{-1})(\sum_{ijkl}\omega_{i}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{j}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g}(\omega_{k})g^{lk}T_{ij}^{l})\right)(\omega_{m}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{n}) \\ &= \zeta_{0}\varepsilon_{,0}\varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0}\varepsilon\left((\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g^{(2)}})(\mathrm{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}V_{g}^{-1})(\zeta_{0}^{-1}\varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0}\varepsilon_{,0}\varepsilon(T))\right)(\omega_{m}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{n}), \end{split}$$

where, in the last step, we have used (4.5.8) and also the fact (Proposition 4.3.6) that V_g is a vector space isomorphism from $_0\mathcal{E}$ to $(_0\mathcal{E})^*$. This proves (4.5.9).

Next, if T is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})$, then $T(\omega_{m}) \in {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E} \subseteq \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E}$. Since $\sigma(X) = X$ for all X in $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\operatorname{sym}} \mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ker}(\sigma - \operatorname{id})$, we get that

$$(\sigma T)(\omega_m) = \sigma(T(\omega_m)) = T(\omega_m).$$

Hence,

$$\widetilde{\Phi_g}(T) = 2(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(\sigma \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))$$
$$= 2(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}})) = \widetilde{\Psi_g}(T)(_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}})),$$

which proves (4.5.5). Finally, for proving (4.5.6), we use (4.5.9) and (4.5.5) to deduce that

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\Phi_g}(T) &= \widetilde{\Psi_g}(T)(_0(P_{\text{sym}})) \\ &= 2\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E}} \left((\text{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g^{(2)}})(\text{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g^{-1})(\zeta_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(T)) \right) \circ_0(P_{\text{sym}}) \\ &= 2\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E}} \left((\text{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g^{(2)}})(\text{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0(P_{\text{sym}}))(\text{id}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g^{-1})(\zeta_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(T)) \right) \end{split}$$

and we have used (4.5.3) in the last step. This completes the proof of the lemma.

For the rest of the subsection, we will be using the following notations:

The set of all right \mathcal{A} -linear left covariant maps from M to N will be denoted by the symbol ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(M,N)$, the set of all right \mathcal{A} -linear right covariant maps from M to N will be denoted by $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}(M,N)$ and finally, the set of all right \mathcal{A} -linear bicovariant maps will be denoted by ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}(M,N)$.

Proposition 4.5.7. If T is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}, _{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})$, then $\widetilde{\Psi_{g}}(T)$ is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}, _{0}\mathcal{E})$. Moreover, $\widetilde{\Phi_{g}}$ restricts to map from $\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}, _{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_{0}\mathcal{E})$ to $\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_{0}\mathcal{E}, _{0}\mathcal{E})$.

Proof. Let us first observe that ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ are indeed right \mathcal{A} -comodules under the coactions ${}_{\mathcal{E}}\Delta$ and ${}_{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}}\Delta$. Indeed, by (1.2.4), there exist elements R_{ij} in \mathcal{A} such that

$$\varepsilon \Delta(\omega_i) = \sum_j \omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{ji} \text{ so that } \varepsilon_{\otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} \Delta(\omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j) = \sum_{k,l} \omega_k \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_l \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{ki} R_{lj}.$$
(4.5.10)

Now, let us recall that in the proof of Theorem 4.2.5, we have proved that $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E}$ is a bicovariant bimodule. Since $_{0}(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E}) = _{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}} _{0}\mathcal{E}$ by (4.2.5), we can again apply (1.2.4) to deduce that $_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} ^{\text{sym}} _{0}\mathcal{E}$ is invariant under $_{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} \Delta$.

Now, we come to the proof of the result. Let T be an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E})$. Then in the notations of Lemma 4.5.6, there exist scalars T_{ij}^{m} such that

$$T(\omega_m) = \sum_{ij} \omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j T_{ij}^m$$

Since T is right-covariant, applying Lemma 4.1.20 to the second equation of (4.5.10) yields

$$\sum_{ij,n} \omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^n R_{nm} = \sum_{ij,kl} \omega_k \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_l \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{ki} R_{lj} T_{ij}^m.$$
(4.5.11)

We note that $\zeta_{0\mathcal{E}\otimes\mathbb{C}0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(T) = \sum_{ijkl} \omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^l g^{lk} V_g(\omega_k).$

Then, by (4.5.4) in Lemma 4.5.6,

$$\frac{1}{2}\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E}}^{-1}(\widetilde{\Psi_g}(T)) = \sum_{ijkl} \omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^l g^{lk} V_g^{(2)}(\omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_k)$$

Hence,

$$\widetilde{\Psi_g}(T)(\omega_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n) = 2 \sum_{ijkl} \omega_i T_{ij}^l g^{lk} g^{(2)}((\omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_k) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)).$$
(4.5.12)

Applying Lemma 4.1.20 to the map $\widetilde{\Psi_g}(T)$ and using (4.5.12), we can conclude that $\widetilde{\Psi_g}(T)$ is an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E})$ if and only if, for all m, n, the following equation holds:

$$\sum_{ii'jkl} \omega_{i'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{i'i} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g^{(2)}((\omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{k}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_{m} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{n}))$$

$$= \sum_{ijkl,pq} \omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g^{(2)}((\omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{k}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_{p} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{q})) R_{pm} R_{qn}.$$
(4.5.13)

Hence if we prove (4.5.13), we are done with the first part of the theorem.

Let us note that

$$\sum_{ii'jkl} \omega_{i'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{i'i} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g^{(2)}((\omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{k}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_{m} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{n}))$$

$$= \sum_{ii'jkl} \omega_{i'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{i'i} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g(\omega_{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{m}) g(\omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{n}) \text{ (as } g(\omega_{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{m}) \in \mathbb{C})$$

$$= \sum_{ii'jklqs} \omega_{i'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{i'i} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g(\omega_{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{m}) g(\omega_{s} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{q}) R_{sj} R_{qn},$$

where, in the last step, we have used Proposition 4.3.10 by which we have

$$g(\omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n) = \sum_{q,s} g(\omega_s \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_q) R_{sj} R_{qn}.$$
(4.5.14)

Let $L : \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$ denote the left multiplication map. Since ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} ({}_{0}\mathcal{E})^{*} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A})$, we can write

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{ii'jkl} \omega_{i'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{i'i} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g^{(2)} ((\omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{k}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_{m} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{n})) \\ &= \sum_{ii'jklqs} [\omega_{i'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g}(\omega_{s}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g(\omega_{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{m}) L_{(R_{i'}, R_{sj})}] (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &(\text{ by } (4.5.14) \text{ and since } T_{ij}^{l}, \ g^{lk}, \ g_{lm} \text{ are scalars }) \\ &= \sum_{ii'jlqs} [(\text{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} L) (\omega_{i'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{s} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} \sum_{k} (g^{lk} g(\omega_{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{m})) R_{i'} R_{sj})] (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &= \sum_{ii'jlqs} [(\text{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} L) (\omega_{i'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{s} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} \delta_{lm} R_{i'} R_{sj})] (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &= \sum_{ii'jqs} [(\text{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} L) (\omega_{i'} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{s} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{i'} R_{sj} T_{ij}^{m})] (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &= \sum_{ijpqi} [(\text{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} L) (\omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{s} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} \delta_{lp} R_{pm})] (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &= \sum_{ijpqi} [(\text{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} L) (\omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} \delta_{lp} R_{pm})] (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &= \sum_{ijpqi} [(\text{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} L) (\omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} \delta_{lp} R_{pm})] (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &= \sum_{ijpqi} [(\text{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} L) (\omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} \delta_{lp} R_{pm})] (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &= \sum_{ijpqi} [(\text{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} L) (\omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} \delta_{lp} R_{pm}) (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &= \sum_{ijklpq} (\omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g} (\omega_{j}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g (\omega_{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{p}) L_{R_{pm}}) (\omega_{q} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{qn}) \\ &= \sum_{ijklpq} \omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g (\omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{q}) g (\omega_{k} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{p}) R_{pm} R_{qn} \\ &= \sum_{ijklpq} \omega_{i} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} T_{ij}^{l} g^{lk} g^{(2)} ((\omega_{j} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{k}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\omega_{p} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{q})) R_{pm} R_{qn}. \end{aligned}$$

This proves (4.5.13) and therefore, $\widetilde{\Psi_g}(T)$ is right-covariant.

Now we prove the second assertion of the proposition. Let T be an element of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_{0}\mathcal{E},_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}_{0}}\mathcal{E})$. Then the first assertion of the proposition implies that $\widetilde{\Psi_{g}}(T)$ belongs to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}^{0}}\mathcal{E},_{0}\mathcal{E})$. However, by (4.5.5), $\widetilde{\Psi_{g}}(T)|_{_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}_{0}}\mathcal{E}} = \widetilde{\Phi_{g}}(T)$ and by the definition of $\widetilde{\Phi_{g}}$, we know that $\widetilde{\Phi_{g}}(T)$ belongs to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}_{0}}\mathcal{E},_{0}\mathcal{E})$. Hence, we conclude that $\widetilde{\Phi_{g}}(T)$ belongs to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}_{0}}\mathcal{E},_{0}\mathcal{E})$. This finishes the proof of the proposition.

4.5.2 Right-covariance of the unique left-covariant connection

In this subsection, we prove that the unique torsion-less left-covariant connection compatible with a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric, obtained under the hypothesis of Proposition 4.5.3, is actually a bicovariant connection if the Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} is cosemisimple, i.e., if the category of finite dimensional comodules of \mathcal{A} is semisimple. For right \mathcal{A} -comodules V and W, the symbol Hom^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{C}}(V, W) will continue to denote the set of all right-covariant complex linear maps from V to W.

If \mathcal{A} is a cosemisimple Hopf algebra and V, W be finite dimensional comodules as above, then Proposition 1.1.11 implies that

$$\dim(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(V,W)) = \dim(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(W,V)).$$

Now, if \mathcal{A} is a cosemisimple Hopf algebra and (\mathcal{E}, d) be a differential calculus such that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable, then in the proof of Proposition 4.5.7, we have noted that $_0\mathcal{E}$ and $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$ are right \mathcal{A} -comodules. Hence, we can conclude that

$$\dim(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})) = \dim(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E})).$$
(4.5.15)

Then we have the following theorem.

Theorem 4.5.8. Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus over a cosemisimple Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} such that the map $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable, and g is a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. If the map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is an isomorphism, then the unique left-covariant connection guaranteed by Proposition 4.5.3 is in fact a bicovariant connection.

Proof. The proof follows from the claim that under the hypothesis of the theorem, the map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is an isomorphism from $\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E},{}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})$ onto $\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E},{}_{0}\mathcal{E})$. Indeed, let us recall that in Proposition 4.5.3, under the assumption that the map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is an isomorphism, we explicitly constructed a torsionless left-covariant connection ∇ compatible with g by the formula $\nabla := L + \nabla_0$.

Here ∇_0 is the torsionless bicovariant connection constructed in Theorem 4.4.4 and $L: \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is the left-covariant right \mathcal{A} -linear extension (via Proposition 4.1.14) of the map

$$\widetilde{\Phi_g}^{-1}(dg - \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla_0)) : {}_0\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}.$$

By Corollary 4.4.11, $dg - \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla_0)$ is a right \mathcal{A} -covariant \mathbb{C} -linear map from ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}_0}\mathcal{E}$ to ${}_0\mathcal{E}$. Hence, our claim implies that ${}_0L = \widetilde{\Phi_g}^{-1}(dg - \widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla_0))$ belongs to $\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_0\mathcal{E}, {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}_0}\mathcal{E})$.

Since L is left-covariant right \mathcal{A} -linear and $_{0}L = \widetilde{\Phi_{g}}^{-1}(dg - \widetilde{\Pi_{g}}(\nabla_{0}))$ is right-covariant, Proposition 4.1.19 implies that the extension L is a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map from \mathcal{E} to $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$. Again by the right-covariance of ∇_{0} , $\nabla = L + \nabla_{0}$ is a right-covariant map as well.

So we are left with proving that the map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$: $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_0\mathcal{E}, {_0\mathcal{E}}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{^{\operatorname{sym}}}_0\mathcal{E}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{^{\operatorname{sym}}}_0\mathcal{E}, {_0\mathcal{E}})$ is an isomorphism. To this end, we observe that since $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is an isomorphism from $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}, {_0\mathcal{E}}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{^{\operatorname{sym}}}_0\mathcal{E})$ to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{^{\operatorname{sym}}}_0\mathcal{E}, {_0\mathcal{E}})$, Proposition 4.5.7 implies that $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is a one-toone map from $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_0\mathcal{E}, {_0\mathcal{E}}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{^{\operatorname{sym}}}_0\mathcal{E})$ into $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{^{\operatorname{sym}}}_0\mathcal{E}, {_0\mathcal{E}})$. However, by (4.5.15),

$$\dim(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E})) = \dim(\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})).$$

Therefore, $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is a one-to-one and onto map from $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}_0\mathcal{E}})$ to $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mathcal{A}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}_0\mathcal{E}}, _0\mathcal{E})$.

4.5.3 Sufficient conditions for the isomorphism of $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$

In this subsection, we prove a metric-independent sufficient condition for the map Φ_g to be an isomorphism. We will continue to use the notation $\zeta_{\mathcal{E},\mathcal{F}}$ introduced in Proposition 1.1.8.

Theorem 4.5.9. Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus over a cosemisimple Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} such that the map $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable and g be a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric.

The map $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$: Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E}$) \to Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}$) is an isomorphism if and only if $(_0(P_{\operatorname{sym}}))_{23}: (_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}_0\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})$ is an isomorphism. In particular, Theorem 4.5.8 implies that under either of these assumptions, the triple (\mathcal{E}, d, g) admits a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection. Proof. Suppose $(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))_{23} : (_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})$ is an isomorphism. Since g is left-invariant, part (i) of Proposition 4.3.6 implies that $V_g^{-1}((_0\mathcal{E})^*) = {}_0\mathcal{E}$. By the first assertion of Lemma 4.2.11 and our hypothesis, we can conclude that the following map is an isomorphism:

$$({}_{0}(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))_{23}(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_{g}^{-1})\zeta_{{}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0\mathcal{E},{}_{0}\mathcal{E}}^{-1}:\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E},{}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}) \to {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}).$$

Now, by Proposition 4.3.14, $V_{g^{(2)}}$ is an isomorphism from ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ to $({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})^{*}$. Finally, by the second assertion of Lemma 4.2.11, $\zeta_{0\mathcal{E},0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}0\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism from ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} ({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})^{*}$ to $\text{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}, {}_{0}\mathcal{E})$. Therefore, by (4.5.6), is a composition of isomorphisms and hence an isomorphism itself.

Conversely, suppose $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$: Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} _0\mathcal{E}$) \to Hom_C($_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} _0\mathcal{E}, _0\mathcal{E}$) is an isomorphism. If ($_0(P_{\operatorname{sym}}))_{23}$ is not an isomorphism from ($_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} _0\mathcal{E}$) $\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\operatorname{sym}} _0\mathcal{E})$, then it is not one-to-one. Hence by (4.5.6), $\widetilde{\Phi_g}$ is not an isomorphism, which is a contradiction. \Box

Remark 4.5.10. In Chapter 6, the isomorphism $(_0(P_{sym}))_{23} : (_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{sym}_0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_0\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{(}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{sym}_0\mathcal{E})$ for the Hopf algebra $SU_q(2)$ is verified by an explicit computation. We refer to Theorem 5.4.4 for a cocycle-twisted version of the above isomorphism.

Our next proposition states that if $\sigma^2 = 1$, then the hypothesis of Theorem 4.5.9 is satisfied.

Proposition 4.5.11. If $\sigma^2 = 1$, then the map $(_0(P_{sym}))_{23}$ is an isomorphism from $(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{sym}_0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{sym}_0\mathcal{E})$.

Proof. Since $\sigma^2 = 1, \pm 1$ are the only eigenvalues of $_0\sigma$ in this case and so by (4.2.7), $_0(P_{\text{sym}}) = \frac{1}{2}(1+_0\sigma)$. Now, let X be an element of $(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$ such that $(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))_{23}(X) = 0$. Then $(P_{\text{sym}})_{(12)}(X) = X$ so that $(_0\sigma)_{12}(X) = X$.

Moreover, $(_{0}\sigma)_{23}(X) = (2(_{0}(P_{sym}))_{23} - 1)(X) = -X$. We further obtain that

 $(_{0}\sigma)_{12}(_{0}\sigma)_{23}(_{0}\sigma)_{12}(X) = -X$ and $(_{0}\sigma)_{23}(_{0}\sigma)_{12}(_{0}\sigma)_{23}(X) = X.$

Since $_{0}\sigma$ is a braiding, this implies that X = 0. Hence $(_{0}(P_{sym}))_{23}$ is a one-to-one map from $(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{sym}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to $_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{sym}_{0}\mathcal{E})$ and therefore, by a dimension count, $(_{0}(P_{sym}))_{23}$ is also onto $_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{sym}_{0}\mathcal{E})$. Hence $(_{0}(P_{sym}))_{23}$ is an isomorphism from $(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{sym}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to $_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{sym}_{0}\mathcal{E})$.

Chapter 5

Levi-Civita connections on cocycle deformation of Hopf algebras

Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} such that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable in the sense of Chapter 4. In Theorem 4.5.9, we have proved a sufficient condition for the existence of a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for every bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. This chapter discusses a class of examples of bicovariant differential calculi for which this sufficient condition is satisfied. Indeed, if (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus and γ is a 2-cocycle on \mathcal{A} as in Definition 1.2.6, then Majid and Oeckl proved ([74]) that (\mathcal{E}, d) deforms to a bicovariant differential calculus $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ on the deformed Hopf algebra \mathcal{A}_{γ} (see Definition 1.2.7). The goal of this chapter is to show that if (\mathcal{E}, d) satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 4.5.9, then $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ also satisfies its hypotheses. Thus, we have a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for every bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E}_{γ} .

In Section 5.1, we recall the generalities on cocycle deformation of bicovariant bimodules from [74]. We have also borrowed some formulas from [8], where necessary. As a result, we observe that in the presence of a cocycle, the braiding map σ of (\mathcal{E}, d) deforms to the braiding map of $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$. In Section 5.2, we study cocycle deformations of pseudo-Riemannian metrics on bicovariant bimodules. The main result of this section is Theorem 5.2.5 where we prove that for a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} , cocycle deformations of a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric g on a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} is a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on the deformed bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule \mathcal{E}_{γ} . The contents of Section 5.1 and Section 5.2 are from [18]. In Section 5.3, we recall the cocycle deformation of bicovariant differential calculi from [74] and also discuss the deformation of the space of two-forms. Finally, in Section 5.4, we prove the main result of this chapter. We begin by discussing cocycle deformations of bicovariant connections on bicovariant differential calculi. Theorem 5.4.3 is the main result of this section which demonstrates that the sufficient condition of Theorem 4.5.9 holds for a cocycle deformed differential calculus provided it holds for the undeformed one. Theorem 5.4.5 discusses the concrete example of cocycle deformation of Hopf algebras of regular functions on a linear algebraic group and the existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections therein. We end the section with the proof of a comparison of our notion of bicovariant Levi-Civita connections with that of [51] in the context of cocycle deformations. The contents of these two sections are from [17].

5.1 Cocycle deformation of bicovariant bimodules

If (\mathcal{A}, Δ) is a Hopf algebra and γ is a 2-cocycle as in Definition 1.2.6, then Definition 1.2.7 shows that (\mathcal{A}, Δ) can be twisted to a new Hopf algebra $(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}, \Delta_{\gamma})$, where \mathcal{A}_{γ} is equal to \mathcal{A} as a vector space, the coproduct Δ_{γ} is equal to Δ , and the algebra structure $*_{\gamma}$ on \mathcal{A}_{γ} is defined by the following equation:

$$a *_{\gamma} b = \gamma(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(1)}) a_{(2)} b_{(2)} \overline{\gamma}(a_{(3)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(3)}).$$
(5.1.1)

Here, $\overline{\gamma}$ is the convolution inverse to γ as in Definition 1.2.6.

In this section, we will discuss the cocycle deformation of bicovariant bimodules over Hopf algebras and the deformation of covariant bimodule maps. Throughout this section, we will make heavy use of the Sweedler notations as spelt out Subsection 1.2. In particular, using coassociativity of Δ , we will use the notation, $(\Delta \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})\Delta(a) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \Delta)\Delta(a) = a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(3)}$. Also, when *m* denotes an element of a bicovariant bimodule *M*, we will use the notation

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}M} \Delta) \Delta_M(m) = (\Delta_M \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_M \Delta(m) = m_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(1)}.$$
(5.1.2)

Note that the index (0) in the above equation denote the comodule tensorand and non-zero indices indicate the coalgebra tensorand.

Then we have the following:

Proposition 5.1.1. (Theorem 2.5 of [74]) Suppose M is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule and γ is a 2-cocycle on \mathcal{A} . Then we have a bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule M_{γ} which is equal to M as a vector

space but the left and right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -module structures are defined by the following formulas:

$$a *_{\gamma} m = \gamma(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(-1)}) a_{(2)} . m_{(0)} \overline{\gamma}(a_{(3)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} m_{(1)})$$
(5.1.3)

$$m *_{\gamma} a = \gamma(m_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(1)}) m_{(0)} a_{(2)} \overline{\gamma}(m_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(3)}),$$
(5.1.4)

for all elements m of M and for all elements a of A. Here, $*_{\gamma}$ denotes the right and left \mathcal{A}_{γ} -module actions and . denotes the right and left A-module actions.

The \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bicovariant structures are given by

$$\Delta_{M_{\gamma}} := {}_{M}\Delta : M_{\gamma} \to \mathcal{A}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} M_{\gamma} \text{ and } {}_{M_{\gamma}}\Delta := {}_{M}\Delta : M_{\gamma} \to M_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}_{\gamma}.$$
(5.1.5)

Now, we are in a position to state the following proposition regarding cocycle deformations of bicovariant maps between bicovariant bimodules.

Proposition 5.1.2. (Theorem 2.5 of [74]) Let $(M, \Delta_M, M\Delta)$ and $(N, \Delta_N, N\Delta)$ be bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules, $T : M \to N$ be a \mathbb{C} -linear bicovariant map and γ be a cocycle as above. Then there exists a map $T_{\gamma} : M_{\gamma} \to N_{\gamma}$ defined by $T_{\gamma}(m) = T(m)$ for all m in M. Thus, $T_{\gamma} = T$ as \mathbb{C} -linear maps. Moreover, we have the following:

- (i) the deformed map $T_{\gamma}: M_{\gamma} \to N_{\gamma}$ is an \mathcal{A}_{γ} bicovariant map,
- (ii) if T is a bicovariant right (respectively left) A-linear map, then T_γ is a bicovariant right (respectively left) A_γ-linear map,
- (iii) if $(P, \Delta_P, P\Delta)$ is another bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule, and $S : N \to P$ is a bicovariant map, then $(S \circ T)_{\gamma} : M_{\gamma} \to P_{\gamma}$ is a bicovariant map and $S_{\gamma} \circ T_{\gamma} = (S \circ T)_{\gamma}$.

Remark 5.1.3. From Proposition 5.1.2, it is clear that if M is a finite bicovariant bimodule (see Definition 4.1.3), then M_{γ} is also a finite bicovariant bimodule. We will only be dealing with deformations of finite bicovariant bimodules in this chapter.

Recall that in Proposition 4.1.14, for a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map $T: M \to N$ between bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules, we adopted the notation $_0T = T|_{_0M}$, where $_0M$ is the space of leftinvariant elements of M. As a corollary to Proposition 5.1.2, we obtain:

Proposition 5.1.4. Let $(M, \Delta_M, {}_M\Delta)$ and $(N, \Delta_N, {}_N\Delta)$ be bicovariant bimodules over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} , T be a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map from M to N and γ be a cocycle as above.

Then

$$T_{\gamma} = \widetilde{u}^{N_{\gamma}} \circ (_{0}T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \circ (\widetilde{u}^{M_{\gamma}})^{-1}, \qquad (5.1.6)$$

where $\widetilde{u}^{M_{\gamma}}$: $_{0}(M_{\gamma})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}A_{\gamma} \to M_{\gamma}$ and $\widetilde{u}^{N_{\gamma}}$: $_{0}(M_{\gamma})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}A_{\gamma} \to N_{\gamma}$ are the usual multiplication maps as in Proposition 4.1.7. In particular, the \mathbb{C} -linear map $_{0}(T_{\gamma})$ from $_{0}(M_{\gamma}) = _{0}M$ to itself coincides with $_{0}T$. Moreover, T_{γ} is an invertible map if and only if T is invertible, and more generally, λ is an eigenvalue of T_{γ} if and only if it is an eigenvalue of T.

Proof. Since T is a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map from M to N, by Proposition 5.1.2, T_{γ} is an \mathcal{A}_{γ} bicovariant right linear map. Since $_{0}(M_{\gamma}) = _{0}M$ and $_{0}(N_{\gamma}) = _{0}N$ as vector spaces, and T_{γ} is a left-covariant map, hence for all m in $_{0}(M_{\gamma})$, the element $T_{\gamma}(m)$ belongs to $_{0}(N_{\gamma})$. Then we compute, for any m in $_{0}(M_{\gamma})$ and any element a of \mathcal{A}_{γ} ,

$$(\widetilde{u}^{N_{\gamma}})^{-1} \circ T_{\gamma}(m *_{\gamma} a) = (\widetilde{u}^{N_{\gamma}})^{-1}(T_{\gamma}(m) *_{\gamma} a) = T_{\gamma}(m) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a \text{ (by the definition of } \widetilde{u}^{N_{\gamma}})$$
$$= T(m) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a = (_{0}T)(m) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a = (_{0}T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\widetilde{u}^{M_{\gamma}})^{-1}(m *_{\gamma} a),$$

as m belongs to $_0(M_{\gamma})$. Thus we have that

$$(\widetilde{u}^{N_{\gamma}})^{-1} \circ T_{\gamma} = ({}_{0}T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\widetilde{u}^{M_{\gamma}})^{-1}, \text{ i.e., } T_{\gamma} = \widetilde{u}^{N_{\gamma}} \circ ({}_{0}T \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \circ (\widetilde{u}^{M_{\gamma}})^{-1}.$$

Evaluating this equation on an element of $_0(M_{\gamma}) = _0M$ yields $_0(T_{\gamma}) = _0T$.

Finally, applying Proposition 4.1.16 to T_{γ} and using the fact that $_{0}(T_{\gamma}) = _{0}T$, we get that T_{γ} is invertible if and only if T is invertible. More generally, λ is an eigenvalue of T_{γ} if and only if it is an eigenvalue of T.

The next result studies the monoidal property of cocycle deformations.

Proposition 5.1.5. (Theorem 2.5 of [74]) Let $(M, \Delta_M, {}_M\Delta)$ and $(N, \Delta_N, {}_N\Delta)$ be bicovariant bimodules over a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} and γ be a cocycle as above. Then there exists a bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} - bimodule isomorphism

$$\xi: M_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} N_{\gamma} \to (M \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} N)_{\gamma}.$$

The isomorphism ξ and its inverse are respectively given by

$$\xi(m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} n) = \gamma(m_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n_{(-1)}) m_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} n_{(0)} \overline{\gamma}(m_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n_{(1)})$$

$$\xi^{-1}(m \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} n) = \overline{\gamma}(m_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n_{(-1)}) m_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} n_{(0)} \gamma(m_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} n_{(1)})$$

As an illustration, we make the following computation.

Lemma 5.1.6. Suppose ω is in $_{0}\mathcal{E}$ and η is in \mathcal{E}_{0} . Then the following equation holds:

$$\xi^{-1}(\gamma(\eta_{(-1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1)\eta_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\omega_{(0)}\overline{\gamma}(1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{(1)}))=\eta\otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\omega_{(0)}$$

Proof. Let us first clarify that we view $\gamma(\eta_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1) \eta_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_{(0)} \overline{\gamma}(1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{(1)})$ as an element in $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$. Then the equation holds because of the following computation:

$$\begin{split} &\xi^{-1}(\gamma(\eta_{(-1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1)\eta_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\omega_{(0)}\overline{\gamma}(1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{(1)}))\\ &=\gamma(\eta_{(-1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1)\xi^{-1}(\eta_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\omega_{(0)})\overline{\gamma}(1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{(1)})\\ &=\gamma(\eta_{(-2)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1)\overline{\gamma}(\eta_{(-1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1)\eta_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\omega_{(0)}\gamma(1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{(1)})\overline{\gamma}(1\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{(2)})\\ &\text{(since }\omega\in_{0}\mathcal{E}, \ \eta\in\mathcal{E}_{0})\\ &=\epsilon(\eta_{(-2)})\epsilon(\eta_{(-1)})\eta_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\omega_{(0)}\epsilon(\omega_{(1)})\epsilon(\omega_{(2)}) \text{ (since }\overline{\gamma} \text{ and }\gamma \text{ are unital})\\ &=\eta\otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\omega. \end{split}$$

Recall the braiding map $\sigma : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ for a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} , as in Proposition 1.3.17. We next study the deformation of σ . By Proposition 5.1.1, \mathcal{E}_{γ} is a bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule. Then Proposition 1.3.17 guarantees the existence of a canonical braiding from $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ to itself. We show that this map is nothing but the deformation σ_{γ} of the map σ associated with the bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} . By the definition of σ_{γ} , it is a map from $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$ to $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$. However, by virtue of Proposition 5.1.5, the map ξ defines an isomorphism from $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ to $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$. By an abuse of notation, we will denote the map

$$\xi^{-1}\sigma_{\gamma}\xi:\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}\to\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$$

by the symbol σ_{γ} again.

Theorem 5.1.7. (Theorem 2.5 of [74]) Let \mathcal{E} be a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule and γ be a cocycle as above. Then the deformation σ_{γ} of σ is the unique bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule braiding map on \mathcal{E}_{γ} given by Proposition 1.3.17.

Proof. Since σ is a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to itself, part (ii) of Proposition 5.1.2 implies that σ_{γ} is a bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule map from $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma} \cong \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ to itself.

By Proposition 1.3.17, there exists a unique \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule map σ' from $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ to itself such that $\sigma'(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \eta) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \omega$ for all ω in $_{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}), \eta$ in $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})_{0}$.

Since $_{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}) = _{0}\mathcal{E}$ and $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})_{0} = \mathcal{E}_{0}$, it is enough to prove that $\sigma_{\gamma}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \eta) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \omega$ for all ω in $_{0}\mathcal{E}$, η in \mathcal{E}_{0} .

We will need the concrete isomorphism between $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ and $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$ defined in Proposition 5.1.5. Since ω is in $_{0}\mathcal{E}$ and η is in \mathcal{E}_{0} , this isomorphism maps the element $\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \eta$ to $\gamma(1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta_{(-1)}) \omega_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_{(0)} \overline{\gamma}(\omega_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1)$. Then, by the definition of σ_{γ} , we compute the following:

$$\sigma_{\gamma}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \eta) = \sigma(\gamma(1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta_{(-1)}) \omega_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_{(0)} \overline{\gamma}(\omega_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1))$$
$$= \sigma(\epsilon(\eta_{(-1)}) \omega_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta_{(0)} \epsilon(\omega_{(1)})) = \epsilon(\eta_{(-1)}) \eta_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_{(0)} \epsilon(\omega_{(1)})$$
$$= \gamma(\eta_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1) \eta_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_{(0)} \overline{\gamma}(1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{(1)}) = \eta \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \omega,$$

where, in the last step we have used Lemma 5.1.6.

Remark 5.1.8. Proposition 5.1.1, Proposition 5.1.2, Proposition 5.1.5 and Theorem 5.1.7 together imply that the categories ${}^{A}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{A}_{\mathcal{A}}$ and ${}^{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}$ are isomorphic as braided monoidal categories. This was the content of Theorem 2.5 of [74].

However, in Theorem 5.1.7, we have emphasized in addition that the braiding on $\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}^{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}$ is precisely the Woronowicz braiding of Proposition 1.3.17.

We end this section with some consequences of Theorem 5.1.7.

Corollary 5.1.9. If the map $_0(\sigma)$ is diagonalisable, then the map $_0(\sigma_{\gamma})$ is also diagonalisable.

Proof. This is a consequence of Proposition 5.1.4, by which we have that the \mathbb{C} -linear maps $_{0}(\sigma_{\gamma})$ and $_{0}\sigma$ coincide.

Corollary 5.1.10. If the unique bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule braiding map σ for a bicovariant \mathcal{A} bimodule \mathcal{E} satisfies the equation $\sigma^2 = 1$, then the bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule braiding map σ_{γ} for the bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule \mathcal{E}_{γ} also satisfies $\sigma_{\gamma}^2 = 1$.

In particular, if \mathcal{A} is the commutative Hopf algebra of regular functions on a compact semisimple Lie group G and \mathcal{E} is its canonical space of one-forms, then the braiding map σ_{γ} for \mathcal{E}_{γ} satisfies $\sigma_{\gamma}^2 = 1$.

Proof. By Theorem 5.1.7, σ_{γ} is the unique braiding map for the bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule \mathcal{E}_{γ} . Since, by our hypothesis, $\sigma^2 = 1$, the deformed map σ_{γ} also satisfies $\sigma_{\gamma}^2 = 1$ by part (iii) of Proposition 5.1.2.

Next, if \mathcal{A} is a commutative Hopf algebra as in the statement of the corollary and \mathcal{E} is its canonical space of one-forms, then we know that the braiding map σ is just the flip map, i.e. for all e, e' in \mathcal{E} ,

$$\sigma(e \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e') = e' \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} e_{\mathcal{A}}$$

and hence it satisfies $\sigma^2 = 1$. Therefore, for every cocycle deformation \mathcal{E}_{γ} of \mathcal{E} , the corresponding braiding map satisfies $\sigma_{\gamma}^2 = 1$.

5.2 Cocycle deformation of pseudo-Riemannian metrics

In this section, we will discuss the cocycle deformation of pseudo-Riemannian bi-invariant metrics on bicovariant bimodules. By Proposition 4.3.3, a pseudo-Riemannian bi-invariant metric g on a bicovariant bimodule \mathcal{E} is a bicovariant map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to \mathcal{A} . Hence, by Proposition 5.1.2, we have a right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -linear bicovariant map g_{γ} from $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ to \mathcal{A}_{γ} . We next show that this map g_{γ} is a pseudo-Riemannian bi-invariant metric on \mathcal{E}_{γ} upto a suitable identification, by checking the conditions (i) and (ii) of Definition 4.3.1 for the map g_{γ} .

The proof of the equality $g_{\gamma} = g_{\gamma} \circ \sigma_{\gamma}$ is straightforward. However, checking condition (ii), i.e., verifying that the map $V_{g_{\gamma}}$ is an isomorphism onto its image needs some work. The root of the problem is that we do not yet know whether $\mathcal{E}^* = V_g(\mathcal{E})$. Our strategy to verify condition (ii) is the following: we show that the right \mathcal{A} -module $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ is a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -module (see Definition 4.1.1) in a natural way. Let us remark that since the map g (hence V_g) is not left \mathcal{A} -linear, $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ need not be a left \mathcal{A} -module. Since bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -modules and bicovariant maps can be deformed (Proposition 5.2.3), the map V_g deforms to a right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -linear isomorphism $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ from \mathcal{E}_{γ} to $(V_g(\mathcal{E}))_{\gamma}$. Then in Theorem 5.2.5, we show that $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ coincides with the map $V_{g_{\gamma}}$ and the latter is an isomorphism onto its image. This is the only section where we use the theory of bicovariant right modules (as opposed to bicovariant bimodules).

For the rest of the section, \mathcal{E} will denote a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule. Moreover, $\{\omega_i\}_i$ will denote a basis of $_0\mathcal{E}$ and $\{\omega_i^*\}_i$ the dual basis, i.e., $\omega_i^*(\omega_j) = \delta_{ij}$. Let us recall that (1.2.4) implies

the existence of elements R_{ij} in \mathcal{A} such that

$$\varepsilon \Delta(\omega_i) = \sum_{ij} \omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{ji}.$$
(5.2.1)

We want to show that $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ is a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -module in the sense of Definition 4.1.1. To this end, we recall that (Lemma 4.3.7) $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ is a free right \mathcal{A} -module with basis $\{\omega_i^*\}_i$. This allows us to make the following definition.

Definition 5.2.1. Let $\{\omega_i\}_i$ and $\{\omega_i^*\}_i$ be as above and g a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} . Then we can endow $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ with a left-coaction $\Delta_{V_g(\mathcal{E})} : V_g(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g(\mathcal{E})$ and a right-coaction $_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}\Delta : V_g(\mathcal{E}) \to V_g(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}$, defined by the formulas

$$\Delta_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}(\sum_i \omega_i^* a_i) = \sum_i (1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_i^*) \Delta(a_i), \ V_g(\mathcal{E})} \Delta(\sum_i \omega_i^* a_i) = \sum_{ij} (\omega_j^* \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} S(R_{ij})) \Delta(a_i), \quad (5.2.2)$$

where the elements R_{ij} are as in (5.2.1) and S is the antipode of the Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} .

Then we have the following result.

Proposition 5.2.2. The triplet $(V_g(\mathcal{E}), \Delta_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}, V_g(\mathcal{E})\Delta)$ is a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -module. Moreover, the map $V_g : \mathcal{E} \to V_g(\mathcal{E})$ is bicovariant, i.e., we have

$$\Delta_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}(V_g(e)) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g) \Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(e), \ _{V_g(\mathcal{E})} \Delta(V_g(e)) = (V_g \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})_{\mathcal{E}} \Delta(e).$$
(5.2.3)

Proof. The fact that $(V_g(\mathcal{E}), \Delta_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}, V_{g(\mathcal{E})}\Delta)$ is a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -module follows immediately from the definition of the maps $\Delta_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}$ and $_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}\Delta$. So we are left with proving (5.2.3). Let e be an element in \mathcal{E} . Then there exist elements a_i in \mathcal{A} such that $e = \sum_i \omega_i a_i$. Hence, by (4.3.1), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}(V_g(e)) &= \Delta_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}(V_g(\sum_i \omega_i a_i)) = \Delta_{V_g(\mathcal{E})}(\sum_{ij} g_{ij}\omega_j^*a_i) = \sum_{ij} (1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g_{ij}\omega_j^*)\Delta(a_i) \\ &= \sum_i ((\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g)(1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_i))\Delta(a_i) = \sum_i (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g)(\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(\omega_i))\Delta(a_i) \\ &= \sum_i (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g)\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(\omega_i a_i) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} V_g)\Delta_{\mathcal{E}}(e). \end{aligned}$$

This proves the first equation of (5.2.3).

For the second equation, we begin by making an observation. Since $\mathcal{E}\Delta(\omega_i) = \sum_j \omega_j \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} R_{ji}$ ((5.2.1)), we have

$$\delta_{ij} = \epsilon(R_{ij}) = m(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} S) \Delta(R_{ij}) = \sum_{k} R_{ik} S(R_{kj}).$$

Therefore, multiplying (4.3.5) by $S(R_{jm})$ on the right and summing over j, we obtain

$$\sum_{j} g_{ij} S(R_{jm}) = \sum_{j} g_{jm} R_{ji}.$$
(5.2.4)

Now by using (4.3.1), we compute

$$\begin{split} v_{g}(\varepsilon)\Delta(V_{g}(e)) &= V_{g}(\varepsilon)\Delta(V_{g}(\sum_{i}\omega_{i}a_{i})) = V_{g}(\varepsilon)\Delta(\sum_{ij}g_{ij}\omega_{j}^{*}a_{i}) = \sum_{ij}V_{g}(\varepsilon)\Delta(g_{ij}\omega_{j}^{*})\Delta(a_{i}) \\ &= \sum_{ijk}(g_{ij}\omega_{k}^{*}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}S(R_{jk}))\Delta(a_{i}) = (\sum_{ik}\omega_{k}^{*}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\sum_{j}g_{ij}S(R_{jk}))\Delta(a_{i}) \\ &= \sum_{ik}(\omega_{k}^{*}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\sum_{j}g_{jk}R_{ji})\Delta(a_{i}) \text{ (by (5.2.4))} \\ &= \sum_{ijk}(g_{jk}\omega_{k}^{*}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}R_{ji})\Delta(a_{i}) = \sum_{ij}(V_{g}(\omega_{j})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}R_{ji})\Delta(a_{i}) \\ &= \sum_{i}((V_{g}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathrm{id})(\sum_{j}\omega_{j}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}R_{ji}))\Delta(a_{i}) = \sum_{i}(V_{g}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathrm{id})\varepsilon\Delta(\omega_{i})\Delta(a_{i}) \text{ (by (5.2.1))} \\ &= \sum_{i}(V_{g}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathrm{id})\varepsilon\Delta(\omega_{i}a_{i}) = (V_{g}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathrm{id})\varepsilon\Delta(e). \end{split}$$

This finishes the proof.

Now we recall that bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -modules (i.e., objects in the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}$) can be deformed too.

Proposition 5.2.3. (Theorem 5.7 of [84]) Let $(M, \Delta_M, M\Delta)$ be a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -module and γ be a 2-cocycle on \mathcal{A} . Then

- (i) M deforms to a bicovariant right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -module, denoted by M_{γ} ,
- (ii) if $(N, \Delta_N, {}_N\Delta)$ is another bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -module and $T : M \to N$ is a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map, then the deformation $T_{\gamma} : M_{\gamma} \to N_{\gamma}$ is a bicovariant right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -linear map,
- (iii) T_{γ} , as in (ii), is an isomorphism if and only if T is an isomorphism.

Proof. We refer to Theorem 5.7 of [84] for proofs of (i) and (ii). Part (iii) follows by noting that since the map T is a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map, its inverse T^{-1} is also a bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -linear map. Thus, the deformation $(T^{-1})_{\gamma}$ of T^{-1} exists and is the inverse of the map T_{γ} .

As an immediate corollary, we make the following observation.

Corollary 5.2.4. Let g be a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} . Then the following map is a well-defined isomorphism.

$$(V_g)_{\gamma} : \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \to (V_g(\mathcal{E}))_{\gamma} = (V_g)_{\gamma}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}).$$

Proof. Since both \mathcal{E} and $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ are bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -modules, and V_g is a right \mathcal{A} -linear bicovariant map from \mathcal{E} to $V_g(\mathcal{E})$ (Proposition 5.2.2), Proposition 5.2.3 guarantees the existence of the map $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ from \mathcal{E}_{γ} to $(V_g(\mathcal{E}))_{\gamma}$. Since g is a pseudo-Riemannian metric, by (ii) of Definition 4.3.1, $V_g : \mathcal{E} \to V_g(\mathcal{E})$ is an isomorphism. Then, by (iii) of Proposition 5.2.3, $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ is also an isomorphism from \mathcal{E}_{γ} to $(V_g(\mathcal{E}))_{\gamma}$. In particular, this implies that $(V_g(\mathcal{E}))_{\gamma} = (V_g)_{\gamma}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})$.

Now we are in a position to state and prove that there is an abundant supply of bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metrics on \mathcal{E}_{γ} . Since g is a map from $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ to \mathcal{A}, g_{γ} is a map from $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$ to \mathcal{A}_{γ} . But we have the isomorphism ξ from $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ to $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$ (Proposition 5.1.5). As in the case of the map σ_{γ} in Subsection 4.3, we will make an abuse of notation to denote the map $g_{\gamma}\xi^{-1}$ by the symbol g_{γ} .

Theorem 5.2.5. If g is a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule \mathcal{E} and γ is a 2-cocycle on \mathcal{A} , then g deforms to a right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -linear map g_{γ} from $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ to itself. Moreover, g_{γ} is a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E}_{γ} . Finally, any bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E}_{γ} is a deformation (in the above sense) of some bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} .

Proof. Since g is a right \mathcal{A} -linear bicovariant map (Proposition 4.3.3), g indeed deforms to a right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -linear map g_{γ} from $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma} \cong \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ (see Proposition 5.1.5) to \mathcal{A}_{γ} . The second assertion of Proposition 5.1.2 implies that g_{γ} is bicovariant. Then Proposition 4.3.3 implies that g_{γ} is bi-invariant. Since $g \circ \sigma = g$, part (iii) of Proposition 5.1.2 implies that

$$g_{\gamma} = (g \circ \sigma)_{\gamma} = g_{\gamma} \circ \sigma_{\gamma}.$$

This verifies condition (i) of Definition 4.3.1

Next, we prove that g_{γ} satisfies (ii) of Definition 4.3.1. Let ω be an element of $_{0}\mathcal{E} = _{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})$ and η be an element of $\mathcal{E}_{0} = (\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})_{0}$. Then we have

$$\begin{split} (V_g)_{\gamma}(\omega)(\eta) &= (V_g(\omega))_{\gamma}(\eta) = (V_g(\omega)(\eta)) \\ = &g(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \eta) = g_{\gamma}(\overline{\gamma}(1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \eta_{(-1)}) \omega_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \eta_{(0)} \gamma(\omega_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 1)) \\ (\text{ by the definition of } \xi^{-1} \text{ in } Proposition 5.1.5) \\ = &g_{\gamma}(\epsilon(\eta_{(-1)}) \omega_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \eta_{(0)} \epsilon(\omega_{(1)})) = g_{\gamma}(\omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \eta) = V_{g_{\gamma}}(\omega)(\eta). \end{split}$$

Then, by the right- \mathcal{A}_{γ} linearity of $(V_g)_{\gamma}(\omega)$ and $V_{(g_{\gamma})}(\omega)$, we get, for all a in \mathcal{A} ,

$$V_{g_{\gamma}}(\omega)(\eta *_{\gamma} a) = V_{g_{\gamma}}(\omega)(\eta) *_{\gamma} a = (V_g)_{\gamma}(\omega)(\eta) *_{\gamma} a = (V_g)_{\gamma}(\omega)(\eta *_{\gamma} a).$$

Therefore, by the right \mathcal{A} -totality of $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})_0 = \mathcal{E}_0$ in \mathcal{E}_{γ} , we conclude that the maps $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ and $V_{g_{\gamma}}$ agree on $_0(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})$. But since $_0(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}) = _0\mathcal{E}$ is right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -total in \mathcal{E}_{γ} and both $V_{g_{\gamma}}$ and $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ are right- \mathcal{A}_{γ} linear, $(V_g)_{\gamma} = V_{g_{\gamma}}$ on the whole of \mathcal{E}_{γ} .

Next, since V_g is a right \mathcal{A} -linear isomorphism from \mathcal{E} to $V_g(\mathcal{E})$, hence by Corollary 5.2.4, $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ is an isomorphism onto $(V_g(\mathcal{E}))_{\gamma} = (V_g)_{\gamma}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}) = V_{g_{\gamma}}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})$. Therefore $V_{g_{\gamma}}$ is an isomorphism from \mathcal{E}_{γ} to $V_{g_{\gamma}}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})$. Hence g_{γ} satisfies (ii) of Definition 4.3.1.

To show that every pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E}_{γ} is obtained as a deformation of a pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} , we view \mathcal{E} as a cocycle deformation of \mathcal{E}_{γ} under the cocycle $\overline{\gamma}$. Then given a pseudo-Riemannian metric g' on \mathcal{E}_{γ} , by the first part of this proof, $(g')_{\overline{\gamma}}$ is a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E} . Hence, $g' = ((g')_{\overline{\gamma}})_{\gamma}$ is indeed a deformation of the bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric $(g')_{\overline{\gamma}}$ on \mathcal{E} .

Remark 5.2.6. We have actually used the fact that \mathcal{E} is finite in order to prove Theorem 5.2.5. Indeed, since \mathcal{E} is finite, we can use the results of Section 4.3 to derive Proposition 5.2.2 which is then used to prove Corollary 5.2.4. Finally, Corollary 5.2.4 is used to prove Theorem 5.2.5.

Also note that the proof of Theorem 5.2.5 also implies that the maps $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ and $V_{g_{\gamma}}$ are equal.

When g is a pseudo-Riemannian bicovariant bilinear metric on \mathcal{E} , then we have a much shorter proof of the fact that g_{γ} is a pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E}_{γ} which avoids the theory of bicovariant right \mathcal{A} -modules. We end this section with a brief discussion of the proof which is as follows:

We will work in the categories ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ and ${}^{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}$. Firstly, as g is bilinear, V_g is a morphism of

the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ and can be deformed to a bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bilinear map $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ from \mathcal{E}_{γ} to $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\gamma}$. Similarly, g deforms to a \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bilinear map from $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ to \mathcal{A}_{γ} . Then as in the proof of Theorem 5.2.5, we can easily check that $(V_g)_{\gamma} = V_{g_{\gamma}}$.

On the other hand, from Proposition 4.3.9, we know that the left dual $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}$ of \mathcal{E} (in the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$) is isomorphic to \mathcal{E}^* . Since g is bilinear, Proposition 4.3.9 implies that the morphism V_g (in the category ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$) is an isomorphism from \mathcal{E} to \mathcal{E}^* .

Therefore, we have an isomorphism $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ is an isomorphism from \mathcal{E}_{γ} to $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\gamma}$. Since the functor from ${}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}}_{\mathcal{A}}$ to ${}^{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}$ sending M to M_{γ} is monoidal by Proposition 5.1.5, we can apply the second assertion of Proposition 1.1.10 to deduce that $(\mathcal{E}^*)_{\gamma} \cong (\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})^*$. Thus $(V_g)_{\gamma}$ is an isomorphism from \mathcal{E}_{γ} to $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})^*$. As $(V_g)_{\gamma} = V_{g_{\gamma}}$, we deduce that $V_{g_{\gamma}}$ is an isomorphism from \mathcal{E}_{γ} to $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})^*$. Since the equation $g_{\gamma} \circ \sigma_{\gamma} = g_{\gamma}$, this completes the proof.

5.3 Cocycle deformation of bicovariant differential calculi

In this section, we deform a first order bicovariant differential calculus $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ over \mathcal{A} and see that $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ is a first order bicovariant differential calculus on \mathcal{A}_{γ} .

Since $d : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{E}$ is a bicovariant map between bicovariant bimodules, by Proposition 5.1.2, we have the map

$$d_{\gamma} := d : \mathcal{A}_{\gamma} \to \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}.$$

Proposition 5.3.1. ([74]) The tuple $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ is a first-order bicovariant differential calculus on \mathcal{A}_{Ω} .

Proof. Though the proof of this result is already available in Proposition 3.2 and Corollary 3.4 of [74], we provide the proof here in our notations for the sake of completeness. We start by proving that $d_{\gamma} : \mathcal{A}_{\Omega} \to \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ is a derivation. For a, b in \mathcal{A}_{Ω} , we compute

$$\begin{aligned} &d_{\gamma}(a *_{\gamma} b) \\ &= \gamma(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(1)}) d(a_{(2)} b_{(2)}) \overline{\gamma}(a_{(3)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(3)}) \text{ (by } 1.2.2) \\ &= \gamma(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(1)}) d(a_{(2)}) b_{(2)} \overline{\gamma}(a_{(3)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(3)}) + \gamma(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(1)}) a_{(2)} d(b_{(2)}) \overline{\gamma}(a_{(3)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(3)}) \end{aligned}$$

$$= \gamma((da)_{(-1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(1)})((da)_{(0)} b_{(2)} \overline{\gamma}((da)_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} b_{(3)})) + \gamma(a_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (db)_{(-1)}) a_{(2)}(db)_{(0)} \overline{\gamma}(a_{(3)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (db)_{(1)}) (by part(iii) of Lemma 1.3.16) = da *_{\gamma} b + a *_{\gamma} db,$$

where in the last step we have used (5.1.3) and (5.1.4). This proves that d_{γ} is a derivation on \mathcal{A}_{γ} .

Next, we observe that since $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} = \mathcal{E}, d_{\gamma} = d$, and (\mathcal{E}, d) is a first order differential calculus on $\mathcal{A}, (\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ is a first order differential calculus on \mathcal{A}_{γ} (see Definition 1.3.14). To prove that $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ is a left-covariant differential calculus, let $a_i, i = 1, \ldots, k$ be elements in \mathcal{A} such that $\sum_k a_k *_{\gamma} db_k = 0.$

Now, since $d_{\gamma} = d$ and $\Delta_{\gamma} = \Delta$ as maps, we have

$$(d_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) \Delta_{\gamma}(a) = \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \Delta \circ d_{\gamma} \text{ and } (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d_{\gamma}) \Delta_{\gamma} = \Delta_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}} \circ d_{\gamma}.$$

Moreover, by Proposition 5.1.1, \mathcal{E}_{γ} is a bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bimodule. Thus, if $\sum_{k} a_k *_{\gamma} d(b_k) = 0$, we get

$$\sum_{k} \Delta_{\gamma}(a_{k}) *_{\gamma} (\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d_{\gamma}) \Delta_{\gamma}(b_{k}) = \sum_{k} \Delta_{\gamma}(a_{k}) *_{\gamma} \Delta_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}(d_{\gamma}(b_{k}))$$
$$= \Delta_{\gamma}(\sum_{k} a_{k} *_{\gamma} d(b_{k})) = 0.$$

Therefore, $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ is a left-covariant first order differential calculus. Similarly, it can be proved that $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ is a right-covariant first order differential calculus. This completes the proof. \Box

If (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus such that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable, then we have proved (Theorem 4.2.5) that $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) \oplus \mathcal{F}$, where $\mathcal{F} = \tilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}} (_0 \mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A})$. Here, $_0 \mathcal{F}$ is the direct sum of eigenspaces of $_0\sigma$ corresponding to the eigenvalues which are not equal to 1 and $\tilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}$ is the isomorphism defined in (4.2.1). Moreover, we have a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bilinear idempotent map P_{sym} on $\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ with range $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge)$ and $\operatorname{kernel} \mathcal{F}$, defined by the equation (see Definition 4.2.6)

$$P_{\rm sym} = \widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}}({}_0(P_{\rm sym}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{id})(\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}})^{-1}.$$

Since $P_{\text{sym}} : \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$ is bicovariant, we have a deformed map $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\gamma} : (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma} \to (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$. With an abuse of notation, we will denote the map $\xi^{-1}(P_{\text{sym}})_{\gamma}\xi : \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \to \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ by the symbol $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\gamma}$ again.

Now, let us consider the bicovariant differential calculus $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$. By Proposition 5.3.1, we can apply Theorem 4.2.5 (to $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$) to get a bicovariant \mathcal{A}_{γ} -bilinear idempotent $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}$ on $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$. It is worthwhile to note that the map $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}$ coincides with the cocycle deformation $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\gamma}$ of the map P_{sym} . Indeed, since $_{0}(\sigma_{\gamma}) = _{0}\sigma$ on $_{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}) = _{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$, the kernel of $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}$ is equal to $\tilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}(_{0}\mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{A}_{\gamma})$. However, using the isomorphism $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma} \cong \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$, it is easy to check that

$$\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}({}_{0}\mathcal{F}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}) = (\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}})_{\gamma}(({}_{0}\mathcal{F}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A})_{\gamma})$$
$$=((\widetilde{u}^{\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}})({}_{0}\mathcal{F}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{A}))_{\gamma} = \mathcal{F}_{\gamma} = \operatorname{Ker}((P_{\operatorname{sym}})_{\gamma}).$$

On the other hand, by the definition of $(P_{sym})_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}$,

$$\operatorname{Ran}((P_{\operatorname{sym}})_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}) = \operatorname{Ker}(\sigma_{\gamma} - 1) = (\operatorname{Ker}(\sigma - 1))_{\gamma}$$
$$= (\operatorname{Ran}(P_{\operatorname{sym}}))_{\gamma} = \operatorname{Ran}((P_{\operatorname{sym}})_{\gamma})$$

Since $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}$ and $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\gamma}$ are both idempotents on $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ with the same kernel and the same range, we can conclude that $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\gamma} = (P_{\text{sym}})_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}$. We collect the observations made above in the following proposition.

Proposition 5.3.2. Let (\mathcal{E}, d) be a bicovariant differential calculus over \mathcal{A} such that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable and γ be a 2-cocycle. Then the maps $(P_{sym})_{\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}}$ and $(P_{sym})_{\gamma}$ coincide. Moreover, we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge_{\gamma}) \oplus \mathcal{F}_{\gamma} = \operatorname{Ker}(\sigma_{\gamma} - 1) \oplus \mathcal{F}_{\gamma}.$$

Cocycle deformation of two-forms

In order to introduce the deformation of the space of two-forms, we need the deformation of the braiding map σ of the space of one-forms \mathcal{E} , which was discussed in Theorem 5.1.7. Utilising the map σ_{γ} we have the following result.

Proposition 5.3.3. Let \mathcal{E} be a bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodule and γ be a cocyle as above. Then the space of two-forms $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma})$ of the cocycle deformed algebra \mathcal{A}_{γ} is the deformed bimodule $(\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}))_{\gamma}$. Moreover, the deformation d_{γ} of the map $d: \mathcal{E} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ is the bicovariant derivative map from the space of one-forms to the space of two-forms.

Proof. By Theorem, 5.1.7, σ_{γ} is the canonical braiding map on \mathcal{E}_{γ} . Hence, the space of twoforms $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}) = (\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma})/\text{Ker}(\sigma_{\gamma} - 1)$. Since $\sigma_{\gamma} = \sigma$ as vector space maps, $\text{Ker}(\sigma_{\gamma} - 1) =$ $\text{Ker}(\sigma - 1)$ as vector spaces. Therefore, using the isomorphism $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \cong (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$, we have that $\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}) = ((\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})/\text{Ker}(\sigma - 1))_{\gamma}$. Thus, we have the first part of the statement. By Proposition 1.3.20, the map $d : \mathcal{E} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ is a bicovariant map. Therefore, by Proposition 5.1.2, it deforms to the map

$$d_{\gamma}: \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \to (\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}))_{\gamma},$$

which satisfies the properties of Proposition 1.3.20. By the first part of this proof, $(\Omega^2(\mathcal{A}))_{\gamma} = \Omega^2(\mathcal{A}_{\gamma})$. Hence, d_{γ} is the derivative map from the space of one-forms to the space of two-forms, and we are done with our proof.

5.4 Existence and uniqueness of Levi-Civita connections

This section concerns the Levi-Civita connections on bicovariant differential calculus on cocycle deformations of Hopf algebras. We discuss the effect of cocycle deformations on the map P_{sym} as well as bicovariant connections. Finally, we prove the main theorem which states that if (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus such that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable and g is a pseudo-Riemannian bi-invariant metric on \mathcal{E} such that (\mathcal{E}, d, g) admits a bicovariant Levi-Civita connection ∇ , then ∇ deforms to a bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for the deformed triple $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}, g_{\gamma})$.

We start by discussing bicovariant connections on \mathcal{E}_{γ} . Suppose that ∇ is a bicovariant connection on \mathcal{E} . Then Proposition 5.1.2 yields a \mathbb{C} -linear map ∇_{γ} from \mathcal{E}_{γ} to $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$. However, we would like to have the deformed map to take value in $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$. For this, we will need to use the isomorphism $\xi : \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \to (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$ introduced in Proposition 5.1.5.

The following lemma will be needed to prove that ∇_{γ} is actually a connection.

Lemma 5.4.1. If ∇ is a bicovariant connection on a bicovariant differential calculus (\mathcal{E}, d) and we write

$$\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \Delta(\nabla(e)) = (\nabla(e))_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\nabla(e))_{(1)},$$

then for all ω in $_0\mathcal{E}$ and a in \mathcal{A} , we have

$$\xi^{-1}((\nabla(\omega))_{(0)}a_{(1)}\overline{\gamma}((\nabla(\omega))_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}a_{(2)})) = \xi^{-1}(\nabla_{\gamma}(\omega)) *_{\gamma} a,$$

where $\nabla_{\gamma} : \mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \to (\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$ is the deformation of the \mathbb{C} -linear bicovariant map $\nabla : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}$.

Proof. We will use the right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -module structure of $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$ and the bicovariance of the map ∇_{γ} (Proposition 5.1.2). In particular, this implies that if ω is in $_{0}\mathcal{E}$, then $\nabla_{\gamma}(\omega)$ is an element of $_{0}((\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{E})_{\gamma})$. Hence, we get:

$$\nabla_{\gamma}(\omega) * a = (\nabla_{\gamma}(\omega))_{(0)} \cdot a_{(1)} \overline{\gamma}((\nabla_{\gamma}(\omega))_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)})$$
$$= (\nabla(\omega))_{(0)} \cdot a_{(1)} \overline{\gamma}((\nabla(\omega))_{(1)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)}),$$

where the equality is of elements in $(\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E})_{\gamma}$. Then, using Lemma 5.1.6, by the right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -linearity of ξ , we have

$$\xi^{-1}((\nabla(\omega))_{(0)}a_{(1)}\overline{\gamma}((\nabla(\omega))_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}a_{(2)})) = \xi^{-1}(\nabla_{\gamma}(\omega)) *_{\gamma} a,$$

where the equality is of elements in $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$. This completes the proof of the lemma. \Box

By an abuse of notation, we will denote the map $\xi^{-1}\nabla_{\gamma}$ by the symbol ∇_{γ} again. Thus, ∇_{γ} takes value in $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ as desired. Then we have the following theorem.

Theorem 5.4.2. Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus. Then a bicovariant connection ∇ deforms to a bicovariant connection ∇_{γ} on \mathcal{E}_{γ} . In fact, bicovariant connections on \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{E}_{γ} are in bijective correspondence.

Proof. For ω in $_{0}\mathcal{E}$ and a in \mathcal{A} , we have

$$\nabla_{\gamma}(\omega *_{\gamma} a) = \nabla_{\gamma}(\omega_{(0)}a_{(1)}\overline{\gamma}(\omega_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}a_{(2)}))$$
$$= \nabla_{\gamma}(\omega_{(0)}a_{(1)})\overline{\gamma}(\omega_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}a_{(2)}) = \nabla(\omega_{(0)}a_{(1)})\overline{\gamma}(\omega_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}a_{(2)})$$
$$= (\nabla(\omega_{(0)})a_{(1)} + \omega_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}d(a_{(1)}))\overline{\gamma}(\omega_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}a_{(2)})$$
$$= \nabla(\omega_{(0)})a_{(1)}\overline{\gamma}(\omega_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}a_{(2)}) + \omega_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}d(a_{(1)})\overline{\gamma}(\omega_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}a_{(2)}).$$

Now, by the right covariance of the maps ∇ and d (see (1.3.6)), the following equations hold:

$$\nabla(\omega_{(0)}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{(1)} = (\nabla(\omega))_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (\nabla(\omega))_{(1)}, \ d(a_{(1)}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} a_{(2)} = (da)_{(0)} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (da)_{(1)},$$

and therefore, the above expression is equal to

$$\begin{aligned} (\nabla(\omega))_{(0)}a_{(1)}\overline{\gamma}((\nabla(\omega))_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}a_{(2)}) + \omega_{(0)}\otimes_{\mathcal{A}}(da)_{(0)}\overline{\gamma}(\omega_{(1)}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(da)_{(1)}) \\ = \nabla_{\gamma}(\omega) *_{\gamma}a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}d_{\gamma}a \end{aligned}$$

where we have used the two equations of Lemma 5.4.1. This proves that for all ω in $_0\mathcal{E}$ and a in \mathcal{A} ,

$$\nabla_{\gamma}(\omega *_{\gamma} a) = \nabla_{\gamma}(\omega) *_{\gamma} a + \omega \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} da.$$
(5.4.1)

Since $_{0}\mathcal{E} = _{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})$ is right \mathcal{A}_{γ} -total in \mathcal{E}_{γ} , we are left to prove that for all a, b in \mathcal{A} and ω in $_{0}\mathcal{E}$,

$$\nabla_{\gamma}((\omega *_{\gamma} a) *_{\gamma} b) = \nabla_{\gamma}(\omega *_{\gamma} a) *_{\gamma} b + \omega *_{\gamma} a \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} d_{\gamma} b.$$

But this follows easily from (5.4.1). Since the right and left comodule structure of the calculus and its deformation are the same, hence ∇_{γ} is also bicovariant.

To show that the bicovariant connections of \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{E}_{γ} are in a bijective correspondence, we consider the bicovariant calculus (\mathcal{E}, d) as a cocycle deformation of the calculus $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ under the cocycle $\overline{\gamma}$. If ∇' is a bicovariant connection on $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$, then by the above argument, $(\nabla')_{\overline{\gamma}}$ is a bicovariant connection on $((\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})_{\overline{\gamma}}, (d_{\gamma})_{\overline{\gamma}}) = (\mathcal{E}, d)$. Moreover, $\nabla' = ((\nabla')_{\overline{\gamma}})_{\gamma}$ and hence is a cocycle deformation of a bicovariant connection on (\mathcal{E}, d) under the cocycle γ .

Next we prove the main result of this section, namely that, if (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus on \mathcal{A} satisfying the conditions of Theorem 4.5.9 and g' is a pseudo-Riemannian bi-invariant metric on the deformed bimodule \mathcal{E}_{γ} , then there exists a unique left-invariant connection which is torsionless and compatible with g'. This is an analogue of Theorem 3.3.1 proved in Section 3 for Connes-Landi deformations of bimodules. We will continue to use the notations $\sigma_{\gamma}, g_{\gamma}$ introduced in Theorem 5.3.1 and ∇_{γ} from Theorem 5.4.2. In particular, if gbe a pseudo-Riemannian bi-invariant metric on \mathcal{E} , then g_{γ} is a pseudo-Riemannian bi-invariant metric on \mathcal{E}_{γ} by Theorem 5.2.5.

Theorem 5.4.3. Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus on a Hopf algebra \mathcal{A} , σ be the corresponding braiding map and γ a 2-cocycle on \mathcal{A} . If $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable and g is a pseudo-Riemannian bi-invariant metric on \mathcal{E} , then the following statements hold:

(i) If ∇ is a bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for the triple (\mathcal{E}, d, g) , then ∇ deforms to a bicovariant Levi-Civita connection ∇_{γ} for $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}, g_{\gamma})$.

(ii) In the set-up of (i), if we assume that ∇ is the unique Levi-Civita connection for (\mathcal{E}, d, g) , then ∇_{γ} is the unique bi-covariant Levi-Civita connection for $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}, g_{\gamma})$.

Proof. We start by proving that ∇_{γ} is torsionless and metric compatible. Since \wedge , ∇ and d are bicovariant, therefore the right \mathcal{A} -linear homomorphism $T_{\nabla} = \wedge \circ \nabla + d$ is also bicovariant. Therefore its cocycle deformation exists and

$$(T_{\nabla})_{\gamma} = (\wedge \circ \nabla + d)_{\gamma} = \wedge_{\gamma} \circ \nabla_{\gamma} + d_{\gamma} = T_{\nabla_{\gamma}}.$$

Since ∇ is torsionless, we have that $T_{\nabla_{\gamma}} = 0$.

Now we prove that ∇_{γ} is compatible with the metric g_{γ} . The map $dg: \mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}$ is also a bicovariant map as Proposition 1.3.15 and Proposition 4.3.3 imply that d and g are bicovariant maps. Therefore, since ∇ is bicovariant and g is bi-invariant, Remark 4.4.6 and Proposition 4.4.10 imply that the map $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg$ is bicovariant. Therefore, the deformation of the map $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg$ exists and is equal to $\widetilde{\Pi_{g_{\gamma}}}(\nabla_{\gamma}) - d_{\gamma}g_{\gamma}$. Since $\widetilde{\Pi_g}(\nabla) - dg = 0$, therefore we have that $\widetilde{\Pi_{g_{\gamma}}}(\nabla_{\gamma}) - d_{\gamma}g_{\gamma} = 0$.

For the second part of the proof, assume that ∇' is a bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for the triple $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}, g_{\gamma})$. Viewing (\mathcal{E}, d, g) as a cocycle deformation of $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}, g_{\gamma})$ under the cocycle $\overline{\gamma}$, by the first part of the proof, $(\nabla')_{\overline{\gamma}}$ is a bicovariant Levi-Civita connection on $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}, g_{\gamma})$. By our hypothesis, such a connection is unique. Hence $(\nabla')_{\overline{\gamma}} = \nabla$, and hence $\nabla' = \nabla_{\gamma}$. Thus $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}, g_{\gamma})$ admits a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection.

In Theorem 4.5.9, we proved that if the map $(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))_{23}$ is an isomorphism from $(_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}}_{\mathbb{C}}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} 0\mathcal{E}$ to $_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} (_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}}_{\mathbb{C}} 0\mathcal{E})$, then there exists a unique left-covariant Levi-Civita connection for (\mathcal{E}, d, g) . The next theorem shows that under the same assumption, $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ admits a unique left-covariant Levi-Civita connection for any bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric.

Theorem 5.4.4. Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is a bicovariant differential calculus such that $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable. If the map

$$(_{0}(P_{\rm sym}))_{23}:(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\rm sym}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}\to {}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\rm sym}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})$$

is an isomorphism, then

(i) considering the map $(P_{sym})_{\gamma}$ as in Proposition 5.3.2, the following map is also an isomorphism:

$$(_{0}((P_{\mathrm{sym}})_{\gamma}))_{23}:(_{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}))\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})\rightarrow {}_{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{(0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_{0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma})),$$

(ii) for every bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric g', the corresponding deformed calculus
 (ε_γ, d_γ) admits a unique left-covariant connection which is torsionless and compatible with
 g'. Moreover, if A is cosemisimple, this connection is also right-covariant.

Proof. The first part of the theorem follows by recalling that $_0(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}) = _0\mathcal{E}$ and the fact that by Proposition 5.1.4, we have $_0(P_{\text{sym}}) = _0((P_{\text{sym}})_{\gamma})$.

By Proposition 5.3.2, $(P_{\text{sym}})_{\gamma}$ is the unique idempotent on $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ with range $\mathcal{E}_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathcal{A}_{\gamma}}^{\text{sym}} \mathcal{E}_{\gamma}$ and kernel \mathcal{F}_{γ} . The existence of a unique left-covariant Levi-Civita connection for $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}, g')$ follows by combining the first part and Theorem 4.5.9.

If in addition, if \mathcal{A} is cosemisimple, then \mathcal{A}_{γ} is also cosemisimple and the right-covariance of the Levi-Civita connection follows from Theorem 4.5.9.

As a direct corollary to Theorem 5.4.4 and the existence-uniqueness theorem for Levi-Civita connection on a classical manifold, we have:

Proposition 5.4.5. Let \mathcal{A} be the Hopf algebra of regular functions on a linear algebraic group G whose category of finite dimensional representations is semisimple. Suppose (\mathcal{E}, d) is the classical bicovariant differential calculus on \mathcal{A} and γ a 2-cocycle on \mathcal{A} . If g' is a pseudo-Riemannian biinvariant metric on the bicovariant differential calculus $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma})$ over the Hopf algebra \mathcal{A}_{γ} , then there exists a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for the triple $(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}, d_{\gamma}, g')$.

Proof. The map g' is a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric on \mathcal{E}_{γ} and so by Theorem 5.2.5, there exists a bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric g on \mathcal{E} such that $g_{\gamma} = g'$. The Levi-Civita connection for the triple (\mathcal{E}, d, g) is bicovariant. This is well-known and can also be seen using Proposition 4.5.11 and Theorem 4.5.9. Therefore, we can apply Theorem 5.4.3 to reach the desired conclusion.

We conclude this section by proving Proposition 4.4.13 stated in the previous chapter, which shows that our definition of metric-compatibility coincides with that in [51] in the case of cocycle deformation of the Hopf algebra of regular functions on a linear algebraic group. The proof will use the notations and discussions preceding the statement of Theorem 4.4.13.

Proof of Proposition 4.4.13: By our assumption, ∇' and g' are bicovariant. It can be easily checked that analogues of Theorem 5.4.2 for left connections and the third assertion of Theorem 5.2.5 for left \mathcal{A} -linear pseudo-Riemannian metrics hold. This implies that there exist a bicovariant left-connection ∇ on \mathcal{E} and a left \mathcal{A} -linear bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric gon \mathcal{E} such that $\nabla' = \nabla_{\gamma}$ and $g' = g_{\gamma}$.

Now suppose that $\nabla' = \nabla_{\gamma}$ is such that (4.4.2) holds for the left \mathcal{A} -linear bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric $g' = g_{\gamma}$. Then by (4.4.3), $\widetilde{{}_{L}\Pi^{0}_{g_{\gamma}}}(\nabla_{\gamma}) = 0$, i.e,

$$2(g_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma_{\gamma})(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla_{\gamma})_0((P_{\mathrm{sym}})_{\gamma}) = 0$$

as maps on $_0(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}(\mathcal{E}_{\gamma}) = {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$. Since the maps $g_{\gamma}, \sigma_{\gamma}, {}_0(P_{\text{sym}})_{\gamma}$ coincide with $g, \sigma, {}_0(P_{\text{sym}})$ respectively on ${}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$, we can conclude that

$$2(g \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma)(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla)_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}}) = 0$$

as maps on ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E}$. But \mathcal{E} is the classical space of forms on the group G and therefore, our definition of metric-compatibility coincides with that in [51]. Hence we have

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g)(\nabla \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) + (g \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma)(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla) = 0$$

Applying the same argument as above, we deduce that

$$(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} g_{\gamma})(\nabla_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id}) + (g_{\gamma} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathrm{id})(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \sigma_{\gamma})(\mathrm{id} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \nabla_{\gamma}) = 0.$$

i.e, $\nabla' = \nabla_{\gamma}$ is compatible with $g' = g_{\gamma}$ in the sense of [51].

The converse part follows similarly and this completes the proof.

Chapter 6

Levi-Civita connection on $SU_q(2)$

In this chapter, we will investigate the theory of Chapter 4, in particular Theorem 4.5.9, in the context of the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi of the Hopf algebra $SU_q(2)$ discussed in Example 1.2.9. The $4D_{\pm}$ calculi of $SU_q(2)$ were explicitly described in [93] and then [86], and we briefly recall the same in Section 6.1. In the same section, we verify that the diagonalisability condition of the map $_0\sigma$ (see (4.2.2)) is satisfied by the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi. Theorem 4.4.4 states that if the map $_0\sigma$ of a bicovariant differential calculus is diagonalisable, then it admits a canonical bicovariant torsionless connection. In Section 6.2, we provide an explicit construction of this torsionless connection for each of the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi. In Section 6.3, we will show that the metric-independent sufficiency condition of Theorem 4.5.9 is satisfied by both calculi, except for at most finitely many values of q, and hence we can conclude the existence of a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection, corresponding to each bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric. Throughout the chapter, the symbol \mathcal{A} will stand for the Hopf algebra $SU_q(2)$ and \mathcal{E} for the bimodule of oneforms for the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi.

6.1 The $4D_{\pm}$ calculi on $SU_q(2)$ and the braiding map

Our main reference for the details of this section is [86].

Recall from Example 1.2.9 that for $q \in [-1, 1] \setminus 0$, $SU_q(2)$ is the *-algebra generated by the two elements α, γ , and their adjoints, satisfying the following relations:

$$\alpha^* \alpha + \gamma^* \gamma = 1, \quad \alpha \alpha^* + q^2 \gamma \gamma^* = 1,$$

 $\gamma^* \gamma = \gamma \gamma^*, \quad \alpha \gamma = q \gamma \alpha, \quad \alpha \gamma^* = q \gamma^* \alpha.$

The comultiplication map Δ is given by

$$\Delta(\alpha) = \alpha \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \alpha - q \gamma^* \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \gamma, \quad \Delta(\gamma) = \gamma \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \alpha + \alpha^* \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \gamma$$

In this chapter, we will denote this Hopf algebra by the symbol \mathcal{A} .

In [86], it is explicitly proven that there does not exists any three-dimensional bicovariant differential calculi and exactly two inequivalent four-dimensional calculi for $SU_q(2)$. We use the description of the two bicovariant calculi, $4D_+$ and $4D_-$, as given in [86]. We will rephrase some of the notations to fit our formalism.

For $q \in (-1,1) \setminus \{0\}$, the first order differential calculi \mathcal{E} of each of the $4D_+$ and $4D_-$ calculi are bicovariant \mathcal{A} -bimodules such that the space $_0\mathcal{E}$ of one-forms invariant under the left coaction of \mathcal{A} is a 4-dimensional vector space. We will denote a preferred basis of $_0\mathcal{E}$ by $\{\omega_i\}_{i=1,2,3,4}$. Here we have replaced the notation Ω_i in [86] with the symbol ω_i .

The following is the explicit description of the exterior derivative d on $_0\mathcal{E}$ for the preferred basis $\{\omega_i\}_{i=1}^4$ mentioned above.

Proposition 6.1.1. (Equation (5.2) of [86]) Let $d : \mathcal{E} \to \Omega^2(\mathcal{A})$ be the exterior derivative of the $4D_{\pm}$ calculus.

$$d(\omega_1) = \pm \sqrt{r}\omega_1 \wedge \omega_3, \qquad \qquad d(\omega_2) = \mp \frac{\sqrt{r}}{q^2}\omega_2 \wedge \omega_3$$
$$d(\omega_3) = \pm \frac{\sqrt{r}}{q}\omega_1 \wedge \omega_2, \qquad \qquad d(\omega_4) = 0,$$

where the upper sign stand for $4D_+$ and the lower for $4D_-$, and $r = 1 + q^2$.

Next we will show that the map $_0\sigma$ for $SU_q(2)$ satisfies the diagonalisability condition by giving explicit bases for eigenspaces of $_0\sigma$. First we recall from [86], the explicit action of σ on elements $\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j$, i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4. **Lemma 6.1.2.** (Equation (4.1) of [86]) The action of σ on the preferred basis of the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi is given by

$$\sigma(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_1) = \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_1, \quad \sigma(\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2) = \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2, \quad \sigma(\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_4) = \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_4,$$

$$\sigma(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_4) = \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_1, \quad \sigma(\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_4) = \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_2, \quad \sigma(\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_4) = \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_3,$$

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma(\omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_2) &= \omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_1 + t\omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_3 - \frac{q\sqrt{r}}{k} \omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_4, \\ \sigma(\omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_1) &= \omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_2 - t\omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_3 + \frac{q\sqrt{r}}{k} \omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_4, \\ \sigma(\omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_3) &= \frac{t}{q} \omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_3 - \frac{\sqrt{r}}{k} \omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_4 + \omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_1, \\ \sigma(\omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_1) &= \omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_3 + \frac{q^2\sqrt{r}}{k} \omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_4 - qt\omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_1, \\ \sigma(\omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_3) &= -qt\omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_3 + \frac{q^2\sqrt{r}}{k} \omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_4 + \omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_2, \\ \sigma(\omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_2) &= \omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_3 - \frac{\sqrt{r}}{k} \omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_4 + \frac{t}{q} \omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_2, \\ \sigma(\omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_3) &= t\omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_2 - t\omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_1 + (1 - t^2)\omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_3 + \frac{tq\sqrt{r}}{k} \omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_4, \\ \sigma(\omega_4 \otimes_A \omega_1) &= \frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_3 + (1 + t^2)\omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_4 - \frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_1, \\ \sigma(\omega_4 \otimes_A \omega_2) &= -\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_3 + (1 + t^2)\omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_4 + \frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}}, \\ \sigma(\sigma_4 \otimes_A \omega_3) &= \frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_A \omega_2 - \frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_2 \otimes_A \omega_1 - \frac{t^3k}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_3 + (1 + t^2)\omega_3 \otimes_A \omega_4, \\ \end{aligned}$$

where $r = 1 + q^2$, $t = q - \frac{1}{q}$, $s = \frac{1+q^4}{q}$, $k = \frac{r+q^4}{r\pm s}$ for $4D_{\pm}$ respectively.

This lead us to the next result which states the minimal polynomial equation of the map $_0\sigma$ and its eigenspace decomposition. The minimal polynomial equation of the map σ appeared in Equation (6.13) of [20] and the eigenspace decomposition can be found in Chapter 8 of [11]. Hence, the following proposition merely collects these results in the notational formality required for this chapter.

Proposition 6.1.3. For $SU_q(2)$, the map $_0\sigma : {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ is diagonalisable and has the minimal polynomial equation

$$(_0\sigma - 1)(_0\sigma + q^2)(_0\sigma + q^{-2}) = 0.$$

Proof. The proof of this result is by explicit listing of eigenvectors of $_0\sigma$ for eigenvalues $1, -q^2, -q^{-2}$ and by a dimension argument. Throughout we make use of the canonical equivalence $\omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} \omega_j \mapsto \omega_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j$ as stated in (i) of Theorem 4.1.11. Moreover, r, t, k will be as in Lemma 6.1.2. By explicit computation (also derived in Equation (4.2) of [86]), we get that the following ten two-tensors are in the eigenspace of $_0\sigma$ corresponding to eigenvalue 1:

$$\begin{split} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \ \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \ \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + t\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \ \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4, \\ \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 + \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \ \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + q^2 \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \\ q^2 \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \ \frac{t^2 k}{q^2 \sqrt{r}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 - \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 - \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \\ \frac{t^2 k}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \ \frac{t^2 k}{q \sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 + \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3. \end{split}$$

Similarly, by explicit computation, the following three linearly independent two-tensors are in the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalue $-q^2$:

$$\frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_3 - q^2\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_4 - \frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}}\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2, \\ -\frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}}\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_3 - q^2\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_4 + \frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_1 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_1, \\ -\frac{tk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2 + \frac{tk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_1 + \frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_3 - q^2\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_4 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_3.$$

Finally, the following three linearly independent two-tensors are in the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalue $-q^{-2}$:

$$\frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_3 + \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_4 - \frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}}\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2 - q^2\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2, \\ -\frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}}\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_3 + \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_4 + \frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_1 - q^2\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_1, \\ -\frac{tk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_2 + \frac{tk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_1 + \frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_3 + \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_4 - q^2\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_3.$$

We have thus accounted for sixteen linearly independent elements of ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$. Since ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ has dimension 4, ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ has dimension 16. Hence we have a basis, and in particular bases for the eigenspace decomposition, of ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$. Moreover, ${}_{0}\sigma$ satisfies the minimal polynomial

$$(_0\sigma - 1)(_0\sigma + q^2)(_0\sigma + q^{-2}) = 0.$$

6.2 A bicovariant torsionless connection

In this section, using the eigenspace decomposition of ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$, we construct a bicovariant torsionless connection on the $4D_{\pm}$ calculus.

By Proposition 6.1.3, we have the eigenspace decomposition

$${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ker}({}_{0}\sigma - \operatorname{id}) \oplus \operatorname{Ker}({}_{0}\sigma + q^{2}) \oplus \operatorname{Ker}({}_{0}\sigma + q^{-2}).$$

$$(6.2.1)$$

Since $\operatorname{Ker}(\wedge) = \operatorname{Ker}(_0\sigma - \operatorname{id})$, we have that

$$\operatorname{Ker}(_{0}\sigma + q^{2}) \oplus \operatorname{Ker}(_{0}\sigma + q^{-2}) \cong \Omega^{2}(\mathcal{A}),$$

with the isomorphism being given by $\wedge|_{\operatorname{Ker}(_0\sigma+q^2)\oplus\operatorname{Ker}(_0\sigma+q^{-2})}$. Let us denote $\operatorname{Ker}(_0\sigma+q^2)\oplus\operatorname{Ker}(_0\sigma+q^{-2})$ by $_0\mathcal{F}$ from now on. This is consistent with the notation adopted in Definition 4.2.2.

Before we state the main result of this section, let us make the following remark.

Remark 6.2.1. Note that since any element ρ in the bicovariant bimodule \mathcal{E} can be uniquely expressed as $\rho = \sum_{i} \omega_{i} a_{i}$ for some a_{i} in \mathcal{A} (Proposition 4.1.7), a connection on \mathcal{E} is determined by its action on the basis $\{\omega_{i}\}_{i}$.

Theorem 6.2.2. Let $\{\omega_i\}_i$ be the preferred basis for the $4D_{\pm}$ calculus on $SU_q(2)$. For i = 1, 2, 3, 4, we define

$$\nabla_0(\omega_i) = -(\wedge|_{0\mathcal{F}})^{-1} \circ d(\omega_i) \in {}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}.$$

Then, ∇_0 extends to a bicovariant torsionless connection on \mathcal{E} . More explicitly,

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{0}(\omega_{1}) &= \mp \frac{qr}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}} \Big(\frac{2tk}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3} + tq\omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{4} - \frac{2tqk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} + tq\omega_{4} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} \Big) \\ \nabla_{0}(\omega_{2}) &= \pm \frac{qr}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}} \Big(\frac{2tqk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_{2} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3} - tq\omega_{2} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{4} - \frac{2tk}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{2} - tq\omega_{4} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{2} \Big) \\ \nabla_{0}(\omega_{3}) &= \pm \frac{qr}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}} \Big(\frac{2tk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{2} - \frac{2tk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_{2} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} - \frac{t^{2}k}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3} \\ &+ tq\omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{4} + tq\omega_{4} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3} \Big) \end{aligned}$$

where the upper and lower signs stand for the $4D_+$ and $4D_-$ calculi respectively, and r, t, k are as in Lemma 6.1.2.

Proof. By the definition of ∇_0 ,

$$\wedge \circ \nabla_0(\omega_i) = - \wedge \circ (\wedge|_{0\mathcal{F}})^{-1} \circ d(\omega_i) = -d(\omega_i)$$

Therefore, for any element $\rho = \sum_i \omega_i a_i$ in \mathcal{E} ,

$$\wedge \circ \nabla_0 \left(\sum_i \omega_i a_i \right) = \wedge \circ \sum_i \left(\nabla_0(\omega_i) a_i + \omega_i \otimes_{\mathcal{A}} a_i \right)$$
$$= -\sum_i \left(\wedge \circ (\wedge|_{0\mathcal{F}})^{-1} \circ d(\omega_i) a_i + \omega_i \wedge a_i \right)$$
$$= -\sum_i (d(\omega_i) a_i + \omega_i \wedge a_i) = -\sum_i d(\omega_i a_i).$$

Hence ∇_0 is a torsionless connection. The construction of ∇_0 is the same as that in Theorem 4.4.4. Hence, by that theorem, our connection ∇_0 is bicovariant.

Now we derive ∇_0 explicitly on each ω_i using the formulas for $d(\omega_i)$ in Proposition 6.1.1. We have that $d(\omega_1) = \pm \sqrt{r} \omega_1 \wedge \omega_3$. The decomposition of $\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ as a linear combination of the basis eigenvectors listed in Proposition 6.1.3 is given by

$$\begin{split} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 &= \frac{2q^2}{(q^2+1)^2} \left(q^2 \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \right) \\ &- \frac{q^2 \sqrt{r}}{k(q^2+1)^2} \left(\frac{t^2 k}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \right) \\ &- \frac{q \sqrt{r}}{tk(q^2+1)^2} \left(- \frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 - q^2 \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 + \frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \right) \\ &- \frac{q \sqrt{r}}{tk(q^2+1)^2} \left(- \frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 + \frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 - q^2 \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \right). \end{split}$$

Since the first two terms in the above decomposition are elements of $\operatorname{Ker}(_0\sigma - \operatorname{id}) = \operatorname{Ker}(\wedge)$, applying \wedge on both sides, we have

$$\omega_{1} \wedge \omega_{3} = \wedge \Big(-\frac{q\sqrt{r}}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}} \Big(-\frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3} - q^{2} \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{4} + \frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} + \omega_{4} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} \Big) \\ - \frac{q\sqrt{r}}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}} \Big(-\frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3} + \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{4} + \frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} - q^{2} \omega_{4} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} \Big) \Big),$$

and since the last two terms in the decomposition are from $_0\mathcal{F}$,

$$(\wedge|_{0}\mathcal{F})^{-1}(\omega_{1}\wedge\omega_{3}) = -\frac{q\sqrt{r}}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}} \Big(-\frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}}\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3} - q^{2}\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{4} + \frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_{3}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1} + \omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1} \Big) \\ -\frac{q\sqrt{r}}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}} \Big(-\frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}}\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3} + \omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{4} + \frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_{3}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1} - q^{2}\omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1} \Big).$$

Thus, by the construction of ∇_0 , we have

$$\nabla_{0}(\omega_{1}) = \mp \left(-\frac{qr}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}}\left(-\frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}}\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3}-q^{2}\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{4}+\frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_{3}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1}+\omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1}\right)\right.\\ \left.-\frac{qr}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}}\left(-\frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}}\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3}+\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{4}+\frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_{3}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1}-q^{2}\omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1}\right)\right)\right.\\ = \mp \frac{qr}{tk(q^{2}+1)^{2}}\left(\frac{2tk}{q\sqrt{r}}\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{3}+tq\omega_{1}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{4}-\frac{2tqk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_{3}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1}+tq\omega_{4}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_{1}\right)$$

Proposition 6.1.1 also gives that $d(\omega_2) = \mp \frac{\sqrt{r}}{q^2} \omega_2 \wedge \omega_3, d(\omega_3) = \pm \frac{\sqrt{r}}{q} \omega_1 \wedge \omega_2$ and $d(\omega_4) = 0$. So, similarly, we have

$$\begin{split} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 &= \frac{2}{(q^2+1)^2} \big(\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + q^2 \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \big) - \frac{q^4 \sqrt{r}}{k(q^2+1)^2} \big(\frac{t^2 k}{q^2 \sqrt{r}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 - \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 - \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \big) \\ &+ \frac{q^3 \sqrt{r}}{tk(q^2+1)^2} \big(\frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 - q^2 \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 - \frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \big) \\ &+ \frac{q^3 \sqrt{r}}{tk(q^2+1)^2} \big(\frac{tqk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 - \frac{tk}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 - q^2 \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \big), \end{split}$$

and hence,

$$\nabla_0(\omega_2) = \pm \frac{qr}{tk(q^2+1)^2} \Big(\frac{2tqk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 - tq\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 - \frac{2tk}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 - tq\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \Big).$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 &= \frac{2q^2}{(q^2+1)^2} \Big(\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 + \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \Big) + \frac{2tq^2}{(q^2+1)^2} \Big(\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + t\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \Big) \\ &- \frac{q^3 \sqrt{r}}{k(q^2+1)^2} \Big(\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 + \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \Big) \\ &- \frac{q^2 \sqrt{r}}{tk(q^2+1)^2} \Big(- \frac{tk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 + \frac{tk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 + \frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 - q^2 \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 + \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \Big) \\ &- \frac{q^2 \sqrt{r}}{tk(q^2+1)^2} \Big(- \frac{tk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 + \frac{tk}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 + \frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 - q^2 \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \Big), \end{split}$$

and hence,

$$\nabla_0(\omega_3) = \pm \frac{qr}{tk(q^2+1)^2} \Big(\frac{2tk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 - \frac{2tk}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 - \frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}}\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 + tq\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 + tq\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3\Big)$$

Lastly, since $d(\omega_4) = 0$, $\nabla_0(\omega_4) = 0$ Thus, we are done with our proof.

6.3 Existence of a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection

In this section, we prove that except for finitely many $q \in (-1, 1) \setminus \{0\}$, the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi admit a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for every bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric (as defined in Definition 4.3.1) on \mathcal{E} . We achieve this by verifying the hypotheses of Theorem 4.5.9.

Recall that ((6.2.1)) for the $4D_{\pm}$ calculus, we had the decomposition

$${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E} = \operatorname{Ker}({}_0\sigma - \operatorname{id}) \oplus {}_0\mathcal{F},$$

where $_{0}\mathcal{F} := \operatorname{Ker}(_{0}\sigma + q^{2}) \oplus \operatorname{Ker}(_{0}\sigma + q^{-2}).$

Let us now denote $\operatorname{Ker}(_0\sigma - \operatorname{id})$ by $_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$. Moreover, as in Definition 4.2.2, we define the \mathbb{C} -linear map

$$_{0}(P_{\text{sym}}): {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E} \to {}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}0} \mathcal{E}$$

to be the idempotent with range ${}_{0}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} {}^{\text{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}$ and kernel ${}_{0}\mathcal{F}$. Since, ${}_{0}(P_{\text{sym}})$ is the idempotent onto the eigenspace of ${}_{0}\sigma$ with eigenvalue one, and with kernel the eigenspaces with eigenvalues $-q^{2}$ and $-q^{-2}$, it is of the form (see (4.2.6))

$$_{0}(P_{\rm sym}) = \frac{_{0}\sigma + q^{2}}{1 + q^{2}} \cdot \frac{_{0}\sigma + q^{-2}}{1 + q^{-2}}.$$
(6.3.1)

Let us introduce the following notations:

$$\nu_{1} = \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1}, \qquad \nu_{2} = \omega_{2} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{2}, \\
\nu_{3} = \omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3} + t \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{2}, \qquad \nu_{4} = \omega_{4} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{4}, \\
\nu_{5} = \omega_{2} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} + \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{2}, \qquad \nu_{6} = \omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{2} + \frac{1}{q^{2}} \omega_{2} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3}, \\
\nu_{7} = \omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} + q^{2} \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3}, \qquad \nu_{8} = \omega_{4} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{2} + \omega_{2} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{4} - \frac{t^{2}k}{q^{2}\sqrt{r}} \omega_{2} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3}, \\
\nu_{9} = \omega_{4} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{1} + \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{4} + \frac{t^{2}k}{\sqrt{r}} \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3}, \qquad \nu_{10} = \omega_{4} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{3} + \omega_{3} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{4} + \frac{t^{2}k}{q\sqrt{r}} \omega_{1} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{2}.$$
(6.3.2)

Then by the proof of Proposition 6.1.3, the set $\{\nu_i\}_{i=1}^{10}$ forms a basis of ${}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E} := \mathrm{Ker}({}_0\sigma - \mathrm{id}).$

Thus, an arbitrary element of $({}_0\mathcal{E} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_0\mathcal{E}$ is of the form

$$X = \sum_{ij} A_{ij} \nu_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j,$$

where A_{ij} are some complex numbers.

Hence, if we show that $(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))_{23}(\sum_{ij} A_{ij}\nu_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j) = 0$ implies that $A_{ij} = 0$ for all i, j, then $(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))_{23}$ is a one-one map from $(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}_0\mathcal{E}$ to $_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}^{\text{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})$.

However, $\dim(({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}) = \dim({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E}))$ and so $({}_{0}(P_{\operatorname{sym}}))_{23}$ will be a vector space isomorphism from $({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}0}\mathcal{E}$ to ${}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}({}_{0}\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\operatorname{sym}}{}_{0}\mathcal{E})$.

So let us suppose $\{A_{ij}\}_{ij}$ are complex numbers such that

$$(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))_{23}(\sum_{ij}A_{ij}\nu_i\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_j)=0.$$

Then, by (6.3.1), we have

$$\left((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2) \right) (\sum_{ij} A_{ij}\nu_i \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_j) = 0.$$
(6.3.3)

We want to show that except for finitely many values of q, the above equation implies that all the A_{ij} are equal to 0. This involves a long computation, including a series of preparatory lemmas. We will be using the explicit form of $_0\sigma(\omega_i\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_j)$ as given in Lemma 6.1.2 as well as (6.3.2) to express the left hand side of (6.3.3) as a linear combination of basis elements $\omega_i\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_j\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_k$. Then we compare coefficients to derive relations among the A_{ij} . We do not provide the details of the computation. However, for the purposes of book-keeping, each equation is indexed by a triplet (i, j, k) meaning that it is obtained by collecting coefficients of the basis element $\omega_i\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_j\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_k$ in the expansion of the term

$$((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23}+1)((_0\sigma)_{23}+q^2))(\sum_{mn}A_{mn}\nu_m\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\omega_n).$$

Lemma 6.3.1. We have the following equations:

$$A_{11} = 0 (1,1,1)$$

$$A_{12}(q^4+2) + (tA_{31} + A_{51} + A_{10,1}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})2q^2 + (A_{73}q^2 + A_{93}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}})2q(q^2-1) = 0$$
(1,1,2)

$$A_{13}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{14}(\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2}))$$

$$(1,1,3)$$

$$+(A_{71}q^{2} + A_{91}\frac{t^{2}k}{\sqrt{r}})2q^{2} + A_{91}(\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^{2} - 1)) = 0$$

$$A_{13}(-q^{2}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}) + A_{14}(q^{4} + 1) + (A_{71}q^{2} + A_{91}\frac{t^{2}k}{\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^{4} + A_{91}(q^{4} + 1) = 0$$
(1,1,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coeffcients of $\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$ and $\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.2. We have the following equations:

$$A_{12}(2q^{2}-1) + (tA_{31} + A_{51} + A_{10,1}\frac{t^{2}k}{q\sqrt{r}})(q^{4}+1) + (A_{73}q^{2} + A_{93}\frac{t^{2}k}{\sqrt{r}})(-2q(q^{2}-1)) + (A_{74}q^{2} + A_{94})(-\frac{k}{q\sqrt{r}}(q^{2}-1)^{2}) = 0$$

$$(1,2,1)$$

$$(1,2,1)$$

$$(1,2,2)$$

$$tA_{32} + A_{52} + A_{10,2}\frac{t^{-}k}{q\sqrt{r}} = 0 \tag{1,2,2}$$

$$(tA_{34} + A_{54} + A_{10,4}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 1)^2) + (tA_{33} + A_{53} + A_{10,3}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})(-(q^2 - 1)^2)$$

$$(1,2,3)$$

$$+(A_{72}q^{2} + A_{92}\frac{t^{2}k}{\sqrt{r}})2q^{2} + A_{92}(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^{2} - 1)^{2}) = 0$$

$$(tA_{33} + A_{53} + A_{10,3}\frac{t^{2}k}{q\sqrt{r}})\frac{q^{4}\sqrt{r}}{k} + (tA_{34} + A_{54} + A_{10,4}\frac{t^{2}k}{q\sqrt{r}})(q^{4} + 1)$$

$$+(A_{72}q^{2} + A_{92}\frac{t^{2}k}{\sqrt{r}})(-q^{2}) + A_{92}(q^{4} + 1) = 0$$

$$(1,2,4)$$

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coeffcients of $\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \omega_1, \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$ and $\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.3. We have the following equations:

$$A_{13}2q^{2} + A_{14}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^{2}(q-q^{-1})^{2}) + (A_{71}q^{2} + A_{91}\frac{t^{2}k}{\sqrt{r}})(-q^{4} + 2q^{2} + 1) + A_{91}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-(q^{2}-1)^{2}) = 0$$

$$(1,3,1)$$

$$(tA_{33} + A_{53} + A_{10,3}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})2q^2 + (tA_{34} + A_{54} + A_{10,4}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 2q + q^{-2}) + (A_{72}q^2 + A_{92}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}})(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{92}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1)^2 = 0$$

$$(1,3,2)$$

$$\sqrt{r} \qquad \sqrt{r} \qquad \sqrt{r} \qquad (tA_{31} + A_{51} + A_{10,1}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})(-2q^3 + 2q) + A_{12}2q(q^2 - 1) + A_{93}(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1)^3) + (A_{73}q^2 + A_{93}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}})(-q^4 + 6q^2 - 1) + (A_{74}q^2 + A_{94}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}})(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1)^3) = 0$$

$$(tA_{31} + A_{51} + A_{10,1}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})(-2q^3 + 2q) + (A_{73}q^2 + A_{93}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{93}(3(q^2 - 1)^2 + 2q^2) + (A_{74}q^2 + A_{94}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}})(q^4 + 1) = 0$$

$$(1,3,3)$$

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coeffcients of $\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n).$

Lemma 6.3.4. We have the following equations:

$$A_{13}\left(-\frac{q^2\sqrt{r}}{k}\right) + A_{14}\left(q^4 + 1\right) + \left(A_{71}q^2 + A_{91}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}}\right)\frac{q^4\sqrt{r}}{k} + A_{91}\left(q^4 + 1\right) = 0$$
(1,4,1)
$$\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}} + \frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}} + \frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{$$

$$(tA_{33} + A_{53} + A_{10,3}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})q^4\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k} + (tA_{34} + A_{54} + A_{10,4}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})(q^4 + 1) + (A_{72}q^2 + A_{92}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{92}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$

$$(1,4,2)$$

$$A_{12}(-\frac{r}{k}q^3) + (tA_{31} + A_{51} + A_{10,1}\frac{t^2k}{q\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 + A_{93}(q^4 - 1)$$

$$(1,4,3)$$

$$+(A_{73}q^2 + A_{93}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^2(q^2 - 1) + (A_{74}q^2 + A_{94}\frac{t^2k}{\sqrt{r}})(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(1.1.1)

$$A_{94} = 0 (1,4,4)$$

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coeffcients of $\omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \text{ and } \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \text{ in } ((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23}+1)((_0\sigma)_{23}+q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n).$

Lemma 6.3.5. We have the following equations:

$$A_{51} = 0 (2,1,1)$$

$$A_{52}(q^{4}+2) + A_{21}(2q^{2}) + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^{2}k}{q^{2}\sqrt{r}})2q(q^{2}-1)$$

$$(2,1,2)$$

$$+A_{83}\left(\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-1}(q^2-1)^2\right) + \left(A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}}\right)\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q(q^2-2+q^{-2}) = 0$$

$$A_{53}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{54}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2})$$

$$(2,1,3)$$

$$+(A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})2q^2 + A_{81}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1) = 0$$

$$A_{53}(-\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^2) + A_{54}(q^4 + 1) + (A_{61}q^{-2} + A_{81}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{81}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(2,1,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coeffcients of $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1$, $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$, $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ and $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.6. We have the following equations:

$$A_{52}(2q^{2}-1) + A_{21}(q^{4}+1) + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^{2}k}{q^{2}\sqrt{r}})(-2q(q^{2}-1)) + A_{83}(\frac{k}{q\sqrt{r}}(q^{2}-1)^{2}) + (A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^{2}k}{q^{2}\sqrt{r}})(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q(q^{2}-2+q^{-2})) = 0$$

$$A_{22} = 0 \qquad (2,2,2)$$

$$A_{23}(-q^4 + 2q^2 + 1) + A_{24}(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^4 - 2q^2 + 1))$$
(2.2.3)

$$+(A_{62}q^{-2} + A_{82}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})2q^2 + A_{82}(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 1)^2) = 0$$

$$A_{23}\frac{q^4\sqrt{r}}{k} + A_{24}(q^4 + 1) + (A_{62}q^{-2} + A_{82}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{82}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(2,2,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coefficients of $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1$, $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$, $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ and $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.7. We have the following equations:

$$A_{53}(2q^2) + A_{54}(q^4 + 1) + (A_{61}q^{-2} + A_{81}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})(-q^4 + 2q^2 + 1) + A_{81}\frac{k}{c}(-(q^2 - 1)^2) = 0$$

$$(2,3,1)$$

$$A_{23}2q^{2} + A_{24}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^{2} - 2 + q^{-2}) + (A_{62}q^{-2} + A_{82}\frac{t^{2}k}{q^{2}\sqrt{r}})(q^{4} + 2q^{2} - 1)$$

$$+ A_{62}\frac{k}{q^{2}}q^{-2}(q^{2} - 1)^{2} = 0$$

$$(2,3,2)$$

$$+A_{82}\frac{d}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2-1)^2 = 0$$

$$A_{52}2q(q^2-1) + A_{21}(-2q^3+2q) + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})(-q^4 + 6q^2 - 1)$$

$$+A_{83}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^{-2}(q^2-1)^3) + (A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q(q-q^{-1})^3) = 0$$

$$A_{21}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{83}(3(q^2-1)^2+2q^2)$$

$$+(A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})(q^4+1) = 0$$
(2,3,3)
(2,3,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coefficients of $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1$, $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$, $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ and $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.8. We have the following equations:

$$A_{53}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{54}(q^4 + 1) + (A_{61}q^{-2} + A_{81}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{81}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(2,4,1)

$$A_{23}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{24}(q^4 + 1) + (A_{62}q^{-2} + A_{82}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{82}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(2,4,2)

$$A_{52}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^3) + A_{21}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^2(q^2 - 1) + (A_{12}q^{-2} + A_{12}\frac{t^2k}{k})(q^4 + 1) = 0$$

$$(2,4,3)$$

$$+A_{83}(q^{*}-1) + (A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\overline{q^{2}\sqrt{r}})(q^{*}+1) = 0$$

$$A_{84} = 0$$
(2,4,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coefficients of $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1$, $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$, $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ and $\omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.9. We have the following equations:

$$A_{71} = 0 (3,1,1)$$

$$A_{72}(q^4 + 2) + A_{61}2q^2 + A_{33}2q(q^2 - 1)$$
(3.1.2)

$$+A_{10,3}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-1}(q^2-1)^2 + A_{34}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q(q^2-2+q^{-2}) = 0$$
(3,1,2)

$$A_{73}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{74}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2}) + A_{31}2q^2 + A_{10,1}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1) = 0 \qquad (3,1,3)$$

$$A_{73}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^{-2}) + A_{74}(q^4 + 1) + A_{31}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{10,1}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(3,1,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coefficients of $\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$ and $\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.10. We have the following equations:

$$A_{72}(2q^{2}-1) + A_{61}(q^{4}+1) + A_{33}2q(-(q^{2}-1)) + A_{10,33}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^{-1}(q^{2}-1)^{2}) + A_{34}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q(q^{2}-2+q^{-2})) = 0$$
(3,2,1)

$$A_{62} = 0 (3,2,2)$$

$$A_{63}(-q^4 + 2q^2 + 1) + A_{64}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-(q^4 - 2q^2 + 1)) + A_{32}2q^2 + A_{10,2}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-(q^2 - 1)^2) = 0 \quad (3,2,3)$$

$$A_{63}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{64}(q^4 + 1) + A_{32}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{10,2}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(3,2,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coeffcients of $\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.11. We have the following equations:

$$A_{73}2q^2 + A_{74}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-(q^2-1)^2) + A_{31}(-q^4+2q^2+1) + A_{10,1}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-(q^2-1)^2) = 0 \qquad (3,3,1)$$

$$A_{63}2q^2 + A_{64}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2}) + A_{32}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{10,2}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1)^2 = 0 \qquad (3,3,2)$$

$$A_{61}(-2q^3 + 2q) + A_{33}(-q^4 + 6q^2 - 1)$$
(3.3.3)

$$+A_{10,3}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^{-2}(q^2-1)^3) + A_{34}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q(q-q^{-1})^3) = 0$$

$$A_{61}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 + A_{33}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{10,3}(3(q^2-1)^2+2q^2) + A_{34}(q^4+1) = 0$$
(3,3,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coeffcients of $\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n).$

Lemma 6.3.12. We have the following equations:

$$A_{73}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{74}(q^4 + 1) + A_{31}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{10,1}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(3,4,1)

$$A_{63}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{64}(q^4 + 1) + A_{32}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{10,2}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(3,4,2)

$$A_{72}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^3) + A_{61}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 = 0$$
(3,4,3)

$$A_{10,4} = 0 \tag{3.4.4}$$

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coefficients of $\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1, \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2, \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ and $\omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n).$

Lemma 6.3.13. We have the following equations:

$$A_{91} = 0 (4,1,1)$$

$$A_{92}(q^4 + 2) + A_{81}2q^2 + A_{10,3}2q(q^2 - 1)$$
(4.1.2)

$$+A_{43}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-1}(q^2-1)^2 + A_{10,4}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q(q^2-2+q^{-2}) = 0$$
(4,1,2)

$$A_{93}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{94}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2}) + A_{10,1}2q^2 + A_{41}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1) = 0 \qquad (4,1,3)$$

$$A_{93}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{94}(q^4 + 1) + A_{10,1}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{41}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(4,1,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coefficients of $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1$, $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$, $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ and $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23}+1)((_0\sigma)_{23}+q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.14. We have the following equations:

$$A_{92}(2q^{2}-1) + A_{81}(q^{4}+1) + A_{10,3}2q(q^{2}-1) + A_{43}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^{-1}(q^{2}-1)^{2}) + A_{10,4}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q(q^{2}-2+q^{-2}) = 0$$

$$(4,2,1)$$

$$A_{82} = 0 \tag{4.2.2}$$

$$A_{83}(-q^4 + 2q^2 + 1) + A_{84}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{10,2}2q^2 + A_{42}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 1)^2 = 0 \qquad (4,2,3)$$

$$A_{83}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{84}(q^4 + 1) + A_{10,2}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{42}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(4,2,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coefficients of $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1$, $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$, $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ and $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.15. We have the following equations:

$$A_{93}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{94}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2}) + A_{10,1}(-q^4 + 2q^2 + 1) + A_{41}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-(q^2 - 1)^2) = 0$$

$$(4,3,1)$$

$$A_{83}2q^2 + A_{84}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2}) + A_{10,2}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{42}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1)^2 = 0$$
(4,3,2)

$$A_{92}2q(q^{2}-1) + A_{81}(-2q^{3}+2q) + A_{10,3}(-q^{4}+6q^{2}-1) + A_{43}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^{-2}(q^{2}-1)^{3})$$

$$(4,3,3)$$

$$+A_{10,4}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{\sqrt{r}}(-q(q-q^{-1})^3) = 0$$

$$A_{81}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 + A_{10,3}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{43}(3(q^2-1)^2+2q^2) + A_{10,4}(q^4+1) = 0$$
(4,3,4)

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coefficients of $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1$, $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$, $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ and $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Lemma 6.3.16. We have the following equations:

$$A_{93}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{94}(q^4 + 1) + A_{10,1}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{41}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(4,4,1)

$$A_{83}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{83}(q^4 + 1) + A_{10,2}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{42}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
(4,4,2)

$$A_{92}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^3) + A_{81}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 + A_{10,3}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^2(q^2 - 1) + A_{43}(q^4 - 1) + A_{10,4}(q^4 + 1) = 0 \qquad (4,4,3)$$

$$A_{44} = 0 (4,4,4)$$

Proof. The above equations are derived by comparing the coefficients of $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_1$, $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_2$, $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_3$ and $\omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4 \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_4$ in $((q^2(_0\sigma)_{23} + 1)((_0\sigma)_{23} + q^2))(\sum_{mn} A_{mn}\nu_m \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_n)$.

Theorem 6.3.17. For the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi, the map

$$(_0(P_{\mathrm{sym}}))_{23}: (_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}_0\mathcal{E} \to {}_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\mathrm{sym}}{}_0\mathcal{E})$$

is an isomorphism except for, possibly, finitely many values of $q \in (-1,1) \setminus \{0\}$. Hence, for each bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric g, there exists a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for each calculus.

Proof. By the discussion preceding the above series of preparatory lemmas, we need to show that the system of equations given above admit only the trivial solution for A_{ij} , i = 1, ..., 10, j = 1, ..., 4. We then proceed to solve these equations for all A_{ij} . Note that the following

variables are all identically zero in the above over-determined system:

 A_{11} (by (1,1,1)), A_{94} (by (1,4,4)), A_{51} (by (2,1,1)), A_{22} (by (2,2,2)), A_{84} (by (2,4,4)), A_{71} (by (3,1,1)), A_{62} (by (3,2,2)), $A_{10,4}$ (by (3,4,4)), A_{91} (by (4,1,1)), A_{82} (by (4,2,2)) and A_{44} (by (4,4,4)).

This reduces the equations (1,3,1) and (1,4,1) to the following exact system of linear equations in the variables A_{13} and A_{14} , with the associated matrix having determinant $q^2(q^2+1)^2$:

$$A_{13}2q^2 + A_{14}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^2(q-q^{-1})^2) = 0$$
$$A_{13}(-\frac{q^2\sqrt{r}}{k}) + A_{14}(q^4+1) = 0$$

Hence the solution for the variables A_{13} and A_{14} is zero.

We repeat this process for the rest of the A_{ij} , identifying a subset of equations which has been reduced to an exact one due to the previously solved A_{ij} , and then concluding that the elements A_{ij} in the current set are also solved to be 0 except for at most finitely many value of $q \in (-1, 1) \setminus \{0\}$.

(2,2,3) and (2,2,4) reduce to the following system of linear equations in A_{23} and A_{24} with determinant $(q^2 + 1)^2$:

$$A_{23}(-q^4 + 2q^2 + 1) + A_{24}(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^4 - 2q^2 + 1)) = 0$$
$$A_{23}\frac{q^4\sqrt{r}}{k} + A_{24}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$

(4,1,3), (4,1,4) and (4,3,1) reduce to the following system of linear equations in A_{41} , A_{93} , $A_{10,1}$ with determinant $2q^{10} - 2q^4 - 2q^2 + 2$:

$$A_{93}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{10,1}2q^2 + A_{41}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1) = 0$$
$$A_{93}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{10,1}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{41}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$
$$A_{93}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{10,1}(-q^4 + 2q^2 + 1) + A_{41}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-(q^2 - 1)^2) = 0$$

(4,1,2), (4,2,1), (4,3,3) and (4,4,3) reduce to the following system of linear equations in A_{43} , $A_{81}, A_{92}, A_{10,3}$ with determinant $4q^{14} + 10q^{12} - 10q^{10} - 8q^8 + 26q^4 - 26q^2 + 4$:

$$A_{92}(q^4 + 2) + A_{81}2q^2 + A_{10,3}2q(q^2 - 1) + A_{43}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-1}(q^2 - 1)^2 = 0$$

$$A_{92}(2q^2 - 1) + A_{81}(q^4 + 1) + A_{10,3}2q(q^2 - 1) + A_{43}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^{-1}(q^2 - 1)^2) = 0$$

$$A_{92}2q(q^2 - 1) + A_{81}(-2q^3 + 2q) + A_{10,3}(-q^4 + 6q^2 - 1) + A_{43}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^{-2}(q^2 - 1)^3) = 0$$

$$A_{92}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^3) + A_{81}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 + A_{10,3}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^2(q^2 - 1) + A_{43}(q^4 - 1) = 0$$

(3,4,3), (3,1,2), (3,2,1) and (3,3,3) reduce to the following system of linear equations in A_{33} , A_{34}, A_{61}, A_{72} with determinant $-2q^2(q-1)^2(q+1)^2(q^2+1)^4$:

$$A_{72}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^3) + A_{61}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 = 0$$

$$A_{72}(q^4 + 2) + A_{61}2q^2 + A_{33}(2q(q^2 - 1)) + A_{34}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2}) = 0$$

$$A_{72}(2q^2 - 1) + A_{61}(q^4 + 1) + A_{33}(-2q(q^2 - 1)) + A_{34}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2})) = 0$$

$$A_{61}(-2q^3 + 2q) + A_{33}(-q^4 + 6q^2 - 1) + A_{34}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q(q - q^{-1})^3) = 0$$

(2,1,3) and (2,1,4) reduce to the following system of equations in A_{53} and A_{54} with determinant $q^4(q^2+1)^2$:

$$A_{53}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{54}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(q^2 - 2 + q^{-2}) = 0$$
$$A_{53}(-\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^2) + A_{54}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$

(1,1,2), (1,2,1), (1,3,3) and (1,3,4) reduce to a system of equations in A_{12} , A_{31} , A_{73} , A_{74} with determinant a non-zero polynomial in q:

$$A_{12}(q^4 + 2) + tA_{31}2q^2 + A_{73}q^22q(q^2 - 1) = 0$$

$$A_{12}(2q^2 - 1) + tA_{31}(q^4 + 1) + A_{73}q^2(-2q(q^2 - 1))$$

$$tA_{31}(-2q^3 + 2q) + A_{12}2q(q^2 - 1) + A_{73}q^2(-q^4 + 6q^2 - 1) + A_{74}q^2(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1)^3) = 0$$

$$tA_{31}(-2q^3 + 2q) + A_{73}q^2\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{74}q^2(q^4 + 1) = 0$$

(2,1,2), (2,2,1), (2,3,3), (2,3,4) and (2,4,3) reduce to a system of equations in $A_{21}, A_{52}, A_{63}, A_{64}, A_{83}$ with determinant a non-zero polynomial in q:

$$\begin{split} A_{52}(q^4+2) + A_{21}(2q^2) + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})2q(q^2-1) \\ + A_{83}(\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-1}(q^2-1)^2) + (A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q(q^2-2+q^{-2}) &= 0 \\ A_{52}(2q^2-1) + A_{21}(q^4+1) + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})(-2q(q^2-1)) \\ + A_{83}(\frac{k}{q\sqrt{r}}(q^2-1)^2) + (A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})(-\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q(q^2-2+q^{-2})) &= 0 \\ A_{52}2q(q^2-1) + A_{21}(-2q^3+2q) + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})(-q^4+6q^2-1) \\ + A_{83}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q^{-2}(q^2-1)^3) + (A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}(-q(q-q^{-1})^3) &= 0 \\ A_{21}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^4 + A_{83}(3(q^2-1)^2+2q^2) \\ + (A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})(q^4+1) &= 0 \\ A_{52}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^3) + A_{21}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^3 + (A_{63}q^{-2} + A_{83}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}q^2(q^2-1) \\ + A_{83}(q^4-1) + (A_{64}q^{-2} + A_{84}\frac{t^2k}{q^2\sqrt{r}})(q^4+1) &= 0 \end{split}$$

(3,3,2) and (3,4,2) reduce to a system of equations in A_{32} , $A_{10,2}$ with determinant $q^4(q^2+1)^2$:

$$A_{32}(q^4 + 2q^2 - 1) + A_{10,2}\frac{k}{\sqrt{r}}q^{-2}(q^2 - 1)^2 = 0$$
$$A_{32}\frac{\sqrt{r}}{k}(-q^2) + A_{10,2}(q^4 + 1) = 0$$

Finally, (4,2,3) reduces identically to $A_{42} = 0$.

Hence we have shown that all A_{ij} are identically equal to zero except for atmost finitely many values of $q \in (-1.1)$. Therefore, $(_0(P_{\text{sym}}))_{23}|_{(_0\mathcal{E}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}{}^{\text{sym}}_0\mathcal{E})\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}_0\mathcal{E}}$ is an isomorphism if q does not belong to this finite subset.

Since $SU_q(2)$ is a cosemisimple Hopf algebra, and we have shown that the map $_0\sigma$ is diagonalisable, by Theorem 4.5.9, for each bi-invariant pseudo-Riemannian metric g, each of the $4D_{\pm}$ calculi admits a unique bicovariant Levi-Civita connection for all but finitely many q.

Bibliography

- Eiichi Abe, Hopf algebras, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 74, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge-New York, 1980. Translated from the Japanese by Hisae Kinoshita and Hiroko Tanaka. MR594432
- [2] Joakim Arnlind, Kwalombota Ilwale, and Giovanni Landi, On q-deformed Levi-Civita connections, arxiv:2005.02603, 2020.
- [3] Joakim Arnlind and Giovanni Landi, Projections, modules and connections for the noncommutative cylinder, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 24 (2020), no. 3, 527–562. MR4145055
- [4] Joakim Arnlind and Axel Tiger Norkvist, Noncommutative minimal embeddings and morphisms of pseudo-Riemannian calculi, J. Geom. Phys. 159 (2021), 103898, 17. MR4149251
- [5] Joakim Arnlind and Mitsuru Wilson, On the Chern-Gauss-Bonnet theorem for the noncommutative 4-sphere, J. Geom. Phys. 111 (2017), 126–141. MR3575560
- [6] _____, Riemannian curvature of the noncommutative 3-sphere, J. Noncommut. Geom. 11 (2017), no. 2, 507–536. MR3669111
- [7] Paolo Aschieri, Cartan structure equations and Levi-Civita connection in braided geometry, arxiv:2006.02761, 2020.
- [8] Paolo Aschieri, Pierre Bieliavsky, Chiara Pagani, and Alexander Schenkel, Noncommutative principal bundles through twist deformation, Comm. Math. Phys. 352 (2017), no. 1, 287–344. MR3623260
- [9] E. J. Beggs and S. Majid, *-compatible connections in noncommutative Riemannian geometry, J. Geom. Phys. 61 (2011), no. 1, 95–124. MR2746984
- [10] Edwin Beggs and Shahn Majid, Spectral triples from bimodule connections and Chern connections, J. Noncommut. Geom. 11 (2017), no. 2, 669–701. MR3669115
- [11] _____, Quantum Riemannian geometry, Springer International Publishing, 2019.
- [12] Jyotishman Bhowmick, Quantum isometry groups, arxiv:0907.0618, 2009.
- [13] Jyotishman Bhowmick, Debashish Goswami, and Soumalya Joardar, A new look at Levi-Civita connection in noncommutative geometry, arxiv:1606.08142, 2016.
- [14] Jyotishman Bhowmick, Debashish Goswami, and Giovanni Landi, Levi-Civita connections and vector fields for noncommutative differential calculi, Internat. J. Math. 31 (2020), no. 8, 2050065, 23. MR4135031
- [15] _____, On the Koszul formula in noncommutative geometry, Reviews in Mathematical Physics (2020), 2050032.

- [16] Jyotishman Bhowmick, Debashish Goswami, and Sugato Mukhopadhyay, Levi-Civita connections for a class of spectral triples, Lett. Math. Phys. 110 (2020), no. 4, 835–884. MR4074414
- [17] Jyotishman Bhowmick and Sugato Mukhopadhyay, Covariant connections on bicovariant differential calculus, J. Algebra 563 (2020), 198–250. MR4134870
- [18] _____, Pseudo-Riemannian metrics on bicovariant bimodules, Ann. Math. Blaise Pascal 27 (2020), no. 2, 159–180. MR4231817
- [19] Arkadiusz Bochniak, Andrzej Sitarz, and Paweł Zalecki, Riemannian geometry of a discretized circle and torus, arxiv:2007.01241, 2020.
- [20] Ursula Carow-Watamura, Michael Schlieker, Satoshi Watamura, and Wolfgang Weich, Bicovariant differential calculus on quantum groups $SU_q(N)$ and $SO_q(N)$, Comm. Math. Phys. **142** (1991), no. 3, 605–641. MR1138053
- [21] Partha Sarathi Chakraborty and Arupkumar Pal, Equivariant spectral triples on the quantum SU(2) group, K-Theory 28 (2003), no. 2, 107–126. MR1995873
- [22] Partha Sarathi Chakraborty and Kalyan B. Sinha, Geometry on the quantum Heisenberg manifold, J. Funct. Anal. 203 (2003), no. 2, 425–452. MR2003355
- [23] Vyjayanthi Chari and Andrew Pressley, A guide to quantum groups, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994. MR1300632
- [24] Fabio Cipriani and Jean-Luc Sauvageot, Derivations as square roots of Dirichlet forms, J. Funct. Anal. 201 (2003), no. 1, 78–120. MR1986156
- [25] Alain Connes, Noncommutative geometry, Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, CA, 1994. MR1303779
- [26] Alain Connes and Michel Dubois-Violette, Noncommutative finite-dimensional manifolds. I. Spherical manifolds and related examples, Comm. Math. Phys. 230 (2002), no. 3, 539–579. MR1937657
- [27] Alain Connes and Giovanni Landi, Noncommutative manifolds, the instanton algebra and isospectral deformations, Comm. Math. Phys. 221 (2001), no. 1, 141–159. MR1846904
- [28] Alain Connes and Matilde Marcolli, Noncommutative geometry, quantum fields and motives, American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, vol. 55, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI; Hindustan Book Agency, New Delhi, 2008. MR2371808
- [29] Alain Connes and Henri Moscovici, Modular curvature for noncommutative two-tori, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 27 (2014), no. 3, 639–684. MR3194491
- [30] Alain Connes and Paula Tretkoff, The Gauss-Bonnet theorem for the noncommutative two torus, Noncommutative geometry, arithmetic, and related topics, 2011, pp. 141–158. MR2907006
- [31] Kenneth R. Davidson, C^{*}-algebras by example, Fields Institute Monographs, vol. 6, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1996. MR1402012
- [32] Yukio Doi, Braided bialgebras and quadratic bialgebras, Comm. Algebra 21 (1993), no. 5, 1731–1749.
 MR1213985
- [33] Ludwik Dąbrowski, Francesco D'Andrea, Giovanni Landi, and Elmar Wagner, Dirac operators on all Podleś quantum spheres, J. Noncommut. Geom. 1 (2007), no. 2, 213–239. MR2308305

- [34] Ludwik Dąbrowski, Piotr M. Hajac, Giovanni Landi, and Pasquale Siniscalco, Metrics and pairs of left and right connections on bimodules, J. Math. Phys. 37 (1996), no. 9, 4635–4646. MR1408111
- [35] Ludwik Dąbrowski, Giovanni Landi, Andrzej Sitarz, Walter van Suijlekom, and Joseph C. Várilly, The Dirac operator on SU_q(2), Comm. Math. Phys. 259 (2005), no. 3, 729–759. MR2174423
- [36] Michel Dubois-Violette and Peter W. Michor, Dérivations et calcul différentiel non commutatif. II, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. **319** (1994), no. 9, 927–931. MR1302791
- [37] Pavel Etingof, Shlomo Gelaki, Dmitri Nikshych, and Victor Ostrik, *Tensor categories*, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 205, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2015. MR3242743
- [38] Farzad Fathizadeh and Masoud Khalkhali, The Gauss-Bonnet theorem for noncommutative two tori with a general conformal structure, J. Noncommut. Geom. 6 (2012), no. 3, 457–480. MR2956317
- [39] _____, Scalar curvature for the noncommutative two torus, J. Noncommut. Geom. 7 (2013), no. 4, 1145– 1183. MR3148618
- [40] J. Fröhlich, O. Grandjean, and A. Recknagel, Supersymmetric quantum theory and differential geometry, Comm. Math. Phys. 193 (1998), no. 3, 527–594. MR1624839
- [41] _____, Supersymmetric quantum theory and non-commutative geometry, Comm. Math. Phys. 203 (1999), no. 1, 119–184. MR1695097
- [42] X. Gomez and S. Majid, Braided Lie algebras and bicovariant differential calculi over co-quasitriangular Hopf algebras, J. Algebra 261 (2003), no. 2, 334–388. MR1966634
- [43] Debashish Goswami, Quantum group of isometries in classical and noncommutative geometry, Comm. Math. Phys. 285 (2009), no. 1, 141–160. MR2453592
- [44] Piotr M. Hajac, Strong connections on quantum principal bundles, Comm. Math. Phys. 182 (1996), no. 3, 579–617. MR1461943
- [45] István Heckenberger, Classification of left-covariant differential calculi on the quantum group $SL_q(2)$, J. Algebra **237** (2001), no. 1, 203–237. MR1813897
- [46] _____, Spin geometry on quantum groups via covariant differential calculi, Adv. Math. 175 (2003), no. 2, 197–242. MR1972632
- [47] István Heckenberger and Stefan Kolb, Differential calculus on quantum homogeneous spaces, Lett. Math. Phys. 63 (2003), no. 3, 255–264. MR1992890
- [48] _____, Differential calculus on quantum homogeneous spaces, Lett. Math. Phys. 63 (2003), no. 3, 255–264. MR1992890
- [49] _____, Podleś' quantum sphere: dual coalgebra and classification of covariant first-order differential calculus,
 J. Algebra 263 (2003), no. 2, 193–214. MR1978646
- [50] _____, The locally finite part of the dual coalgebra of quantized irreducible flag manifolds, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 89 (2004), no. 2, 457–484. MR2078702
- [51] István Heckenberger and Konrad Schmüdgen, Levi-Civita connections on the quantum groups $SL_q(N)$, $O_q(N)$ and $Sp_a(N)$, Comm. Math. Phys. **185** (1997), no. 1, 177–196. MR1463038
- [52] _____, Classification of bicovariant differential calculi on the quantum groups $SL_q(n + 1)$ and $Sp_q(2n)$, J. Reine Angew. Math. **502** (1998), 141–162. MR1647563

- [53] István Heckenberger and Axel Schüler, Higher order differential calculus on $SL_q(N)$, 1997, pp. 1153–1161. Quantum groups and integrable systems, Part I (Prague, 1997). MR1615873
- [54] Soumalya Joardar, Scalar curvature of a Levi-Civita connection on the Cuntz algebra with three generators, Lett. Math. Phys. 109 (2019), no. 12, 2665–2679. MR4029871
- [55] Tsuyoshi Kajiwara, Claudia Pinzari, and Yasuo Watatani, Jones index theory for Hilbert C*-bimodules and its equivalence with conjugation theory, J. Funct. Anal. 215 (2004), no. 1, 1–49. MR2085108
- [56] Sooran Kang, The Yang-Mills functional and Laplace's equation on quantum Heisenberg manifolds, J. Funct. Anal. 258 (2010), no. 1, 307–327. MR2557965
- [57] Sooran Kang, Franz Luef, and Judith A. Packer, Yang-Mills connections on quantum Heisenberg manifolds, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 483 (2020), no. 1, 123604, 35. MR4021908
- [58] P. Kasprzak, Rieffel deformation via crossed products, J. Funct. Anal. 257 (2009), no. 5, 1288–1332. MR2541270
- [59] Christian Kassel, Quantum groups, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 155, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995. MR1321145
- [60] Masoud Khalkhali, Basic noncommutative geometry, EMS Series of Lectures in Mathematics, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2009. MR2567651
- [61] Anatoli Klimyk and Konrad Schmüdgen, Quantum groups and their representations, Texts and Monographs in Physics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997. MR1492989
- [62] Johan Kustermans and Stefaan Vaes, Locally compact quantum groups, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 33 (2000), no. 6, 837–934. MR1832993
- [63] E. C. Lance, Hilbert C^{*}-modules, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, vol. 210, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995. A toolkit for operator algebraists. MR1325694
- [64] Giovanni Landi, An introduction to noncommutative spaces and their geometries, Lecture Notes in Physics. New Series m: Monographs, vol. 51, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997. MR1482228
- [65] Matthias Lesch and Henri Moscovici, Modular curvature and Morita equivalence, Geom. Funct. Anal. 26 (2016), no. 3, 818–873. MR3540454
- [66] Hanfeng Li, θ-deformations as compact quantum metric spaces, Comm. Math. Phys. 256 (2005), no. 1, 213– 238. MR2134342
- [67] Yang Liu, Modular curvature for toric noncommutative manifolds, J. Noncommut. Geom. 12 (2018), no. 2, 511–575. MR3825195
- [68] Ann Maes and Alfons Van Daele, Notes on compact quantum groups, Nieuw Arch. Wisk. (4) 16 (1998), no. 1-2, 73–112. MR1645264
- [69] S. Majid, Classification of bicovariant differential calculi, J. Geom. Phys. 25 (1998), no. 1-2, 119–140. MR1611961
- [70] _____, Noncommutative Riemannian and spin geometry of the standard q-sphere, Comm. Math. Phys. 256 (2005), no. 2, 255–285. MR2160795
- [71] Shahn Majid, Foundations of quantum group theory, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995. MR1381692

- [72] _____, Noncommutative differential geometry and twisting of quantum groups, Quantum groups and Lie theory (Durham, 1999), 2001, pp. 175–190. MR1903965
- [73] _____, Noncommutative Ricci curvature and Dirac operator on $\mathbb{C}_q[SL_2]$ at roots of unity, Lett. Math. Phys. 63 (2003), no. 1, 39–54. MR1967535
- Shahn Majid and Robert Oeckl, Twisting of quantum differentials and the Planck scale Hopf algebra, Comm.
 Math. Phys. 205 (1999), no. 3, 617–655. MR1711340
- [75] T. Masuda, Y. Nakagami, and S. L. Woronowicz, A C*-algebraic framework for quantum groups, Internat. J. Math. 14 (2003), no. 9, 903–1001. MR2020804
- [76] Marco Matassa, Fubini-study metrics and Levi-Civita connections on quantum projective spaces, arxiv:2010.03291, 2020.
- [77] B. Mesland, A. Rennie, and W. D. Suijlekom, Curvature of differentiable Hilbert modules and Kasparov modules, arxiv:1911.05008, 2019.
- [78] Susan Montgomery, Hopf algebras and their actions on rings, CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, vol. 82, Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences, Washington, DC; by the American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1993. MR1243637
- [79] Sergey Neshveyev and Lars Tuset, The Dirac operator on compact quantum groups, J. Reine Angew. Math.
 641 (2010), 1–20. MR2643923
- [80] Mira A. Peterka and Albert Jeu-Liang Sheu, On noncommutative Levi-Civita connections, Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys. 14 (2017), no. 5, 1750071, 11. MR3635090
- [81] Marc A. Rieffel, Deformation quantization of Heisenberg manifolds, Comm. Math. Phys. 122 (1989), no. 4, 531–562. MR1002830
- [82] _____, Deformation quantization for actions of \mathbb{R}^d , Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. **106** (1993), no. 506, x+93. MR1184061
- [83] Jonathan Rosenberg, Levi-Civita's theorem for noncommutative tori, SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 9 (2013), Paper 071, 9. MR3141539
- [84] Peter Schauenburg, Hopf modules and Yetter-Drinfel'd modules, J. Algebra 169 (1994), no. 3, 874–890. MR1302122
- [85] Michael Skeide, Hilbert modules in quantum electrodynamics and quantum probability, Comm. Math. Phys. 192 (1998), no. 3, 569–604. MR1620531
- [86] Piotr Stachura, Bicovariant differential calculi on $S_{\mu}U(2)$, Lett. Math. Phys. **25** (1992), no. 3, 175–188. MR1183869
- [87] Moss E. Sweedler, Hopf algebras, Mathematics Lecture Note Series, W. A. Benjamin, Inc., New York, 1969. MR0252485
- [88] Masamichi Takesaki, Theory of operator algebras. I, Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1979. MR548728
- [89] Joseph C. Várilly, An introduction to noncommutative geometry, EMS Series of Lectures in Mathematics, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2006. MR2239597
- [90] S. L. Woronowicz, Pseudospaces, pseudogroups and Pontryagin duality, Mathematical problems in theoretical physics (Proc. Internat. Conf. Math. Phys., Lausanne, 1979), 1980, pp. 407–412. MR582650

- [91] _____, Compact matrix pseudogroups, Comm. Math. Phys. 111 (1987), no. 4, 613–665. MR901157
- [92] _____, Twisted SU(2) group. An example of a noncommutative differential calculus, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 23 (1987), no. 1, 117–181. MR890482
- [93] _____, Differential calculus on compact matrix pseudogroups (quantum groups), Comm. Math. Phys. 122 (1989), no. 1, 125–170. MR994499
- [94] _____, Compact quantum groups, Symétries quantiques (Les Houches, 1995), 1998, pp. 845-884. MR1616348
- [95] Makoto Yamashita, Deformation of algebras associated to group cocycles, arxiv:1107.2512, 2011.
- [96] David N. Yetter, Quantum groups and representations of monoidal categories, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 108 (1990), no. 2, 261–290. MR1074714

List of Publications

- Jyotishman Bhowmick, Debashish Goswami and Sugato Mukhopadhyay, Levi-Civita connections for a class of spectral triples. Letters in Mathematical Physics 110 (2019), no. 4, 835–884.
- Jyotishman Bhowmick and Sugato Mukhopadhyay, Pseudo-Riemannian metrics on bicovariant bimodules. Annales Mathématiques Blaise Pascal 27 (2020), no. 2, 159–180.
- Jyotishman Bhowmick and Sugato Mukhopadhyay, Covariant connections on bicovariant differential calculus. Journal of Algebra 563 (2020), 198–250.
- 4. Sugato Mukhopadhyay, Levi-Civita connection for $SU_q(2)$. Preprint, arxiv:2003.14196 (2020)